THYMIC STROMAL ALTERATIONS AND GENETIC DISORDERS OF IMMUNE SYSTEM

EDITED BY: Claudio Pignata and Ana E. Sousa PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology







Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2015 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

> All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

> The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

> ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-717-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-717-0

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org**

THYMIC STROMAL ALTERATIONS AND GENETIC DISORDERS OF IMMUNE SYSTEM

Topic Editors: Claudio Pignata, Federico II University, Italy Ana E. Sousa, Universidade de Lisboa, Portugal

The pathogenic mechanisms underlying primary T-cell disorders are mainly related to molecular alterations of genes whose expression is intrinsic to hematopoietic cells. However, since the differentiation process requires a crosstalk among thymocytes and the thymic microenvironment, molecular alterations of genes, involved in the differentiation and functionality of the stromal component of the thymus, may lead to a severe T-cell defect or failure of central tolerance, as well. The first example of severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID) not related to an intrinsic alteration of the hematopoietic cell but rather of the thymic epithelial component is the Nude/ SCID phenotype, inherited as an autosomal recessive disorder, whose hallmarks are the T-cell defect and the absence of the thymus. The clinical and immunological phenotype is the human equivalent of the murine Nude/SCID syndrome, which represents the first spontaneous SCID identified in nude mice in 1966. For over 3 decades studies of immune system in these mice enormously contributed to the overall knowledge of cell mediated immunity, in the assumption that the athymia of these mice was solely responsible for the T-cell immunological defect. This syndrome is due to mutations of the transcription factor FOXN1, belonging to the forkhead-box gene family, which is mainly expressed in the thymus and skin epithelial cells, where it plays a critical role in differentiation and survival. An alteration of the thymic structure is also a feature of the DiGeorge syndrome (DGS), which has been long considered the human counterpart of the nude mice phenotype. This syndrome is frequently associated to a deletion of the 22q11 region, which contains approximately 30 genes, including the TBX1 gene, which is responsible for most of the clinical features of DGS in humans and mice. In this syndrome common manifestations are cardiac malformations, speech delay, hypoparathyrodism and immunodeficiency, even though the immunological hallmarks of the T-cell defect in DiGeorge syndrome are profoundly different from those reported in human Nude/SCID. The divergence of the phenotype among these 2 entities raised the possibility that the FOXN1 transcription factor represents the real key stromal molecule implicated in directing the hematopoietic stem cell toward a proper T-cell fate. Thymic stromal component of the primary lymphoid organ is also required to negatively select the autoreactive clones, a process driven by the expression of tissue specific antigens (TSA) by medullary thymic epithelial cells (mTECs). The expression of genes encoding TSA antigens is mediated by autoimmune regulator (AIRE) gene, encoding a transcription factor expressed in

mTECs. Molecular alterations of this gene are associated to autoimmune polyendocrinopathy candidiasis ectodermal dystrophy (APECED), a rare autosomal disorder, which may be considered the prototype of an autoimmune disease due to the failure of central tolerance homeostasis.

All these "experiments of nature" led to unravel novel pathogenic mechanisms underlying inherited disorders of immune system and, of note, to clarify the pivotal role of epithelial cells in the maturation and education process of T-cell precursors.

Citation: Pignata, C., Sousa, A. E., eds. (2015). Thymic Stromal Alterations and Genetic Disorders of Immune System. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88919-717-0

Table of Contents

- **05** Thymic stromal alterations and genetic disorders of immune system Claudio Pignata, Roberta D'Assante and Ana E. Sousa
- **07 FOXN1:** a master regulator gene of thymic epithelial development program Rosa Romano, Loredana Palamaro, Anna Fusco, Giuliana Giardino, Vera Gallo, Luigi Del Vecchio and Claudio Pignata
- 20 Which model better fits the role of Aire in the establishment of self-tolerance: the transcription model or the maturation model?

Mitsuru Matsumoto, Yumiko Nishikawa, Hitoshi Nishijima, Junko Morimoto, Minoru Matsumoto and Yasuhiro Mouri

24 Regulations of gene expression in medullary thymic epithelial cells required for preventing the onset of autoimmune diseases

Taishin Akiyama, Miho Shinzawa, Junwen Qin and Nobuko Akiyama

31 Human APECED; a sick thymus syndrome?

T. Petteri Arstila and Hanna Jarva

- **40** The many faces of Aire in central tolerance Martti Laan and Pärt Peterson
- 46 APECED: a paradigm of complex interactions between genetic background and susceptibility factors

Lucia De Martino, Donatella Capalbo, Nicola Improda, Federica D'Elia, Raffaella Di Mase, Roberta D'Assante, Ida D'Acunzo, Claudio Pignata and Mariacarolina Salerno

56 Immunodeficiency in DiGeorge syndrome and options for treating cases with complete athymia

E. Graham Davies

65 Lymphopenia-induced proliferation in Aire-deficient mice helps to explain their autoimmunity and differences from human patients

Kai Kisand, Pärt Peterson and Martti Laan

- 75 Rag defects and thymic stroma: lessons from animal models
 Veronica Marrella, Pietro Luigi Poliani, Luigi Daniele Notarangelo, Fabio Grassi and Anna Villa
- 81 Corrigendum: Rag defects and thymic stroma: lessons from animal models Veronica Marrella, Pietro Luigi Poliani, Luigi Daniele Notarangelo, Fabio Grassi and Anna Villa



Thymic stromal alterations and genetic disorders of immune system

Claudio Pignata¹*, Roberta D'Assante¹ and Ana E. Sousa²

¹ Department of Translational Medical Sciences, Federico II University, Naples, Italy

² Instituto de Medicina Molecular, Faculdade de Medicina, Universidade de Lisboa, Lisboa, Portugal

*Correspondence: pignata@unina.it

Edited and reviewed by:

Ellis L. Reinherz, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, USA

Keywords: severe combined immunodeficiency, FOXN1, central tolerance, medullary thymic epithelial cells, DiGeorge syndrome, rag defects, APECED

In this specialty section of the journal, we host a topic focused on thymic stromal alterations and genetic disorders of immune system. The thymus is a specialized organ of the immune system where, through stage-specific differentiation of hematopoietic progenitor cells, fully mature and self-tolerant T cells origin. The process is strictly dependent on the link between the thymic stromal cells (TSCs), which allow the selection of a functional and self-tolerant T-cell repertoire, and the thymus tridimensional architecture. Indeed, the interaction between the developing thymocytes and the stromal cells is crucial for the development of both T cells and TSCs (1, 2). In both human and mice, the primordial thymic epithelial cells (TECs) are yet unable to fully support the T-cell development and only after the transcriptional activation of the Forkhead-box n1 (FOXN1) gene, this essential function is acquired. Most of the information concerning the T-cell development came out from studies on mice carrying null mutation in FOXN1 gene. In humans, as detailed in the Romano et al. review, the Nude/SCID phenotype is characterized by congenital alopecia of the scalp, eyebrows, and eyelashes, nail dystrophy, and a severe T-cell immunodeficiency, inherited as an autosomal recessive disorder (3). As extensively approached in the Villa et al. review, the intercellular cross-talk is also essential to support the maturation of Foxp3C natural regulatory T cells. In Omenn syndrome (OS), caused by hypomorphic Rag alterations, an infiltration of peripheral tissues by activated T cells and immune dysregulation have been found (4). The authors discuss on abnormalities of thymic microenvironment in OS with a special focus on the defective maturation of TECs, and impairment of central tolerance.

The commonest association of thymic stromal deficiency resulting in T-cell immunodeficiency is the DiGeorge syndrome (DGS), discussed in the Davies review. In this syndrome, however, the immunological impairment is highly variable, ranging from normal to a severe immune defect in rare individuals, thus suggesting that partial thymic hypoplasia may occur or that extrathymic sites of differentiation play a role in the process (5). The difference in the immunological defects between DGS and the Nude/SCID phenotypes implies that FOXN1 controlled genes are mandatory for a fully mature T-cell development process rather than the integrity of the thymus itself.

It is known that autoimmune regulator (*AIRE*) gene plays a central role in the induction of central tolerance, and different mechanisms of action have been hypothesized for this process. According to the most reliable theory, AIRE directly induces the

production of tissue-specific antigens (TSA) (6). However, recent evidence suggests that another mechanism for negative selection of self-reactive thymocytes may be due to AIRE-induced differentiation of medullary TECs, and regulation of the expression of intrathymic chemokines directed to antigens presenting cells (APCs), such as thymocytes and dendritic cells (7). In their reviews, Laan and Peterson and Kisand et al. give an overview on what is known about the different mechanisms through which AIRE induces central tolerance.

The process aimed at the elimination of potential self-reactive T cells in the thymus is crucial for preventing the onset of autoimmune diseases. As discussed in the Akiyama et al. paper, medullary epithelial cells play a central role in the process through the regulation of gene expression, and, in particular, of those genes encoding for the TNF family cytokines, RANK ligand, CD40 ligand, and lymphotoxin. These genes promote the differentiation of AIRE- and TSA-expressing mTECs (8).

The mechanism by which a single *AIRE* gene can influence the transcription of such a large number of TSA within mTECs has been discussed in the Matsumoto et al. paper. Two models have been proposed. The first one implies a direct transcriptional control of *AIRE* on TSA, while the second one is based on the role of *AIRE* on the maturation program of mTECs (9).

The clinical and immunological phenotype of patients affected with autoimmune polyendocrinopathy ectodermal dystrophy (APECED), as reviewed by Petteri Arstila and Jarva, is characterized by multiple endocrine deficiencies, the most common manifestations being hypoparathyroidism, Addison's disease, hypogonadism, and secondary amenorrhea, usually associated with the presence of autoantibodies toward the target tissues (10). However, the phenotype and, therefore, the underlying pathogenic mechanism, are even more complex, in that Chronic Mucocutaneous Candidiasis is also a prominent part of the disease. This clinical entity is related to abnormalities in the Th17-related cytokines, which are mostly involved in immune defenses against Candida (11). Finally, high titers of neutralizing autoantibodies against type I interferons, which have been shown to downregulate the expression of interferon-controlled genes, have been documented (12).

In this Research Topic, De Martino et al. focus their attention on the complexity of the APECED phenotype in that a wide variability of the clinical expression, in the presence of the same genotype alteration, has been found (13). They suggest that additional mechanisms, in addition to AIRE function, are involved in the pathogenesis of the disease. This might be helpful to understand not only the molecular basis of APECED but will also help improve diagnosis, management, and therapeutic strategies to treat this complex disease.

REFERENCES

- Anderson G, Jenkinson EJ. Lymphostromal interactions in thymic development and function. Nat Rev Immunol (2001) 1:31–40. doi:10.1038/35095500
- Romano R, Palamaro L, Fusco A, Giardino G, Gallo V, Del Vecchio L, et al. FOXN1: a master regulator gene of thymic epithelial development program. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:187. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00187
- Pignata C, Fiore M, Guzzetta V, Castaldo A, Sebastio G, Porta F, et al. Congenital alopecia and nail dystrophy associated with severe functional T-cell immunodeficiency in two sibs. *Am J Med Genet* (1996) 65:167–70. doi:10.1002/(SICI) 1096-8628(19961016)65:2<167::AID-AJMG17>3.0.CO;2-O
- Corneo B, Moshous D, Güngör T, Wulffraat N, Philippet P, Le Deist FL, et al. Identical mutations in RAG1 or RAG2 genes leading to defective V(D)J recombinase activity can cause either T-B-severe combined immune deficiency or Omenn syndrome. *Blood* (2001) 97:2772–6. doi:10.1182/blood.V97.9.2772
- Davies EG. Immunodeficiency in DiGeorge syndrome and options for treating cases with complete athymia. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:322. doi:10.3389/fimmu. 2013.00322
- Anderson MS, Veneziani ES, Klein L, Chen Z, Berzins SP, Turley SJ, et al. Projection of an immunological self shadow within the thymus by the aire protein. *Science* (2002) 298:1395–401. doi:10.1126/science.1075958
- Derbinski J, Kyewski B. How thymic antigen presenting cells sample the body's self-antigens. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2010) 22:592–600. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2010. 08.003
- Akiyama T, Shinzawa M, Akiyama N. TNF receptor family signaling in the development and functions of medullary thymic epithelial cells. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:278. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00278
- 9. Matsumoto M, Nishikawa Y, Nishijima H, Morimoto J, Matsumoto M, Mouri Y. Which model better fits the role of aire in the establishment of self-tolerance:

the transcription model or the maturation model? *Front Immunol* (2013) **4**:210. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00210

- Kisand K, Peterson P. Autoimmune polyendocrinopathy candidiasis ectodermal dystrophy: known and novel aspects of the syndrome. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2011) 1246:77–91. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06308.x
- Kisand K, Boe Wolff AS, Podkrajsek KT, Tserel L, Link M, Kisand KV, et al. Chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis in APECED or thymoma patients correlates with autoimmunity to Th17-associated cytokines. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207:299–308. doi:10.1084/jem.20091669
- Meloni A, Furcas M, Cetani F, Marcocci C, Falorni A, Perniola R, et al. Autoantibodies against type I interferons as an additional diagnostic criterion for autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type I. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2008) 93:4389–97. doi:10.1210/jc.2008-0935
- Capalbo D, Fusco A, Aloj G, Improda N, Vitiello L, Dianzani U, et al. High intrafamilial variability in autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasisectodermal dystrophy: a case study. J Endocrinol Invest (2012) 35:77–81. doi:10.3275/8055

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 16 January 2015; accepted: 11 February 2015; published online: 25 February 2015.

Citation: Pignata C, D'Assante R and Sousa AE (2015) Thymic stromal alterations and genetic disorders of immune system. Front. Immunol. 6:81. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00081

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2015 Pignata, D'Assante and Sousa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

FOXN1: a master regulator gene of thymic epithelial development program

Rosa Romano¹, Loredana Palamaro¹, Anna Fusco¹, Giuliana Giardino¹, Vera Gallo¹, Luigi Del Vecchio² and Claudio Pignata¹*

¹ Department of Translational Medical Sciences, "Federico II" University, Naples, Italy

² Department of Biochemistry and Medical Biotechnology, CEINGE Institute, "Federico II" University, Naples, Italy

Edited by:

Ana E. Sousa, Universidade de Lisboa, Portugal

Reviewed by:

Graham Anderson, University of Birmingham, UK Maria L. Toribio, Spanish National Research Council, Spain

*Correspondence:

Claudio Pignata, Department of Translational Medical Sciences, "Federico II" University, Via S. Pansini 5, Naples 80131, Italy e-mail: pignata@unina.it T cell ontogeny is a sophisticated process, which takes place within the thymus through a series of well-defined discrete stages. The process requires a proper lympho-stromal interaction. In particular, cortical and medullary thymic epithelial cells (cTECs, mTECs) driveT cell differentiation, education, and selection processes, while the thymocyte-dependent signals allow thymic epithelial cells (TECs) to maturate and provide an appropriate thymic microenvironment. Alterations in genes implicated in thymus organogenesis, including Tbx1, Pax1, Pax3, Pax9, Hoxa3, Eya1, and Six1, affect this well-orchestrated process, leading to disruption of thymic architecture. Of note, in both human and mice, the primordial TECs are yet unable to fully support T cell development and only after the transcriptional activation of the Forkhead-box n1 (FOXN1) gene in the thymic epithelium this essential function is acquired. FOXN1 is a master regulator in the TEC lineage specification in that it downstream promotes transcription of genes, which, in turn, regulate TECs differentiation. In particular, FOXN1 mainly regulates TEC patterning in the fetal stage and TEC homeostasis in the post-natal thymus. An inborn null mutation in FOXN1 leads to Nude/severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID) phenotype in mouse, rat, and humans. In Fox $n1^{-/-}$ nude animals, initial formation of the primordial organ is arrested and the primordium is not colonized by hematopoietic precursors, causing a severe primary T cell immunodeficiency. In humans, the Nude/SCID phenotype is characterized by congenital alopecia of the scalp, eyebrows, and eyelashes, nail dystrophy, and a severe T cell immunodeficiency, inherited as an autosomal recessive disorder. Aim of this review is to summarize all the scientific information so far available to better characterize the pivotal role of the master regulator FOXN1 transcription factor in the TEC lineage specifications and functionality.

Keywords: Foxn1 gene, TECs, thymus gland, immunodeficiency, Nude/SCID

INTRODUCTION

The thymus is the primary lymphoid organ with the unique function to produce and to maintain the pool of mature and functional T cells. This process is strictly dependent on specialized functions of thymic stromal cells (TSCs) and requires the thymus peculiar tridimensional (3D) architecture, which allows a proper intercellular cross talk (1). For a long time, the difficulty in the isolation and characterization of the thymic cellular components has limited studies on the peculiar role of individual stromal components. Novel experimental tools, including stromal cell isolation by phenotype-based cell sorting (2), dissociation and reaggregation of stromal cell subsets (3, 4), or global gene expression analysis and the evaluation of the pattern of self-antigen expression within the individual thymic epithelial cells (TECs) subset (5), allowed to acquire important knowledge on the cellular and molecular basis of thymus organogenesis and TECs functionality.

The recent discovery of disease models associated to genetic alterations of molecules implicated in thymus specification and TECs differentiation, provided new and conclusive insights regarding the pathways, the genes, and the molecular mechanism governing these processes and stromal functionality.

THE THYMUS ARCHITECTURE: REQUIREMENT OF A 3D STRUCTURE FOR A PROPER LYMPHO-EPITHELIAL CROSSTALK

The thymus provides the microenvironment essential for the development of T cells. T cell progenitors originate in the bone marrow, enter into the thymus (6, 7) and, through a series of well defined and coordinated developmental stages, differentiate, undergo selection process, and mature into functional T cells. The steps in this process are tightly regulated through a complex network of transcriptional events, specific receptor-ligand interactions, and sensitization to trophic factors, which mediate the homing, proliferation, survival, and differentiation of developing T cells (1, 8, 9).

The thymus is organized in two lobes, which are already present in mice at 21 days of thymic organogenesis and is completely organized at 1 month of post-natal life. The lobes are divided in three areas: a cortical and the dark cortical area, with a high number of lymphoid cells and epithelial cells, cortical thymic epithelial cells (cTECs); a light medullary area with a low number of mature T cells, named medullary TECs (mTECs), Hassall's bodies (HB), macrophages, dendritic cells (DCs), B lymphocytes, and rarely myoid cells. Eventually, there is a transitional area, named cortico-medullary junction (CMJ), characterized by abundant blood vessels (10).

The unique function of the thymus in the establishment and maintenance of the T cell pool is intimately linked to this peculiar thymus architecture and to the specialized functions of the TSCs.

LYMPHO-EPITHELIAL CROSS-TALK REQUIRED FOR THYMOCYTE AND TECs DIFFERENTIATION

An important feature of the thymic microenvironment is its 3D organization, consisting of an ordered architecture of TSCs, that represents a heterogeneous mixture of distinct cell types, including cTECs, mTECs, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, DCs, and macrophages (11). Among these stromal elements, TECs are the most abundant cell types, which form a delicate 3D cellular network spanning throughout both the thymic cortex and the medulla. The requirement for the 3D-supporting stroma appears to be unique to the T cell development, as the *in vitro* differentiation program of other hematopoietic lineages, including B and NK cells, does not require a 3D structure (12).

Thymocyte development is not a cell-autonomous process, and the transition to the next stage in development relies on the proper interaction of HSCs with thymic stroma. The 3D configuration of the thymus maximizes this interaction, allowing intercellular cross-talk integral to the development of both T cells and TSCs (13). Paralleling the T cell precursor proliferation and differentiation program, immature TECs undergo a developmental sequence, resulting in the establishment of mature cTECs and mTECs organized in this 3D network. Several studies on mutant mice with an abnormal organization of thymic epithelium substantiated the concept that a reciprocal signaling between thymocytes and TSCs is required, not only for the production of mature T cells but also for the development and organization of the thymic microenvironment in a bi-directional fashion (14, 15). Mice showing a blockage of the T cell development process, in the absence of T cell receptor (TCR)-expressing cells, have a defective organization of the thymic medulla, as well (16, 17). Of note, under this condition, thymic medullary organization can be restored by the addition of mature T cells, which follows stem cell transplantation (17, 18). In adult CD3etg26 mice, lacking intra-thymic T cell precursors, a severe alteration of the cortical thymic architecture has been documented (19), even though a restoration of the architecture and TEC development in these mice can occur. Recently, the injection of either fetal or adult T-committed precursors into adult CD3etg26 mice leads to the reconstitution of thymic microenvironment, as indicated by thymocyte differentiation, organization of functional cortical and medullary areas, and generation of Foxp3⁺ T_{reg} and Aire⁺ mTECs (20). These data suggest that adult TECs maintain the receptivity to cross talk with thymocytes despite a prolonged absence of T cell precursors. Moreover, the absence of both thymocytes and of the 3D framework may result in changes of the keratin genes expression, thus inducing the cTECs and mTECs to undergo a de-differentiation process and to reacquire the precursor K5⁺K8⁺ cellular phenotype. Taken together, these findings suggest that signals from early CD4-CD8- DN T cell precursors and/or their immediate progeny provide necessary signals to promote the formation of the thymic cortex, while, later in ontogeny, the differentiation of TECs into a medullary phenotype are clearly dependent on the presence of $CD4^+CD8^-$ and $CD4^-CD8^+$ single positive (SP) thymocytes (21–23). However, the precise molecular nature of the signals provided by developing thymocytes, which lead to the generation of the thymic stromal compartment are still incompletely defined.

Eventually, a better understanding of the developmental process through which a normal thymus structure is built, is essential for a better comprehension of the intimate mechanisms which take place within the thymus to promote the T cell development *in vivo*. This knowledge may also be useful in designing future therapeutic strategies, as alterations of the thymus structure and function may result in serious health consequences, including immunodeficiency or autoimmunity.

mTECS AND CTECS ARE SPECIALIZED CELLS PLAYING A DIFFERENT ROLE IN THE T CELL EDUCATION PROCESS

T cell ontogeny is a sophisticated process, which takes place through discrete stages during which developing thymocytes dynamically relocate in different thymic areas, following a corticomedullary gradient.

The initial colonization of the thymus anlagen by migrant lymphoid progenitors occurs at an early stage, embryonic day 11.5 (E11.5) in mice and 8 week of gestation in humans (24, 25). Studies documented that chemokines CC ligand (CCL)21 and CCL25 play a major role in the early stage of fetal thymus colonization (26, 27). Indeed, mice deficient for these chemokines or for the cognate receptors, showed a significant reduction in the number of thymocytes compared to normal mice (28). In post-natal thymus, lymphoid progenitor cells through their cell surface adhesion molecules, such as platelet-selectin glycoprotein ligand 1, interact with P-selectin, expressed on the TECs, and thanks to this interaction they are allowed to migrate from the blood into the thymic parenchyma, in correspondence of the area around the CMJ [Figure 1; (29)].

Entered thymocytes started to intensely proliferate and to acquire T cell hallmarks. In this phase, T cell proliferation and differentiation are triggered by a potent combination of signals provided by cTECs. Delta-like 4 (DL4), which is an essential, nonredundant ligand for Notch1 during thymic T cell development, and IL-7 are critically involved in the activation of signaling pathways, leading to the proliferation and migration of thymocytes (30-32). In particular, these intra-thymic ligands induce the development of DN CD25⁺ cells, which migrate toward the subcapsular region of thymic cortex (33). Several chemokine receptors have been suggested to guide the migration of immature thymocytes, such as CXCR4, CCR7, and CCR9 [Figure 1; (34)]. In the thymic cortex DN thymocytes begin V(D)J rearrangement of their TCRB gene. Successfully rearranged TCR^β protein, assembled with the pre-TCRa chains, forms the pre-TCR complex. Membrane expression of pre-TCR complex, along with the Delta-Notch interaction, provides the signal necessary to induce the expression of the coreceptors CD4 and CD8, as well as V-J rearrangement of the TCRa genomic region. Subsequently, DP thymocytes with a functional TCR- $\alpha\beta$ receptor are generated [Figure 1; (35)].

Thymic cortex is also the area where takes place the positive selection of DP thymocytes. Positive selection is the process by



FIGURE 1 | Lympho-stromal interactions and 1 cell development. Bone marrow HSCs enter into the thymus through CMJ, a process mediated by CCL12 and CCL25 in the embryonic thymus and by the interaction between P-selectin and its cognate ligand PSGL-1 in adult thymus. Stimulation by IL-7 allows the relocation of DN thymocytes from the cortex to the subcapsular region. DP thymocytes bearing TCR and capable of binding to self-MHC

ligands are positively selected. This process is regulated by Pssr6 and b5t, which are expressed in cTECs. Developing thymocytes are relocated from cortex to the medulla by chemotactic attraction between CCR7 and the ligands CCL19/CCL21, expressed on the mTECs. Into medulla, self-reactive thymocytes are deleted through the negative selection, a process mediated by dendritic cells and Aire-expressing mTECs.

which developing thymocytes, that recognize and bind with mild avidity peptide-major histocompatibility complex on cTECs surface, get a rescue signal through their TCR and are allowed to further maturate to the $CD4^+CD8^-$ or $CD4^-CD8^+$ SP stage. Only a small fraction (1–5%) of DP cells survive to positive selection. By contrast, the majority of DP cells, that bind with too low affinity to MHC complex, are programed to undergo death by neglect (36, 37).

Cortical thymic epithelial cells have a crucial role in the positive selection process of T cells within thymus cortex (38). Recent studies have found that cTECs exclusively express a specific form of proteasome, referred as thymoproteasome, which contains a peculiar catalytic subunit, the β 5-thymus (β 5t) (39). β 5t subunits exhibit an unique peptidase activity, compared to other β 5 subunits found in common immunoproteasome, which leads to the production of a set of self-peptides with a high affinity for class I MHC molecules (40). Moreover, β 5t-deficient mice show a severe decrease in the number of CD8⁺ SP thymocytes, but no alteration in the CD4⁺ number or in the thymic architecture. In addition, the small fraction of CD8⁺ T cells, positively selected by β 5t-deficient cTECs, show altered immune responses toward several stimuli. Taken together these results suggest that the thymoproteasome is essential for the production of self antigens involved in the positive selection of functional $CD4^-CD8^+$ T cells (41).

As for the positive selection of $CD4^+$ T cells, two other proteins predominantly expressed in cTECs, the lysosomal protease Prss16 and Cathepsin L, have been demonstrated to be essential to generate an immunocompetent repertoire of $CD4^+CD8^-$ T cells [Figure 1; (42, 43)].

TCR engagement by peptide-MHC complex also triggers the expression of the chemokine receptor CCR7 in positively selected thymocytes. Thanks to the chemotactic attraction between CCR7 and its ligands, CCL19 and CCL21, expressed on the mTECs, developing thymocytes are relocated from cortex to the medulla [**Figure 1**; (44, 45)].

In order to create a repertoire of mature T cells able to recognize foreign antigens and, at the meantime, to ignore self antigens, SP thymocytes have to undergo the negative selection process in the thymic medulla. Both mTECs and DCs, play a pivotal role in this last stage of thymocyte development, which is critical to establish the central tolerance and, eventually, to prevent autoimmunity. In contrast to cTECs, mTECs are characterized by a high expression of clustered tissue-restricted autoantigens (TSAs), the so called promiscuous gene expression (46). To date, the autoimmune regulator (AIRE) transcription factor represents the only molecule, so far identified, which contributes to the mTECs function and, in particular, to the molecular regulation of the promiscuous gene expression [Figure 1; (47)]. However, not all TSAs are regulated in an AIRE-dependent manner, suggesting that other molecular mechanisms, such as epigenetic mechanisms, may be involved in mTECs function regulation. TSAs associated with class II MHC molecules are presented directly by mTECs or indirectly by DCs to developing thymocytes (48). T cells which recognize with a high avidity self antigens are deleted. Remarkably, only a few number of mTECs express a given TSAs (about 50-500 per thymus), and lead to apoptosis by negative selection of a few thymocytes (37, 49, 50). A possible explanation is that the high motility of thymocytes within the thymic medulla during a period of 4-5 days, allows each of them to interact with mTECs (51). DCs play a similar role in the negative selection process. They are attracted in the thymic medulla by the chemochine XCL1 (lymphotactin), produced by mTECs in an AIRE-dependent manner. Differently from mTECs, DCs are not able to produce TSAs and the TSAs expressed mostly derive from the phagocytosis of apoptotic mTECs (52, 53). mTECs and DCs not only contribute to the establishment of central tolerance through the deletion of self-reactive T cells, but, also, through the generation of regulatory T cells (T_{regs}) (54, 55, 65, 153), which act in the periphery by suppressing autoreactive T cells, which have escaped to the process of the central tolerance.

A body of evidence documents that the expression of an autoreactive TCR leads to the entry of the thymocyte into the T_{reg} lineage. T_{regs} , that are about 5–10% of peripheral T cells CD4⁺, constitutively express the CD25 molecule and share several immunological features, in humans and mice (56, 57). These cells specifically express the transcription factor FOXP3 (Foxp3 in mice) that plays a pivotal role in T_{regs} differentiation and function (58). The Foxp3 promoter region and the conserved non-coding sequence 2 (CNS2) (known as TSDR, the T_{reg} -specific-demethylated-region) are fully methylated in immature thymocytes (59, 155). At the beginning of T_{reg} development, an appropriate TCR/CD28 signal is needed to make available the *Foxp3* promoter through shift of the Protein Inhibitors of Activated STAT 1 (PIAS1), a signal cascade, which results in the NF- κ B-mediated transcription of genes playing a role in T_{reg} differentiation (60, 61).

THYMIC FORMATION: NEW INSIGHTS IN EPITHELIAL LINEAGES SPECIFICATION

In the mouse, mTECs and cTECs originated from the third pharyngeal pouch endoderm and the thymus anlage are located next to that of the parathyroid. The expression of Forkhead-box transcription factor n1 (Foxn1) approximately at E11.5 is crucial for the subsequent epithelial differentiation, since in its absence, the colonization of the anlage by T cell progenitors from the bone marrow fails (62) and the subsequent T cell development and TECs formation is aborted, resulting in a severe immunodeficiency (63, 64, 66, 154).

The maturation process of TECs during thymic organogenesis could be divided in two genetic phases. The first stage is independent from the *Foxn1* expression and consists in the induction and outgrowth of the thymic epithelial anlage from the third pharyngeal pouch, through the expression of genes including the *Eya1* and *Six* (67), *Hoxa3* (68), and *Tbx1* (69, 70). During the second genetic phase, epithelial patterning and differentiation take place and the *Foxn1* expression drives the immature epithelial cells to differentiate into functional cTECs and mTECs (71).

FOXN1-INDIPENDENT GENETIC STAGE OF TEC DIFFERENTIATION

In the first phase of the thymus organogenesis an interaction between epithelial and mesenchymal cells occurs, while at the later phase lympho-epithelial interaction predominates (72). In mice, at about E10.5 the mesenchymal cells are able to respond to the endodermic signals, which induce the development of the primordial thymic epithelium (73, 74). Subsequently, at about E12.5, the thymic rudiment is colonized by progenitors come from the fetal liver, thus resulting in a tight epithelialthymocyte interaction within the mesenchymal derived capsule. This thymic rudiment contains the EpCam⁺Plet1⁺ epithelial population (72, 75), which includes a common thymic epithelial precursor (TEPC), from which both cTECs and mTECs will be subsequently generated (72, 76).

Through studies on animal models carrying molecular alterations of distinct genes, the key role of several transcription factors involved in the thymus organogenesis and TEC-sublineage specification process, have thus far been identified (77). In particular, several genes, including Tbx1 (69, 70), Pax1, Pax3, Pax9 (78-80), Hoxa3 (68), Eya1, and Six1 (67) have been shown to play a central role in the thymus ontogeny. Indeed, their molecular alteration affects this well-orchestrated process, leading to disruption of the thymic architecture. Abnormalities of the paired box (Pax) family transcription factors Pax1 or Pax9 result in a blockage of the thymus organogenesis (79, 81). Mutations in the Hox transcription factor family member, Hoxa3, expressed on both thymic epithelium and mesenchymal cells, result in athymia (68). Furthermore, the homozygous loss of *Tbx1*, related to the DiGeorge syndrome phenotype, leads to thymic a/hypoplasia in humans (69, 82), while mice heterozygous for a null allele of Tbx1 show a mild phenotype without thymus anomalies (83). Therefore, the expression of Tbx1 both in the pharyngeal core mesoderm and in the pharyngeal endoderm is required for a proper thymus development. However, it remains to be elucidated whether the expression of Tbx1 in the TECs occurs and whether the gene participates in the TECs development (4).

FOXN1-DEPENDENT GENETIC STAGE OF TEC DIFFERENTIATION

In both humans and mice, the primordial TECs are yet unable to fully support T cell development and only after the transcriptional activation of the *FOXN1* gene in the thymic epithelium this essential function is acquired. *FOXN1* is a master regulator in the TEC lineage development in that it promotes down-stream the transcription of genes implicated in the thymus organogenesis and TECs full differentiation.

Forkhead-box n1 transcription factor belongs to the FOX transcription factor family implicated in a variety of biochemical and cellular processes, including development, metabolism, aging, and cancer (84, 85). During the post-natal life, *Foxn1* is selectively expressed only in thymic and skin epithelia, where it regulates the expression of several molecular targets to maintain the balance between growth and differentiation (86, 87). The signals required for *FOXN1* expression, and its activity, are still unclear, even though the wingless (Wnt) proteins (88) and bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) signaling have been shown to regulate *FOXN1* expression (89). Even though the complete pattern of *FOXN1* expression over the time and its role are not yet completely defined, studies on mouse and human model of gene alterations enormously helped unravel important issues on its role. Mutations in *Foxn1* gene lead to alymphoid cystic thymic dysgenesis due to a defective TECs differentiation process (63, 90). In both mice and humans *FOXN1* abnormalities lead to a hairless phenotype (87, 154).

In the *Foxn1*-dependent step of thymus organogenesis, precursor epithelial cells differentiate into mature and functional cTECs and mTECs from the same bi-potential TEC progenitor (4, 72, 76). It has been reported, that *Foxn1* is differentially expressed during the TE-lineage specification, since it is expressed in all TECs during the pre-natal life, but not in all TECs postnatally, indicating that the gene is highly developmentally regulated. There is a body of evidence documenting different effects of *Foxn1* expression in mTEC and cTECs. Particularly, studies on K5- and K18-CreERT-mediated *Foxn1*-deleted mouse models suggested that during the post-natal life, the loss of *Foxn1* affected mTECs, characterized by the expression of K5 and K14 keratins type. Conversely, the loss of *Foxn1* did not affect cTECs, which express the keratins K8 and K18 (91, 92). Taken together, these data suggest that cTECs and mTECs are not equally *Foxn1*-dependent in the post-natal life.

Recent reports highlighted a central role for *Foxn1* in TECs homeostasis in the adult thymus and its necessary role for the functionality and survival of adult TEC progenitors (92), expressing K5⁺ and K14⁺ markers. This role in adult thymus seems to be exerted in cooperation with other stem cell-related genes, such as *p63*. Of note, the transcription factor *p63*, encoding for multiple isoforms (93), plays a pivotal for the development of stratified epithelia of several tissues, such as epidermis, breast, prostate, and thymus (94). In the thymus, the *p63* protein drives the proliferation of epithelial progenitor cells (94, 95). Therefore, it has been hypothesized that *p63* and *Foxn1* could act synergistically through the formation of a *p63-Foxn1* regulatory axis aimed at regulating TECs homeostasis. However, the molecular mechanism through which the proliferation regulator *p63* and differentiation regulator *Foxn1* collaborate in this axis are still unclear.

FOXN1-MEDIATED GENE EXPRESSION FOR TEC DIFFERENTIATION

Forkhead-box n1 is directly or indirectly implicated in the transcriptional regulation of a panel of genes involved in thymus development and function.

Pax1 is a key regulator of TEC differentiation/survival balance. *Pax1* is expressed in the third pharyngeal pouch from E9.5 during the thymus ontogeny, while in the post-natal thymus only in cTEC (96). Even though the regulation of *Pax1* is still unclear, from E11.0 its expression requires *Hoxa3* (68). Of note, the loss of *Hoxa3* impairs the intrinsic ability of the neural crest cell population to differentiate and/or to lead to the differentiation of the tissues of pharyngeal arch and pouch. Indeed, in Hoxa3 mutant mice the thymus is absent and thyroid hypoplasia has been documented (68). Moreover, the first step of thymus development is the expansion of mesenchymal neural crest in the posterior part of the third pharyngeal pouch. Prior to this event, in the Hoxa3 mutant embryos a marked reduction in Pax1 expression has been shown. Similarly, Pax1 mutant mice also show thymic hypoplasia, suggesting a role for Hoxa3 in maintaining Pax1 expression in these cells (68). In the thymic primordium, Pax1 expression is under the control of Foxn1 (71). This finding indicates that Foxn1 and Hoxa3 are both involved in the network of molecular signals that regulates *Pax1* expression, thus demonstrating the existence of a molecular and/or functional interaction between Hoxa3 and Foxn1 [Figure 2; (71)]. In keeping with this, $Hoxa3^{+/-}Pax1^{-/-}$ compound mutant mice display a few phenotypic hallmarks of the Foxn1^{R/R} mouse model, which expresses low-dose of Foxn1, such as hypomorphic post-natal thymus, and reduced levels of MHC class II expression on the TECs surface (80). These data suggest two alternative hypothesis: Hoxa3 may regulate Foxn1, which, in turn, regulates Pax1 expression in the thymic primordium, in a Foxn1-dependent manner, or Hoxa3 and Foxn1 induce Pax1 expression in the third pharyngeal pouch and in early thymus primordium.

It has also been shown that *Foxn1* regulates the expression of *CCL25* and *Dll4* (**Figure 2**). These genes play a pivotal role in the thymocyte development, since *CCL25* regulates the colonization of the fetal thymus (97), while the Notch ligand *Dll4* is involved in the commitment of hematopoietic progenitors to the T cell lineage (30). In both early fetal TEC and in the post-natal thymus, *Dll4* expression is directly related to the *Foxn1* expression (71). Furthermore, these molecules are absent in the *Foxn1* null thymus, even though there is evidence indicating that their expression may occur in a *Foxn1*-independent manner in TECs (98, 99). Eventually, in a recent report it has been shown that *Foxn1* is upstream of dll4a and ccl25a expression in *medaka fish*, thus confirming the relationship with this transcription factor (100).

THE HUMAN NUDE/SCID PHENOTYPE: A MODEL OF THYMIC MICROENVIRONMENT DISRUPTION AND FAILURE OF THE T CELL DEVELOPMENT

The Nude/severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID) phenotype represents the prototype of thymic architecture disruption due to alterations of the *FOXN1*, which is the master regulator of TE-lineage specification (71).

In humans, as in mice and rats, mutations in the "nude" *Foxn1* gene induce the hairless phenotype, associated with a rudimentary thymus gland (T cell related primary immunodeficiency). The human Nude/SCID phenotype (MIM 601705; Pignata Guarino Syndrome) was first identified in 1996, after more than 30 years from the initial mouse description, in two sisters originated from a small community with a high grade of inbreeding, who showed congenital alopecia of the scalp, eyebrows, and eyelashes, nail dystrophy, and a severe T cell immunodeficiency, inherited as an autosomal recessive disorder (154). This phenotype was associated with a C792T transition in the *FOXN1* gene, which resulted in the nonsense mutation R255X in the exon 4 (formerly exon 5), with a complete absence of a functional protein similar to the previously described rat and mouse *Foxn1* mutations (101–103).



characterized by two genetic phases. The trivinus organogenesis is characterized by two genetic phases. The first stage is independent from the *Foxn1* expression (1) and consists in the induction and outgrowth of the thymic epithelial anlage from the third pharyngeal pouch, through the expression of genes including the *Eya1*, *Six*, *Hoxa3*, and *Tbx1*. *Hoxa3* and *Eya1* are also required in neural crest cells (NCCs). In the phase 2, *Foxn1*

In the absence of *Foxn1* expression, thymic development is halted at a rudimentary stage. As a consequence, in the affected patients the thymic lobe is still present but intra-thymic lymphopoiesis is completely blocked (63, 104) leading to severe primary T cell immunodeficiency (105-107) and to death in early childhood from severe infections (105, 108-112, 154). Foxn1 is also involved in morphogenesis and maintenance of the 3D thymic micro-structure, which is necessary for a fully functional thymus (113, 114). In fact, evidence is available that in an in vitro 2D culture system consisting of a monolayer of mouse bone marrow stromal OP9 cells it is possible to generate mature T cells, only if these cells are transduced with the Notch ligand Deltalike 1 (OP9-DL1) (115, 116), whose pathway exerts a pivotal and necessary role in promoting the induction of T cell-lineage commitment (117-119). Of note, in all these co-culture systems, the stromal cells are enforced to overexpress Notch ligands, and their expression by TECs seems to be maintained only in a 3D thymus structure (120). In human Nude/SCID, the T cell defect is

thymocytes and TECs differentiation. During this step, cTECs (expressing K8 and K18 keratin type) and mTECs (expressing K5 and K14 keratin type) originate from the same bi-potential TEC progenitor. The crosstalk between TECs and developing thymocytes is required to generate fully mature TECs and functional T cells.

characterized by the absence of proliferative response to the common mitogens and a severe blockage of the T cell differentiation (154). Recent studies revealed the presence of some circulating T cells of non-maternal origin in patients carrying alterations of FOXN1 gene. These cells have been shown to be predominantly double-negative αβ T cells (CD3⁺CD4⁻CD8⁻, DN) and to exhibit a regulatory like T cell phenotype (FoxP3⁺). This finding raised important issues regarding the site of differentiation of these cells. One hypothesis is the persistence of a thymic rudiment, which allows a partial T cell development (109). Alternatively, a T cell differentiation, even though partial and ineffective to result in a productive immunity, could occur at an extra-thymic site. In both pre-natal and post-natal life, the TCRBV spectratype repertoire in Nude/SCID patients is oligoclonal, thus confirming the immaturity of the process and, at the same time, that developmental events do take place at some extent (111, 112).

For many years, the human counterpart of the nude mouse phenotype has been erroneously considered the DiGeorge syndrome, which occurs spontaneously and is mainly characterized by thymic hypo/aplasia and a mild T cell defect. However, several lines of evidence argue against the analogy between these two disorders. In fact, the DiGeorge syndrome is often associated with neonatal tetany and major anomalies of great vessels. These defects are due to malformation of the parathyroid and heart, derived from a major embryologic defect in the third and fourth pharyngeal pouch from which the thymus primordium emerges. In addition, in this syndrome hairlessness is missing and gross abnormalities of skin annexa are not found. Children with DiGeorge syndrome may also have lymphopenia, with a mild reduction of T cells, that are however usually responsive to common mitogens.

In Nude/SCID patients, skin is tighter than usual and is characterized by basal hyperplasia and dysmaturity. Alopecia is primitive in nature, in that it can be observed at birth and persists after bone marrow transplantation, thus ruling out the acquired nature of the disorder. In keeping with this, in athymic mice, completely lacking body hair, restoration of the thymus did not lead to hair growth, indicating a direct participation of FOXN1 to hair follicle development (87). The most frequent phenotypic alteration affecting the nails is koilonychia ("spoon nail"), characterized by a concave surface and raised edges of the nail plate, associated with significant thinning of the plate itself; canaliform dystrophy and a transverse groove of the nail plate (Beau line) may also be observed (121). However, the most specific phenotypic alteration is leukonychia, characterized by a typical arciform pattern resembling a half-moon and involving the proximal part of the nail plate. These alterations of digits and nails were also reported in a few strains of nude mice. Of note, nail dystrophy has also been observed in heterozygous subjects carrying FOXN1 alterations (121). FOXN1 is known to be selectively expressed in the nail matrix, where the nail plate originates, thus confirming that this transcription factor is involved in the maturation process of nails and suggesting nail dystrophy as an indicative sign of heterozygosity for this molecular alteration (121).

Autoptical study of a fetus homozygous for R255X mutation revealed multiple-site neural tube defects, including anencephaly and spina bifida. This finding may help explaining the high rate of mortality in utero observed in the population where the first patients were identified (105). Intriguingly, the other forms of SCID become clinically evident only during the postnatal life, when the protection of the newborn transferred from the mother immune system declines. This observation, suggests that other causes different from immunodeficiency, are responsible for the high rate of mortality in utero and led to consider the Nude/SCID mutation and anencephaly causally related. Of note, in a recent study, the mouse Foxn1 gene was found to be expressed also in epithelial cells of the developing choroids plexus, a structure filling the lateral, third and fourth ventricles of the embryonic brain (105). Moreover abnormality in the development of corpus callosum were also found in another FOXN1 mutated fetus even in the absence of anencephaly, indicating that the transcription factor may play a role as a co-factor in the brain ontogeny (105).

Altogether these findings suggest that FOXN1 may also be implicated as co-factor in the development of vital systems required for a proper fetus development, thus explaining the mortality in the first trimester in fetuses carrying the genetic alterations, which is not justified by the SCID *per se*.

FOXN1 MUTATION PREVENTS THE PRE-NATAL T CELL DEVELOPMENT IN HUMANS

It is now clear that FOXN1 acts as a transcription factor implicated in the differentiation of thymic and skin epithelial cells, even though many of its molecular targets still remain to be discovered. Most of the knowledge so far available has been achieved in humans in the post-natal life, while little is known about FOXN1 role during the pre-natal life.

Of note, other FOX family members, including *Foxq1* and *Foxm1b*, are important during embryogenesis, being involved in a variety of biological processes (122). Approximately 50% of *Foxq1^{-/-}* murine embryos die *in utero*, thus suggesting the requirement of this gene during embryogenesis (123). Similarly, *Foxm1b* is important during liver regeneration (124).

Studies on thymus organogenesis revealed that Foxn1 is expressed in all TECs during fetal stages. Of note, $Foxn1^{-/-}$ mice showed undifferentiated TECs responsible for a blockage of thymopoiesis and severe immunodeficiency (125). Recently, the identification of a human FOXN1-/- fetus gave the unique opportunity to study in humans the T cell development *in utero*, in the absence of a functional thymus. Vigliano et al. documented a total blockage of the CD4⁺ T cell maturation and a severe impairment of CD8⁺ cells, with an apparent bias toward TCR $\gamma\delta^+$ cells (112). In this case in the congenital absence of the thymus was due to R255X missense mutation in the FOXN1 gene. In particular, it has been reported that in the absence of FOXN1 a few not functional CD8⁺ cells, mostly bearing TCR $\gamma\delta$ in the absence of CD3, presumably of extra-thymic origin could develop in both humans and mice (126-128). Further analysis of the fetal RNA, performed to evaluate the variable-domain β -chain (V β) families' usage among T lymphocytes, revealed that the generation of TCR diversity occurred at some extent in the FOXN1-/- fetus, but was abnormal. Thus, these data provided a further evidence of the crucial role for FOXN1 in the early pre-natal stages of T cell development and not in the B and NK-cell differentiation, these populations being normally present in the Nude/SCID fetus (112). A similar impairment of the T cell differentiation with a selective blockage of CD4 differentiation but not of CD8, was detected in murine models characterized by the absence of the nuclear high-mobility group (HMG) box protein TOX (107).

The identification of a limited number of CD8⁺ cells bearing the TCR $\gamma\delta$ suggests that this cell population may develop at extra-thymic sites in a *FOXN1*-independent manner, even though they are unable to sustain a productive immune response into the periphery. Indeed, evidence exists indicating that T cells may also differentiate at extra-thymic sites, as intestine and liver (129–133). Of note, the majority of thymus-derived T lymphocytes bears the $\alpha\beta$ chains of TCR and a few of them express the $\gamma\delta$ heterodimer (134), while the T cell pool developed outside the thymus is characterized by a higher proportion of TCR $\gamma\delta^+$ T cells expressing the CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ homodimer, instead of the CD8 $\alpha\beta$ (135, 136). Moreover, also DN T cells (CD3⁺CD4⁻CD8⁻) and lymphocytes expressing CD7 and CD2 in the absence of CD3 (CD2⁺CD3⁻CD7⁺) are generally considered of extra-thymic origin (135–137). In spite of the well documented knowledge on the role of the primary lymphoid organ to foster T cell development, some still unsolved issues in human athymic conditions indicate that an indepth information of the overall process is still to be achieved and, in particular, the involvement of different tissues in T cell ontogeny must be definitively clarified. Since FOXN1 is selectively expressed in the thymus and skin, one possibility to explain the presence of the few non-functional CD8⁺TCR $\gamma\delta^+$ cells in Nude/SCID fetus is that skin epithelial cells could play a partial role in T cell ontogeny, as already shown in *in vitro* models (138, 139).

THYMUS TRANSPLANTATION: A PROMISING TREATMENT TO ATHYMIC DISORDERS

Forkhead-box n1 deficiency is a very rare immunodeficiency with unfortunately poor chance of curative treatments. Recently, thymus transplantation has emerged as a promising treatment for children affected with congenital athymia (140–143), as that observed in complete DiGeorge anomaly and in *FOXN1* deficiency. Conceptually, the thymus transplant seems to be in principle the more appropriate therapeutic strategy, taking into account that bone marrow transplantation performed in one child with *FOXN1* deficiency, failed to induce a long-term sustained immune reconstitution. In particular, in this patient no reconstitution of the naïve T cell pool was observed (144).

Thymus transplantation has been first used in children affected with complete DiGeorge anomaly, with excellent clinical and immunologic results (141). In order to achieve immune reconstitution, cultured post-natal allogeneic thymus tissue slices were transplanted into the quadriceps muscles of the athymic host (145). The migration of host bone marrow stem cells to the donor graft allow them to develop into naive T cells, which then emigrate out of the engrafted thymic tissue into the peripheral blood. Thymopoiesis is observed in biopsies of the transplanted thymus within 2 months of transplantation (140) and naive T cells are detected in the peripheral blood approximately 3-5 months after transplantation (146, 147). Taking advantage from this previous experience, a few years ago an allogeneic thymus transplantation has been used for the first time in two unrelated infants with Nude/SCID phenotype due to a deficiency of the transcription factor FOXN1 (111). The clinical phenotype of the two subjects was characterized by the absence of naïve T cells, total alopecia, nail dystrophy, and severe infections, as disseminated Bacillus Calmette-Guérin in subject 1 and severe respiratory infections in subject 2. Molecular analysis, performed to confirm the clinical suspect of the Nude/SCID phenotype, revealed the presence of a homozygous R255X mutation in the FOXN1 gene in subject 1, the same of that previously described (107), and a homozygous R320W novel missense mutation in the subject 2. Moreover, subject 1 showed, like a small percentage of complete DiGeorge patients, referred as atypical complete DiGeorge, circulating oligoclonal T cells of non-maternal origins, which were predominantly double-negative T cells, and a T cell proliferative response to PHA within the normal range. Because of that, before thymus transplantation subject 1 have required immunosuppression regimen to prevent graft rejection. Differently, immunosuppression was not used for the subject 2, who had, like typical complete DiGeorge patients, very few T cells (141, 146).

Results obtained with thymus transplantation were encouraging in both FOXN1-deficient subjects, and led to a full T and B cell reconstitution and functional rescue. Indeed, both subjects developed naïve T cells, diverse TCR repertoires and an in vitro proliferative T cell responses against different antigens. Eventually they reached normal serum Ig levels with generation of protective antibody specific titers. Of note, HLA matching for class I and II did not seem to interfere with T cell counts after thymus transplantation, being subject 2 transplanted without any HLA matches. However, CD8⁺ T cell number, although apparently functional, was disproportionally low compared to CD4⁺ T cells (111). A poor CD8 recovery has also been described in complete DiGeorge patients, who underwent HLA-mismatched thymic transplantation (141, 148). Possible explanations are that the phenomenon is related to the HLA mismatch between host hematopoietic precursors and allograft thymic epithelia or to alterations in the thymic graft due to transplantation procedures.

Functionality of the thymic allograft has been assessed for the first time through signal joint (sj) and DBJB T cell receptor rearrangement excision circle (TREC) analyses (109). The sj/BTREC represents a ratio between early and late products of TCR rearrangements, which directly correlate with thymic output and provide an indirect measurement of thymocyte divisionrate (149–151). The sj/ β TREC ratio quantification, conducted in subject 1 with R255X mutation, was very low during the peri-transplant period and comparable to those observed in healthy children at 2.5 years post-transplant. Of note, 4 years posttransplantation a decrease of sj/BTREC ratio associated with a reduction in sjTREC levels and in the number of naïve cells were found, suggesting the decline in thymic allograft output (109). This decline might be due to the reduced longevity of the thymus allograft or to peripheral homeostasis of the T cell pool maintenance following its replenishment. Overall, the thymus transplantation seems to be a promising curative strategy for subjects with athymia due to FOXN1 deficiency or complete DiGeorge syndrome in the perspective of long-term clinical benefit.

CONCLUSION

The integrity of the thymic epithelial architecture allows the growth, the differentiation, and TCR repertoire selection of immature T cells, thus originating fully mature and functional T cells. Of note, the failure to generate or to maintain the proper 3D thymic architecture leads to severe immunodeficiency or autoimmunity. The unique function of the thymus in the establishment/maintenance of the T cell pool is related not only to the peculiar 3D structure, but also to the specialized functions of the thymic stroma. Indeed, lympho-stromal interactions within the multicellular thymic microenvironment play a crucial role in the regulation of the T cell development. Moreover, these interactions are based on a bilateral crosstalk between stromal cells and traveling thymocytes, which, in turn, are able to provide important signals for the TECs differentiation.

Thymus organogenesis and T cell development are sophisticated biological processes, which require the activation of a wide panel of genes. There is evidence that the master regulator of the thymus development is the *Foxn1* gene, since it is required at multiple intermediate stages of the TE-lineage specification either in the fetal and adult thymus, through the direct or indirect regulation of genes involved in the thymus development and function. These genes include *Pax1*, *Hoxa3*, *CCL25*, *Dll4*, *p63*.

Studies on the animal and human model of the Nude/SCID phenotype have provided an enormous contribution in identifying the crucial role of *Foxn1* to drive the thymus development, even though many issues regarding the transcriptional regulation of the TECs specification and homeostasis still remain to be solved. The development *in vitro* of cellular models of TEC lineage

REFERENCES

- Anderson G, Jenkinson EJ. Lymphostromal interactions in thymic development and function. Nat Rev Immunol (2001) 1:31–40. doi:10.1038/35095500
- Gray DH, Chidgey AP, Boyd RL. Analysis of thymic stromal cell populations using flow cytometry. *J Immunol Methods* (2002) 260:15–28. doi:10.1016/S0022-1759(01)00493-8
- Jenkinson EJ, Anderson G. Fetal thymic organ cultures. Curr Opin Immunol (1994) 6:293–7. doi:10.1016/0952-7915(94)90104-X
- Rodewald HR. Thymus organogenesis. Annu Rev Immunol (2008) 26:355–88. doi:10.1146/ annurev.immunol.26.021607. 090408
- Kyewski B, Derbinski J, Gotter J, Klein L. Promiscuous gene expression and central Tcell tolerance: more than meets the eye. *Trends Immunol* (2002) 23:364–71. doi:10.1016/S1471-4906(02)02248-2
- Martin CH, Aifantis I, Scimone ML, von Andrian UH, Reizis B, von Boehmer H, et al. Efficient thymic immigration of B220+ lymphoid-restricted bone marrow cells with T precursor potential. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4:866– 73. doi:10.1038/ni965
- Martins VC, Ruggiero E, Schlenner SM, Madan V, Schmidt M, Fink PJ, et al. Thymus-autonomous T cell development in the absence of progenitor import. J Exp Med (2012) 209:1409–17. doi:10.1084/jem.20120846
- Petrie HT, Zúñiga-Pflücker JC. Zoned out: functional mapping of stromal signaling microenvironments in the thymus. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2007) 25:649–79. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol. 23.021704.115715
- 9. Farley AM, Morris LX, Vroegindeweij E, Depreter ML, Vaidya H, Stenhouse FH, et al. Dynamics of thymus organogenesis

and colonization in early human development. *Development* (2013) **140**:2015–26. doi:10.1242/dev.087320

- Duijvestijn AM, Hoefsmit EC. Ultrastructure of the rat thymus: the micro-environment of T-lymphocyte maturation. *Cell Tissue Res* (1981) **218**:279–92. doi:10.1007/BF00210344
- van Ewijk W. T-cell differentiation is influenced by thymic microenvironments. Ann Rev Immunol (1991) 9:591–615. doi:10.1146/ annurev.iy.09.040191.003111
- Dorshkind K. Regulation of hemopoiesis by bone marrow stromal cells and their products. *Annu Rev Immunol* (1990) 8:111–37. doi:10.1146/ annurev.immunol.8.1.111
- Manley NR, Blackburn CC. A developmental look at thymus organogenesis: where do the non-hematopoietic cells in the thymus come from? *Curr Opin Immunol* (2003) 15:225–32. doi:10.1016/S0952-7915(03)00006-2
- van Ewijk W, Shores EW, Singer A. Crosstalk in the mouse thymus. *Immunol Today* (1994) 15:214–7. doi:10.1016/0167-5699(94)90246-1
- van Ewijk W, Wang B, Hollander G, Kawamoto H, Spanopoulou E, Itoi M, et al. Thymic microenvironments, 3-D versus 2-D? Semin Immunol (1999) 11:57– 64. doi:10.1006/smim.1998.0158
- Palmer DB, Viney JL, Ritter MA, Hayday AC, Owen MJ. Expression of the alpha beta T-cell receptoris necessary for the generation of the thymic medulla. *Dev Immunol* (1993) 3:175–9. doi:10.1155/1993/56290
- Shores EW, van Ewijk W, Singer A. Maturation of medullary thymic epithelium requires thymocytes expressing fully assembled CD3-TCR complexes. *Int Immunol* (1994) 6: 1393–402. doi:10.1093/intimm/ 6.9.1393

differentiation, by using the technology of nuclear reprograming, will be certainly useful to better characterize the discrete stages of the TECs differentiation and the molecular mechanism involved in the process.

Eventually, the *in vitro* re-build of a thymic environment capable to reproduce tissue features of primary lymphoid organs (139, 152) could be a promising and valuable tool for the treatment of congenital athymia, including *FOXN1* deficiency, along with the thymus transplantation, which is emerged as a potential treatment for these disorders.

- Surh CD, Ernst B, Sprent J. Growth of epithelial cells in the thymic medulla is under the control of mature T cells. *J Exp Med* (1992) **176**:611–6. doi:10.1084/jem.176.2.611
- Hollander GA, Wang B, Nichogiannopoulou A, Platenburg PP, van Ewijk W, Burakoff SJ, et al. Developmental control point in induction of thymic cortex regulated by a subpopulation of prothymocytes. *Nature* (1995) **373**:350–3. doi:10.1038/373350a0
- Roberts NA, Desanti GE, Withers DR, Scott HR, Jenkinson WE, Lane PJL, et al. Absence of thymus crosstalk in the fetus does not preclude hematopoietic induction of a functional thymus in the adult. *Eur J Immunol* (2009) **39**:2395–402. doi:10.1002/eji.200939501
- Germeraad WT, Kawamoto H, Itoi M, Jiang Y, Amagai T, Katsura Y, et al. Development of thymic microenvironments in vitro is oxygendependent and requires permanent presence of T-cell progenitors. J Histochem Cytochem (2003) 51:1225–35. doi:10.1177/ 002215540305100913
- Gray DH, Ueno T, Chidgey AP, Malin M, Goldberg GL, Takahama Y, et al. Controlling the thymic microenvironment. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2005) 17:137–43. doi:10.1016/ j.coi.2005.02.001
- 23. van Ewijk W, Hollander G, Terhorst C, Wang B. Stepwise development of thymic microenvironments in vivo is regulated by thymocyte subsets. *Development* (2000) **127**:1583–91.
- Haynes BF, Heinly CS. Early human T cell development: analysis of the human thymus at the time of initial entry of hematopoietic stem cells into the fetal thymic microenvironment. J Exp Med (1995) 181: 1445–58. doi:10.1084/jem.181. 4.1445

- Owen JJ, Ritter MA. Tissue interaction in the development of thymus lymphocytes. *J Exp Med* (1969) 129:431–42. doi:10.1084/jem.129.2.431
- Calderon L, Boehm T. Three chemokine receptors cooperatively regulate homing of hematopoietic progenitors to the embryonic mouse thymus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2011) 108:7517–22. doi:10.1073/pnas.1016428108
- Liu C, Saito F, Liu C, Lei Y, Uehara S, Love P, et al. Coordination between CCR7- and CCR9-mediated chemokine signals in prevascular fetal thymus colonization. *Blood* (2006) 108:2531–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-05-024190
- Wurbel MA, Malissen M, Guy-Grand D, Meffre E, Nussenzweig MC, Richelme M, et al. Mice lacking the CCR9 CC-chemokine receptor show a mild impairment of early Tand B-cell development and a reduction in T-cell receptor gammadelta(+) gut intraepithelial lymphocytes. *Blood* (2001) 98:2626–32. doi:10.1182/ blood.V98.9.2626
- Rossi FM, Corbel SY, Merzaban JS, Carlow DA, Gossens K, Duenas J, et al. Recruitment of adult thymic progenitors is regulated by P-selectin and its ligand PSGL-1. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6:626–34. doi:10.1038/ ni1203
- Koch U, Fiorini E, Benedito R, Besseyrias V, Schuster-Gossler K, Pierres M, et al. Delta-like 4 is the essential, nonredundant ligand for Notch1 during thymic T cell lineage commitment. J Exp Med (2008) 205:2515–23. doi:10.1084/ jem.20080829
- Thompson PK, Zúñiga-Pflücker JC. On becoming a T cell, a convergence of factors kick it up a Notch along the way. Semin Immunol (2011) 23:350–9. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2011.08.007

- Hozumi K, Mailhos C, Negishi N, Hirano K, Yahata T, Ando K, et al. Delta-like 4 is indispensable in thymic environment specific for T cell development. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205:2507–13. doi:10.1084/jem.20080134
- Lind EF, Prockop SE, Porritt HE, Petrie HT. Mapping precursor movement through the postnatal thymus reveals specific microenvironments supporting defined stages of early lymphoid development. J Exp Med (2001) 194:127– 34. doi:10.1084/jem.194.2.127
- 34. Benz C, Heinzel K, Bleul CC. Homing of immature thymocytes to the subcapsular microenvironment within the thymus is not an absolute requirement for T cell development. Eur J Immunol (2004) 34:3652–63. doi:10.1002/eji.200425248
- Yamasaki S, Saito T. Molecular basis for pre-TCR-mediated autonomous signaling. *Trends Immunol* (2007) 28:39–43. doi:10.1016/j.it.2006.11.006
- Goldrath AW, Bevan MJ. Selecting and maintaining a diverse T-cell repertoire. *Nature* (1999) 402:255–62. doi:10.1038/46218
- Palmer E. Negative selection clearing out the bad apples from the T-cell repertoire. Nat Rev Immunol (2003) 3:383–91. doi:10.1038/nri1085
- Laufer TM, DeKoning J, Markowitz JS, Lo D, Glimcher LH. Unopposed positive selection and autoreactivity in mice expressing class II MHC only on thymic cortex. *Nature* (1996) 383:81–5. doi:10.1038/383081a0
- Murata S, Sasaki K, Kishimoto T, Niwa S, Hayashi H, Takahama Y, et al. Regulation of CD8+ T cell development by thymus-specific proteasomes. *Science* (2007) **316**:1349– 53. doi:10.1126/science.1141915
- Ripen AM, Nitta T, Murata S, Tanaka K, Takahama Y. Ontogeny of thymic cortical epithelial cells expressing the thymoproteasome subunit b5t. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41:1278–87. doi:10.1002/eji.201041375
- Nitta T, Murata S, Sasaki K, Fujii H, Ripen AM, Ishimaru N, et al. Thymoproteasome shapes immunocompetent repertoire of CD8+ T cells. *Immunity* (2010) 32:29–40. doi:10.1016/ j.immuni.2009.10.009
- 42. Gommeaux J, Gržgoire C, Nguessan P, Richelme M, Malissen M, Guerder S, et al.

Thymus-specific serine protease regulates positive selection of a subset of CD4+ thymocytes. *Eur J Immunol* (2009) **39**:956–64. doi:10.1002/eii.200839175

- 43. Viret C, Lamare C, Guiraud M, Fazilleau N, Bour A, Malissen B, et al. Thymus-specific serine protease contributes to the diversification of the functional endogenous CD4 T cell receptor repertoire. *J Exp Med* (2011) 208:3–11. doi:10.1084/jem.20100027
- 44. Nitta T, Nitta S, Lei Y, Lipp M, Takahama Y. CCR7-mediated migration of developing thymocytes to the medulla is essential for negative selection to tissue-restricted antigens. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2009) 106:17129–33. doi:10.1073/pnas.0906956106
- Ueno T, Saito F, Gray DH, Kuse S, Hieshima K, Nakano H, et al. CCR7 signals are essential for cortex-medulla migration of developing thymocytes. *J Exp Med* (2004) 200:493–505. doi:10.1084/jem.20040643
- Derbinski J, Schulte A, Kyewski B, Klein L. Promiscuous gene expression in medullary thymic epithelial cells mirrors the peripheral self. *Nature* (2001) 2:1032–9.
- Mathis D, Benoist C. Aire. Annu Rev Immunol (2009) 27:287–312. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol. 25.022106.141532
- Hubert FX, Kinkel SA, Davey GM, Phipson B, Mueller SN, Liston A, et al. Aire regulates the transfer of antigen from mTECs to dendritic cells for induction of thymic tolerance. *Blood* (2011) 118:2462– 72. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-06-286393
- Derbinski J, Pinto S, Råsch S, Hexel K, Kyewski B. Promiscuous gene expression patterns in single medullary thymic epithelial cells argue for a stochastic mechanism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:657–62. doi:10.1073/pnas.0707486105
- Gillard GO, Farr AG. Features of medullary thymic epithelium implicate postnatal development in maintaining epithelial heterogeneity and tissue-restricted antigen expression. *J Immunol* (2006) 176:5815–24.
- Rooke R, Waltzinger C, Benoist C, Mathis D. Targeted complementation of MHC class II deficiency by intrathymic delivery of recombinant

adenoviruses. *Immunity* (1997) 7:123–34. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80515-4

- Klein L. Dead man walking: how thymocytes scan the medulla. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:809–11. doi:10.1038/ni0809-809
- Koble C, Kyewski B. The thymic medulla: a unique microenvironment for intercellular self-antigen transfer. J Exp Med (2009) 206:1505–13. doi:10.1084/jem.20082449
- Lei Y, Ripen AM, Ishimaru N, Ohigashi I, Nagasawa T, Jeker LT, et al. Aire-dependent production of XCL1 mediates medullary accumulation of thymic dendritic cells and contributes to regulatory T cell development. *J Exp Med* (2011) 208:383–94. doi:10.1084/jem.20102327
- Román E, Shino H, Qin FX, Liu YJ. Hematopoieticderived APCs select regulatory T cells in thymus. J Immunol (2010) 185:3819–23. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900665
- 56. Itoh M, Takahashi T, Sakaguchi N, Kuniyasu Y, Shimizu J, Otsuka F, et al. Thymus and autoimmunity: production of CD25+CD4+naturally anergic and suppressive T cells as a key function of the thymus in maintaining immunologic self-tolerance. *J Immunol* (1999) **162**:5317–26.
- Dieckmann D, Plottner H, Berchtold S, Berger T, Schuler G. Ex vivo isolation and characterization of CD4+CD25+ T cells with regulatory properties from human blood. J Exp Med (2001) 193:1303–10. doi:10.1084/jem.193.11.1303
- Schubert LA, Jeffery E, Zhang Y, Ramsdell F, Ziegler SF. Scurfin (FOXP3) acts as a repressor of transcription and regulates T cell activation. J Biol Chem (2001) 276:37672–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M104521200
- 59. Liu B, Tahk S, Yee KM, Fan G, Shuai K. The ligase PIAS1 restricts natural regulatory Т cell differentiation bv epigenetic repression. Science (2010)**330**:521-5. doi:10.1126/science.1193787
- Yao Z, Kanno Y, Kerenyi M, Stephens G, Durant L, Watford WT, et al. Nonredundant roles for Stat5a/b in directly regulating Foxp3. *Blood* (2007) 109:4368– 75. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-11-055756
- 61. Schmidt-Supprian M, Tian J, Grant EP, Pasparakis M, Maehr R,

Ovaa H, et al. Differential dependence of CD4+CD25+ regulatory and natural killer like T cells on signals leading to NF-kappaB activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) **101**: 4566–71. doi:10.1073/pnas.040 0885101

- Bleul CC, Boehm T. Chemokines define distinct microenvironments in the developing thymus. *Eur J Immunol* (2000) **30**:3371–9. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(2000012)30:12<3371::AID-IMMU3371>3.0.CO:2-L
- Nehls M, Kyewski B, Messerle M, Waldschutz R, Schuddekopf K, Smith AJ, et al. Two genetically separable steps in the differentiation of thymic epithelium. *Science* (1996) 272:886–9. doi:10.1126/ science.272.5263.886
- 64. Pignata C. A lesson to unraveling complex aspects of novel immunodeficiencies from the human equivalent of the nude/SCID phenotype. *J Hematother Stem Cell Res* (2002) 11:409–14. doi:10.1089/ 152581602753658592
- Pignata C, D'Agostino A, Finelli P, Fiore M, Scotese I, Cosentini E, et al. Progressive deficiencies in blood T cells associated with a 10p12-13 interstitial deletion. *Clin Immunol Immopathol* (1996) 80:9–15. doi:10.1006/clin.1996.0088
- 66. Su D, Navarre S, Oh W, Condie BG, Manley NR. A domain of Foxn1 required for crosstalk-dependent thymic epithelial cell differentiation. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4:1128–35. doi:10.1038/ni983
- Zou D, Silvius D, Davenport J, Grifone R, Maire P, Xu P-X. Patterning of the third pharyngeal pouch into thymus/parathyroid by Six and Eya1. *Dev Biol* (2006) **293**:499–512. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2005.12.015
 Manley NR, Capecchi MR.
- The role of Hoxa-3 in mouse thymus and thyroid development. *Development* (1995) **121**:1989–2003.
- Jerome LA, Papaioannou VE. DiGeorge syndrome phenotype in mice mutant for the T-box gene, Tbx1. Nat Genet (2001) 27:286–91. doi:10.1038/85845
- Lindsay EA. Chromosomal microdeletions: dissecting del22q11 syndrome. Nat Rev Genet (2001) 2:858–68. doi:10. 1038/35098574

- Nowell CS, Bredenkamp N, Tetelin S, Jin X, Tischner C, Vaidya H, et al. Foxn1 regulates lineage progression in cortical and medullary thymic epithelial cells but is dispensable for medullary sublineage divergence. *PLoS Genet* (2011) 7:e1002348. doi:10.1371/ journal.pgen.1002348
- Rossi SW, Jenkinson WE, Anderson G, Jenkinson EJ. Clonal analysis reveals a common progenitor for thymic cortical and medullary epithelium. *Nature* (2006) 441:988–91. doi:10.1038/nature04813
- Owen JJ, McLoughlin DE, Suniara RK, Jenkinson EJ. The role of mesenchyme in thymus development. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* (2000) **251**:133–7. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-57276-0 17
- Zhang L, Sun L, Zhao Y. Thymic epithelial progenitor cells and thymus regeneration: an update. *Cell Res* (2007) 17:50–5. doi:10.1038/sj.cr.7310114
- Bennett AR, Farley A, Blair NF, Gordon J, Sharp L, Blackburn CC. Identification and characterization of thymic epithelial progenitor cells. *Immunity* (2002) 16:803–14. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00321-7
- Bleul C, Corbeaux T, Reuter A, Fisch P, Schulte Monting J, Boehm T. Formation of a functional thymus initiated by a postnatal epithelial progenitor cell. *Nature* (2006) 441:992–6. doi:10.1038/nature04850
- Manley NR, Condie BG. Transcriptional regulation of thymus organogenesis and thymic epithelial cell differentiation. *Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci* (2010) **92**:103–20. doi:10.1016/S1877-1173(10)92005-X
- Dietrich S, Gruss P. Undulated phenotypes suggest a role of Pax-1 for the development of vertebral and extravertebral structures. *Dev Biol* (1995) 167:529–48. doi:10.1006/dbio. 1995.1047
- 79. Hetzer-Egger C, Schorpp M, Haas-Assenbaum A, Balling R, Peters H, Boehm T. Thymopoiesis requires Pax9 function in thymic epithelial cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2002) 32:1175–81. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200204)32:4<1175::AID-IMMU1175>3.0.CO;2-U
- 80. Su DM, Manley NR. Hoxa3 and pax1 transcription factors

regulate the ability of fetal thymic epithelial cells to promote thymocyte development. *J Immunol* (2000) **164**:5753–60.

- Mansouri A, Goudreau G, Gruss P. Pax genes and their role in organogenesis. *Cancer Res* (1999) 59:1707s–9.
- Merscher S, Funke B, Epstein JA, Heyer J, Puech A, Lu MM, et al. TBX1 is responsible for cardiovascular defects in velo-cardio-facial/DiGeorge syndrome. *Cell* (2001) 104:619–29. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00247-1
- Liao J, Kochilas L, Nowotschin S, Arnold JS, Aggarwal VS, Epstein JA, et al. Full spectrum of malformations in velo-cardiofacial syndrome/DiGeorge syndrome mouse models by altering Tbx1 dosage. *Hum Mol Genet* (2004) 13:1577–85. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddh176
- Kaufmann E, Knochel W. Five years on the wings of fork head. *Mech Dev* (1996) 57:3–20. doi:10.1016/0925-4773(96)00539-4
- Schorpp M, Hofmann M, Dear TN, Boehm T. Characterization of mouse and human nude genes. *Immunogenetics* (1997) 46:509– 15. doi:10.1007/s002510050312
- Brissette JL, Li J, Kamimura J, Lee D, Dotto GP. The product of the mouse nude locus, Whn, regulates the balance between epithelial cell growth and differentiation. *Genes Dev* (1996) 10:2212– 21. doi:10.1101/gad.10.17.2212
- Mecklenburg L, Tychsen B, Paus R. Learning from nudity: lessons from the nude phenotype. *Exp Dermatol* (2005) 14:797–810. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0625.2005.00362.x
- Balciunaite G, Keller MP, Balciunaite E, Piali L, Zuklys S, Mathieu YD, et al. Wnt glycoproteins regulate the expression of FoxN1, the gene defective in nude mice. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3:1102–8. doi:10.1038/ni850
- Bleul CC, Boehm T. BMP signaling is required for normal thymus development. *J Immunol* (2005) 175:5213–21.
- Nehls M, Pfeifer D, Schorpp M, Hedrich H, Boehm T. New member of the wingedhelix protein family disrupted in mouse and rat nude mutations. *Nature* (1994) 372:103–7. doi:10.1038/372103a0
- 91. Cheng L, Guo J, Sun L, Fu J, Barnes PF, Metzger D,

et al. Postnatal tissue-specific disruption of transcription factor FoxN1 triggers acute thymic atrophy. J Biol Chem (2010) **285**:5836–47. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.072124

- 92. Corbeaux T, Hess I, Swann JB, Kanzler B, Haas-Assenbaum A, Boehm T. Thymopoiesis in mice depends on a Foxn1positive thymic epithelial cell lineage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2010) 107:16613–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1004623107
- Crum CP, McKeon FD. p63 in epithelial survival, germ cell surveillance, and neoplasia. Annu Rev Pathol (2010) 5:349–71. doi:10.1146/annurev-pathol-121808-102117
- 94. Candi E, Rufini A, Terrinoni A, Giamboi-Miraglia A, Lena AM, Mantovani R, et al. DeltaNp63 regulates thymic development through enhanced expression of FgfR2 and Jag2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) **104**:11999–2004. doi:10.1073/pnas.0703458104
- Senoo M, Pinto F, Crum CP, McKeon F. p63 is essential for the proliferative potential of stem cells in stratified epithelia. *Cell* (2007) 129:523–36. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.02.045
- 96. Wallin J, Eibel H, Neubuser A, Wilting J, Koseki H, Balling R. Pax1 is expressed during development of the thymus epithelium and is required for normal T-cell maturation. *Development* (1996) **122**:23–30.
- Liu H, Leung BP. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in health and disease. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* (2006)
 33:519-24. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1681.2006.04401.x
- Itoi M, Tsukamoto N, Amagai T. Expression of Dll4 and CCL25 in Foxn1-negative epithelial cells in the post-natal thymus. *Int Immunol* (2007) 19:127–32. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxl129
- Tsukamoto N, Itoi M, Nishikawa M, Amagai T. Lack of Delta like 1 and 4 expressions in nude thymus anlages. *Cell Immunol* (2005) 234:77–80. doi:10.1016/ j.cellimm.2005.06.009
- 100. Bajoghli B, Aghaallaei N, Hess I, Rode I, Netuschil N, Tay BH, et al. Evolution of genetic networks underlying the emergence of thymopoiesis in vertebrates. *Cell* (2009) **138**: 186–97. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009. 04.017

- 101. Festing MFW, May D, Connors TA, Lovell D, Sparrow S. An athymic nude mutation in the rat. *Nature* (1978) **274**:365–6. doi:10.1038/274365a0
- 102. Hoffman SR, Ettinger R, Zhou YJ, Gadina M, Lipsky P, Siegel R, et al. Cytokines and their role in lymphoid development, differentiation and homeostasis. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol (2002) 2:495–506. doi:10.1097/00130832-200212000-00004
- Huth M, Schlake T, Boehm T. Transposon-induced splicing defect in the rat nude gene. *Immunogenetics* (1997) 45:282– 3. doi:10.1007/s002510050206
- 104. Blackburn CC, Augustine CL, Li R, Harvey RP, Malin MA, Boyd RL, et al. The nu gene acts cellautonomously and is required for differentiation of thymic epithelial progenitors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1996) **93**:5742–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.93.12.5742
- 105. Amorosi S, D'Armiento M, Calcagno G, Russo I, Adriani M, Christiano AM, et al. FOXN1 homozygous mutation associated with anencephaly and severe neural tube defect in human athymic Nude/SCID fetus. *Clin Genet* (2008) 73:380–4. doi:10.1111/j.1399-0004.2008.00977.x
- 106. Cunningham-Rundles C, Ponda PP. Molecular defects in Tand B-cell primary immunodeficiency diseases. Nat Rev Immunol (2005) 5:880–92. doi:10.1038/nri1713
- 107. Frank J, Pignata C, Panteleyev AA, Prowse DM, Baden H, Weiner L, et al. Exposing the human nude phenotype. *Nature* (1999) **398**:473–4. doi:10.1038/18997
- Adriani M, Martinez-Mir A, Fusco F, Busiello R, Frank J, Telese S, et al. Ancestral founder mutation of the nude (FOXN1) gene in congenital severe combined immunodeficiency associated with alopecia in southern Italy population. Ann Hum Genet (2004) 68:265–8. doi:10.1046/j.1529-8817.2004.00091.x
- 109. Albuquerque A, Marques JG, Silva SL, Ligeiro D, Devline BH, Dutrieux J, et al. Human FOXN1-deficiency is associated with ab double-negative and FoxP3+ T-cell expansions that are distinctly modulated upon thymic transplantation. *PLoS*

ONE (2012) **7**:e37042. doi:10. 1371/journal.pone.0037042

- Coffer PJ, Burgering BMT. Forkhead-box transcription factors and their role in the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2004) 4:889–99. doi:10.1038/nri1488
- 111. Markert ML, Marques J, Neven B, Devlin B, McCarthy E, Chinn I, et al. First use of thymus transplantation therapy for Foxn1 deficiency (nude/SCID): a report of two cases. *Blood* (2011) 117:688–96. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-06-292490
- 112. Vigliano I, Gorrese M, Fusco A, Vitiello L, Amorosi S, Panico L, et al. FOXN1 mutation abrogates prenatal T-cell development in humans. J Med Genet (2011) 48:413–6. doi:10.1136/jmg.2011.089532
- 113. Mohtashami M, Zúñiga-Pflücker JC. Cutting edge: three-dimensional architecture of the thymus is required to maintain delta-like expression necessary for inducing T cell development. J Immunol (2006) 176:730–4.
- 114. Zúňiga-Pflücker JC. T-cell development made simple. Nat Rev Immunol (2004) 4:67–72. doi:10.1038/nri1257
- 115. Schmitt TM, Zúñiga-Pflücker JC. Induction of T cell development from hematopoietic progenitor cells by delta-like-1 in vitro. *Immunity* (2002) 17:749–56. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00474-0
- 116. La Motte-Mohs RN, Herer E, Zúñiga-Pflücker JC. Induction of T cell development from human cord blood hematopoietic stem cells by Delta-like 1 in vitro. *Blood* (2004) **105**:1431–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-04-1293
- Osborne B, Miele L. Notch and the immune system. *Immunity* (1999) 11:653–63. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80140-5
- 118. MacDonald HR, Wilson A, Radtke F. Notch1 and Tcell development: insights from conditional knockout mice. *Trends Immunol* (2001) 22:155–60. doi:10.1016/S1471-4906(00)01828-7
- Pear WS, Radtke F. Notch signaling in lymphopoiesis. *Semin Immunol* (2003) 15:69–79. doi:10.1016/S1044-5323(03)00003-4
- 120. Anderson G, Jenkinson EJ. Investigating central tolerance with

reaggregate thymus organ cultures. *Methods Mol Biol* (2007) **380**:185–96. doi:10.1007/978-1-59745-395-0 11

- 121. Auricchio L, Adriani M, Frank J, Busiello R, Christiano A, Pignata C. Nail distrophy associated with a heterozygous mutation of the Nude/SCID human FOXN1 (WHN) gene. Arch Dermatol (2005) 141:647–8. doi:10.1001/archderm.141.5.647
 122. Jonsson H, Peng SL. Forkhead transcription factors in
- immunology. *CMLS Cell Mol Life Sci* (2005) **62**:397–409. doi:10.1007/s00018-004-4365-8 123. Goering W, Adham IM, Pasche
 - B, Manner J, Ochs M, Engel W, et al. Impairment of gastric acid secretion and increase of embryonic lethality in Foxq1-deficient mice. *Cytogenet Genome Res* (2008) **121**:88–95. doi:10.1159/000125833
- 124. Krupczak-Hollis K, Wang X, Kalinichenko VV, Gusarova GA, Wang IC, Dennewitz MB, et al. The mouse Forkhead Box m1 transcription factor is essential for hepatoblast mitosis and development of intrahepatic bile ducts and vessels during liver morphogenesis. Develop Biol (2004) 276:74-88. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2004.08.022 125. Muller SM, Ege M, Pottharst A, Schulz AS, Schwarz K, Friedrich W. Transplacentally acquired maternal T lymphocytes in severe combined immunodeficiency: a study of 121 patients. Blood (2001)98:1847-51. doi:10.1182/blood.V98.6.1847
- Rocha B. The extrathymic T-cell differentiation in the murine gut. *Immunol Rev* (2007) 215:166–77. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2006.00467.x
- 127. Jensen KD, Shin S, Chien YH. Cutting edge: γδ intraepithelial lymphocytes of the small intestine are not biased toward thymic antigens. J Immunol (2009) 182:7348-51. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900465 128. Guy-Grand D, Azogui O, Celli S, Darche S, Nussenzweig MC, Kourilsky P, et al. Extrathymic T Cell lymphopoiesis: ontogeny and contribution to gut intraepithelial lymphocytes in athymic and euthymic mice. J Exp Med (2003) **197**:333–41. doi:10.1084/jem.20021639
- 129. Blais M, Louis I, Perreault C. Tcell development: an extrathymic perspective. *Immunol Rev* (2006)

209:103–14. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2006.00341.x

- 130. Nonaka S, Naito T, Chen H, Yamamoto M, Moro K, Kiyono H, et al. Intestinal gd T cells develop in mice lacking thymus, all lymphonodes, Peyer's patches, and isolated lymphoid follicles. J Immunol (2005) 174:1906–12.
- 131. Peaudecerf L, Ribeiro dos Santos P, Boudil A, Ezine S, Pardigon N, Rocha B. The role of the gut as a primary lymphoid organ: CD8 euthymic mice derive from very immature CD44+ thymocyte precursors. *Mucosal Immunol* (2011) 4:93– 101. doi:10.1038/mi.2010.47
- 132. Suzuki K, Oida T, Hamada H, Hitotsumatsu O, Watanabe M, Hibi T, et al. Gut cryptopatches: direct evidence of extrathymic anatomical sites for intestinal T lymphopoiesis. *Immunity* (2000) 13:691–702. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)00068-6
- Torfadottir H, Freysdottir J, Skaftadottir I, Haraldsson A, Sigfusson G, Ogmundsdottir HM. Evidence for extrathymic T cell maturation after thymectomy in infancy. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2006) 145:407–12. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2006.03139.x
- 134. Xiong N, Raulet DH. Development and selection of gammadelta T cells. Immunol Rev (2007) 215:15–31. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2006.00478.x
- 135. Gunther U, Holloway JA, Gordon JG, Knight A, Chance V, Hanley NA, et al. Phenotypic characterization of CD3-7+ cells in developing human intestine and an analysis of their ability to differentiate into T cells. *J Immunol* (2005) **174**:5414–22.
- Hayday A, Gibbons D. Brokering the peace: the origin of intestinal T cells. *Mucosal Immunol* (2008) 1:12–4. doi:10.1038/ mi.2008.8
- 137. Eiras P, Leon F, Camarero C, Lombardia M, Roldan E, Bootello A, et al. Intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes contain a CD3-CD7+ subset expressing natural killer markers and a singular pattern of adhesion molecules. *Scand J Immunol* (2000) 52:1–6. doi:10.1046/j.1365-3083.2000.00761.x
- 138. Aliaamad P, Kaye J. Development of all CD4 T lineages requires nuclear factor TOX. J

Exp Med (2008) **205**:245–56. doi:10.1084/jem.20071944

- 139. Palamaro L, Guarino V, Scalia G, Antonini D, De Falco L, Bianchino G, et al. Human skin-derived keratinocytes and fibroblasts co-culture on 3D poly e-caprolactone scaffold support *in vitro* HSCs differentiation into T-lineage committed cells. *Int Immunol* (2013). doi:10.1093/intimm/dxt035
- Markert ML. Treatment of infants with complete DiGeorge anomaly. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2008) 121:1063. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2007.12.1181
- 141. Markert ML, Devlin BH, Alexieff MJ, Li J, McCarthy EA, Gupton SE, et al. Review of 54 patients with complete DiGeorge anomaly enrolled in protocols for thymus transplantation: outcome of 44 consecutive transplants. *Blood* (2007) **109**:4539– 47. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-10-048652
- 142. Li B, Li J, Devlin BH, Markert ML. Thymic microenvironment reconstitution after postnatal human thymus transplantation. *Clin Immunol* (2011) 140:244–59. doi:10.1016/ j.clim.2011.04.004
- 143. Chinn IK, Markert ML. Induction of tolerance to parental parathyroid grafts using allogeneic thymus tissue in patients with DiGeorge anomaly. J Allergy Clin (2011) 127:1351–2. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2011.03.033
- 144. Pignata C, Gaetaniello L, Masci AM, Frank J, Christiano A, Matrecano E, et al. Human equivalent of the mouse nude/SCID phenotype: long-term evaluation of immunological reconstitution after bone marrow transplantation. *Blood* (2001) **97**: 880–5. doi:10.1182/blood.V97. 4.880
- 145. Rice HE, Skinner MA, Mahaffey SM, Oldham KT, Ing RJ, Hale LP, et al. Thymic transplantation for complete DiGeorge syndrome: medical and surgical considerations. *J Pediatr Surg* (2004) **39**:1607–15. doi:10.1016/ j.jpedsurg.2004.07.020
- Markert ML, Alexieff MJ, Li J, Sarzotti M, Ozaki DA, Devlin BH, et al. Postnatal thymus transplantation with immunosuppression as treatment for DiGeorge syndrome. *Blood* (2003) 104:2574– 81. doi:10.1182/blood-2003-08-2984

- 147. Markert ML, Alexieff MJ, Li J, Sarzotti M, Ozaki DA, Devlin BH, et al. Complete DiGeorge syndrome: development of rash, lymphadenopathy, and oligoclonal T cells in 5 cases. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2004) 113:734–41. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2004.01.766
- 148. Markert ML, Devlin BH, Chinn IK, McCarthy EA, Li YJ. Factors affecting success of thymus transplantation for complete DiGeorge anomaly. Am J Transplant (2008) 8:1729–36. doi:10.1111/j.1600-6143.2008.02301.x
- 149. Dion ML, Poulin JF, Bordi R, Sylvestre M, Corsini R, Kettaf N, et al. HIV infection rapidly induces and maintains a substantial suppression of thymocyte proliferation. *Immunity* (2004) 21:757–68. doi:10. 1016/j.immuni.2004.10.013

- 150. Dulude G, Cheynier R, Gauchat D, Abdallah A, Kettaf N, Sžkaly RP, et al. The magnitude of thymic output is genetically determined through controlled intrathymic precursor T cell proliferation. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:7818–24.
- 151. Morrhaye G, Kermani H, Legros JJ, Baron F, Beguin Y, Moutschen M, et al. Impact of growth hormone (GH) deficiency and GH replacement upon thymus function in adult patients. *PLoS ONE* (2009) 4:e5668. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0005668
- 152. Clark RA, Yamanaka K, Bai M, Dowgiert R, Kupper TS. Human skin cells support thymusindipendent T cell development. *J Clin Invest* (2005) 115:3239–49. doi:10.1172/JCI24731
- Klein L, Jovanovic K. Regulatory T cell lineage commitment in the thymus. Semin

Immunol (2011) **23**:401–9. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2011.06.003

- 154. Pignata C, Fiore M, Guzzetta V, Castaldo A, Sebastio G, Porta F, et al. Congenital alopecia and nail dystrophy associated with severe functional T-cell immunodeficiency in two sibs. Am J Med Genet (1996) 65:167–70. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1096-8628(19961016)65:2<167::AID-AJMG17>3.0.CO;2-O
- 155. Zheng Y, Josefowicz S, Chaudhry A, Peng XP, Forbush K, Rudensky AY. Role of conserved noncoding DNA elements in the Foxp3 gene in regulatory T-cell fate. *Nature* (2010) **463**:808–12. doi:10.1038/nature08750

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any

commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 17 April 2013; accepted: 25 June 2013; published online: 12 July 2013. Citation: Romano R, Palamaro L, Fusco A, Giardino G, Gallo V, Del Vecchio L and Pignata C (2013) FOXN1: a master regulator gene of thymic epithelial development program. Front. Immunol. **4**:187. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00187

This article was submitted to Frontiers in T Cell Biology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Romano, Palamaro, Fusco, Giardino, Gallo, Del Vecchio and Pignata. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.



Which model better fits the role of Aire in the establishment of self-tolerance: the transcription model or the maturation model?

Mitsuru Matsumoto*, Yumiko Nishikawa, Hitoshi Nishijima, Junko Morimoto, Minoru Matsumoto and Yasuhiro Mouri

Division of Molecular Immunology, Institute for Enzyme Research, University of Tokushima, Tokushima, Japan

Edited by:

Claudio Pignata, Federico II University, Italy

Reviewed by:

Nikolai Petrovsky, Flinders Medical Centre, Australia Claudio Pignata, Federico II University, Italy

*Correspondence:

Mitsuru Matsumoto, Division of Molecular Immunology, Institute for Enzyme Research, University of Tokushima, 3-18-15 Kuramoto, Tokushima 770-8503, Japan e-mail: mitsuru@ier.tokushima-u.ac.jp The discovery of Aire-dependent transcriptional control of many tissue-restricted selfantigen (TRA) genes in thymic epithelial cells in the medulla (medullary thymic epithelial cells, mTECs) has raised the intriguing question of how the single *Aire* gene can influence the transcription of such a large number of TRA genes within mTECs. From a mechanistic viewpoint, there are two possible models to explain the function of Aire in this action. In the first model, TRAs are considered to be the direct target genes of Aire's transcriptional activity. In this scenario, the lack of Aire protein within cells would result in the defective TRA gene expression, while the maturation program of mTECs would be unaffected in principle. The second model hypothesizes that Aire is necessary for the maturation program of mTECs. In this case, we assume that the mTEC compartment does not mature normally in the absence of Aire. If acquisition of the properties of TRA gene expression depends on the maturation status of mTECs, a defect of such an Aire-dependent maturation program in Aire-deficient mTECs can also result in impaired TRA gene expression. In this brief review, we will focus on these two contrasting models for the roles of Aire in controlling the expression of TRAs within mTECs.

Keywords: autoimmunity, thymic epithelial cell, self-antigen, gene transcription, cell differentiation

The current prevailing view regarding the role of Aire in selftolerance is that it is involved in the transcriptional control of many tissue-restricted self-antigen (TRA) genes in medullary thymic epithelial cells (mTECs) (1). In other words, TRAs are considered to be the direct target genes of Aire's transcriptional activity (the transcription model) (2). This view was first suggested in a paper reporting that Aire-deficient mTECs showed dramatically lower expression of TRAs than wild-type mTECs (3). Since this landmark report, the transcription model has prompted many studies of Aire in an attempt to clarify how the single Aire gene can influence the transcription of such a large number of TRAs within mTECs (4–7). Unfortunately, to obtain a mechanistic insight into this interesting phenomenon, it has been necessary to employ cultured cells transfected with the Aire gene, because the fraction of naturally Aire-expressing mTECs in the thymic stroma is too small to work with. However, no appropriate cultured cell lines that could be used reliably in place of Aire-expressing mTECs in vivo have been available. Nonetheless, overexpression of Aire in cultured cells resulted in increased transcription of many TRAs, in accordance with the transcription model. However, it is important to pay more attention to the uniqueness of bona fide mTECs in vivo, which show characteristics very different from those of cultured cell lines; although several cell lines derived from the thymic stroma are available for both humans and mice, none of them show typical characteristics of mTECs such as high expression of FoxN1, MHC class II, and CD80, even though they are positive for cytokeratin and epithelial cell markers (e.g., keratin 5,

EpCAM, and lectin UEA-1 binding). Most importantly, none of these cell lines express a reliable level of Aire at the protein level. However, large aspects of Aire's action on TRA gene expression in the transcription model were deduced on the basis of the effects of lack of Aire expression in mTECs *in vivo* (i.e., the phenotypes of Aire-deficient mice) and the opposite effects of Aire overexpression in mTEC-"like" cells *in vitro* (i.e., in transfection studies). The reality is that there is still a fairly wide gap between these two experimental settings that needs to be bridged.

In comparison with the remarkable changes noted in the expression profiles of TRA genes in Aire-deficient mTECs, morphological alterations in the medullary components from Airedeficient mice were not initially appreciated until Farr's paper had appeared (8). This was the main reason why insufficient attention was paid initially to another proposed explanation for the reduced TRA gene expression in Aire-deficient mTECs: the maturation model (2). However, fairly recent detailed studies of Aire-deficient thymi have revealed several important aspects of the Aire-dependent differentiation programs of mTECs, such as increased numbers of mTECs with a globular cell shape (8,9), contrasted with reduced numbers of terminally differentiated mTECs expressing involucrin, the latter being associated with reduced numbers of Hassall's corpuscles (9, 10). Although not fully investigated, increased percentages of mTECs expressing high levels of CD80 (CD80^{high}) is another suggested aspect of the Airedependent mTEC differentiation program (11-13). In this regard, it is noteworthy that the Aire-dependent mTEC differentiation

program can be linked to the control of TRA gene expression, in which the role of Aire may be perceived from a different viewpoint. Given that acquisition of the properties of TRA gene expression depends on the maturation status of mTECs (14, 15), any defect in such an Aire-dependent maturation program could also account for defects of TRA gene expression in Aire-deficient mTECs. In such a case, TRA genes would not have to be the direct target of Aire. Instead, Aire-deficient mTECs would have defective TRA gene expression, because they are not fully differentiated to stage(s) where other undetermined transcriptional means for TRA gene expression beyond Aire become available and/or active (Figure 1). Having said so, the exact point in the differentiation process at which Aire-deficient mTECs are prevented from differentiating further still remains unclear. Investigation of this issue has been hampered by the current lack of suitable markers for the mTEC differentiation program: so far, CD80 and MHC class II remain the few that are available. Precise elucidation of the target gene(s) relevant to the progression of mTEC differentiation controlled by Aire is an essential task to support the maturation model.

Currently, there is no firm evidence to support either model for Aire's role in the control of TRA gene expression. Therefore, there is a need to develop better in vivo experimental systems for investigating this issue. In this connection, the results obtained by examining Aire gene expression under control of the rat insulin promoter using transgenic mice merit attention (16). It was found that alterations of the transcriptome did not mirror those created by abrogation of Aire within mTECs. This may not be surprising, but it is nevertheless important: if cell types differ, the effects of functional gain or loss of a transcription factor, such as Aire, can in turn differ markedly. This is especially important in the case of Aire, since mTECs are unique in showing promiscuous gene expression and a heterogeneous composition (17, 18). Thus, it cannot be over-emphasized that the roles of Aire need to be studied using in vivo models, and not in vitro systems using mTEC-surrogate cells.

Regardless of the models employed, there are several important issues related to the molecular regulation of TRAs within mTECs in the context of Aire. Obviously, the transcriptional control of TRAs is different from the regulation seen in their authentic tissues, as exemplified by differences in the transcriptional start sites of individual TRA genes (19). Although the fact that transcriptional hierarchies driving the development of the pancreas and transcription of the insulin 2 gene are not maintained in mTECs (19, 20) might be more consistent with the transcription model, it does not contradict the maturation model in explaining why Aire-deficient mTECs show impaired *insulin 2* gene expression; the maturation model does not require the transcriptional hierarchies driving the development of authentic tissues. Instead, the maturation model has its own mTEC developmental process in which expression of particular TRAs is acquired at specific time points during the differentiation program. For example, expression of Aire-dependent TRA genes, such as insulin 2 and SAP1, can be accomplished in terminally differentiated mTECs that have fully matured with the help of Aire protein. Lack of Aire in mTECs results in premature termination of differentiation, although Airedeficient mTECs can still develop and pass a certain maturation stage. These Aire-less mTECs, which are rather mature (CD80^{high})



FIGURE 1 | Schematic representation of the roles of Aire in TRA gene expression associated with the mTEC differentiation program. Aire-expressing mTECs develop from their progenitor via an immature stage (CD80^{low}MHC-2^{low}) where only limited numbers of TRAs (e.g., ① and (2)) are expressed. Aire is expressed at the mature stage (CD80^{high}MHC-2^{high}), and the transcription model (upper) suggests that Aire directly activates many target TRA genes within mature mTECs (so-called Aire-dependent TRAs; (3-6). Consequently, lack of Aire results in defective expression of Aire-dependent TRA genes. In contrast, the maturation model suggests that Aire plays an important role in the maturation program of mTECs, and that expression of Aire-dependent TRA genes, such as 3-6, can be accomplished in terminally differentiated mTECs showing a dendritic to fibroblastic morphology that have fully matured with the help of Aire. According to this scenario, lack of Aire causes a halt in mTEC maturation at a stage where promiscuous gene expression in the cells is still not possible (marked as "Aire-KO mTECs"); lack of Aire in mTECs results in premature termination of differentiation, and these CD80^{high} Aire-less mTECs have a more globular cell shape and lack the transcriptional machinery for Aire-dependent TRA genes (lower). Because Aire-independent TRA genes, such as 0 and 2, can be expressed before the mature stage, lack of Aire has little impact on their expression.

but not fully competent for TRA expression, have a more globular cell shape and lack transcriptional machinery and/or activity for Aire-dependent TRA genes (9) (Figure 1). In this scenario, Aireindependent TRA genes, such as CRP and GAD67, can be normally expressed even in Aire-deficient mTECs, because these TRAs can be expressed before the terminal differentiation stage(s), and consequently the lack of Aire has little impact on their expression. It is still unknown why some (Aire-independent) TRAs are expressed from the immature stage(s), whereas (Aire-dependent) others are expressed only after they become fully mature. For this reason, it would be important to clarify the exact timing of Aire expression during the course of mTEC differentiation (21). Nevertheless, promiscuous gene expression seems to be accomplished in terminally differentiated mTECs that have matured in the presence of Aire protein (the maturation model). Alternatively, reduced TRA gene expression could represent failure of heterogeneity in terms of TRA gene expression due to a halt in differentiation at a premature stage before heterogeneity of individual mTECs has occurred. In contrast, the transcription model may explain why some TRA genes are Aire-dependent and others are not, as outlined in the following. Aire-PHD1 binding with H3K4me0 is an interesting finding, and a model has been proposed suggesting that Aire's

PHD1 acts as a chromatin reader, searching for genes showing low expression (5, 22); Aire preferentially binds with weakly expressed genes harboring the silent chromatin signature of H3K4me0, and may help to up-regulate TRA genes whose expression levels would otherwise remain low (23). In this model, TRAs showing relatively high expression would do not require the help of Aire, and their expression would be Aire-independent.

One caveat of the transcription model is that expression of Aire and Aire-dependent genes does not always overlap at the singlecell level (19, 24, 25). If Aire were controlling the expression of TRAs in any way by means of direct transcriptional control, we would expect to see both Aire and Aire-dependent TRAs within the same individual cell, although one could argue that the timing of expression of Aire and Aire-target genes might not always be the same within any given analytical snapshot time frame.

Involucrin is an interesting TRA in that it is sometimes used as an example of an Aire-dependent TRA that follows the transcription model: when cultured cell lines were introduced with an Aire-expressing plasmid, transcription of the endogenous involucrin gene was up-regulated possibly due to the transcriptional activity of Aire (26). However, at the same time, involucrin is also used as a marker of mTEC maturation status. Similarly to its expression in the epidermis of the skin, involucrin is expressed by mature epithelial cells in the thymic medulla; it is expressed most strongly in Hassall's corpuscles, which seem to be the product of terminally differentiated mTECs, and Aire-deficient thymi show reduced numbers of involucrin-expressing mTECs, even in Hassall's corpuscles (9, 10). These findings are consistent with data favoring the maturation model derived from in vivo systems suggesting that Aire is required for promotion of the mTEC maturation program. Thus, there is a need to understand the types of effects that can be expected according to the experimental systems employed.

Regarding the role of Aire in the mTEC maturation program, an important issue that needs to be carefully investigated is whether or not Aire has proapoptotic activity. Introduction of Aire into cultured cells has been reported to result in apoptosis (11). Accordingly, increased MHC class II^{high}/CD80^{high} mTECs seen in Aire-deficient mice was considered to explain the lack of Aire-mediated proapoptotic activity, because loss of Aire did not result in augmented proliferation of mTECs (11). Given that Aire plays an important role in the induction of a wide variety of TRAs,

REFERENCES

- Mathis D, Benoist C. Aire. Annu Rev Immunol (2009) 27:287–312. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.25. 022106.141532
- Matsumoto M. Contrasting models for the roles of Aire in the differentiation program of epithelial cells in the thymic medulla. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41:12–7. doi:10. 1002/eji.201041024
- 3. Anderson MS, Venanzi ES, Klein L, Chen Z, Berzins SP, Turley SJ, et al. Projection of an immunological self shadow within the thymus by the Aire protein. *Science* (2002)

298:1395–401. doi:10.1126/science. 1075958

- Abramson J, Giraud M, Benoist C, Mathis D. Aire's partners in the molecular control of immunological tolerance. *Cell* (2010) 140:123–35. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.12.030
- Org T, Rebane A, Kisand K, Laan M, Haljasorg U, Andreson R, et al. AIRE activated tissue specific genes have histone modifications associated with inactive chromatin. *Hum Mol Genet* (2009) 18:4699–710. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddp433
- 6. Zumer K, Plemenitas A, Saksela K, Peterlin BM. Patient mutation in

concomitant induction of apoptosis in Aire-expressing mTECs by Aire itself might be an effective way to promote cross-presentation, thereby facilitating negative selection (1). Once again, however, this attractive hypothesis needs to be investigated in more depth using *in vivo* experimental systems.

Finally, there is a need to discuss the implications of these two different models for the mechanisms underlying the defect of negative selection in Aire-deficient animals. In principle, the transcription model restricts the failure of negative selection in Aire-deficient mice to reduced expression of TRA gene products. In contrast, the maturation model suggests that Aire may affect the thymic microenvironment more globally than through simple control of TRA expression levels. Consequently, the maturation model allows for the possibility that regulation of TRA gene expression may not be the major defect of Aire-deficient mTECs responsible for impaired negative selection. Instead, other alterations in the function of mTECs lacking Aire might equally account for the defective negative selection in Aire-deficient mice. These changes could include processing and/or presentation of self-antigens within the mTECs (27), the process of thymocyte maturation (28), the process by which mature thymocytes are attracted to their proper location for negative selection by production of chemokines from mTECs (27, 29), control of cross-presentation through alteration of the relationship between BM-APCs and mTECs (30), and the balance between negative selection and regulatory T cell production (31). Furthermore, modification of microRNA-regulated TRA gene expression by Aire might represent another dimension in this field that warrants further investigation (32). All of the above issues may be largely clarified once the target genes of Aire have been determined using in vivo models. Thus, our current understanding of the fundamental function of Aire still seems to be in its infancy, and the proposal and evaluation of different models would doubtless lead to further advances in this fascinating field of research.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported in part by Grants-in-Aid for Scientific Research from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science and from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology of Japan, and CREST, the Japan Science Technology Agency.

AIRE disrupts P-TEFb binding and target gene transcription. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2011) **39**:7908–19. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkr527

- Zumer K, Saksela K, Peterlin BM. The mechanism of tissue-restricted antigen gene expression by AIRE. J Immunol (2013) 190:2479–82. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1203210
- Gillard GO, Dooley J, Erickson M, Peltonen L, Farr AG. Airedependent alterations in medullary thymic epithelium indicate a role for Aire in thymic epithelial differentiation. *J Immunol* (2007) 178:3007–15.
- Yano M, Kuroda N, Han H, Meguro-Horike M, Nishikawa Y, Kiyonari H, et al. Aire controls the differentiation program of thymic epithelial cells in the medulla for the establishment of self-tolerance. *J Exp Med* (2008) **205**:2827–38. doi:10.1084/ jem.20080046
- Wang X, Laan M, Bichele R, Kisand K, Scott HS, Peterson P. Post-Aire maturation of thymic medullary epithelial cells involves selective expression of keratinocyte-specific autoantigens. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:19. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00019

- Gray D, Abramson J, Benoist C, Mathis D. Proliferative arrest and rapid turnover of thymic epithelial cells expressing Aire. J Exp Med (2007) 204:2521–8. doi:10. 1084/jem.20070795
- 12. Hubert FX, Kinkel SA, Crewther PE, Cannon PZ, Webster KE, Link M, et al. Aire-deficient C57BL/6 mice mimicking the common human 13-base pair deletion mutation present with only a mild autoimmune phenotype. J Immunol (2009) 182:3902–18. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0802124
- Kuroda N, Mitani T, Takeda N, Ishimaru N, Arakaki R, Hayashi Y, et al. Development of autoimmunity against transcriptionally unrepressed target antigen in the thymus of Aire-deficient mice. *J Immunol* (2005) **174**:1862–70.
- Anderson G, Lane PJ, Jenkinson EJ. Generating intrathymic microenvironments to establish T-cell tolerance. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2007) 7:954–63. doi:10.1038/nri2187
- Kyewski B, Derbinski J. Selfrepresentation in the thymus: an extended view. Nat Rev Immunol (2004) 4:688–98. doi: 10.1038/nri1436
- Guerau-de-Arellano M, Mathis D, Benoist C. Transcriptional impact of Aire varies with cell type. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:14011–6. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0806616105
- Kyewski B, Klein L. A central role for central tolerance. Annu Rev Immunol (2006) 24:571–606. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.23. 021704.115601
- 18. Gillard GO, Farr AG. Contrasting models of promiscuous gene expression by thymic epithelium.

J Exp Med (2005) **202**:15–9. doi: 10.1084/jem.20050976

- Villasenor J, Besse W, Benoist C, Mathis D. Ectopic expression of peripheral-tissue antigens in the thymic epithelium: probabilistic, monoallelic, misinitiated. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:15854–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.0808069105
- 20. Danso-Abeam D, Staats KA, Franckaert D, Van Den Bosch L, Liston A, Gray DH, et al. Aire mediates thymic expression and tolerance of pancreatic antigens via an unconventional transcriptional mechanism. *Eur J Immunol* (2013) **43**:75–84. doi: 10.1002/eji.201242761
- Nishikawa Y, Hirota F, Yano M, Kitajima H, Miyazaki J, Kawamoto H, et al. Biphasic Aire expression in early embryos and in medullary thymic epithelial cells before endstage terminal differentiation. *J Exp Med* (2010) **207**:963–71. doi:10. 1084/jem.20092144
- Koh AS, Kingston RE, Benoist C, Mathis D. Global relevance of Aire binding to hypomethylated lysine-4 of histone-3. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A (2010) 107:13016–21. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1004436107
- Musco G, Peterson P. PHD finger of autoimmune regulator: an epigenetic link between the histone modifications and tissue-specific antigen expression in thymus. *Epigenetics* (2008) **3**:310–4. doi:10.4161/epi. 3.6.7182
- 24. Gillard GO, Farr AG. Features of medullary thymic epithelium implicate postnatal development in maintaining epithelial heterogeneity and tissue-restricted antigen expression. *J Immunol* (2006) **176**:5815–24.

- 25. Derbinski J, Pinto S, Rosch S, Hexel K, Kyewski B. Promiscuous gene expression patterns in single medullary thymic epithelial cells argue for a stochastic mechanism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2008) 105:657–62. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0707486105
- 26. Liiv I, Rebane A, Org T, Saare M, Maslovskaja J, Kisand K, et al. DNA-PK contributes to the phosphorylation of AIRE: importance in transcriptional activity. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2008) **1783**:74–83. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2007.09.003
- Anderson MS, Venanzi ES, Chen Z, Berzins SP, Benoist C, Mathis D. The cellular mechanism of Aire control of T cell tolerance. *Immunity* (2005) 23:227–39. doi:10.1016/ j.immuni.2005.07.005
- 28. Li J, Li Y, Yao JY, Jin R, Zhu MZ, Qian XP, et al. Developmental pathway of CD4+CD8- medullary thymocytes during mouse ontogeny and its defect in Aire-/- mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) 104:18175–80. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0708884104
- 29. Laan M, Kisand K, Kont V, Moll K, Tserel L, Scott HS, et al. Autoimmune regulator deficiency results in decreased expression of CCR4 and CCR7 ligands and in delayed migration of CD4+ thymocytes. J Immunol (2009) 183:7682–91. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0804133
- 30. Lei Y, Ripen AM, Ishimaru N, Ohigashi I, Nagasawa T, Jeker LT, et al. Aire-dependent production of XCL1 mediates medullary accumulation of thymic dendritic cells and contributes to regulatory T cell development. J Exp Med (2011) 208:383–94. doi:10. 1084/jem.20102327

- 31. Hinterberger M, Aichinger M, Da Costa O, Voehringer D, Hoffmann R, Klein L. Autonomous role of medullary thymic epithelial cells in central CD4(+) T cell tolerance. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11:512–9. doi: 10.1038/ni.1874
- 32. Ucar O, Tykocinski LO, Dooley J, Liston A, Kyewski B. An evolutionarily conserved mutual interdependence between Aire and microRNAs in promiscuous gene expression. *Eur J Immunol* (2013) **43**:1769–78. doi:10.1002/eji.201343343

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 30 May 2013; accepted: 09 July 2013; published online: 22 July 2013. Citation: Matsumoto M, Nishikawa Y, Nishijima H, Morimoto J, Matsumoto M and Mouri Y (2013) Which model better fits the role of Aire in the establishment of self-tolerance: the transcription model or the maturation model? Front. Immunol. 4:210. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00210 This article was submitted to Frontiers in T Cell Biology, a specialty of Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright C 2013 Matsumoto. Nishikawa. Nishijima, Morimoto. Matsumoto and Mouri. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.



Regulations of gene expression in medullary thymic epithelial cells required for preventing the onset of autoimmune diseases

Taishin Akiyama¹*, Miho Shinzawa¹, Junwen Qin^{1,2} and Nobuko Akiyama¹

¹ Division of Cellular and Molecular Biology, Institute of Medical Science, University of Tokyo, Tokyo, Japan

² Key Laboratory for Regenerative Medicine, Department of Developmental and Regenerative Biology, Ministry of Education and International Base of Collaboration for Science and Technology, the Ministry of Science and Technology and Guangdong Province, Jinan University, Guangzhou, China

Edited by:

Claudio Pignata, Federico II University, Italy

Reviewed by:

Anna Villa, National Council of Research, Italy Petteri Arstila, University of Helsinki, Finland

*Correspondence:

Taishin Akiyama, Division of Cellular and Molecular Biology, Institute of Medical Science, University of Tokyo, 4-6-1 Shirokane-dai, Minato-ku, Tokyo 108-8639, Japan e-mail: taishin@ims.u-tokyo.ac.jp Elimination of potential self-reactive T cells in the thymus is crucial for preventing the onset of autoimmune diseases. Epithelial cell subsets localized in thymic medulla [medullary thymic epithelial cells (mTECs)] contribute to this process by supplying a wide range of self-antigens that are otherwise expressed in a tissue-specific manner (TSAs). Expression of some TSAs in mTECs is controlled by the autoimmune regulator (AIRE) protein, of which dysfunctional mutations are the causative factor of autoimmune polyendocrinopathycandidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy (APECED). In addition to the elimination of self-reactive T cells, recent studies indicated roles of mTECs in the development of Foxp3-positive regulatory T cells, which suppress autoimmunity and excess immune reactions in peripheral tissues. The TNF family cytokines, RANK ligand, CD40 ligand, and lymphotoxin were found to promote the differentiation of AIRE- andTSA-expressing mTECs. Furthermore, activation of NF- κ B is essential for mTEC differentiation. In this mini-review, we focus on molecular mechanisms that regulate induction of AIRE and TSA expression and discuss possible contributions of these mechanisms to prevent the onset of autoimmune diseases.

Keywords: medullary thymic epithelial cells, autoimmune disease, NF-κB, TNF receptor family, gene expression

INTRODUCTION

The thymus contributes to self-tolerance of T cells by eliminating potentially self-reactive T cells and generating immunosuppressive T cells, which are essential for preventing the onset of autoimmune disease. Epithelial cells localized in the thymic medulla [medullary thymic epithelial cells (mTECs)] are non-hematopoietic in origin and play non-redundant roles in the elimination of self-reactive T cells (1–4). Recent studies have revealed that mTECs also contribute to the selection and survival of immunosuppressive Foxp3-positive regulatory T cells (Tregs) (5–8).

Medullary thymic epithelial cells express several functional molecules required for the selection of self-tolerant T cells and Tregs (3). Mature types of mTECs express MHC molecules and co-stimulatory molecules essential for antigen presentation to developing T cells. In addition, mTECs secrete several types of chemokines (e.g., CCL19, CCL21, and CCL22) that attract T cells or dendritic cells in the medulla (2, 9). Moreover, a recent study has shown that the expression of CD70 in mTECs enhances the development and survival of Tregs via an interaction with its receptor, CD27, which is expressed on thymic T cells (5). A key feature of mTECs is their ability to express hundreds of self-antigens that are normally expressed in a tissue-specific manner (TSAs) (4, 10). TSAs are processed and directly presented by mTECs or indirectly presented by thymic DCs receiving TSAs from mTECs (4, 7, 11–13). T cells that recognize TSAs with high avidity undergo apoptosis (so-called negative selection) or survive as regulatory T cells (4, 14). Many studies have suggested significant roles of mTEC-dependent self-tolerance in preventing the onset of some autoimmune diseases in humans. Expression of some TSAs requires a nuclear protein autoimmune regulator (AIRE), the dysfunctional mutations of which are responsible for an inherited human autoimmune disease, autoimmune polyendocrinopathycandidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy (APECED) (15, 16). Whereas the expression of AIRE mRNA is detected in different cell types, AIRE expression at the protein level is remarkably high in mTECs (17). A previous study using AIRE-deficient mice provided evidence that autoimmunity, provoked by dysfunction of AIRE, is thymic stroma-dependent (18). In addition to APECED, recent studies have demonstrated that single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the AIRE gene are associated with rheumatoid arthritis (19, 20). In addition to mutations in the AIRE gene, reduced expression of the muscle acetyl choline receptor (CHRNA1) in mTECs was shown to be associated with the onset of myasthenia gravis (21). Moreover, impairment of the mTEC-dependent tolerance might explain the relationship between myocarditis and autoimmunity (22). These findings also imply that the onsets of various human autoimmune diseases could be related to dysregulation of mTEC-dependent tolerance. Interestingly, in addition to relationships with autoimmune diseases, recent studies have uncovered roles for mTEC-dependent T-cell tolerance in tumor tolerance (8, 23, 24).

Because expression of AIRE and TSAs is characteristic of mTEC, mTECs should harbor specific mechanisms to direct AIRE and TSA expression. Expression of TSAs appears to be correlated

with the differentiation of mTECs. In this mini-review, we specially focus on molecular mechanisms regulating the expression of AIRE and TSAs and the process of mTEC differentiation.

DEVELOPMENT OF mTECs

Thymic epithelial cells are classified into mTECs and cortical thymic epithelial cells (cTECs) (2). Several lines of evidence indicate the existence of a bi-potent TEC progenitor capable of differentiating into mTECs and cTECs in the fetal and adult thymus (25–29). The bi-potent TEC progenitor seems to give rise to each progenitor of mTECs and cTECs in the next stage (30, 31). Recent studies revealed that mTECs differentiate from progenitors expressing cTEC-markers (32, 33). These data imply that mechanisms determining the mTEC commitment suppress the cTEC-driving program. However, master molecules that decide the fate of the bi-potent TEC progenitor expressing cTEC-markers to the mTEC lineage have not been determined yet.

Currently, mTECs are classified based on the expression of MHC II, CD80, AIRE, and involucrin (**Figure 1**). mTECs (typically defined as CD45⁻ EpCAM⁺ Ly51⁻ and UEA-1⁺ by flow cytometric analysis) in adult mice are divided into two subpopulations, according to the expression levels of MHC II and CD80 (34). mTECs expressing high levels of MHC II and CD80 (mTEC^{hi}) express a more diverse set of TSAs than mTECs expressing lower levels of MHC II and CD80 (mTEC^{lo}) do (35). Moreover, precursor-product relationship analysis has suggested that the mTEC^{lo} fraction can differentiate into mTEC^{hi} (36, 37). Therefore, the mTEC^{hi} fraction would be the more mature type of mTEC than mTEC^{lo}.

The mTEC^{hi} fraction is further separated on the basis of AIRE expression (36, 38). Because previous studies have indicated that the AIRE-expressing mTECs^{hi} (AIRE⁺ mTEC^{hi}) are postmitotic and susceptible to apoptosis (36), AIRE⁺ mTECs^{hi} are postulated to be the more differentiated cell types than AIRE-negative mTECs^{hi}. mTECs expressing involucrin, a marker of terminally differentiated keratinocytes, are considered to be terminally differentiated mTECs that may be derived from AIRE⁺ mTEC^{hi} (39, 40).

REGULATION OF AIRE mRNA EXPRESSION

Molecular mechanisms regulating the expression of AIRE, which are likely critical for preventing autoimmunity, remain unclear. In the fetal thymus, expression of AIRE starts at embryonic day 14.5 (41). Consistently, mature mTECs emerge around this embryonic day (42). Thus, AIRE expression seems to be closely linked to mTEC differentiation. However, because mTEC^{hi} is separated into AIRE⁺ and AIRE⁻fractions, the mTEC differentiation mechanism might be necessary but is not entirely sufficient for AIRE expression.

A study using a luciferase reporter assay identified a plausible minimal promoter region of the *AIRE* gene (43). This region contains binding sequences for Sp1, AP-1, NF-Y, and ETS family of transcription factors. Indeed, luciferase reporter analysis suggested regulation of the *AIRE* gene promoter by ETS family proteins (44). However, *in vivo* genetic studies are necessary to prove that these sequence-specific transcription factors are critical for the regulation of AIRE expression.



FIGURE 1 | Proposed model for differentiation of mTECs. Both mTECs and cTECs are generated from a bi-potent progenitor in the fetal and adult thymus. mTECs are classified by expression of MHC class II (MHC II), CD80, AIRE, and involucrin. mTECs expressing low levels of MHC II and CD80 are considered immature and give rise to mature mTECs, expressing high levels of MHC II and CD80, and a more diverse set of tissue-specific antigens (TSAs). MHC II-high and CD80-high mature mTECs are further separated into AIRE-positive and AIRE-negative subpopulations. AIRE-positive mature mTECs are postmitotic and undergo apoptosis or otherwise differentiate into involucrin-positive mTECs.

The promoter region of AIRE contains a high ratio of CpG sites (43). These CpG sites are hypermethylated in established cell lines defective in the AIRE expression. A subsequent study showed that these CpG sites are hypomethylated in isolated mTECs compared to thymocytes (45). These findings suggest that DNA demethylation might be prerequisite for AIRE expression. However, interestingly, hypomethylation was also observed in cTECs and thymoma with defective AIRE expression (45). Hence, DNA hypomethylation appears to be required but not sufficient for inducing AIRE expression.

Overall, AIRE expression seems to be regulated by combinations of chromatin modification and sequence-specific transcription factors. However, precise mechanisms and regulatory molecules remain to be determined.

REGULATION OF TSA mRNA EXPRESSION

TSA expression appears to be regulated by complicated mechanisms. Single-cell PCR analyses revealed a stochastic nature of TSA expression in mTECs (38, 46). Each TSA is expressed in a subset of mTECs (38, 46). The frequency of mTECs expressing a particular TSA was different, depending on the TSA (38, 46). Interestingly, various combinations of TSAs are expressed in individual mTECs (38, 46). These studies suggest that regulatory mechanisms of TSA expression in mTECs are different from those used in inherent tissues.

Several studies suggest that TSA expressions are epigenetically controlled. A comprehensive mRNA expression study revealed that TSA gene loci tend to co-localize in chromosomal clusters (35, 47). Moreover, genomic imprinting of the *Igf2* gene, a TSA, was lost in mTECs (35), implicating the involvement of

a DNA demethylation mechanism in TSA expression. Interestingly, another imprinted gene, *Cdkn1c*, was not affected. These data imply the existence of mTEC-specific mechanisms for demethylation of DNA.

Control of TSA gene expression by AIRE has been intensively studied (48-50). Several studies have revealed a function of AIRE as a transcription factor that directly promotes TSA expression (51, 52). Furthermore, AIRE binds to hypomethylated Histone 3 Lys 4 (H3K4) through its plant homology domain (53, 54). This finding suggests that AIRE modifies the chromatin structure in the TSA genes. AIRE also binds to DNA-PK (55-57), which functions in the repair of DNA-double strand breakage. A study using an mTEC cell line suggested that interactions of AIRE with H3K4 and DNA-PK are critical in recruiting AIRE to TSA gene loci and promoting TSA expression (57). Additionally, it was reported that AIRE interacts with P-TEFb, a component of the super elongation complex (58). It is generally accepted that transcription elongation, via the release of "paused" RNA polymerase II, is critical for the regulation of many genes (58, 59). AIRE may recruit P-TEFb to the TSA gene locus and promote elongation of the arrested TSA transcripts by releasing RNA polymerase II from the proximal promoter (60). Recent comprehensive analysis of mRNA transcripts in mTECs supports this mechanism (61). In addition to the TSA expression, the AIRE-dependent expression of some microR-NAs (miRNAs) was recently revealed (62,63). Consistently, genetic studies revealed important roles played by miRNA expressions in functions and maintenance of mTECs (63-65).

Compared to the mechanisms underlying Aire-dependent TSA expression, molecular mechanisms underlying Aire-independent TSA expression are less understood. As described above, whereas epigenetic regulations of TSA genes would be critical, mechanisms underlying epigenetic changes specific for mature mTECs remain unclear. Moreover, unidentified transcription factors may be involved in the promotion of Aire-independent TSA expressions.

EXTRACELLULAR SIGNALING TO PROMOTE DIFFERENTIATION OF mTECs EXPRESSING AIRE AND TSAs

Differentiation of TECs is well known to be correlated to differentiation of T cells in the thymus (so-called thymic cross-talk) (3). mTEC maturation was reported to be abolished in severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID) patients (66). This finding supports the idea that failure of the thymic cross-talk results in the onset of autoimmune manifestation through inhibition of mTEC function. Interestingly, a recent study showed that administration of anti-CD3 ϵ antibody ameliorated autoimmunity in leaky SCID model mice possibly through improvement of the thymic cross-talk (67).

Molecular basis of the thymic cross-talk in mTEC development has been reported. Several lines of evidence revealed that TNF family cytokines expressed in thymocytes and other cells of hematopoietic origin (2) and their receptors expressed in mTEC are critical for the thymic cross-talk. Briefly, signaling of TNF receptor family members, RANK, CD40, and lymphotoxin- β receptor (Lt β R), play essential roles in the development of mTECs expressing Aire and TSAs. This topic has been summarized in a recent review (1).

DOWNSTREAM OF TNF RECEPTOR FAMILY SIGNALING

TNF receptor family signaling induces the activation of NF- κ B and MAPK pathways (68). To date, the involvement of the MAPK pathway in the development of mTEC remains to be addressed. However, several lines of evidence have indicated that the NF- κ B family plays a critical role in the development of mTECs expressing AIRE and TSAs.

NF-KB members are sequestered in the cytoplasm in an inactive state by the binding of the inhibitory protein IkB in resting cells (69-71). Ligations of receptors induce phosphorylation and subsequent degradation of IkB proteins, thereby leading to nuclear localization of NF-kB to activate transcription. Two distinct NFκB activation pathways, the classical pathway and the non-classical pathway, are currently known (70-72) (Figure 2). The classical pathway is required in inflammatory responses and lymphocyte activation (71). On the other hand, the non-classical pathway mainly promotes development and architecture formation of lymphoid organs, including the thymus. In the non-classical pathway, receptor ligation induces accumulation of the NF-kB-inducing kinase (NIK), which is normally degraded by the ubiquitindependent proteasome in resting cells. Subsequently, accumulated NIK phosphorylates and activates IKKa, which induces partial degradation of p100 to p52. p100 preferentially binds to and sequesters RelB in the cytoplasm, and the partial degradation of p100 to p52 induces translocation of RelB and p52 as a heterodimer into the nucleus.

The requirement for NF-κB activation in the development of mTEC was initially identified by the analysis of RelB-deficient mice (73, 74). RelB-deficient mice showed severe reduction in medulla size, accompanied by a lack of UEA-1-positive mTECs. Consistently, the expression of AIRE was abolished in the RelBdeficient thymus (6, 41, 75). As expected, RelB-deficient mice showed severe autoimmune diseases. A recent study demonstrated that autoimmunity of RelB mice was due to the defect in thymic stroma function (6). Mice carrying a dysfunctional mutation, NIK (aly/aly), also showed a similar defect in mTEC development and autoimmune phenotypes (76–78). Whereas IKK α -deficient mice die shortly after birth, neonatal IKKa-deficient mice and transplantation of IKKa-deficient thymic stroma indicates a requirement of IKKa in the development of mTECs (79, 80). mTEC development in p100-deficient mice is partially defective (81, 82), but this appears to be due to a partial rescue of p100 function by p105 (or its processed product, p50) because the double deficiencies of p100 and p105 resulted in severe defects in mTEC development, similar to the RelB- and NIK-mutant mice (83). Overall, these results support the idea that activation of the non-classical NF-KB pathway is essential for the development of mTECs.

TRAF6 is a signal transducer that mediates signaling from TNF receptor family members (84, 85). TRAF6-deficient mice exhibit severe autoimmune disease (86, 87). Additionally, recent studies suggest possible associations between SNPs of the *TRAF6* gene with rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus in humans (88, 89). Previous studies showed that TRAF6 promotes the development of mTECs expressing AIRE and TSAs, thereby suppressing autoimmunity (86). Moreover, RANK-mediated differentiation of mTECs requires TRAF6 in *in vitro* organ culture



of fetal thymic stroma (90). Notably, TRAF6 is a signal transducer that mediates the activation of the classical NF- κ B pathway but not the non-classical NF- κ B pathway (84, 85). Thus, these data imply a role for TRAF6-mediated activation of the classical NF- κ B pathway in mTEC differentiation.

REFERENCES

- Akiyama T, Shinzawa M, Akiyama N. TNF receptor family signaling in the development and functions of medullary thymic epithelial cells. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3: 278. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012. 00278
- Anderson G, Takahama Y. Thymic epithelial cells: working class heroes for T cell development and repertoire selection. *Trends Immunol* (2012) 33:256–63. doi:10.1016/j.it. 2012.03.005
- Gill J, Malin M, Sutherland J, Gray D, Hollander G, Boyd R. Thymic generation and regeneration. *Immunol Rev* (2003) 195: 28–50. doi:10.1034/j.1600-065X. 2003.00077.x

- Kyewski B, Klein L. A central role for central tolerance. Annu Rev Immunol (2006) 24:571–606. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.23. 021704.115601
- Coquet JM, Ribot JC, Babala N, Middendorp S, van der Horst G, Xiao Y, et al. Epithelial and dendritic cells in the thymic medulla promote CD4+Foxp3+ regulatory T cell development via the CD27-CD70 pathway. J Exp Med (2013) 210:715–28. doi:10. 1084/jem.20112061
- Cowan JE, Parnell SM, Nakamura K, Caamano JH, Lane PJ, Jenkinson EJ, et al. The thymic medulla is required for Foxp3+ regulatory but not conventional CD4+ thymocyte development. J Exp Med (2013)

In addition to the above findings, a scaffold protein, Sin (also called Efs), was proposed to be expressed downstream of TNF receptor family signaling. Sin-deficient mice showed reduced numbers of mTECs and thymic stroma-dependent autoimmunity (91). In addition to the role of Sin in FGF-mediated proliferation signaling (91), a recent study suggested that Sin might regulate the non-classical NF- κ B pathway activated by RANKL signaling (92). Because the SH3 domain and phosphorylation of tyrosine residues of Sin might be critical for its function (93, 94), these studies also imply unrecognized roles of Src-type tyrosine kinases in mTEC development.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Whereas significant roles for NF- κ B in signal activation of mTEC differentiation and subsequent expression of AIRE and TSAs are indisputable, molecular events connecting these signaling pathways to induction of AIRE and TSA remain unclear. It was reported that Lt β R signaling induces the expression of AIRE in an mTEC line in the presence of a DNA methylation inhibitor (95). However, it is still unclear whether NF- κ B binds to the promoter of the *AIRE* gene. Moreover, a wide variety of TSA expression would not be explained only by NF- κ B-dependent transcriptional activation because NF- κ B family members are generally known to be sequence-specific transcription factors. Thus, the link between NF- κ B activation and expression of AIRE and TSAs remains largely enigmatic.

In addition, differentiation stages regulated by these signaling molecules and their mechanisms need to be clarified. mTECs have different properties in each developmental stage, with regard to TSA expression, AIRE expression, and DNA methylation status. Therefore, it is important to clarify types of mTECs in which each TNF receptor family signal functions. Overall, more studies are needed to understand the molecular and cellular mechanisms regulating the development of mTECs with the final aim to develop novel therapeutic strategies preventing autoimmune diseases caused by defective thymic functions.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by a grant from the Japanese Society for the Promotion of Science (Taishin Akiyama).

210:675–81. doi:10.1084/jem. 20122070

- Hinterberger M, Aichinger M, da Costa O, Voehringer D, Hoffmann R, Klein L. Autonomous role of medullary thymic epithelial cells in central CD4(+) T cell tolerance. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11:512–9. doi:10.1038/ni. 1874
- Malchow S, Leventhal DS, Nishi S, Fischer BI, Shen L, Paner GP, et al. Aire-dependent thymic development of tumor-associated regulatory T cells. *Science* (2013) 339:1219–24. doi:10.1126/science. 1233913
- Takahama Y. Journey through the thymus: stromal guides for T-cell development and selection. Nat Rev

Immunol (2006) **6**:127–35. doi:10. 1038/nri1781

- Derbinski J, Schulte A, Kyewski B, Klein L. Promiscuous gene expression in medullary thymic epithelial cells mirrors the peripheral self. *Nat Immunol* (2001) 2:1032–9. doi:10.1038/ni723
- Derbinski J, Kyewski B. How thymic antigen presenting cells sample the body's self-antigens. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2010) 22:592–600. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2010.08.003
- Guerder S, Viret C, Luche H, Ardouin L, Malissen B. Differential processing of self-antigens by subsets of thymic stromal cells. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2012) 24: 99–104. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2012.01. 008

- Klein L, Hinterberger M, Wirnsberger G, Kyewski B. Antigen presentation in the thymus for positive selection and central tolerance induction. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2009) 9:833–44. doi:10.1038/nri2669
- Xing Y, Hogquist KA. T-cell tolerance: central and peripheral. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2012) 4. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a006957
- Consortium F-GA. An autoimmune disease, APECED, caused by mutations in a novel gene featuring two PHD-type zinc-finger domains. *Nat Genet* (1997) 17:399–403. doi:10. 1038/ng1297-399
- Nagamine K, Peterson P, Scott H, Kudoh J, Minoshima S, Heino M, et al. Positional cloning of the APECED gene. *Nat Genet* (1997) 17:393–8. doi:10.1038/ng1297-393
- Hubert FX, Kinkel SA, Webster KE, Cannon P, Crewther PE, Proeitto AI, et al. A specific anti-Aire antibody reveals Aire expression is restricted to medullary thymic epithelial cells and not expressed in periphery. J Immunol (2008) 180: 3824–32.
- Anderson M, Venanzi E, Klein L, Chen Z, Berzins S, Turley S, et al. Projection of an immunological self shadow within the thymus by the Aire protein. *Science* (2002) 298:1395–401. doi:10.1126/science. 1075958
- 19. García-Lozano JR, Torres-Agrela B, Montes-Cano MA, Ortiz-Fernández L, Conde-Jaldón M, Teruel M, et al. Association of the AIRE gene with susceptibility to rheumatoid arthritis in a European population: a case control study. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2013) 15:R11. doi:10.1186/ar4141
- 20. Terao C, Yamada R, Ohmura K, Takahashi M, Kawaguchi T, Kochi Y, et al. The human AIRE gene at chromosome 21q22 is a genetic determinant for the predisposition to rheumatoid arthritis in Japanese population. *Hum Mol Genet* (2011) **20**:2680–5. doi:10. 1093/hmg/ddr161
- Giraud M, Taubert R, Vandiedonck C, Ke X, Lévi-Strauss M, Pagani F, et al. An IRF8-binding promoter variant and AIRE control CHRNA1 promiscuous expression in thymus. *Nature* (2007) 448:934–7. doi:10. 1038/nature06066
- 22. Lv H, Havari E, Pinto S, Gottumukkala RV, Cornivelli L, Raddassi K, et al. Impaired thymic tolerance to α-myosin directs autoimmunity to the heart in mice and humans. J Clin Invest (2011) 121:1561–73. doi:10.1172/JCI44583

- 23. Träger U, Sierro S, Djordjevic G, Bouzo B, Khandwala S, Meloni A, et al. The immune response to melanoma is limited by thymic selection of self-antigens. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7:e35005. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0035005
- 24. Zhu ML, Nagavalli A, Su MA. Aire deficiency promotes TRP-1-specific immune rejection of melanoma. *Cancer Res* (2013) **73**:2104–16. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-3781
- Bennett AR, Farley A, Blair NF, Gordon J, Sharp L, Blackburn CC. Identification and characterization of thymic epithelial progenitor cells. *Immunity* (2002) 16: 803–14. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00321-7
- Bleul CC, Corbeaux T, Reuter A, Fisch P, Mönting JS, Boehm T. Formation of a functional thymus initiated by a postnatal epithelial progenitor cell. *Nature* (2006) 441:992– 6. doi:10.1038/nature04850
- Gill J, Malin M, Holländer GA, Boyd R. Generation of a complete thymic microenvironment by MTS24(+) thymic epithelial cells. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3:635–42. doi:10.1038/ni812
- Rossi SW, Jenkinson WE, Anderson G, Jenkinson EJ. Clonal analysis reveals a common progenitor for thymic cortical and medullary epithelium. *Nature* (2006) 441:988–91. doi:10.1038/nature04813
- Senoo M, Pinto F, Crum CP, McKeon F. p63 Is essential for the proliferative potential of stem cells in stratified epithelia. *Cell* (2007) 129:523–36. doi:10.1016/j. cell.2007.02.045
- 30. Hamazaki Y, Fujita H, Kobayashi T, Choi Y, Scott HS, Matsumoto M, et al. Medullary thymic epithelial cells expressing Aire represent a unique lineage derived from cells expressing claudin. Nat Immunol (2007) 8:304–11. doi:10.1038/n11438
- Rodewald HR, Paul S, Haller C, Bluethmann H, Blum C. Thymus medulla consisting of epithelial islets each derived from a single progenitor. *Nature* (2001) 414:763– 8. doi:10.1038/414763a
- 32. Baik S, Jenkinson EJ, Lane PJ, Anderson G, Jenkinson WE. Generation of both cortical and Aire(+) medullary thymic epithelial compartments from CD205(+) progenitors. *Eur J Immunol* (2013) **43**:589–94. doi:10. 1002/eji.201243209
- 33. Ohigashi I, Zuklys S, Sakata M, Mayer CE, Zhanybekova S, Murata S, et al. Aire-expressing thymic medullary epithelial cells originate from β5t-expressing progenitor cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S*

A (2013) **110**:9885–90. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1301799110

- 34. Gray DH, Seach N, Ueno T, Milton MK, Liston A, Lew AM, et al. Developmental kinetics, turnover, and stimulatory capacity of thymic epithelial cells. *Blood* (2006) 108:3777–85. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-02-004531
- 35. Derbinski J, Gäbler J, Brors B, Tierling S, Jonnakuty S, Hergenhahn M, et al. Promiscuous gene expression in thymic epithelial cells is regulated at multiple levels. *J Exp Med* (2005) 202:33–45. doi:10.1084/jem. 20050471
- 36. Gray D, Abramson J, Benoist C, Mathis D. Proliferative arrest and rapid turnover of thymic epithelial cells expressing Aire. J Exp Med (2007) 204:2521–8. doi:10. 1084/jem.20070795
- 37. Gäbler J, Arnold J, Kyewski B. Promiscuous gene expression and the developmental dynamics of medullary thymic epithelial cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2007) **37**:3363–72. doi:10.1002/eji.200737131
- 38. Villaseñor J, Besse W, Benoist C, Mathis D. Ectopic expression of peripheral-tissue antigens in the thymic epithelium: probabilistic, monoallelic, misinitiated. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:15854–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.0808069105
- Hale LP, Markert ML. Corticosteroids regulate epithelial cell differentiation and Hassall body formation in the human thymus. J Immunol (2004) 172:617–24.
- 40. Yano M, Kuroda N, Han H, Meguro-Horike M, Nishikawa Y, Kiyonari H, et al. Aire controls the differentiation program of thymic epithelial cells in the medulla for the establishment of self-tolerance. *J Exp Med* (2008) **205**:2827–38. doi:10.1084/ jem.20080046
- 41. Zuklys S, Balciunaite G, Agarwal A, Fasler-Kan E, Palmer E, Holländer GA. Normal thymic architecture and negative selection are associated with Aire expression, the gene defective in the autoimmune-polyendocrinopathycandidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy (APECED). J Immunol (2000) 165:1976–83.
- 42. Surh CD, Gao EK, Kosaka H, Lo D, Ahn C, Murphy DB, et al. Two subsets of epithelial cells in the thymic medulla. *J Exp Med* (1992) **176**:495– 505. doi:10.1084/jem.176.2.495
- Murumägi A, Vähämurto P, Peterson P. Characterization of regulatory elements and methylation pattern of the autoimmune regulator (AIRE) promoter. J Biol Chem

(2003) **278**:19784–90. doi:10.1074/ jbc.M210437200

- 44. Murumägi A, Silvennoinen O, Peterson P. Ets transcription factors regulate AIRE gene promoter. Biochem Biophys Res Commun (2006) 348:768–74. doi:10. 1016/j.bbrc.2006.07.135
- 45. Kont V, Murumägi A, Tykocinski LO, Kinkel SA, Webster KE, Kisand K, et al. DNA methylation signatures of the AIRE promoter in thymic epithelial cells, thymomas and normal tissues. *Mol Immunol* (2011) **49**:518–26. doi:10. 1016/j.molimm.2011.09.022
- 46. Derbinski J, Pinto S, Rösch S, Hexel K, Kyewski B. Promiscuous gene expression patterns in single medullary thymic epithelial cells argue for a stochastic mechanism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A (2008) 105:657–62. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0707486105
- 47. Johnnidis JB, Venanzi ES, Taxman DJ, Ting JP, Benoist CO, Mathis DJ. Chromosomal clustering of genes controlled by the aire transcription factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2005) **102**:7233–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0502670102
- Mathis D, Benoist C. Aire. Annu Rev Immunol (2009) 27:287–312. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.25. 022106.141532
- 49. Wu G, Hirabayashi K, Sato S, Akiyama N, Akiyama T, Shiota K, et al. DNA methylation profile of Airedeficient mouse medullary thymic epithelial cells. *BMC Immunol* (2012) 13:58. doi:10.1186/1471-2172-13-58
- Zumer K, Saksela K, Peterlin BM. The mechanism of tissue-restricted antigen gene expression by AIRE. J Immunol (2013) 190:2479–82. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1203210
- 51. Pitkänen J, Doucas V, Sternsdorf T, Nakajima T, Aratani S, Jensen K, et al. The autoimmune regulator protein has transcriptional transactivating properties and interacts with the common coactivator CREB-binding protein. J Biol Chem (2000) 275:16802–9. doi:10. 1074/jbc.M908944199
- 52. Ruan QG, Tung K, Eisenman D, Setiady Y, Eckenrode S, Yi B, et al. The autoimmune regulator directly controls the expression of genes critical for thymic epithelial function. J Immunol (2007) 178:7173– 80.
- 53. Koh AS, Kuo AJ, Park SY, Cheung P, Abramson J, Bua D, et al. Aire employs a histone-binding module to mediate immunological tolerance, linking chromatin regulation

Gene expressions in mTECs

with organ-specific autoimmunity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) **105**:15878–83. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0808470105

- 54. Org T, Chignola F, Hetényi C, Gaetani M, Liiv I, Maran U. The autoimmune regulator PHD finger binds to non-methylated histone H3K4 to activate gene expression. *EMBO Rep* (2008) **9**:370–6. doi:10.1038/embor. 2008.11
- Abramson J, Giraud M, Benoist C, Mathis D. Aire's partners in the molecular control of immunological tolerance. *Cell* (2010) 140: 123–35. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.12. 030
- 56. Liiv I, Rebane A, Org T, Saare M, Maslovskaja J, Kisand K, et al. DNA-PK contributes to the phosphorylation of AIRE: importance in transcriptional activity. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2008) **1783**:74–83. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2007.09.003
- 57. Žumer K, Low AK, Jiang H, Saksela K, Peterlin BM. Unmodified histone H3K4 and DNA-dependent protein kinase recruit autoimmune regulator to target genes. *Mol Cell Biol* (2012) **32**:1354–62. doi:10. 1128/MCB.06359-11
- Luo Z, Lin C, Shilatifard A. The super elongation complex (SEC) family in transcriptional control. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2012) 13:543–7. doi:10.1038/nrm3417
- Levine M. Paused RNA polymerase II as a developmental checkpoint. *Cell* (2011) 145:502–11. doi:10. 1016/j.cell.2011.04.021
- 60. Oven I, Brdicková N, Kohoutek J, Vaupotic T, Narat M, Peterlin BM. AIRE recruits P-TEFb for transcriptional elongation of target genes in medullary thymic epithelial cells. *Mol Cell Biol* (2007) 27:8815–23. doi:10.1128/MCB.01085-07
- 61. Giraud M, Yoshida H, Abramson J, Rahl PB, Young RA, Mathis D, et al. Aire unleashes stalled RNA polymerase to induce ectopic gene expression in thymic epithelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) **109**:535–40. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1119351109
- 62. Macedo C, Evangelista AF, Marques MM, Octacílio-Silva S, Donadi EA, Sakamoto-Hojo ET, et al. Autoimmune regulator (Aire) controls the expression of microRNAs in medullary thymic epithelial cells. *Immunobiology* (2013) 218:554–60. doi:10.1016/j.imbio.2012.06.013
- 63. Ucar O, Tykocinski LO, Dooley J, Liston A, Kyewski B. An evolutionarily conserved mutual interdependence between Aire and microRNAs in promiscuous gene expression.

Eur J Immunol (2013) **43**:1769–78. doi:10.1002/eji.201343343

- 64. Papadopoulou AS, Dooley J, Linterman MA, Pierson W, Ucar O, Kyewski B, et al. The thymic epithelial microRNA network elevates the threshold for infection-associated thymic involution via miR-29a mediated suppression of the IFNα receptor. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13:181–7. doi:10.1038/ni.2193
- 65. Zuklys S, Mayer CE, Zhanybekova S, Stefanski HE, Nusspaumer G, Gill J, et al. MicroRNAs control the maintenance of thymic epithelia and their competence for T lineage commitment and thymocyte selection. *J Immunol* (2012) 189: 3894–904. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1200783
- 66. Poliani PL, Facchetti F, Ravanini M, Gennery AR, Villa A, Roifman CM, et al. Early defects in human T-cell development severely affect distribution and maturation of thymic stromal cells: possible implications for the pathophysiology of Omenn syndrome. *Blood* (2009) **114**:105–8. doi:10. 1182/blood-2009-03-211029
- 67. Marrella V, Poliani PL, Fontana E, Casati A, Maina V, Cassani B, et al. Anti-CD3€ mAb improves thymic architecture and prevents autoimmune manifestations in a mouse model of Omenn syndrome: therapeutic implications. Blood (2012) 120:1005–14. doi:10. 1182/blood-2012-01-406827
- 68. Aggarwal BB, Gupta SC, Kim JH. Historical perspectives on tumor necrosis factor and its superfamily: 25 years later, a golden journey. *Blood* (2012) 119:651–65. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-04-325225
- Hoffmann A, Baltimore D. Circuitry of nuclear factor kappaB signaling. *Immunol Rev* (2006) 210:171– 86. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2006. 00375.x
- Oeckinghaus A, Hayden MS, Ghosh S. Crosstalk in NF-κB signaling pathways. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12:695–708. doi:10.1038/ni.2065
- Vallabhapurapu S, Karin M. Regulation and function of NF-kappaB transcription factors in the immune system. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2009) 27:693–733. doi:10.1146/annurev. immunol.021908.132641
- Sun SC. The noncanonical NF-κB pathway. *Immunol Rev* (2012) 246:125–40. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01088.x
- Burkly L, Hession C, Ogata L, Reilly C, Marconi L, Olson D, et al. Expression of relB is required for the development of thymic medulla

and dendritic cells. *Nature* (1995) **373**:531–6. doi:10.1038/373531a0

- 74. Weih F, Carrasco D, Durham S, Barton D, Rizzo C, Ryseck R, et al. Multiorgan inflammation and hematopoietic abnormalities in mice with a targeted disruption of RelB, a member of the NF-kappa B/Rel family. *Cell* (1995) 80:331–40. doi:10.1016/ 0092-8674(95)90416-6
- 75. Heino M, Peterson P, Sillanpää N, Guérin S, Wu L, Anderson G, et al. RNA and protein expression of the murine autoimmune regulator gene (Aire) in normal, RelB-deficient and in NOD mouse. *Eur J Immunol* (2000) **30**:1884–93. doi:10.1002/ 1521-4141(200007)30:7<1884: :AID-IMMU1884>3.0.CO;2-P
- Kajiura F, Sun S, Nomura T, Izumi K, Ueno T, Bando Y, et al. NFkappa B-inducing kinase establishes self-tolerance in a thymic stromadependent manner. J Immunol (2004) 172:2067–75.
- 77. Miyawaki S, Nakamura Y, Suzuka H, Koba M, Yasumizu R, Ikehara S, et al. A new mutation, aly, that induces a generalized lack of lymph nodes accompanied by immunodeficiency in mice. *Eur J Immunol* (1994) 24:429–34. doi:10.1002/eji. 1830240224
- 78. Shinzawa M, Maruyama Y, Qin J, Akiyama N, Miyauchi M, Yanai H, et al. Splenic extramedullary hemopoiesis caused by a dysfunctional mutation in the NF-kB-inducing kinase gene. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2011) **414**:773–8. doi:10. 1016/j.bbrc.2011.10.001
- 79. Kinoshita D, Hirota F, Kaisho T, Kasai M, Izumi K, Bando Y, et al. Essential role of IkappaB kinase alpha in thymic organogenesis required for the establishment of self-tolerance. *J Immunol* (2006) **176:**3995–4002.
- 80. Lomada D, Liu B, Coghlan L, Hu Y, Richie ER. Thymus medulla formation and central tolerance are restored in IKKalpha-/- mice that express an IKKalpha transgene in keratin 5+ thymic epithelial cells. J Immunol (2007) 178: 829–37.
- 81. Zhang B, Wang Z, Ding J, Peterson P, Gunning WT, Ding HF. NF-kappaB2 is required for the control of autoimmunity by regulating the development of medullary thymic epithelial cells. J Biol Chem (2006) 281:38617–24. doi:10.1074/jbc.M606705200
- 82. Zhu M, Chin RK, Christiansen PA, Lo JC, Liu X, Ware C, et al. NF-kappaB2 is required for the

establishment of central tolerance through an Aire-dependent pathway. *J Clin Invest* (2006) **116**:2964– 71. doi:10.1172/JCI28326

- Franzoso G, Carlson L, Xing L, Poljak L, Shores EW, Brown KD, et al. Requirement for NF-kappaB in osteoclast and B-cell development. *Genes Dev* (1997) 11:3482–96. doi: 10.1101/gad.11.24.3482
- Inoue J, Gohda J, Akiyama T. Characteristics and biological functions of TRAF6. *Adv Exp Med Biol* (2007) 597:72–9. doi:10.1007/978-0-387-70630-6_6
- 85. Qin J, Konno H, Ohshima D, Yanai H, Motegi H, Shimo Y, et al. Developmental stage-dependent collaboration between the TNF receptorassociated factor 6 and lymphotoxin pathways for B cell follicle organization in secondary lymphoid organs. J Immunol (2007) 179:6799–807.
- 86. Akiyama T, Maeda S, Yamane S, Ogino K, Kasai M, Kajiura F, et al. Dependence of self-tolerance on TRAF6-directed development of thymic stroma. *Science* (2005) **308**:248–51. doi:10. 1126/science.1105677
- Chiffoleau E, Kobayashi T, Walsh M, King C, Walsh P, Hancock W, et al. TNF receptor-associated factor 6 deficiency during hemopoiesis induces Th2-polarized inflammatory disease. *J Immunol* (2003) 171:5751–9.
- Namjou B, Choi CB I, Harley T, Alarcón-Riquelme ME, Kelly JA, Glenn SB, et al. Evaluation of TRAF6 in a large multiancestral lupus cohort. *Arthritis Rheum* (2012) 64:1960–9. doi:10.1002/art. 34361
- 89. Raychaudhuri S, Thomson BP, Remmers EF, Eyre S, Hinks A, Guiducci C, et al. Genetic variants at CD28, PRDM1 and CD2/CD58 are associated with rheumatoid arthritis risk. *Nat Genet* (2009) **41**:1313– 8. doi:10.1038/ng.479
- 90. Akiyama T, Shimo Y, Yanai H, Qin J, Ohshima D, Maruyama Y, et al. The tumor necrosis factor family receptors RANK and CD40 cooperatively establish the thymic medullary microenvironment and self-tolerance. *Immunity* (2008) 29:423–37. doi:10.1016/ j.immuni.2008.06.015
- 91. Danzl NM, Donlin LT, Alexandropoulos K. Regulation of medullary thymic epithelial cell differentiation and function by the signaling protein Sin. J Exp Med (2010) 207:999–1013. doi:10.1084/jem.20092384

- 92. Alexandropoulos K, Danzl NM. Thymic epithelial cells: antigen presenting cells that regulate T cell repertoire and tolerance development. *Immunol Res* (2012) **54**:177–90. doi:10.1007/s12026-012-8301-y
- Alexandropoulos K, Baltimore D. Coordinate activation of c-Src by SH3- and SH2-binding sites on a novel p130Cas-related protein, Sin. *Genes Dev* (1996) 10:1341–55. doi: 10.1101/gad.10.11.1341
- 94. Ishino M, Ohba T, Sasaki H, Sasaki T. Molecular cloning of a cDNA

encoding a phosphoprotein, Efs, which contains a Src homology 3 domain and associates with Fyn. *Oncogene* (1995) **11**:2331–8.

95. Chin RK, Lo JC, Kim O, Blink SE, Christiansen PA, Peterson P, et al. Lymphotoxin pathway directs thymic Aire expression. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4:1121–7. doi:10.1038/ni982

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any

commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 07 June 2013; paper pending published: 24 June 2013; accepted: 09 August 2013; published online: 26 August 2013.

Citation: Akiyama T, Shinzawa M, Qin J and Akiyama N (2013) Regulations of gene expression in medullary thymic epithelial cells required for preventing the onset of autoimmune diseases. Front. Immunol. **4**:249. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00249 This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Akiyama, Shinzawa, Qin and Akiyama. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Human APECED; a sick thymus syndrome?

T. Petteri Arstila¹ * and Hanna Jarva^{1,2}

¹ Department of Bacteriology and Immunology, Immunobiology Research Program, Haartman Institute, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland ² HUSLAB, Helsinki University Hospital Laboratory, Helsinki, Finland

Edited by:

Claudio Pignata, Federico II "University", Italy

Reviewed by:

Patrick Jerome Bertolino, Centenary Institute, Australia Taishin Akiyama, University of Tokyo, Japan

*Correspondence:

T. Petteri Arstila, Department of Bacteriology and Immunology, Immunobiology Research Program, Haartman Institute, University of Helsinki, P.O. Box 21, Helsinki FIN-00014, Finland e-mail: petteri.arstila@helsinki.fi

Loss-of-function mutations in the Autoimmune Regulator (AIRE) gene cause a rare inherited form of autoimmune disease, autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy, also known as autoimmune polyglandular syndrome type 1. The patients suffer from multiple endocrine deficiencies, the most common manifestations being hypoparathyroidism, Addison's disease, hypogonadism, and secondary amenorrhea, usually accompanied by typical autoantibodies against the target tissues. Chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis is also a prominent part of the disease. The highest expression of AIRE is found in medullary thymic epithelial cells (mTECs). Murine studies suggest that it promotes ectopic transcription of self antigens in mTECs and is thus important for negative selection. However, failed negative selection alone is not enough to explain key findings in human patients, necessitating the search for alternative or additional pathogenetic mechanisms. A striking feature of the human AIRE-deficient phenotype is that all patients develop high titers of neutralizing autoantibodies against type I interferons, which have been shown to downregulate the expression of interferon-controlled genes. These autoantibodies often precede clinical symptoms and other autoantibodies, suggesting that they are a reflection of the pathogenetic process. Other cytokines are targeted as well, notably those produced by Th17 cells; these autoantibodies have been linked to the defect in anti-candida defenses. A defect in regulatoryT cells has also been reported in several studies and seems to affect already the recent thymic emigrant population. Taken together, these findings in human patients point to a widespread disruption of T cell development and regulation, which is likely to have its origins in an abnormal thymic milieu. The absence of functional AIRE in peripheral lymphoid tissues may also contribute to the pathogenesis of the disease.

Keywords: APECED, AIRE, T cells, autoimmunity, thymus

INTRODUCTION

Monogenic diseases, although rare, provide a unique possibility to obtain information in the human system on the significance and function of the molecules affected by the mutations. Autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy (APECED), also known as autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type 1 (APS-1), is one such natural knockout phenotype, and has provided important information on T cell selection and pathogenesis of organ-specific autoimmunity (1, 2). It is a recessively inherited human autoimmune disease, caused by lossof-function mutations in the Autoimmune Regulator (AIRE) gene (3, 4). It is enriched in certain populations, most notably the Finns (prevalence 1:25 000), Sardinians (1:14 000), and Iranian Jews (1:9 000) (5). The pathognomonic triad consists of chronic candidiasis, hypoparathyroidism, and Addison's disease, with several other endocrine and non-endocrine manifestations affecting a smaller fraction of the patients.

Since the discovery of the underlying genetic defect in 1997, the pathogenesis of this rare polyendocrine syndrome has been the focus of considerable interest. In particular, studies in Airedeficient mice have shown that AIRE plays an important role in T cell development and negative selection in the thymus, thus elucidating general pathways of thymic development (2). However, the murine phenotype differs in several key points from the human disease, not least in the absence of all the defining triad components mentioned above (6). It is clear that to understand how AIRE works in the human immune system, the human disease mechanisms have to be studied on their own terms, and not only as an extension of the murine phenotype. Such an approach has already proved successful, for example by revealing the role of anti-cytokine antibodies in causing the increased susceptibility to Candida infections (7). Here, we review the main features of human APECED, both clinical and immunological. Although several important questions remain open, we also attempt to provide an explanation of the pathogenetic mechanisms, looked at from the human viewpoint.

CLINICAL FEATURES

The classic triad of APECED consists of Addison's disease, hypoparathyroidism, and chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis

Abbreviations: AIRE, autoimmune regulator; ALAT, alanine amino transferase; APECED, autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy; APS-1, autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type 1; CMC, chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis; GAD, glutamic acid decarboxylase; LKM, liver-kidney microsomal; mTEC, medullary thymic epithelial cells; RTE, recent thymic emigrant; TRA, tissue-restricted antigen; Treg, regulatory T cell.

(CMC), two of which are required for the diagnosis. The autoimmunity in APECED is organ-specific but with many components. There is no gender bias. Virtually all patients have more than two disease components and up to 10 components have been reported. On the average patients have four components (8). First symptoms occur on average at the age of five (range 0.2–18 years) (9). The most common endocrinopathies, hypoparathyroidism, and Addison's disease are usually diagnosed at the age of 3–5 years and 11–15 years, respectively. New components appear through life (9).

Chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis is usually the first sign of APECED and in Finnish patients its prevalence is 100%. Candidiasis is the most common component of APECED except in Iranian Jews in whom it is rarely described (10). The severity of the symptoms varies from redness and soreness of the corners of the mouth to inflamed mucosal surfaces in the whole oral cavity. Candidiasis increases the risk of oral carcinoma by causing chronic inflammation (1).

Hypoparathyroidism is the most common autoimmune component in APECED and APECED should be considered in the differential diagnosis of every patient with hypoparathyroidism of unknown cause. Addison's disease is the second most common autoimmune component and its prevalence was 78% in a large patient series (9). It most often presents with both mineralo- and glucocorticoid deficiency. Gonadal failure is a common component, especially in women. Ovarian insufficiency is actually the third most common autoimmune component, affecting approximately 65% of APECED women and starting in early adulthood (9). It can present with primary amenorrhea with a complete failure of or arrested pubertal development. About half of the cases develop premature menopause (9). Testicular failure has a maximum prevalence of 25% in men and starts usually at an older age (11).

About one third of APECED patients develop hypothyroidism, usually after puberty (9). Thyroid autoantibodies are found commonly but clinical disease is not always present. The prevalence of type I diabetes mellitus among APECED patients varies between populations. In a large Finnish patient series, the prevalence was about 30% (8). Gastrointestinal symptoms, such as chronic diarrhea, constipation, hepatitis, and gastritis are common. Autoimmune gastritis with pernicious anemia is present in approximately 30% of patients by middle age (9). In severe forms, patients develop chronic atrophic gastritis and pernicious anemia (9). About 20% of patients develop autoimmune hepatitis with variable severity (8).

Ectodermal manifestations include enamel hypoplasia of the teeth, alopecia, nail dystrophies, vitiligo, and ocular keratopathy (8, 9). Keratitis occurs in 25% of the patients and can lead to vision loss. Keratitis can be an early and even the first manifestation of the disease. Alopecia and vitiligo affect up to 30–40% of the patients by middle age (5, 12).

DIAGNOSIS AND AUTOANTIBODY FINDINGS

The diagnosis of APECED is based on the clinical features, detection of autoantibodies, and genetic analysis. Two of the most common disease components are required for APECED diagnosis. Candidiasis is usually the first symptom, while hypoparathyroidism and Addison's disease are the most common endocrinopathies. Since the gene test is available, the diagnosis is confirmed with the identification of the mutation. The type of mutation, however, does not predict the disease course. Due to the rarity of APECED, there is often delay of years before the diagnosis is set (13).

An important feature in the diagnostics is the existence of IgG autoantibodies. Their possible pathogenetic role is mostly unknown. Many autoantibodies in APECED are targeted against intracellular enzymes (14). It is possible that the detected autoantibodies are not pathogenetic but, instead, are a marker of the ongoing T cell activity at the target tissue (14). The presence of autoantibodies correlates with the disease components but autoantibodies can also precede the onset of the target organ failure (15). Some autoantibodies are closely associated with the corresponding disease manifestation, while others are found only in a subset of patients with the particular manifestation. For example, autoantibodies against calcium-sensing receptor are found in almost all APECED patients with hypoparathyroidism, whereas anti-NALP5 antibodies, also linked to hypoparathyroidism, are much less common (16, 17). Also, autoantibodies found in APECED patients may be different from those found in patients with an isolated autoimmune disease. A case in point is GAD (glutamic acid decarboxylase), an important autoantigen in type I diabetes but rarely targeted in APECED patients with diabetes as a disease component (18).

Once the initial diagnosis is made, APECED patients must be evaluated regularly and tested for autoantibodies, since new disease components appear through life (19). Suggestions for laboratory testing in the follow-up of APECED patients are presented in **Table 1**.

The recently discovered neutralizing antibodies against type I interferons are found in 100% APECED patients (20, 21). Antiinterferon antibodies are present before symptom development at high titers. In addition to APECED, type I interferon autoantibodies have been found only in patients with thymoma, but with lower prevalence and titers (20, 21). Thus, measurement of neutralizing

Table 1 | Suggested tests in suspected APECED and for the follow-up of APECED patients.

Disease component	Autoantibody	Other tests
APECED	Interferon-α and/or	
	interferon-ω	
Hyperparathyroidism	NALP5	Plasma calcium
	Calsium-sensing receptor	Plasma phosphate
Addison's disease	21-hydroxylase	Plasma renin
	Adrenocortical antibodies	Plasma ACTH
Diabetes mellitus type I	IA-2	
Hypothyroidism	Thyroid peroxidase	
Gonadal insufficiency	Steroid cell antibodies	FSH, LH, estrogen
Gastritis	Parietal cell antibodies	vitamin B12
Hepatitis	LKM antibodies	ALAT

In diagnosed APECED patients the aim is to screen for new disease components for early diagnosis. antibodies against the type I interferons α and ω is a sensitive diagnostic test.

Chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis correlates with autoantibodies against Th17 class cytokines, both in APECED patients and CMC patients without APECED (22–24). The autoantibodies are neutralizing and have been found against IL-22 (91% of patients), IL-17F (75%), and IL-17A (41%) (22). Testing for these antibodies is not commonly used in the diagnostic evaluation, since the abovementioned type I interferon antibodies are more prevalent and specific.

NACHT leucine-rich-repeat protein 5 (NALP5) is a protein expressed in the cytoplasm of parathyroid chief cells. Forty-nine percent of APECED patients with hypoparathyroidism are positive for NALP5 antibodies (16). These antibodies are not found in APECED patients without hypoparathyroidism or in non-APECED patients with hypoparathyroidism. NALP5 antibodies thus represent APECED-specific autoantibodies.

Adrenocortical autoantibodies can be detected by indirect immunofluorescence assays. These antibodies recognize 21hydroxylase, 17-hydroxylase, and side-chain cleavage enzymes, which are involved in the steroid hormone synthesis (11). Ovarian insufficiency correlates with the presence of autoantibodies against side-chain cleavage enzyme (11). Steroid cell autoantibodies can be screened for by indirect immunofluorescence assays with ovarian and testicular tissues. APECED patients with ovarian insufficiency also have elevated FSH and LH levels and low estrogen levels (1).

Fifty percent of APECED patients with hepatic involvement have liver-kidney microsomal (LKM) antibodies (25). The cytochrome target antigen is CYP1A2. Autoantibodies against CYP1A2 are highly specific (100%) but their sensitivity is only 50% (12). Plasma alanine amino transferase (ALAT) are a good marker for developing autoimmune hepatitis in APECED (1). Smooth muscle cell antibodies, which are a marker for autoimmune hepatitis, are not commonly present in APECED-associated hepatitis (25).

In APECED, autoantibodies against IA-2 (tyrosine phosphataselike protein IA-2) correlate with the development of type I diabetes. However, the sensitivity is low (11). GAD antibodies are relatively common (33%) in APECED patients but their presence does not correlate with diabetes, in contrast to non-APECED patients (11, 18).

Gastrointestinal symptoms, for example constipation and diarrhea are common among APECED patients. Hypocalcemia due to hypoparathyroidism can cause diarrhea. Exocrine pancreatic failure occurs in a few percent of patients and can present with malabsorption and steatorrhea (9). Plasma calcium levels and exocrine pancreatic function should be assayed in APECED patients with diarrhea.

GENETICS OF APECED

Autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy is caused by loss-of-function mutations in the *AIRE* gene. The human *AIRE* gene is found in the q22 region of chromosome 22, and shares a 71% sequence homology with its murine counterpart Aire (3, 4, 26). At full length, AIRE encodes a 58 kDa protein of 545 amino acids, although two other, shorter splice variants of unknown significance have been described (4, 27). AIRE contains a N-terminal caspase-recruitment domain and SAND domain that together regulate AIRE's multimerization, two plant homeodomains (PHDs), and a proline-rich region (**Figure 1**) (28, 29). The N-terminus also contains a nuclear localization signal, while C-terminus is important for transcriptional activation. PHDs are zinc fingers involved in protein-protein interaction, and PHD1 has been shown to mediate the binding of AIRE to non-methylated histone H3 (30–34). Together, these sequence and structural features suggest a role in the regulation of gene transcription, but despite some data suggesting otherwise (35), it is unlikely that AIRE is a transcription factor that directly binds DNA.

Today, more than 60 APECED mutations have been identified. The mutations are found throughout the coding region in AIRE and include nonsense mutations causing premature stop codons, frameshifts caused by deletions and missense mutations (36). The most common ones are the mutations R257X (c.769C > T) in exon 6 and a 13-base pair deletion (c.967–979del) in exon 8 (37, 38). APECED is inherited in an autosomal recessive manner and heterozygosity does not cause APECED. However, there is one Italian family where a dominantly inherited mutation in the AIRE gene (G228W) causes APECED (39).

In general, the type of mutation in APECED does not correlate with the clinical features (40). Phenotype can vary even between siblings carrying the same mutation (9). However, the R257X mutation carriers have more commonly candidiasis than patients with other mutations (40). Also, Iranian Jews APECED patients have a unique mutation (Y85C, c.374A > G) and do not develop keratopathy or candidiasis (10).

AIRE's EXPRESSION AND FUNCTION

A few years after the discovery of the genetic defect responsible for APECED, experiments with knockout mouse models linked AIRE to the transcription of tissue-restricted antigens (TRAs) in thymus. The highest expression of AIRE is found in medullary thymic epithelial cells (mTECs) (41), which are capable of expressing a diverse set of genes normally restricted to certain tissues (42, 43). This phenomenon has been denoted ectopic transcription and is likely to be important for the deletion of autoreactive thymocytes. In the absence of Aire a subset of thymic TRAs was



FIGURE 1 |The structure of AIRE protein. CARD: caspase recruitment domain; SAND: human Sp100, Aire1, NucP41/P75, and *Drosophila* DEARF1 domain; PHD: plant homeodomain; PRR: proline-rich region. CARD and SAND are associated with AIRE multimerization and nuclear localization, while PHD1 mediates binding to non-methylated histone H3. Mutations disrupting AIRE's function have been found in all domains except PRR, and also at the extreme C-terminus. Areas where recessive mutations have been found are shown below the schematic structure as horizontal lines, while the location of the dominant mutation is shown as a vertical line. down-regulated, suggesting that Aire functioned as a regulator of the ectopic transcription of some TRAs in mTECs (44). Another study using a model antigen with Aire-regulated promoter provided evidence of increased development of autoreactive T cells and subsequent autoimmunity when Aire was knocked out, at least in that particular transgenic system (45). Later studies have confirmed but also complicated the link between TRA transcription and Aire (2).

It has been difficult to establish how AIRE facilitates TRA transcription, given the promiscuous nature of its function and the diverse and context-dependent set of genes affected by AIRE's absence. Several studies have reported that AIRE can bind DNA, suggesting that it might function as a transcription factor (35, 46). Others, however, have challenged the significance of direct DNA binding by AIRE (32, 47, 48). Moreover, the genes regulated by AIRE lack shared promoter elements (47), and it is thus difficult to see how AIRE could by direct DNA binding regulate such a diverse set of genes.

A detailed analysis of AIRE's molecular partners suggests a less direct role for AIRE in gene transcription. A common feature of AIRE-regulated genes is that they are associated with a stalled RNA polymerase II (RNAPII), which stops full-length transcription (34, 49, 50). AIRE then seems to allow further elongation of the target genes. A recent attempt to formulate a model suggests that AIRE first binds to non-methylated histone H3 (29). It then recruits positive transcription elongation factor b (P-TEFb) to phosphorylate RNAPII, reactivating the stalled polymerase and gene transcription. Although this would allow for a broad range of genes to be activated, a major problem with this model is to explain how AIRE's control on TRAs is maintained even when the TRAs are expressed as transgenes, outside of their normal epigenetic environment.

A competing explanation is that AIRE is not directly involved in TRA transcription, but rather regulates mTEC maturation and death, thus indirectly affecting also mTEC-expressed TRAs. In support of this possibility are numerous studies showing that Airedeficiency results in fundamental changes in the mTEC population (51–54). The expression of AIRE is a late event in the lifespan of mTECs (55), and it has been suggested to be a terminal differentiation factor for mTECs. Thus, in the absence of AIRE, the altered developmental pathway of mTECs might lead to a decrease in the TRA-expressing stages, either because of abnormal cell death or diverted or arrested maturation. However, although the mTEC differentiation model is compatible with most reported effects of AIRE-deficiency, the molecular mechanisms by which AIRE regulates mTEC biology are largely unknown.

The strengths and weaknesses of scenarios involving regulation of gene transcription versus regulation of mTEC homeostasis have been more fully summarized in a recent review (47). At the moment the available data do not provide unequivocal support to either of the two main models, and it should also be noted that practically all the data come from studies on the murine system or cell lines. Nevertheless, we would argue that the human phenotype is difficult to reconcile with models invoking regulation of TRA transcription as the main function of AIRE. We discuss these aspects in more detail below, in the chapter on the pathogenesis of APECED. A further complication is AIRE's expression in peripheral tissues, a phenomenon of largely unknown significance (56). Early studies showed AIRE mRNA expression in a wide range of tissues, but not all of these studies were confirmed on protein level. In the periphery AIRE is expressed at significantly lower levels than in the mTECs, making reliable detection with mostly polyclonal antibodies difficult, and some studies have questioned the presence of any extrathymic AIRE (57). Nevertheless, a wide agreement exists for the expression of AIRE in lymphoid tissues, with perhaps dendritic cells as the main AIRE+ population (58, 59). The peripheral AIRE+ cells can also express TRAs, although the genes are only partly overlapping with the thymic set (60).

IMMUNOLOGICAL ABNORMALITIES

The most obvious immunopathological finding in APECED patients is the diverse set of autoantibodies, mostly against tissues affected by the disease. The autoantibodies are often directed against enzymes involved in hormone synthesis, but since these enzymes are intracellular, the organ-specific autoantibodies rarely have pathogenetic significance. Of special interest are the neutralizing autoantibodies to cytokines, since they are likely to have pathogenetic effects. These autoantibodies are found in practically all APECED patients, while extremely rare in healthy people, and can block interferon-induced gene expression both *in vivo* and *in vitro* (21, 61). The more recently described neutralizing autoantibodies against the Th17 cytokines IL-17A, IL-17F, and IL-22 are linked to the defective antifungal defense and CMC (22, 24).

However, the organ-specific autoimmune manifestations of APECED are generally held to be T cell-mediated, and therefore the T cell compartment in APECED patients has been studied in a number of studies. A recent study showed that APECED patients have a significantly increased frequency of highly differentiated CD8+ effector T cells (62). These cells express CD45RA and lack CCR7, a phenotype similar to that found in some chronic viral infections, and express cytotoxic molecules, such as perforin. The specificity of these cells is not known, but it is likely that at least some of them represent the autoreactive population.

The CD4+ population likewise shows changes, but so far the data are scant and partly contradictory. An increased frequency of CD25 + CD4+ cells, including both regulatory and activated populations, was reported in one series of patients (63), while a later study failed to find differences between patients and controls in the frequency or number of CD4+ activated/memory T cells (64). With the discovery of anti-cytokine antibodies the cells producing Th17 cytokines have also been studied. Despite the presence of anti-IL17 antibodies, IL-17A production is generally normal or even increased, while IL-17F is reduced. An even greater reduction is found in IL-22 responses (22, 65, 66). These defects are closely linked to the chronic candidiasis.

The best-defined T cell defects, confirmed by several studies, are found in the regulatory T cell (Treg) population. The earliest report showed that APECED patients have a decrease of CD25 + CD4+ Tregs, a finding later confirmed in another cohort (64, 67). A more detailed examination was facilitated by the discovery of FOXP3 as the key transcription factor in Tregs, and subsequent development of mAb allowing the identification of FOXP3+ cells. APECED patients have a decreased frequency and number of FOXP3+ Tregs, and in a single-cell analysis the Treg cells express reduced levels of FOXP3 protein (68). Moreover, in an *in vitro* co-culture assay Tregs isolated from APECED patients show defective suppressive function. The most clear-cut Treg abnormalities are found in the CD45RO+ activated subset, the population mostly responsible for the regulatory activity (62, 69). Cells of the innate immune system have also been analyzed, especially those in which AIRE is expressed. The frequency of circulating dendritic cells has been reported to be normal (64, 70), but several studies suggest functional changes, at least in monocyte-derived dendritic cells (58, 71, 72). However, here again the published results have been partly conflicting, with some reporting hyperactivation of dendritic cells, and others defective cytokine production and functional impairment. The expression of pattern-recognition receptors has also been studied and seems normal (70).

An altogether different putative role for AIRE links it with Dectin-1, a receptor of the innate immune system (73). AIRE was reported to form transient complexes with Dectin-1 pathway components and localize with Dectin-1 at the cell membrane. In APECED patients peripheral blood mononuclear cells the production of TNF- α in response to Dectin-1 ligation was reduced. Because Dectin-1 is important in innate recognition of β -glucan and anti-*Candida* responses, these findings offer an alternative mechanism for the defective antifungal defense in APECED patients.

With the exception of the increased susceptibility to Candida, the general view emerging from these studies, perhaps not unexpectedly, is one of increased effector activity and decreased regulation. As in all human studies, two major problems complicate the interpretation of these results. First, the analysis is restricted to circulating cells, which are likely to be at best a partial reflection of the local autoimmune process. Secondly, most of the studies have been performed on adult patients with long-established disease, and care is needed to separate primary pathogenetic factors from secondary effects of the disease process. We will discuss pathogenesis below. Nevertheless, it is also important to note that not all secondary processes are irrelevant to the pathogenesis. In most patients, new targets of autoimmunity and new disease manifestations continue to appear later in life, and it is likely that the general immune dysregulation is a contributing factor in this unpredictable progression of the disease.

PATHOGENESIS

Given the expression pattern of AIRE, it is highly likely that the thymus is in a central role in the pathogenesis of APECED. The simplest putative explanation for the disease is based on the link between AIRE and ectopic transcription of TRAs in the thymus. In this model the absence of AIRE-regulated TRAs in the thymus disrupts negative selection and allows the escape of autoreactive T cells to periphery, which leads to organ-specific autoimmunity (**Figure 2**). Support for this scenario comes from murine studies, and in particular transgenic settings with Aire-regulated model antigens (44, 45, 74, 75).

However, several aspects of both the murine and human AIREdeficient phenotype are very difficult to reconcile with this simple model. A corollary of TRA-driven autoimmunity is that at least the earliest events should be specific to AIRE-regulated TRAs and



FIGURE 2 | A hypothesis of the pathogenesis of APECED. In the normal thymus mTECs express a range of tissue-restricted antigens, shown here as red and green circles within the mTECs. This facilitates the deletion of autoreactive thymocytes, shown as cells with a red or green TCR, so that only T cells reactive to non-self antigens migrate to the periphery. The normal thymus also supports the development of regulatory T cells (Tr). In the absence of functional AIRE the epithelial compartment is disrupted, as indicated by the malformed mTEC, and some of the TRAs are no longer transcribed. Thymocytes specific to these TRAs mature in increased numbers. They may also become activated already in the thymus, shown here as an increase in cytoplasm volume, so that the thymus exports functional effector cells. At the same time the development of Tr cells is defective, leading to insufficient suppression in the periphery. The outcome is organ-specific autoimmunity, at least partly directed by the range of TRAs missing in the AIRE-deficient thymus (here indicated by the red tissue).

the response limited to clones that escaped negative selection. In the murine system some of the reported manifestations involve antigens that are independent of AIRE, suggesting that loss of TRAs is not an obligatory prerequisite of the autoimmunity (76). In humans, perhaps the main problem for the TRA model is to explain the early and universal incidence of anti-interferon antibodies. As noted earlier, these antibodies can precede any clinical symptoms or organ-specific autoantibodies (5), strongly suggesting that their appearance is an important part of the pathogenetic process, or at least reflects it. It is very difficult to see how, without any additional defects, the loss of TRAs in mTECs alone could give rise to this particular phenomenon. Another difficulty arises from the study of thymomas. The disorganized thymoma tissue often lacks AIRE expression, yet continues to support T cell maturation. If the loss of TRAs and subsequent escape of autoreactive T cells would suffice to cause APECED, a substantial fraction of thymoma patients should develop it. Yet the patients rarely show APECED-like manifestations (77, 78). Instead, autoimmunity associated with thymomas is dominated by myasthenia gravis, which conversely is not a manifestation of APECED (9, 79).

An alternative model suggests that the loss of AIRE leads to a more extensive disruption of the thymic microenvironment, creating conditions that favor activation instead of tolerance. Although a primary lymphoid organ, thymus is also capable of developing tertiary lymphoid organization, with germinal centers and induction of adaptive immunity (5). The unique feature of thymus is that, unlike in the secondary lymphoid organs, many of the T cells
inhabiting the organ have not yet passed negative selection and are potentially highly autoreactive. The crucial difference when compared with the TRA model is that here the thymus would export preactivated autoreactive T cells, perhaps in high numbers, and not naive, clonally restricted autoreactive precursors. Moreover, since the absence of AIRE is also likely to disrupt the development of natural Tregs (80–82), the defect in immunoregulatory mechanisms contributes to the emerging autoimmunity.

Several observations support the view that a more widespread thymus disturbance than decreased TRA expression alone is responsible for APECED. First, thymoma patients also develop anti-interferon antibodies (83), a feature shared only by these two diseases affecting the thymus, and resected thymoma tissue often shows tertiary lymphoid structures (79, 84). Secondly, in APECED patients even cells expressing markers typical of naive lymphocytes, e.g., CD45RA and CCR7, show clear signs of functional activation, such as the expression of perforin (62). Interestingly, this also applies to CD8+ T cells expressing CD31, a marker of recent thymic emigrants (RTEs). This is consistent with activating events taking place already in the thymus, so that the cells migrate to the periphery preactivated. Similarly, the CD31+ subset among resting Tregs is clearly abnormal, suggesting that the Treg cell defect is also traceable to the thymic development (80). And thirdly, indirect support is provided by the studies showing disruption of thymic medulla in the absence of functional Aire. A dysregulated thymus functioning as an induction site for autoimmune responses would also explain the relatively early onset of the disease.

Nevertheless, the fact that most patients develop similar main components of the disease suggests that the initiation of autoimmunity does show predilection to certain self antigens. It is therefore likely that the range of TRAs missing from the AIRE-deficient thymus, whether primarily due to transcriptional failure or disrupted mTEC development, defines at least to some extent which peripheral organs are targeted. The early pathogenetic events in the thymus would thus be a combination of a general failure to imprint tolerance and a clonally restricted targeting of a subset of potential self antigens.

This thymus-centered view on the pathogenesis of APECED leaves important questions open, including the significance of peripheral AIRE. So far, this is issue is largely unknown, apart from what can be extrapolated from murine studies and the observed changes in the characteristics of dendritic cells and other AIRE+ peripheral cells when AIRE is absent. Likewise, AIRE's interaction with Dectin-1 partners and its contribution to the antifungal defense remains to be defined.

Moreover, the disease manifestations traditionally held to be caused by factors other than autoimmunity need to be reexamined. The recent data on neutralizing antibodies against Th17 cytokines, and on the importance of these cytokines in anti-Candida defense strongly suggests that the chronic candidiasis is basically an autoimmune phenomenon, too (7). It may also be questioned whether the ectodermal disease components represent developmental dystrophies, as was originally believed. The argument against this view holds that since they are not congenital but develop later, a primary defect is unlikely. However, with the exception of such clearly autoimmune manifestations as alopecia and vitiligo, the pathogenesis of ectodermal components is still unknown.

AIRE IN OTHER DISEASES

Because the effects of AIRE-deficiency are so drastic, many studies have addressed the possibility that heterozygous mutations or genetic variants of AIRE might also predispose to autoimmunity. So far, the results are intriguing but inconclusive and to some extent contradictory. Studies on the first-degree relatives of APECED patients have generally failed to find a link between heterozygous carriage of AIRE mutations and autoimmune diseases (85, 86), although some data suggesting otherwise have been reported (87). A clear limitation in all such studies is the small number of study subjects. Another approach has been to search for AIRE mutations in patients with isolated autoimmune diseases. In most cases heterozygotes have not been found to be enriched among the patients (88, 89), but again there are some conflicting data (90). However, several recent studies suggest that singlenucleotide polymorphisms in the AIRE gene are associated with an increased risk of autoimmunity, including rheumatoid arthritis and vitiligo (91–93). It is therefore probable that more detailed analysis of AIRE will reveal more instances in which genetic variation in AIRE, presumably leading to modulation of its function, affects the predisposition to non-APECED autoimmunity.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Despite the simple genetics of AIRE, the resulting phenotype is highly complex, and the disease manifestations can vary greatly between patients with identical mutations. The significance of this complexity has sometimes been dismissed by attributing it to secondary effects of a longstanding disease or the genetic heterogeneity of the patients. Although both arguments are relevant, they can also be a too facile way to sidestep important issues. The simple model of reduced TRA expression as the main mechanism of APECED is increasingly untenable, so alternative and additional mechanisms must be considered, and human patients studied to test them. Moreover, although the genetic diversity of the human patients certainly influences and complicates matters, it must be accepted and addressed. The relative simplicity of inbred Aire-deficient animal models is attractive but also potentially deceptive. After all, in the end the results have to be taken back to human patients, when the outbred nature of the subjects is an unavoidable fact.

The existing data indicate that the earliest pathogenetic events leading to APECED take place in the thymus, and it is very likely that a general disturbance of mTEC population is involved. The associated disruption of TRA expression, whatever its exact mechanism, is likely to limit the targets of the resulting autoimmunity, but perhaps not the later appearance of additional, less common disease components. Some of the disease manifestations may also reflect the failure of peripheral tolerance, although the significance of peripheral AIRE expression remains poorly understood. Because the relevant tissues cannot be accessed in APECED patients, many of the open questions can be addressed only indirectly. In particular, innovative organ culture methods to analyze the role of AIRE in the human thymus are likely to provide a means to test the proposed pathogenetic pathways.

REFERENCES

- Husebye ES, Perheentupa J, Rautemaa R, Kampe O. Clinical manifestations and management of patients with autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type I. J Intern Med (2009) 265:514–29. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2796.2009.02090.x
- Mathis D, Benoist C. Aire. Annu Rev Immunol (2009) 27:287–312. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.25. 022106.141532
- Aaltonen J, Bjorses P, Perheentupa J, Horelli-Kuitunen N, Palotie A, Peltonen L, et al. An autoimmune disease, APECED, caused by mutations in a novel gene featuring two PHD-type zinc-finger domains. *Nat Genet* (1997) 17:399–403. doi:10. 1038/ng1297-399
- Nagamine K, Peterson P, Scott HS, Kudoh J, Minoshima S, Heino M, et al. Positional cloning of the APECED gene. *Nat Genet* (1997) 17:393–8. doi:10.1038/ng1297-393
- Kisand K, Peterson P. Autoimmune polyendocrinopathy candidiasis ectodermal dystrophy: known and novel aspects of the syndrome. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2011) **1246**:77–91. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011. 06308.x
- 6. Hubert FX, Kinkel SA, Crewther PE, Cannon PZ, Webster KE, Link M, et al. Aire-deficient C57BL/6 mice mimicking the common human 13-base pair deletion mutation present with only a mild autoimmune phenotype. J Immunol (2009) 182:3902–18. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0802124
- Kisand K, Lilic D, Casanova JL, Peterson P, Meager A, Willcox N. Mucocutaneous candidiasis and autoimmunity against cytokines in APECED and thymoma patients: clinical and pathogenetic implications. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41:1517–27. doi:10.1002/eji.201041253
- Ahonen P, Myllarniemi S, Sipila I, Perheentupa J. Clinical variation of autoimmune polyendocrinopathycandidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy (APECED) in a series of 68 patients. N Engl J Med (1990) 322:1829–36. doi:10.1056/ NEJM199006283222601
- 9. Perheentupa J. Autoimmune polyendocrinopathycandidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2006) 91:2843–50. doi:10.1210/jc.2005-2611
- 10. Zlotogora J, Shapiro MS. Polyglandular autoimmune syndrome type I among Iranian Jews. J Med Genet

(1992) **29**:824–6. doi:10.1136/jmg. 29.11.824

- Soderbergh A, Myhre AG, Ekwall O, Gebre-Medhin G, Hedstrand H, Landgren E, et al. Prevalence and clinical associations of 10 defined autoantibodies in autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type I. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2004) 89:557–62. doi:10. 1210/jc.2003-030279
- Proust-Lemoine E, Saugier-Veber P, Wemeau JL. Polyglandular autoimmune syndrome type I. *Presse Med* (2012) 41:e651–62. doi:10.1016/j. lpm.2012.10.005
- Mazza C, Buzi F, Ortolani F, Vitali A, Notarangelo LD, Weber G, et al. Clinical heterogeneity and diagnostic delay of autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasisectodermal dystrophy syndrome. *Clin Immunol* (2011) 139:6–11. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2010.12.021
- Husebye ES, Anderson MS. Autoimmune polyendocrine syndromes: clues to type 1 diabetes pathogenesis. *Immunity* (2010) **32**:479–87. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.03.016
- Betterle C, Greggio NA, Volpato M. Clinical review 93: autoimmune polyglandular syndrome type 1. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1998) 83:1049–55. doi:10.1210/jc.83.4.1049
- Alimohammadi M, Bjorklund P, Hallgren A, Pontynen N, Szinnai G, Shikama N, et al. Autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type 1 and NALP5, a parathyroid autoantigen. *N Engl J Med* (2008) 358:1018–28. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0706487
- 17. Gavalas NG, Kemp EH, Krohn KJ, Brown EM, Watson PF, Weetman AP. The calcium-sensing receptor is a target of autoantibodies in patients with autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type 1. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2007) 92:2107–14. doi:10.1210/jc.2006-2466
- 18. Gylling M, Tuomi T, Bjorses P, Kontiainen S, Partanen J, Christie MR, et al. ss-Cell autoantibodies, human leukocyte antigen II alleles, and type 1 diabetes in autoimmune polyendocrinopathycandidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy. I Clin Endocrinol (2000)Metah 85:4434-40. doi:10.1210/jc.85.12.4434
- Barker JM, Eisenbarth GS, editors. *Autoimmune Polyendocrine Symp- toms*. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders Company (2002). p. 295–320.
- 20. Meager A, Visvalingam K, Peterson P, Moll K, Murumagi A, Krohn K, et al. Anti-interferon autoantibodies

in autoimmune polyendocrinopathy syndrome type 1. *PLoS Med* (2006) **3**:e289. doi:10.1371/journal. pmed.0030289

- Meloni A, Furcas M, Cetani F, Marcocci C, Falorni A, Perniola R, et al. Autoantibodies against type I interferons as an additional diagnostic criterion for autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type I. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2008) 93:4389–97. doi:10.1210/jc.2008-0935
- 22. Kisand K, Boe Wolff AS, Podkrajsek KT, Tserel L, Link M, Kisand KV, et al. Chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis in APECED or thymoma patients correlates with autoimmunity to Th17-associated cytokines. J Exp Med (2010) 207:299–308. doi: 10.1084/jem.20091669
- Puel A, Picard C, Cypowyj S, Lilic D, Abel L, Casanova JL. Inborn errors of mucocutaneous immunity to *Candida albicans* in humans: a role for IL-17 cytokines? *Curr Opin Immunol* (2010) 22:467–74. doi:10. 1016/j.coi.2010.06.009
- 24. Puel A, Doffinger R, Natividad A, Chrabieh M, Barcenas-Morales G, Picard C, et al. Autoantibodies against IL-17A, IL-17F, and IL-22 in patients with chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis and autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type I. J Exp Med (2010) 207:291–7. doi:10. 1084/jem.20091983
- 25. Obermayer-Straub P, Perheentupa J, Braun S, Kayser A, Barut A, Loges S, et al. Hepatic autoantigens in patients with autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasisectodermal dystrophy. *Gastroenterology* (2001) **121**:668–77. doi:10.1053/gast.2001.27103
- Blechschmidt K, Schweiger M, Wertz K, Poulson R, Christensen HM, Rosenthal A, et al. The mouse Aire gene: comparative genomic sequencing, gene organization, and expression. *Genome Res* (1999) 9:158–66.
- Ruan QG, Wang CY, Shi JD, She JX. Expression and alternative splicing of the mouse autoimmune regulator gene (Aire). *J Autoimmun* (1999) **3**:307–13. doi:10.1006/jaut. 1999.0326
- Halonen M, Kangas H, Ruppell T, Ilmarinen T, Ollila J, Kolmer M, et al. APECED-causing mutations in AIRE reveal the functional domains of the protein. *Hum Mutat* (2004) 23:245–57. doi:10. 1002/humu.20003
- 29. Zumer K, Saksela K, Peterlin BM. The mechanism of tissue-restricted antigen gene expression by AIRE. J

Immunol (2013) **190**:2479–82. doi: 10.4049/iimmunol.1203210

- 30. Chakravarty S, Zeng L, Zhou MM. Structure and site-specific recognition of histone H3 by the PHD finger of human autoimmune regulator. *Structure* (2009) 17:670–9. doi:10.1016/j.str.2009.02.017
- 31. Chignola F, Gaetani M, Rebane A, Org T, Mollica L, Zucchelli C, et al. The solution structure of the first PHD finger of autoimmune regulator in complex with non-modified histone H3 tail reveals the antagonistic role of H3R2 methylation. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2009) 37:2951–61. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkp166
- 32. Koh AS, Kuo AJ, Park SY, Cheung P, Abramson J, Bua D, et al. Aire employs a histone-binding module to mediate immunological tolerance, linking chromatin regulation with organ-specific autoimmunity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) **105**:15878–83. doi:10.1073/pnas.0808470105
- 33. Org T, Chignola F, Hetenyi C, Gaetani M, Rebane A, Liiv I, et al. The autoimmune regulator PHD finger binds to non-methylated histone H3K4 to activate gene expression. *EMBO Rep* (2008) **9**:370–6. doi:10.1038/sj.embor.2008.11
- 34. Zumer K, Plemenitas A, Saksela K, Peterlin BM. Patient mutation in AIRE disrupts P-TEFb binding and target gene transcription. *Nucleic* Acids Res (2011) 39:7908–19. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkr527
- 35. Kumar PG, Laloraya M, Wang CY, Ruan QG, Davoodi-Semiromi A, Kao KJ, et al. The autoimmune regulator (AIRE) is a DNAbinding protein. J Biol Chem (2001) 276:41357–64. doi:10.1074/ jbc.M104898200
- Akirav EM, Ruddle NH, Herold KC. The role of AIRE in human autoimmune disease. Nat Rev Endocrinol (2011) 7:25–33. doi:10.1038/nrendo.2010.200
- 37. Bjorses P, Halonen M, Palvimo JJ, Kolmer M, Aaltonen J, Ellonen P, et al. Mutations in the AIRE gene: effects on subcellular location and transactivation function of the autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy protein. Am J Hum Genet (2000) 66:378–92. doi:10.1086/302765
- 38. Wolff AS, Erichsen MM, Meager A, Magitta NF, Myhre AG, Bollerslev J, et al. Autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type 1 in Norway: phenotypic variation, autoantibodies, and novel mutations in the autoimmune regulator gene. J Clin Endocrinol

Metab (2007) **92**:595–603. doi:10. 1210/jc.2006-1873

- 39. Cetani F, Barbesino G, Borsari S, Pardi E, Cianferotti L, Pinchera A, et al. A novel mutation of the autoimmune regulator gene in an Italian kindred with autoimmune polyendocrinopathycandidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy, acting in a dominant fashion and strongly cosegregating with hypothyroid autoimmune thyroiditis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2001) 86:4747–52. doi:10.1210/jc.86.10.4747
- 40. Halonen M, Eskelin P, Myhre AG, Perheentupa J, Husebye ES, Kampe O, et al. AIRE mutations and human leukocyte antigen genotypes as determinants of the autoimmune polyendocrinopathycandidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy phenotype. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2002) 87:2568–74. doi:10.1210/jc. 87.6.2568
- Bjorses P, Pelto-Huikko M, Kaukonen J, Aaltonen J, Peltonen L, Ulmanen I. Localization of the APECED protein in distinct nuclear structures. *Hum Mol Genet* (1999) 8:259–66. doi:10.1093/hmg/ 8.2.259
- Derbinski J, Schulte A, Kyewski B, Klein L. Promiscuous gene expression in medullary thymic epithelial cells mirrors the peripheral self. *Nat Immunol* (2001) 2:1032–9. doi:10. 1038/ni723
- 43. Gotter J, Brors B, Hergenhahn M, Kyewski B. Medullary epithelial cells of the human thymus express a highly diverse selection of tissue-specific genes colocalized in chromosomal clusters. J Exp Med (2004) 199:155–66. doi:10. 1084/jem.20031677
- 44. Anderson MS, Venanzi ES, Klein L, Chen Z, Berzins SP, Turley SJ, et al. Projection of an immunological self shadow within the thymus by the aire protein. *Science* (2002) 298:1395–401. doi:10.1126/science. 1075958
- Liston A, Lesage S, Wilson J, Peltonen L, Goodnow CC. Aire regulates negative selection of organspecific T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4:350–4. doi:10.1038/ni906
- 46. Purohit S, Kumar PG, Laloraya M, She JX. Mapping DNA-binding domains of the autoimmune regulator protein. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2005) **327**:939–44. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.12.093
- Danso-Abeam D, Humblet-Baron S, Dooley J, Liston A. Models of aire-dependent gene regulation for thymic negative selection. *Front*

Immunol (2011) **2**:14. doi:10.3389/ fimmu.2011.00014

- Peterson P, Org T, Rebane A. Transcriptional regulation by AIRE: molecular mechanisms of central tolerance. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2008) 8:948–57. doi:10.1038/nri2450
- 49. Giraud M, Taubert R, Vandiedonck C, Ke X, Levi-Strauss M, Pagani F, et al. An IRF8-binding promoter variant and AIRE control CHRNA1 promiscuous expression in thymus. *Nature* (2007) **448**:934–7. doi:10. 1038/nature06066
- Oven I, Brdickova N, Kohoutek J, Vaupotic T, Narat M, Peterlin BM. AIRE recruits P-TEFb for transcriptional elongation of target genes in medullary thymic epithelial cells. *Mol Cell Biol* (2007) 27:8815–23. doi:10.1128/MCB.01085-07
- Dooley J, Erickson M, Farr AG. Alterations of the medullary epithelial compartment in the Airedeficient thymus: implications for programs of thymic epithelial differentiation. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:5225–32.
- Gillard GO, Dooley J, Erickson M, Peltonen L, Farr AG. Airedependent alterations in medullary thymic epithelium indicate a role for Aire in thymic epithelial differentiation. *J Immunol* (2007) 178:3007–15.
- 53. Gray D, Abramson J, Benoist C, Mathis D. Proliferative arrest and rapid turnover of thymic epithelial cells expressing Aire. J Exp Med (2007) 204:2521–8. doi:10. 1084/jem.20070795
- 54. Yano M, Kuroda N, Han H, Meguro-Horike M, Nishikawa Y, Kiyonari H, et al. Aire controls the differentiation program of thymic epithelial cells in the medulla for the establishment of self-tolerance. J Exp Med (2008) 205:2827–38. doi:10.1084/ jem.20080046
- 55. Nishikawa Y, Hirota F, Yano M, Kitajima H, Miyazaki J, Kawamoto H, et al. Biphasic Aire expression in early embryos and in medullary thymic epithelial cells before endstage terminal differentiation. J Exp Med (2010) 207:963–71. doi:10. 1084/jem.20092144
- 56. Eldershaw SA, Sansom DM, Narendran P. Expression and function of the autoimmune regulator (Aire) gene in non-thymic tissue. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2011) **163**:296–308. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2010.04316.x
- 57. Heino M, Peterson P, Sillanpaa N, Guerin S, Wu L, Anderson G, et al. RNA and protein expression of the murine autoimmune regulator gene (Aire) in normal, RelB-deficient

and in NOD mouse. *Eur J Immunol* (2000) **30**:1884–93. doi:10.1002/ 1521-4141(200007)30:7<1884: :AID-IMMU1884>3.0.CO;2-P

- Pontynen N, Strengell M, Sillanpaa N, Saharinen J, Ulmanen I, Julkunen I, et al. Critical immunological pathways are downregulated in APECED patient dendritic cells. *J Mol Med* (*Berl*) (2008) 86:1139–52. doi:10. 1007/s00109-008-0374-7
- Suzuki E, Kobayashi Y, Kawano O, Endo K, Haneda H, Yukiue H, et al. Expression of AIRE in thymocytes and peripheral lymphocytes. *Autoimmunity* (2008) 41:133–9. doi:10.1080/08916930701773941
- 60. Gardner JM, Devoss JJ, Friedman RS, Wong DJ, Tan YX, Zhou X, et al. Deletional tolerance mediated by extrathymic Aire-expressing cells. *Science* (2008) **321**:843–7. doi: 10.1126/science.1159407
- 61. Kisand K, Link M, Wolff AS, Meager A, Tserel L, Org T, et al. Interferon autoantibodies associated with AIRE deficiency decrease the expression of IFN-stimulated genes. *Blood* (2008) **112**:2657–66. doi:10. 1182/blood-2008-03-144634
- 62. Laakso SM, Kekalainen E, Rossi LH, Laurinolli TT, Mannerstrom H, Heikkila N, et al. IL-7 dysregulation and loss of CD8+ T cell homeostasis in the monogenic human disease autoimmune polyendocrinopathycandidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy. *J Immunol* (2011) **187**:2023–30. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1100212
- 63. Perniola R, Lobreglio G, Rosatelli MC, Pitotti E, Accogli E, De Rinaldis C. Immunophenotypic characterisation of peripheral blood lymphocytes in autoimmune polyglandular syndrome type 1: clinical study and review of the literature. *J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab* (2005) **18**:155–64. doi:10.1515/JPEM.2005.18.2.155
- 64. Wolff AS, Oftedal BE, Kisand K, Ersvaer E, Lima K, Husebye ES. Flow cytometry study of blood cell subtypes reflects autoimmune and inflammatory processes in autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type I. *Scand J Immunol* (2010) **71**:459–67. doi:10.1111/j. 1365-3083.2010.02397.x
- 65. Ahlgren KM, Moretti S, Lundgren BA, Karlsson I, Ahlin E, Norling A, et al. Increased IL-17A secretion in response to *Candida albicans* in autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type 1 and its animal model. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) **41**:235–45. doi:10.1002/eji.200939883
- 66. Ng WF, von Delwig A, Carmichael AJ, Arkwright PD, Abinun M, Cant AJ, et al. Impaired T(H)17

responses in patients with chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis with and without autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasisectodermal dystrophy. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2010) **126**:1006–15, e1– 4. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2010.08.027 1015

- 67. Ryan KR, Lawson CA, Lorenzi AR, Arkwright PD, Isaacs JD, Lilic D. CD4+CD25+ T-regulatory cells are decreased in patients with autoimmune polyendocrinopathy candidiasis ectodermal dystrophy. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2005) 116:1158–9. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2005.08.036
- 68. Kekalainen E, Tuovinen H, Joensuu J, Gylling M, Franssila R, Pontynen N, et al. of regulatory T cells in patients with autoimmune polyendocrinopathycandidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy. J Immunol (2007) 178:1208–15.
- 69. Miyara M, Yoshioka Y, Kitoh A, Shima T, Wing K, Niwa A, et al. Functional delineation and differentiation dynamics of human CD4+ T cells expressing the FoxP3 transcription factor. *Immunity* (2009) **30**:899–911. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2009.03.019
- 70. Hong M, Ryan KR, Arkwright PD, Gennery AR, Costigan C, Dominguez M, et al. Pattern recognition receptor expression is not impaired in patients with chronic mucocutanous candidiasis with or without autoimmune polyendocrinopathy candidiasis ectodermal dystrophy. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2009) **156**:40–51. doi:10. 1111/j.1365-2249.2009.03873.x
- 71. Ryan KR, Hong M, Arkwright PD, Gennery AR, Costigan C, Dominguez M, et al. Impaired dendritic cell maturation and cytokine production in patients with chronic mucocutanous candidiasis with or without APECED. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2008) **154**:406–14. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2008.03778.x
- 72. Sillanpaa N, Magureanu CG, Murumagi A, Reinikainen A, West A, Manninen A, et al. Autoimmune regulator induced changes in the gene expression profile of human monocyte-dendritic cell-lineage. *Mol Immunol* (2004) 41:1185–98. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2004.06.004
- 73. Pedroza LA, Kumar V, Sanborn KB, Mace EM, Niinikoski H, Nadeau K, et al. Autoimmune regulator (AIRE) contributes to Dectin-1induced TNF-alpha production and complexes with caspase recruitment domain-containing protein 9 (CARD9), spleen tyrosine kinase (Syk), and Dectin-1. J Allergy Clin

Immunol (2012) **129**:464–72, 472 e1–3. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2011.08.027

- 74. Liston A, Gray DH, Lesage S, Fletcher AL, Wilson J, Webster KE, et al. Gene dosage – limiting role of Aire in thymic expression, clonal deletion, and organspecific autoimmunity. J Exp Med (2004) 200:1015–26. doi:10.1084/ jem.20040581
- 75. DeVoss J, Hou Y, Johannes K, Lu W, Liou GI, Rinn J, et al. Spontaneous autoimmunity prevented by thymic expression of a single self-antigen. J Exp Med (2006) 203:2727–35. doi: 10.1084/jem.20061864
- 76. Kuroda N, Mitani T, Takeda N, Ishimaru N, Arakaki R, Hayashi Y, et al. Development of autoimmunity against transcriptionally unrepressed target antigen in the thymus of Aire-deficient mice. *J Immunol* (2005) **174**:1862–70.
- 77. Cheng MH, Fan U, Grewal N, Barnes M, Mehta A, Taylor S, et al. Acquired autoimmune polyglandular syndrome, thymoma, and an AIRE defect. N Engl J Med (2010) 362:764–6. doi:10.1056/NEJMc0909510
- 78. Strobel P, Murumagi A, Klein R, Luster M, Lahti M, Krohn K, et al. Deficiency of the autoimmune regulator AIRE in thymomas is insufficient to elicit autoimmune polyendocrinopathy syndrome type 1 (APS-1). *J Pathol* (2007) **211**:563–71. doi:10.1002/ path.2141
- 79. Marx A, Hohenberger P, Hoffmann H, Pfannschmidt J, Schnabel P, Hofmann HS, et al. The autoimmune regulator AIRE in thymoma biology: autoimmunity and beyond. J Thorac Oncol (2010) 5:S266–72. doi:10.1097/JTO. 0b013e3181f1f63f
- Laakso SM, Laurinolli TT, Rossi LH, Lehtoviita A, Sairanen H, Perheentupa J, et al. Regulatory T cell defect in APECED patients

is associated with loss of naive FOXP3(+) precursors and impaired activated population. *J Autoimmun* (2010) **35**:351–7. doi:10.1016/j.jaut. 2010.07.008

- Malchow S, Leventhal DS, Nishi S, Fischer BI, Shen L, Paner GP, et al. Aire-dependent thymic development of tumor-associated regulatory T cells. *Science* (2013) 339:1219–24. doi:10.1126/science. 1233913
- 82. Scarpino S, Di Napoli A, Stoppacciaro A, Antonelli M, Pilozzi E, Chiarle R, et al. Expression of autoimmune regulator gene (AIRE) and T regulatory cells in human thymomas. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2007) 149:504–12. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2007.03442.x
- Meager A, Peterson P, Willcox N. Hypothetical review: thymic aberrations and type-I interferons; attempts to deduce autoimmunizing mechanisms from unexpected clues in monogenic and paraneoplastic syndromes. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2008) 154:141–51. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2008.03739.x
- 84. Shiono H, Wong YL, Matthews I, Liu JL, Zhang W, Sims G, et al. Spontaneous production of anti-IFN-alpha and anti-IL-12 autoantibodies by thymoma cells from myasthenia gravis patients suggests autoimmunization in the tumor. *Int Immunol* (2003) 15:903–13. doi:10.1093/intimm/ dxg088
- 85. Capalbo D, Mazza C, Giordano R, Improda N, Arvat E, Cervato S, et al. Molecular background and genotype-phenotype correlation in autoimmune-polyendocrinopathycandidiasis-ectodermal-distrophy patients from Campania and in their relatives. J Endocrinol Invest (2012) 35:169–73.
- 86. Cervato S, Mariniello B, Lazzarotto F, Morlin L, Zanchetta R, Radetti G, et al. Evaluation of the autoimmune

regulator (AIRE) gene mutations in a cohort of Italian patients with autoimmune-polyendocrinopathycandidiasis-ectodermal-dystrophy (APECED) and in their relatives. *Clin Endocrinol* (*Oxf*) (2009) **70**:421–8. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2265. 2008.03318.x

- 87. Sediva A, Cihakova D, Lebl J. Immunological findings in patients with autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasisectodermal dystrophy (APECED) and their family members: are heterozygotes subclinically affected? J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab (2002)15:1491-6. doi:10.1515/JPEM.2002.15.9.1491
- Meyer G, Donner H, Herwig J, Bohles H, Usadel KH, Badenhoop K. Screening for an AIRE-1 mutation in patients with Addison's disease, type 1 diabetes, Graves' disease and Hashimoto's thyroiditis as well as in APECED syndrome. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2001) 54:335–8. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2265. 2001.01230.x
- Palma A, Gianchecchi E, Palombi M, Luciano R, DiCarlo P, Crino A, et al. Analysis of the autoimmune regulator gene in patients with autoimmune non-APECED polyendocrinopathies. *Genomics* (2013) **102**:163–8. doi:10.1016/j.ygeno.2013.04.016
- 90. Cervato S, Morlin L, Albergoni MP, Masiero S, Greggio N, Meossi C, et al. AIRE gene mutations and autoantibodies to interferon omega in patients with chronic hypoparathyroidism without APECED. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) (2010) 73:630–6. doi:10.1111/j. 1365-2265.2010.03862.x
- 91. Garcia-Lozano JR, Torres-Agrela B, Montes-Cano MA, Ortiz-Fernandez L, Conde-Jaldon M, Teruel M, et al. Association of the AIRE gene with susceptibility to rheumatoid arthritis in a European

population: a case control study. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2013) **15**:R11. doi:10.1186/ar4141

- 92. Tazi-Ahnini R, McDonagh AJ, Wengraf DA, Lovewell TR, Vasilopoulos Y, Messenger AG, et al. The autoimmune regulator gene (AIRE) is strongly associated with vitiligo. Br J Dermatol (2008) 159:591–6. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2133.2008. 08718.x
- 93. Terao C, Yamada R, Ohmura K, Takahashi M, Kawaguchi T, Kochi Y, et al. The human AIRE gene at chromosome 21q22 is a genetic determinant for the predisposition to rheumatoid arthritis in Japanese population. *Hum Mol Genet* (2011) 20:2680–5. doi:10. 1093/hmg/ddr161

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 24 June 2013; accepted: 17 September 2013; published online: 07 October 2013.

Citation: Arstila TP and Jarva H (2013) Human APECED; a sick thymus syndrome? Front. Immunol. 4:313. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00313

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Arstila and Jarva. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



The many faces of Aire in central tolerance

Martti Laan * and Pärt Peterson

Molecular Pathology, Faculty of Medicine, Institute of Biomedicine and Translational Medicine, Tartu University, Tartu, Estonia

Edited by:

Claudio Pignata, University of Naples Federico II, Italy

Reviewed by:

Yousuke Takahama, University of Tokushima, Japan Mariacarolina Salerno, University of Naples Federico II, Italy

*Correspondence:

Martti Laan, Molecular Pathology Group, Institute of Biomedicine and Translational Medicine, University of Tartu, Biomedicum, Ravila 19, 50414 Tartu, Estonia e-mail: martti.laan@ut.ee Although the role that Autoimmune Regulator (Aire) plays in the induction of central tolerance is well known, the precise cellular and molecular mechanisms are still unclear and debated. In the prevailing view, Aire serves mainly as a direct inducer of tissue-specific antigens. However, there is a growing amount of evidence suggesting that Aire modulates the differentiation program of medullary thymic epithelial cells, which may directly contribute to the negative selection of self-reactive thymocytes. In addition, Aire has been shown to regulate the expression of many intrathymic chemokines that are required for the proper localization of thymocytes and dendritic cells, and thus are potentially important for direct and indirect self-antigen presentation in the thymic medulla. Further, recent evidence suggests that the induction of certain antigen-specific regulatory T-cells that translocate to tumors and peripheral tissues can be Aire dependent and may contribute to tissue-specific tolerance. This review summarizes the current understanding of the effects of Aire on these alternative mechanisms for the induction of Aire-induced central tolerance.

Keywords: Aire, thymus, Hassall's corpuscle, thymic epithelial cells, central tolerance, chemokines, negative selection, epithelial differentiation

The thymus is the primary lymphoid organ involved in thymocyte development and thus plays a central role in establishing immune tolerance (1). During the course of central tolerance induction, single-positive thymocytes are guided from the thymic cortex to the medulla, tested there for reactivity to self-antigens and, if they are self-reactive, either deleted or directed to become regulatory T-cells (Tregs). Impaired clonal deletion or Treg induction can lead to a breakdown of central tolerance and the development of autoimmune diseases.

AIRE DEFICIENCY RESULTS IN AUTOIMMUNITY

An essential molecule in the induction of central tolerance is Autoimmune Regulator (Aire). The *AIRE* gene was identified by positional cloning of a locus linked to a rare disease, Autoimmune-Polyendocrinopathy-Candidiasis-Ectodermal Dystrophy (APECED) (2, 3). This syndrome usually starts during childhood with chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis, which may correlate with autoantibodies to interleukin (IL)-17 and IL-22 (4). The later stages of this disease are characterized by the presence of autoantibodies to multiple self-antigens and lymphocytic infiltration of various endocrine glands, which finally leads to autoimmune endocrine disorders (5, 6). Although the phenotype of Aire-deficient mice is considerably milder than in APECED and is dependent on the genetic background, it is also characterized by autoantibodies and autoimmune infiltrations, and thus resembles the pathological characteristics of APECED patients (7).

AIRE DEFICIENCY RESULTS IN DEFECTIVE NEGATIVE SELECTION

There is strong experimental evidence that Aire deficiency directly results in the defective negative selection of thymocytes. This evidence comes from transgenic mice in which most of the T-cells express T-cell receptors (TCRs) specific for a certain neo-self-antigen, such as hen egg lysosome (HEL). When this transgenic line is crossed with another transgenic line expressing HEL under the rat insulin promoter [i.e., an RIP-HEL mouse expressing HEL in thymic medullary thymic epithelial cells (mTECs) and in the pancreas], the effectiveness of eliminating autoreactive T-cells by negative selection is strictly dependent on the presence of Aire (8). This role in regulating the thymic clonal deletion of autoreactive thymocytes has also been shown for other neo-self-antigens and for different promoters and clearly indicates a role for Aire in negative selection (9, 10).

AIRE IS PREDOMINANTLY EXPRESSED IN MHC CLASS II-HIGH, CD80-HIGH mTECs

Several studies have expanded our knowledge of Aire and illustrate its key role in central tolerance induction. The majority of Aire signal have been shown to come from mTECs, a very specific set of cells in the thymus (11). mTECs are unique because they can express thousands of tissue-specific self-antigens that are presented to developing thymocytes and are thus associated with negative selection (12). The phenomenon, known as promiscuous gene expression, and the role that Aire plays in this process, have been covered in detail by Ucar et al. in this Research Topic of the Frontiers in Immunology. Within mTECs, Aire expression is specifically located in a subpopulation of cells characterized by the surface expression of MHC class II, and the co-stimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86 (13), indicating that, in addition to antigen cross-presentation by dendritic cells (DCs), Aire+ mTECs also have the potential for direct antigen presentation. Within these MHC class II mTECs, Aire localizes in the nuclei, forming discrete dot-like structures that resemble promyelocytic leukemia (PML) nuclear bodies (11, 14). PML bodies have been associated with several activities, including the modulation of chromatin structure, transcriptional control, DNA repair, and antiviral response (15).

In addition to mTECs, some recent studies have also identified the Aire protein in peripheral lymph nodes both in humans as well as mice (16, 17). It has been shown that the peripheral expression of Aire may contribute to the autoimmune phenotype either via its effects on T-cells as well as directly on B-cells (16, 18). Thus, in addition to its major role in the induction of central tolerance, as is covered in this review, Aire is likely to play a role in peripheral tolerance as well, as has been covered in recent reviews (19).

Thus, in summary, it is well established that (1) the insufficient expression of Aire results in autoimmunity in both humans and mice, (2) Aire is required for negative selection, and (3) the MHC class II-high, CD80-high mTEC population is the primary source of Aire. However, the precise mechanisms that link the expression of Aire in the thymus to the effective induction of tolerance, are still widely debated and are summarized in the remainder of this review (**Figure 1**).

AIRE AND TSA EXPRESSION

The role of Aire as a master regulator of tissue-specific antigens (TSA) was first proposed by Anderson et al. (20) and is by far the best studied and established mechanism behind Aire-induced negative selection. It is clear that Aire controls the expression of many TSAs in mTECs and that Aire-dependent expression of these TSAs leads to the negative selection of self-reactive thymocytes. These aspects of Aire have been covered in depth in recent reviews on Aire (21, 22), and also in a review on promiscuous expression by Ucar et al. in this Research Topic of the Frontiers in Immunology. However, there is also accumulating evidence that the impaired expression of TSAs is not the only mechanism behind Aire-induced central tolerance. For example, Aire-deficient mice develop a Sjögren's syndrome-like autoimmune reaction to α -fodrin, which is



FIGURE 1 | Alternative mechanisms of Aire-induced central tolerance. In addition to the well-described roles in tissue-specific antigen (TSA) expression and induction of negative selection Aire has been shown to affect maturation of medullary thymic epithelial cells (mTECs), expression thymic chemokines, and induction of naturally occurring Tregs, which may all contribute to the induction of central tolerance. Other possible mechanisms, such as induction of mTEC apoptosis or disturbances in thymocyte maturation have also been suggested. a self-antigen not regulated by Aire (23). Similarly, Aire-deficient non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice develop autoimmune pancreatitis to isomerase A2, another Aire-independent self-Ag (24). Therefore, it is clear that Aire has an additional effect on T-cell selection independent of its effect on TSA expression. The precise mechanisms responsible for these additional effects of Aire, however, are still unclear and deserve further studies.

AIRE AND mTEC MATURATION

During maturation, mTECs must pass through several developmental stages that are characterized by the expression of a few key proteins that are related to specific functions at that particular stage of development (**Figure 2**). The classical subpopulations are composed in consecutive order of the (1) MHC class II-low, CD80-low, Aire-mTECs, which are considered to be an immature, highly proliferating population, that is already committed to the mTEC lineage; (2) MHC class II-high, CD80-high, Aire-mTECs, a subpopulation that is already capable of expressing



many (Aire-independent) TSAs and directly presenting them to developing thymocytes; and (3) MHC class II-high, CD80-high, Aire+ mTECs. This last cell population consists of matured, postmitotic mTECs that express a wide variety of TSAs, including the ones under control of Aire (25, 26). Until quite recently, it was widely accepted that these post-mitotic Aire+ mTECs represented the final stage of mTEC maturation. More recent data, however, suggest that the maturation of mTECs may extend beyond the Aire+ stage, and Aire in fact may modulate several different aspects of mTEC differentiation. The first indications that Aire may alter mTEC differentiation came from studies by Gillard et al. and Dooley et al., that characterized the staining patterns of UEA1, Keratin (K)-5/K8/K14, and p63 in Aire-deficient thymi. These authors observed changed proportions of stellate versus globular mTECs and more frequent thymic cysts in Aire-deficient thymi. Although these findings were only apparent after careful analysis, and their functional significance is difficult to evaluate, they clearly suggest that the loss of Aire alters the basic parameters that determine mTEC morphology and maturation stage (27, 28). In addition, a study by Milicevic et al. looked at the ultrastructure of mTECs of Aire-deficient mice using electronmicroscopy and found profound changes in all subpopulations of mTECs (29). Rather strikingly, all mTECs in Aire-deficient mice, regardless of their differentiation stage, showed profound ultrastructural changes. These changes were collectively characterized as signs of activation and increased intracellular traffic. Thus, although mTECs classified by either electron-microscopy or functional surface markers are not directly comparable, this ultrastructural study suggested that the effect of Aire on mTEC maturation is not restricted to the final (i.e., Aire+) cells, but rather covers all mTEC subpopulations.

Direct evidence suggesting that mTECs survive and further differentiate after the Aire+ stage originated from recent studies by Yano et al., Nishikawa et al., and Wang et al., all of which used different reporter mice to follow the faith of Aire+ cells (30–32). These studies demonstrated that Aire+ mTECs develop further into MHC class II-low, CD80-low, Aire-mTECs, and thus lose their unique property of direct TSA presentation in parallel with the loss of Aire (31, 32). In addition, the loss of another unique property of Aire+ cells, promiscuous TSA expression, was indicated by the down-regulation of many Aire dependent as well as Aire-independent TSAs in these post-Aire mTECs (32). Instead, post-Aire cells upregulated the expression of keratins and thus came to resemble keratinocytes, at least in terms of the geneexpression pattern (30, 32). Finally, it was shown that the post-Aire cells lose their nuclei and merge to become Hassall's Corpuscles (HC), well known but poorly characterized concentric structures in thymic medullary areas (30, 32). Although the precise function of these structures is unknown, they may have the potential to induce Treg development through expression of TSLP (33). In addition, it has been shown that intrathymic expression of some keratinocyte-specific TSAs, including the expression of the well-known pemphigus-related autoantigens, desmoglein-1 and -3, is clearly restricted to HCs (32, 34-36). Thus, it is plausible that these post-Aire structures contribute to the induction of central tolerance by negative selection of keratinocyte-reactive thymocytes as well as by induction of keratinocyte-specific Tregs.

The lack of Aire seems to block the maturation of mTECs, resulting in the accumulation of MHC class II+, CD80+, truncated Aire+ mTECs, and in a severe reduction in the expression of many keratins and the numbers of HCs (28, 31, 32) (Figure 2). The reduction in the expression of keratinocyte-specific proteins in Aire-deficient thymi involves also desmoglein-3 and results in the altered selection of desmoglein-3-specific T-cells and defective tolerance against desmoglein-3 (37). Thus, it has been formally demonstrated that through its effect on mTEC differentiation, Aire can promote tolerance at least against this specific keratinocyte-related TSA. Whether, and to what extent, the broad effect of Aire on gene expression is regulated through mTEC differentiation rather than direct transcriptional activity, remains to be determined in future studies.

AIRE AND CHEMOKINE EXPRESSION

The negative selection of developing thymocytes is also dependent on coordinated migration through distinct thymic niches, that provides timely interactions with mTECs and DCs (38). Cell–cell contact with TSA-expressing mTECs requires that the positively selected thymocytes migrate from the thymic cortex to the medulla, whereas indirect TSA presentation is likely to be dependent on the physical proximity of thymocytes, mTECs and DCs (39) (**Figure 3**). The ligands of two chemokine receptors, CCR7 and CCR4, have been previously associated with thymocyte migration to the site of negative selection. Both receptors are predominantly expressed on double positive (DP) and single-positive (SP) CD4-thymocytes (40–42), while the ligands for CCR7 and CCR4 are produced predominantly in the thymic



positively selected single-positive thymocytes need to migrate from cortex to medulla. For effective indirect antigen presentation both, the positively selected thymocytes and the DCs, need to migrate to medulla. Only the key chemokines (shown as red particles) known to mediate the migration of single-positive thymocytes or DCs, and also known to be regulated by Aire (shown as vellow dots) are listed.

medulla (40, 41, 43-45). The importance of CCR7 ligands in thymocyte development has been further highlighted in the CCR7deficient mouse, in which the impaired intrathymic migration of thymocytes resulted in a delay of mature T-cell emigration and a leakage of premature T-cells (45). Significantly, a lack of CCR7 caused defective induction of central tolerance and the presence of multiple autoantibodies and autoimmune infiltrations in many peripheral organs, resulting in a phenotype almost identical to that of Aire-deficient mice (46, 47). In turn, the importance of Aire in the regulation of thymic chemokine expression has been reported in many studies. First, microarray analysis of sorted mTECs has demonstrated the down-regulation of several chemokines in the Aire-deficient mouse (10). Second, the effect of Aire on CCR4 and CCR7 ligand expression has been further validated with both the up- and down-regulation of Aire (48, 49). Third, the delay of thymocyte emigration (in a manner similar to that in CCR7-deficient mice) is also present in the Aire-deficient mice (48). Notably, the highest expression of CCR7 ligands, although Aire dependent, occurs in the MHC class IIlow mTECs, i.e., in a population not expressing Aire (48, 50). Further, during mouse ontogeny, CCL21+ (i.e., CCR7 ligandproducing) cells appear after the appearance of Aire+ cells (50). It has therefore been proposed that MHC class II-, CD80-, CCL21+ mTECs represent the post-Aire population (50). However, we have measured the levels of multiple chemokines directly in the post-Aire population in the Aire-reporter mouse, and found a clear down-regulation of all measured chemokines in these post-Aire cells (32). Therefore, although the precise developmental sequence is still clearly under debate, we feel that the MHC class II-, CD80- population prior to the induction of Aire is a more likely source of CCR7 ligands (Figure 2). It remains unclear, however, how the expression of Aire in one cell can influence another mTECs in a less mature stage. In addition to possible direct paracrine signaling from mTEC to mTEC, another possibility involves cross-talk between mTECs and thymocytes, which do not receive all appropriate signals from the mTECs under Aire-deficient situation, resulting in improper signaling from thymocytes back to immature mTECs. This effect of Aire on mTEC maturation and differentiation before and after Aire expression is in agreement with the ultrastructural changes observed during all stages of mTEC development that have been discussed above (29).

In addition to its effect on thymocyte migration, Aire expression in mTECs has been shown to regulate the chemokines responsible for DC migration. Although not characterized in the thymus, peripheral DCs bear the CCR7 receptor, which is required for their proper localization within lymph nodes (51). In addition, it has been shown by Lei et al. that thymic DCs express the receptor for the chemokine XCL1, which is specifically expressed by mTECs in an Aire-dependent fashion, and is required for the proper localization of DCs to the cortico-medullary junction (49). Thus, there is evidence that Aire-dependent chemokines are required for thymocyte and DC migration to the location where antigen (cross)presentation and negative selection are likely to occur (**Figure 3**). In fact, altered cross-presentation in *Aire* KO mice has previously been demonstrated (52), although the roles of specific chemokines in this process are still unclear.

AIRE AND Treg INDUCTION

There is an increasing amount of direct evidence that, in addition to their proposed role in negative selection, mTECs contribute to central tolerance by inducing naturally occurring Tregs (53, 54). Accordingly, since the characterization of an autoimmune phenotype in Aire-deficient mice, a significant number of studies have focused on the potential role of Aire in thymic Treg induction. However, there was no major change in either Treg numbers or function in transgenic models (RIP-HEL, RIP-mOVA), in which the negative selection of neo-self-antigen-specific thymocytes was clearly Aire dependent (8-10). Likewise, the lack of Aire had no major effect on TCR usage by Foxp3+ Tregs, in a study where the effect of Aire on Treg TCR repertoire was assessed in a mouse model with restricted TCR repertoire (55). Thus, initial studies that looked at the total numbers and/or function of Tregs, indicated that defects in central tolerance in Aire-deficient mice are not Treg related. Nevertheless, a recent study showed that Aire expression is required for the intrathymic production of tumor-specific Tregs in a mouse model of oncogene-driven prostate cancer (56), and clearly demonstrated a role for Aire in induction of a specific population of naturally occurring Tregs. Thus, this study demonstrates directly that the key role of Aire in central tolerance is not limited to its effect on negative selection but also includes its effect on thymic Treg induction. Future studies will determine, whether this intriguing effect of Aire extends to a significant pool of TSAspecific Treg induction and, if so, what mechanisms cause this effect.

OTHER PLAUSIBLE MECHANISMS BEHIND AIRE-INDUCED CENTRAL TOLERANCE

There are also a number of studies indicating that in addition to the mechanisms covered above, Aire may influence other basic mechanisms, directly in mTECs or indirectly in other thymic cells which, at least hypothetically, may contribute to defects in negative selection.

Thus, Aire may play a role in the induction of apoptosis, as the over-expression of Aire results in the induction of apoptosis in several *in vitro* cell-lines (25, 57, 58). Based on these data, it has been proposed that the absence of this effect is responsible for the increased numbers of MHC class II+ mTECs observed in Aire-deficient mice and that Aire-induced apoptosis may facilitate the cross-presentation of TSAs expressed by these apoptotic cells to the thymic DCs (25, 28). As the apoptotic processes in the thymus are very dynamic and thus difficult to monitor, this attractive hypothesis has not yet been validated *in vivo*. It is, however, completely plausible that, in addition to the maturation of post-Aire mTECs and HCs, a subpopulation of Aire+ mTECs are directly guided to undergo apoptosis and are then quickly removed by resident macrophages (**Figure 2**).

In addition, a report by Li et al. shows that the development of SP CD4-thymocytes is blocked at the transition from SP3 to SP4 in Aire-deficient mice (59). Although this may be due to imperfect cross-talk between defectively matured Aire-deficient mTECs and developing thymocytes, or to insufficient cell–cell contact as a result of reduced chemokine expression, neither of these possibilities has been formally tested. Additionally, the functional consequences of this phenomenon remain unknown. In summary, although the effects of Aire on central tolerance are well established, the cellular and molecular mechanisms are still unclear. Along with the better-understood effects on TSA expression, Aire can also alter the differentiation program of mTECs, regulate the expression of thymic

REFERENCES

- Gallegos AM, Bevan MJ. Central tolerance: good but imperfect. *Immunol Rev* (2006) 209:290–6. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2006. 00348.x
- Nagamine K, Peterson P, Scott HS, Kudoh J, Minoshima S, Heino M, et al. Positional cloning of the APECED gene. *Nat Genet* (1997) 17(4):393–8. doi:10.1038/ng1297-393
- Consortium FG-A. An autoimmune disease, APECED, caused by mutations in a novel gene featuring two PHD-type zinc-finger domains. *Nat Genet* (1997) 17(4):399–403. doi: 10.1038/ng1297-399
- Kisand K, Bøe Wolff AS, Podkrajsek KT, Tserel L, Link M, Kisand KV, et al. Chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis in APECED or thymoma patients correlates with autoimmunity to Th17-associated cytokines. *J Exp Med* (2010) **207**(2):299–308. doi:10.1084/jem.20091669
- 5. Perheentupa J. Autoimmune polyendocrinopathycandidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2006) **91**(8):2843–50. doi:10.1210/jc.2005-2611
- Peterson P, Peltonen L. Autoimmune polyendocrinopathy syndrome type 1 (APS1) and AIRE gene: new views on molecular basis of autoimmunity. J Autoimmun (2005) 25(Suppl):49–55. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2005.09.022
- Venanzi ES, Melamed R, Mathis D, Benoist C. The variable immunological self: genetic variation and nongenetic noise in Aire-regulated transcription. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U SA* (2008) **105**(41):15860–5. doi:10. 1073/pnas.0808070105
- Liston A, Lesage S, Wilson J, Peltonen L, Goodnow CC. Aire regulates negative selection of organspecific T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4(4):350–4. doi:10.1038/ni906
- Liston A, Gray DH, Lesage S, Fletcher AL, Wilson J, Webster KE, et al. Gene dosage – limiting role of Aire in thymic expression, clonal deletion, and organ-specific autoimmunity. J Exp Med (2004) 200(8):1015–26. doi:10.1084/jem. 20040581
- Anderson MS, Venanzi ES, Chen Z, Berzins SP, Benoist C, Mathis D. The cellular mechanism of Aire

control of T cell tolerance. *Immunity* (2005) **23**(2):227–39. doi:10. 1016/j.immuni.2005.07.005

- 11. Heino M, Peterson P, Kudoh J, Nagamine K, Lagerstedt A, Ovod V, et al. Autoimmune regulator is expressed in the cells regulating immune tolerance in thymus medulla. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1999) **257**(3):821–5. doi:10. 1006/bbrc.1999.0308
- Kyewski B, Derbinski J, Gotter J, Klein L. Promiscuous gene expression and central T-cell tolerance: more than meets the eye. *Trends Immunol* (2002) 23(7):364–71. doi: 10.1016/S1471-4906(02)02248-2
- Derbinski J, Gäbler J, Brors B, Tierling S, Jonnakuty S, Hergenhahn M, et al. Promiscuous gene expression in thymic epithelial cells is regulated at multiple levels. *J Exp Med* (2005) **202**(1):33–45. doi:10.1084/ jem.20050471
- Björses P, Pelto-Huikko M, Kaukonen J, Aaltonen J, Peltonen L, Ulmanen I. Localization of the APECED protein in distinct nuclear structures. *Hum Mol Genet* (1999) 8(2):259–66. doi:10.1093/hmg/8.2. 259
- Everett RD, Chelbi-Alix MK. PML and PML nuclear bodies: implications in antiviral defence. *Biochimie* (2007) 89(6–7):819–30. doi:10.1016/j.biochi.2007.01.004
- Gardner JM, Devoss JJ, Friedman RS, Wong DJ, Tan YX, Zhou X, et al. Deletional tolerance mediated by extrathymic Aire-expressing cells. *Science* (2008) **321**(5890):843–7. doi:10.1126/science.1159407
- Poliani PL, Kisand K, Marrella V, Ravanini M, Notarangelo LD, Villa A, et al. Human peripheral lymphoid tissues contain autoimmune regulator-expressing dendritic cells. *Am J Pathol* (2010) 176(3):1104–12. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2010.090956
- Lindh E, Lind SM, Lindmark E, Hässler S, Perheentupa J, Peltonen L, et al. AIRE regulates Tcell-independent B-cell responses through BAFF. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A (2008) **105**(47):18466–71. doi:10.1073/pnas.0808205105
- Metzger TC, Anderson MS. Control of central and peripheral tolerance by Aire. *Immunol Rev* (2011) 241(1):89–103. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01008.x

chemokines, contribute to specific Treg induction, and induce mTEC apoptosis. It remains to be determined, however, what extent these alternative mechanisms contribute to the autoimmune phenotype observed in Aire-deficient mice and APECED patients.

- 20. Anderson MS, Venanzi ES, Klein L, Chen Z, Berzins SP, Turley SJ, et al. Projection of an immunological self shadow within the thymus by the aire protein. *Science* (2002) **298**(5597):1395–401. doi:10. 1126/science.1075958
- Peterson P, Org T, Rebane A. Transcriptional regulation by AIRE: molecular mechanisms of central tolerance. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2008) 8(12):948–57. doi:10.1038/ nri2450
- 22. Mathis D, Benoist C. Aire. Annu Rev Immunol (2009) **27**:287–312. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.25. 022106.141532
- 23. Kuroda N, Mitani T, Takeda N, Ishimaru N, Arakaki R, Hayashi Y, et al. Development of autoimmunity against transcriptionally unrepressed target antigen in the thymus of Aire-deficient mice. *J Immunol* (2005) **174**(4):1862–70.
- 24. Niki S, Oshikawa K, Mouri Y, Hirota F, Matsushima A, Yano M, et al. Alteration of intra-pancreatic target-organ specificity by abrogation of Aire in NOD mice. *J Clin Invest* (2006) **116**(5):1292–301. doi: 10.1172/JCI26971
- 25. Gray D, Abramson J, Benoist C, Mathis D. Proliferative arrest and rapid turnover of thymic epithelial cells expressing Aire. J Exp Med (2007) 204(11):2521–8. doi:10. 1084/jem.20070795
- 26. Rossi SW, Kim MY, Leibbrandt A, Parnell SM, Jenkinson WE, Glanville SH, et al. RANK signals from CD4(+)3(-) inducer cells regulate development of Aireexpressing epithelial cells in the thymic medulla. *J Exp Med* (2007) 204(6):1267–72. doi:10.1084/jem. 20062497
- Gillard GO, Dooley J, Erickson M, Peltonen L, Farr AG. Airedependent alterations in medullary thymic epithelium indicate a role for Aire in thymic epithelial differentiation. *J Immunol* (2007) 178(5):3007–15.
- Dooley J, Erickson M, Farr AG. Alterations of the medullary epithelial compartment in the Airedeficient thymus: implications for programs of thymic epithelial differentiation. *J Immunol* (2008) 181(8):5225–32.
- 29. Milicevic Z, Milicevic NM, Laan M, Peterson P, Kisand K,

Scott HS, et al. Ultrastructure of medullary thymic epithelial cells of autoimmune regulator (Aire)-deficient mice. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2010) **88**(1):50–6. doi:10.1038/icb.2009.55

- 30. Yano M, Kuroda N, Han H, Meguro-Horike M, Nishikawa Y, Kiyonari H, et al. Aire controls the differentiation program of thymic epithelial cells in the medulla for the establishment of self-tolerance. *J Exp Med* (2008) **205**(12):2827–38. doi:10.1084/jem. 20080046
- 31. Nishikawa Y, Hirota F, Yano M, Kitajima H, Miyazaki J, Kawamoto H, et al. Biphasic Aire expression in early embryos and in medullary thymic epithelial cells before end-stage terminal differentiation. J Exp Med (2010) 207(5):963–71. doi:10.1084/ jem.20092144
- 32. Wang X, Laan M, Bichele R, Kisand K, Scott HS, Peterson P. Post-Aire maturation of thymic medullary epithelial cells involves selective expression of keratinocyte-specific autoantigens. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:19. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00019
- 33. Watanabe N, Wang YH, Lee HK, Ito T, Cao W, Liu YJ. Hassall's corpuscles instruct dendritic cells to induce CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in human thymus. *Nature* (2005) 436(7054):1181–5. doi:10. 1038/nature03886
- 34. Nuber UA, Schäfer S, Stehr S, Rackwitz HR, Franke WW. Patterns of desmocollin synthesis in human epithelia: immunolocalization of desmocollins 1 and 3 in special epithelia and in cultured cells. *Eur J Cell Biol* (1996) 71(1):1–13.
- Bodey B, Siegel SE, Kaiser HE. Novel insights into the function of the thymic Hassall's bodies. *In vivo* (2000) 14(3):407–18.
- Hale LP, Markert ML. Corticosteroids regulate epithelial cell differentiation and Hassall body formation in the human thymus. *J Immunol* (2004) 172(1):617–24.
- 37. Wada N, Nishifuji K, Yamada T, Kudoh J, Shimizu N, Matsumoto M, et al. Aire-dependent thymic expression of desmoglein 3, the autoantigen in pemphigus vulgaris, and its role in T-cell tolerance. *J Invest Dermatol* (2011) **131**(2):410–7. doi:10. 1038/jid.2010.330

- Takahama Y. Journey through the thymus: stromal guides for T-cell development and selection. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2006) 6(2):127–35. doi: 10.1038/nri1781
- Derbinski J, Kyewski B. How thymic antigen presenting cells sample the body's self-antigens. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2010) 22(5):592–600. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2010.08.003
- 40. Chantry D, Romagnani P, Raport CJ, Wood CL, Epp A, Romagnani S, et al. Macrophage-derived chemokine is localized to thymic medullary epithelial cells and is a chemoattractant for CD3(+), CD4(+), CD8(low) thymocytes. Blood (1999) 94(6):1890–8.
- 41. Annunziato F, Romagnani P, Cosmi L, Beltrame C, Steiner BH, Lazzeri E, et al. Macrophage-derived chemokine and EBI1-ligand chemokine attract human thymocytes in different stage of development and are produced by distinct subsets of medullary epithelial cells: possible implications for negative selection. J Immunol (2000) 165(1):238-46.
- Campbell JJ, Pan J, Butcher EC. Cutting edge: developmental switches in chemokine responses during T cell maturation. *J Immunol* (1999) 163(5):2353–7.
- 43. Alferink J, Lieberam I, Reindl W, Behrens A, Weiss S, Hüser N, et al. Compartmentalized production of CCL17 in vivo: strong inducibility in peripheral dendritic cells contrasts selective absence from the spleen. J Exp Med (2003) 197(5):585–99. doi:10.1084/ jem.20021859
- 44. Ueno T, Hara K, Willis MS, Malin MA, Höpken UE, Gray DH, et al. Role for CCR7 ligands in the emigration of newly generated T lymphocytes from the neonatal thymus. *Immunity* (2002)

16(2):205–18. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00267-4

- Ueno T, Saito F, Gray DH, Kuse S, Hieshima K, Nakano H, et al. CCR7 signals are essential for cortex-medulla migration of developing thymocytes. *J Exp Med* (2004) 200(4):493–505. doi:10.1084/jem. 20040643
- 46. Kurobe H, Liu C, Ueno T, Saito F, Ohigashi I, Seach N, et al. CCR7-dependent cortex-tomedulla migration of positively selected thymocytes is essential for establishing central tolerance. *Immunity* (2006) 24(2):165–77. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2005.12.011
- 47. Davalos-Misslitz AC, Rieckenberg J, Willenzon S, Worbs T, Kremmer E, Bernhardt G, et al. Generalized multi-organ autoimmunity in CCR7-deficient mice. *Eur J Immunol* (2007) **37**(3):613–22. doi: 10.1002/eji.200636656
- 48. Laan M, Kisand K, Kont V, Möll K, Tserel L, Scott HS, et al. Autoimmune regulator deficiency results in decreased expression of CCR4 and CCR7 ligands and in delayed migration of CD4+ thymocytes. J Immunol (2009) 183(12):7682–91. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0804133
- 49. Lei Y, Ripen AM, Ishimaru N, Ohigashi I, Nagasawa T, Jeker LT, et al. Aire-dependent production of XCL1 mediates medullary accumulation of thymic dendritic cells and contributes to regulatory T cell development. J Exp Med (2011) 208(2):383–94. doi:10.1084/ jem.20102327
- 50. Lkhagvasuren E, Sakata M, Ohigashi I, Takahama Y. Lymphotoxin β receptor regulates the development of CCL21expressing subset of postnatal medullary thymic epithelial cells. *J Immunol* (2013) **190**(10):5110–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1203203

- Förster R, Davalos-Misslitz AC, Rot A. CCR7 and its ligands: balancing immunity and tolerance. Nat Rev Immunol (2008) 8(5):362–71. doi:10.1038/nri2297
- Hubert FX, Kinkel SA, Davey GM, Phipson B, Mueller SN, Liston A, et al. Aire regulates the transfer of antigen from mTECs to dendritic cells for induction of thymic tolerance. *Blood* (2011) 118(9):2462–72. doi:10.1182/ blood-2010-06-286393
- 53. Aschenbrenner K, D'Cruz LM, Vollmann EH, Hinterberger M, Emmerich J, Swee LK, et al. Selection of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells specific for self antigen expressed and presented by Aire+ medullary thymic epithelial cells. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8(4):351–8. doi:10.1038/ni1444
- 54. Hinterberger M, Aichinger M, Prazeres da Costa O, Voehringer D, Hoffmann R, Klein L. Autonomous role of medullary thymic epithelial cells in central CD4(+) T cell tolerance. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11(6):512–9. doi:10.1038/ni.1874
- Daniely D, Kern J, Cebula A, Ignatowicz L. Diversity of TCRs on natural Foxp3+ T cells in mice lacking Aire expression. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(12):6865–73. doi:10. 4049/jimmunol.0903609
- 56. Malchow S, Leventhal DS, Nishi S, Fischer BI, Shen L, Paner GP, et al. Aire-dependent thymic development of tumorassociated regulatory T cells. *Science* (2013) 339(6124):1219–24. doi:10.1126/science.1233913
- 57. Colomé N, Collado J, Bech-Serra JJ, Liiv I, Antón LC, Peterson P, et al. Increased apoptosis after autoimmune regulator expression in epithelial cells revealed by a combined quantitative proteomics approach. J Proteome Res

(2010) **9**(5):2600–9. doi:10.1021/ pr100044d

- 58. Liiv I, Haljasorg U, Kisand K, Maslovskaja J, Laan M, Peterson P. AIRE-induced apoptosis is associated with nuclear translocation of stress sensor protein GAPDH. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2012) **423**(1):32–7. doi:10. 1016/j.bbrc.2012.05.057
- 59. Li J, Li Y, Yao JY, Jin R, Zhu MZ, Qian XP, et al. Developmental pathway of CD4+CD8- medullary thymocytes during mouse ontogeny and its defect in Aire-/- mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) **104**(46):18175–80. doi:10. 1073/pnas.0708884104

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 20 June 2013; accepted: 24 September 2013; published online: 11 October 2013.

Citation: Laan M and Peterson P (2013) The many faces of Aire in central tolerance. Front. Immunol. 4:326. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00326

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Laan and Peterson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



APECED: a paradigm of complex interactions between genetic background and susceptibility factors

Lucia De Martino[†], Donatella Capalbo[†], Nicola Improda, Federica D´Elia, Raffaella Di Mase, Roberta D´Assante, Ida D´Acunzo, Claudio Pignata and Mariacarolina Salerno*

Pediatric Section, Department of Translational Medical Sciences, "Federico II" University, Naples, Italy

Edited by:

Ana E. Sousa, Universidade de Lisboa, Portugal

Reviewed by:

Masanobu Satake, Tohoku University, Japan Koji Yasutomo, University of Tokushima, Japan

*Correspondence:

Mariacarolina Salerno, Pediatric Endocrinology Unit, Department of Translational Medical Sciences, "Federico II" University, Street Sergio Pansini 5, Naples 80131, Italy e-mail: salerno@unina.it

[†]Lucia De Martino and Donatella Capalbo have contributed equally to this work.

Autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy (APECED) is a rare autosomal recessive disease, caused by mutations of a single gene named Autoimmune regulator gene (AIRE) which results in a failure of T-cell tolerance. Central tolerance takes place within the thymus and represents the mechanism by which potentially auto-reactive T-cells are eliminated through the negative selection process. The expression of tissuespecific antigens (TSAs) by medullary thymic epithelial cells (mTECs) in the thymus is a key process in the central tolerance and is driven by the protein encoded by AIRE gene, the transcription factor autoimmune regulator (AIRE). A failure in this process caused by AIRE mutations is thought to be responsible of the systemic autoimmune reactions of APECED. APECED is characterized by several autoimmune endocrine and non-endocrine manifestations and the phenotype is often complex. Although APECED is the paradigm of a monogenic autoimmune disorder, it is characterized by a wide variability of the clinical expression even between siblings with the same genotype, thus implying that additional mechanisms, other than the failure of Aire function, are involved in the pathogenesis of the disease. Unraveling open issues of the molecular basis of APECED, will help improve diagnosis, management, and therapeutical strategies of this complex disease.

Keywords: autoimmune polyglandular syndrome type 1, APECED, autoimmune regulator gene, phenotypic variability, tolerance

INTRODUCTION

Autoimmune Polyglandular Syndrome Type 1 (APS-1), also called Autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy (APECED), is a rare autosomal recessive disease caused by mutations of the autoimmune regulator gene (AIRE). Immuno-logically, APECED is characterized by destruction of the target organs by a cellular- and/or antibody-mediated attack (1). In the past decade, much interest has been focused on the pathogenesis of this syndrome. Indeed, APECED represents a paradigm of genetically determined systemic autoimmunity. However, the great variability that characterizes APECED, irrespectively of the AIRE genotype, implies that several factors are involved in the disease phenotypic expression.

In this review, we will focus on the complex pathogenesis of APECED and on the potential interfering factors involved in the clinical expression of the disease.

THE BASIS OF THE IMMUNOLOGICAL TOLERANCE

Tolerance represents a state of immunologic non-responsiveness in the presence of a particular antigen. In this context, T-cell tolerance is crucial for the creation of a proper T-cell repertoire, able to respond to a huge number of foreign antigens, but preventing autoimmune reactions. Imposition and regulation of self-tolerance within the T-cell repertoire is exerted at two levels: (1) central tolerance (development and selection of T-cells in the thymus) and (2) peripheral tolerance (deletion, anergy of mature T-cells in lymphoid and non-lymphoid organs) (2).

T-cell central tolerance, established within the thymus, mostly relies on two main mechanisms: negative selection, also referred to as clonal deletion of maturing thymocytes and positive selection of maturing T-cells able to bind to a surface major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecule with mild threshold of reactivity (Figure 1). The thymus provides the necessary environment for thymopoiesis and establishment and maintenance of self-tolerance (3-5). Thymus contains thymic epithelial cells (TECs) that form a complex three-dimensional network organized in cortical and medullary compartments (6). On entering the thymus, immature thymocytes promote the differentiation of precursor thymic epithelial cells (pTECs) into cortical TECs (cTECs) and medullary TECs (mTECs), playing an important role in the formation of the thymic microenvironment (7-9). During postnatal life, hematopoietic progenitors enter the thymus from the bloodstream (10) and cells committed to the T lineage undergo division, mostly within the double-negative (DN) stage of the Tcell development. The first checkpoint is the rearrangement of T-cell receptor (TCR) β and α locus. Expression of $\alpha\beta$ TCR heterodimers on the cell surface allows DN thymocytes to progress to the double-positive (DP) CD4+CD8+ stage. At DP stage, the TCR affinity for self-peptide-MHC on mTECs within the thymus determines thymocyte's fate. mTECs express a wide array of tissuespecific antigens (TSAs) in the context of MHC class II molecules; these TSAs include self-proteins derived from different organs in the body. DP thymocytes expressing TCRs that do not bind selfpeptide-MHC complexes are programed to undergo "death by



neglect" or apoptosis. Only about 5% of DP has a low affinity for self-peptide-MHC complexes and differentiate to CD4+CD8- or CD4-CD8+ single positive (SP) lineage (positive selection) (11-13). DP thymocytes with high-affinity TCR for MHC complexes represent a potential reservoir of auto-reactive lymphocytes and "clonal deletion" (negative selection) is the main mechanism in the thymus to preserve self-tolerance (14, 15). Compelling evidence indicates that an altered promiscuous thymic expression of TSAs leads to autoimmunity. In the autoimmune attack, T helper cells (Th) escaped to self-tolerance, produce pro-inflammatory cytokines able to begin inflammation and activate auto-reactive B-cells, resulting in autoantibodies production, which lead to tissue inflammation and damage (1). Some of the thymocytes that recognize self-peptide-MHC complexes with high-affinity express Foxp3 and through "clonal diversion" mature as regulatory Tcells (Tregs), which are able to suppress auto-reactive T-cells in the periphery (16–18). The central tolerance is not able alone to completely remove mature T-cells with self-antigens specificity, therefore additional mechanisms in the periphery are also needed to maintain immunological tolerance.

The peripheral tolerance recognizes as possible mechanisms the induction of functional anergy, deletion of auto-reactive clones, and the suppressive action of T-regulatory cells (Tregs). Anergy is a state of long-term hyporesponsiveness with inactivation of self-reactive T-cells in the presence of a TCR signal but in the absence of a second costimulatory signal, necessary to T-cell activation. Deletion of self-reactive lymphocytes is achieved in both the thymus and the periphery by apoptosis through interaction of Fas/FasL. The function of Tregs (Foxp3-expressing CD4 T-cells) is to suppress immune responses through numerous mechanisms

including the production of anti-inflammatory cytokines, direct cell–cell contact, and by modulating the activation state and function of antigen-presenting cell (APC) (19). An additional mechanism involved in controlling reactivity to self in the periphery is NK cell activity.

AIRE AND THE MAINTENANCE OF IMMUNOLOGICAL TOLERANCE

Autoimmune regulator gene encodes for a transcription factor (Aire) involved in the maintenance of tolerance. In humans, the AIRE gene maps to chromosome 21q22.3 (20, 21). It consists of 14 exons spanning 11.9 kb of genomic DNA (22) and encodes a 545 amino acid protein with a molecular weight of 58 kDa that works as a "non-classical" transcriptional factor in immune-related organs. The highest level of AIRE expression has been detected within the thymus (23) in mTECs, followed by thymic dendritic cells (DCs). In addition to the thymus, low level of Aire seems to be expressed in secondary lymphoid organs, such as lymph nodes, fetal liver, and spleen (24, 25). The Aire protein, mostly localized in the cell nucleus, is composed by specific domains including the aminoterminal HSR domain, the nuclear localization signal (NLS), the Sp100, AIRE1, nucP41/75, DEAF 1 (SAND) domain, two plant homeodomain (PHD) type zinc fingers, and four LXXLL motifs (26) (Figure 2). The HSR region has been shown to be responsible for the dimerization of the polypeptides belonging to the Sp100 protein family (27). The SAND domain is important for AIRE transactivation capacity and subcellular localization. The PHD zinc fingers are often found in proteins involved in the regulation of transcription (28). The LXXLL motifs are found on coactivators nuclear receptors and proline-rich regions (PRR) and are also



associated to transcription regulation (29). Although the precise molecular mechanism is still unclear, Aire seems to regulate the transcription process acting as a coactivator in a large transcriptional complex (30), and interacting with a large set of partners, divided into four main classes based on their function: nuclear transport, chromatin binding/structure, transcription, and premRNA processing factors (31). The first protein reported to bind to AIRE was CREB-binding protein (CBP) (32). Its interaction with AIRE may lead to promotion of gene transcription through histone acetylation and the recruitment of chromatin-transcription factors (33). Other AIRE partners have been identified, such as DNA protein kinase (DNA-PK), SP-RING domain protein inhibitor of activated STAT1 (PIAS1), positive transcription elongation factor b (P-TEFb) (34–36). Moreover, it has been proposed a possible epigenetic control of the AIRE target genes since AIRE's PHD1 finger domain appears to be able to bind histone three molecules with unmethylated lysine at position 4, generally associated with repressed genes (37). Overall, it is possible that Aire mediates the expression of TSA in mTECs through its co-transcriptional partners (38). The intriguing question is how the AIRE gene alone can influence the transcription of such a large number of TSA genes. Indeed, two models have been suggested to explain the action of Aire: transcription model and maturation model. In the transcription model, TSAs are considered to be the direct target genes of Aire's transcriptional activity and the lack of Aire protein within the cell would result in the defective TSA gene expression, while the maturation program of mTECs would be in principle unaffected. The maturation model suggests that Aire may affect the thymic microenvironment more globally than through simple control of TSA expression levels. Consequently, in keeping with the latest model the regulation of TSA gene expression might not be the major defect of Aire-deficient mTECs responsible for impaired negative selection (39).

Although the exact role of AIRE in controlling T-cell tolerance is still largely unclear, several mechanisms have been suggested. Functional alterations of AIRE may affect processing and/or

presentation of self-antigens within the mTECs (40). The process of thymocyte maturation (41), the attraction of mature thymocytes to their final location for a proper negative selection (40, 42), the control of cross-presentation through alteration of the relationship between APCs and mTECs (43) may also represent potential mechanisms by which AIRE alterations may lead to functional abnormalities of the central tolerance. The alteration in the balance between negative selection and regulatory T-cell production (44) may also be implicated in the pathogenesis. In addition, Aire may also play a role in the proper differentiation of the thymic medullary epithelium, in the induction of apoptosis in end-stage terminally differentiated mTECs (39) as well as in mTECs' differentiation program. In particular, evidence suggests that lack of Aire in mTECs results in an arrest of the differentiation program, with the cells remaining at the premature stage just before terminal differentiation (45, 46).

THE CLINICAL COUNTERPART OF AIRE MUTATION: APECED GENETIC BACKGROUND

Mutations in AIRE gene result in development of APECED, which represents the paradigm of a genetically determined failure of central tolerance leading to autoimmunity (46). APECED is a rare autoimmune syndrome, but it has been reported worldwide showing a relatively higher prevalence in genetically isolated populations such as Iranian Jews (1:9,000) (47), Finns (1:25,000) (48, 49), and Sardinians (1:14,400) (50). It is also quite frequent in Norway (1:90,000) (51) and in some regions of Italy (52-55). The most frequent model of inheritance is autosomal recessive, even though a dominant pattern has also been sporadically reported (56). So far, over 70 different mutations of AIRE have been documented (2). Due to the molecular organization and the complexity of intermolecular connection of Aire, it would be expected that different mutation in the molecule might imply different functional abnormalities, thus being associated with a variable phenotypic expression. Single nucleotide substitutions, small insertions, deletions, and mutations affecting splice consensus sequences have been identified along the entire coding region, and include either nonsense or frameshift mutations that result in truncated polypeptides, or missense mutations that result in single amino acid-changing (27). Most of these AIRE mutations lead to a change in its subcellular location altering the distribution of the protein between the nucleus and cytoplasm (27). Mutations of the predicted surface area of the HSR domain cause the protein accumulation in the nucleus blocking its cytoplasmic localization probably enhancing nuclear import or inhibiting nuclear export (57). Mutations of the SAND domain disturb the distribution of Aire between the nucleus and cytoplasm suggesting a role for the SAND domain in nuclear transport mechanisms (57). Moreover, since the six helix CARD domain is involved in homodimerization, missense mutations in this region often affect Aire multimerization or localization to nuclear bodies (58) while most of the missense mutations in PHD domains alter the zinc-finger fold and decrease Aire's transcriptional activation capacity (38).

Some different mutations have been found to be peculiar to certain populations. R257X is the most common mutation among Finnish and other European patients (59-61). R257X is a nonsense mutation, which most probably results in a carboxy-terminally truncated, non-functional Aire protein leading to alterated subcellular localization and inhibition of the transactivation function and complex formation of Aire (27). The 1094–1106 del113 (or 967–979 del-13 bp) is the most common mutation in British (62), Irish (63), North American (64, 65), and Norwegian patients (51) leading to the truncation and loss of function of Aire. Y85C is the only missense mutation found among Iranian Jews (57). In Italy, typical mutations of AIRE have been detected in Sardinia (R139X on exon 3) (50, 54), where this nonsense mutation leads to a total absence of Aire and seems to be associated with a more severe phenotype. In Apulia, the missense mutation W78R on exon 2, and the nonsense mutation Q358X on exon 9 have been found. The mutation Q358X lies in the PRR resulting in a truncated protein which lacks the second PHD finger and thereby is most likely non-functional protein (53). In Sicily, the most frequent mutation is R203X on exon 5, and two novel mutations, S107C and Q108fs on exon 3, have been detected. The mutation S107C is a missense mutation, whilst Q108fs is a small deletion, both affecting the HSR domain of Aire protein and it is likely that the Aire protein loses its homodimerization properties (66, 67). In Venetian patients, the most frequent mutations are R257X on exon 6 and 979 del-13 bp on exon 8, that are analogous to those detected in Finnish and Anglo-saxon patients but different from Italian ones (55). No typical mutations have been identified neither in Calabria nor in Campania (52, 68) even though patients from Campania show a high frequency of mutations in the exon/intron 1 junction. Compared to other mutations, the R257X results in a total loss of function, whereas the less dramatic truncations of the AIRE protein and many missense mutations, especially the predicted surface mutations of the HSR domain and the mutations in the leucine zipper domain, seem to exert less severe effects on the function of the Aire protein (27). Therefore, despite considerable variations in the APECED genotype, correlations with specific phenotypic features are far from being well elucidated. Only in patients affected with Candida infection, a correlation has been proved. In fact, candidiasis was significantly less prevalent in patients homozygous for

967–979del-13bp than in patients carrying the R257X or R139X, suggesting that AIRE truncation upstream the SAND domain promotes the susceptibility to this infection (69).

DIAGNOSIS OF APECED

The onset of APECED usually occurs during childhood. The clinical diagnosis is based on the presence of two of the three classical components: chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis (CMC), chronic hypoparathyroidism (CH), and Addison's disease (AD). The presence of only one of these features is sufficient for the diagnosis, when a sibling is affected. Molecular analysis of AIRE may help to confirm the clinical diagnosis, in particular in those cases with an atypical presentation (70,71). Neutralizing autoantibodies against IFN- ω and IFN- α may represent a precocious biomarker detectable in the majority of patients and, thus they have been recently included in the diagnostic criteria of APECED (72).

CLINICAL EXPRESSION, AUTOANTIBODIES PROFILE, AND SUSCEPTIBILITY FACTORS

APECED is characterized by a highly variable pattern of destructive autoimmune reaction, mainly mediated by specific autoantibodies toward different endocrine and non-endocrine organs. Virtually, all tissues and organs may represent the target of the autoimmune attacks, thus leading to a wide spectrum of clinical features. As already mentioned, the three main components of APECED are CMC, CH, and AD. CMC is, generally, the first component to develop, often followed by CH, before the age of 10 years and later by adrenal insufficiency (73, 74). In addition to the main components, the spectrum of minor manifestations may include ectodermal dystrophy, other endocrinopathies, such as hypergonadotripic hypogonadism, insulin-dependent diabetes, autoimmune thyroiditis, and pituitary dysfunction. Moreover, gastrointestinal disorders (chronic atrophic gastritis, pernicious anemia, malabsorption, autoimmune hepatitis and cholelithiasis), skin diseases (vitiligo and alopecia), keratoconjunctivitis, immunological defects, asplenia may be present (70). More rare manifestations of the disease include immune-mediated central and peripheral neurological manifestations, such as chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (54) and posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome (PRES) (75), tubulointerstitial nephritis, autoimmune bronchiolitis, reversible metaphyseal dysplasia, hypokalemia, and hypertension (72).

The majority of APECED components have been correlated with specific autoantibodies that may represent an useful tool for the diagnosis and the follow-up of patients (**Table 1**). Autoantibodies' profile may parallel clinical expression even though a strong correlation with the phenotype and the severity of the disease is not always present. Indeed, only some autoantibodies are highly predictive of specific organ's failure, being detectable years before the onset of the overt clinical manifestations.

APCED-related CMC has been associated with the presence of specific autoantibodies against the Th17-related cytokines interleukin- (IL-) 22 and IL-17F (76, 77). A parathyroidspecific autoantigen called NACHT leucine-rich-repeat protein 5 (NALP5), which is expressed in the cytoplasm of the main cell type in the parathyroid glands (78), has been recently proposed as the immunological hallmark of APECED-related CH.

Table 1 Clinical counter part of autoantibodies profile in APECED
[modified by Capalbo et al. (73)].

Clinical features	Autoantibodies				
СМС	Abs against IL-22, IL-17F, and myosin-9				
ENDOCRINE MANIFESTATIONS					
HP	Abs against NALP5				
AD	Abs against CYP21, CYP11A1, CYP17				
Ovarian failure	Ab against CYP11A1, CYP17, and NALP5				
Type 1 diabetes	Ab against IA-2 and insulin				
Autoimmune thyroiditis	Ab against TPO and Tg				
NON-ENDOCRINE MANIFESTATIONS					
Ectodermal manifestations					
Vitiligo	Abs against Melanocytes, SOX-9,				
	SOX-10, and AADC				
Alopecia	Abs against TH				
Gastrointestinal manifestations					
Autoimmune gastritis/ pernicious anemia	Abs against parietal cells and IF				
Autoimmune hepatitis	Abs against CYP-1A2, CYP-2A6, AADC,				
	and TPH				
Autoimmune enteropathy	Abs against TPH, HD, and GAD				
Rare manifestations					
Pulmonary disease	Abs against KCNRG				
Demyelinating polyneuropathy	Abs against myelin protein zero				
Tubular interstitial nephritis	Abs against proximal tubule				
Non-organ specific Abs	Abs against IFN- α and IFN- ω				

Abs, autoantibodies; IL-17F, interleukin 17F; IL-22, interleukin 22; NALP5, NACHT leucine-rich-repeat protein 5; CYP21, 21-hydroxylase; CYP11A1, cholesterol side-chain cleavage enzyme; CYP17, 17- α -hydroxylase; IA-2, tyrosine phosphatase-like protein; TPO, thyroid peroxidase; Tg, thyroglobulin; AADC, aromatic l-amino acid decarboxylase; TH, tyrosine hydroxylase; IF, intrinsic factor; TPH, tryptophan hydroxylase; HD, histidine decarboxylase; GAD, glutamic acid decarboxylase; CYP-1A2, cytochrome P450 1A2; CYP-2A6, cytochrome P450 2A6; KCNRG, potassium channel-regulating protein; IFN- α , interferon α ; IFN- ω , interferon ω .

Antibodies against the enzyme 21-hydroxylase (CYP21) are strongly associated and highly predictive for the development of AD in patients with CH and/or CMC (79, 80). Steroidogenic enzymes such as Cholesterol side-chain cleavage enzyme (CYP11A1) and 17a-hydroxylase/17,20-lyase (CYP17) represent a further targets of autoimmune reaction against adrenal cortex, moreover they are highly correlated with ovarian insufficiency due to lymphocytic oophoritis and can precede the clinical onset of the component (81, 82). Autoimmune gastritis is associated with the presence of autoantibodies against parietal cells and intrinsic factor (IF), the latter being involved in the development of pernicious anemia (83). The presence of autoantibodies against tryptophan hydroxylase (TPH), an enzyme involved in the synthesis of neurotransmitters in the nervous system and in the gastrointestinal endocrine cells correlates with Autoimmune enteropathy (84-87). Moreover, autoantibodies against both histidine decarboxylase (HD), an enzyme expressed in entero-chromaffin-like cells, and

GAD (88, 89) have been associated with an autoimmune intestinal involvement. AH is mainly associated with the presence of autoantibodies against cytochrome P4501A2 (CYP-1A2), CYP-2A6, and aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase (AADC), even though other types of autoantibodies, such as those directed against TPH, have been correlated with the AH component of the APECED phenotype (54, 90–92). Complement-fixing melanocyte autoantibodies and antibodies against transcription factors SOX-9, SOX-10, and AADC (83, 89) and tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) strongly correlate with the presence of vitiligo and alopecia (72, 83). Recently, several reports have confirmed an important role of autoantibodies against IFN- α and IFN- ω , which, although not tissue-specific, have been detected in the serum of almost all APECED patients (93, 94). Furthermore, they appear at a very early stage, often before the onset of any clinical manifestation. With this regard, their presence may be considered as an additional diagnostic marker of the disease, especially in those cases with an atypical presentation (94, 95). Although autoantibodies' production seems to be a key-event in the development of the clinical disease, their role in the pathogenesis of APECED still remains to be defined.

APECED is a paradigmatic example of an autoimmune monogenic disease, however, the phenotypic presentation can widely vary from one patient to another (67, 70, 96, 97). Indeed, there are observations documenting a genotype-phenotype correlation only for specific traits (98, 99), but a clear genotype-phenotype correlation is lacking. We have, recently, reported on a family with an extremely wide intra-familial clinical variability despite the same mutation of AIRE (100). These observations suggest that genetic background is not able to explain alone the variability of the clinical expression and the severity of APECED and that, as for other monogenic diseases, the phenotypic variability of the syndrome may result from the complex interaction between several genetic, epigenetic, immunological, and/or environmental factors. The HLA class I and class II alleles have been reported to confer susceptibility to develop autoimmune diseases, such as Type 1 diabetes and autoimmune thyroid diseases (101). Only few studies investigated the association between the APECED phenotype and HLA genotypes, reporting conflicting results. In fact, although some studies did not find any significant association between HLA antigens class I or II and autoantibodies' production or clinical expression of the disease (74, 102-104), other showed an increased frequency of specific HLA genotypes in APECED patients (105). However, in a more recent study on 18 Sardinian patients (54) autoimmune hepatitis, as well as LKM autoantibodies, have been found to be strongly associated with HLA-DRB1*0301/DQB1*0201. However, there is no evidence indicating that the HLA haplotype might be associated to a particular severity of the disease. Infectious agents are potent stimuli for the immune system, and thus both viruses and bacteria can be considered as trigger of an autoreaction via different mechanisms, such as molecular mimicry, bystander activation, and epitope spreading (106-111). Moreover, evidence suggests that a genetically determined susceptibility may favor the development of an autoimmune disorder after an infection. Many viruses have also been proposed as factors exacerbating several autoimmune processes (112). However, the role of the infectious triggers has not been sufficiently investigated in patients with APECED, and preliminary results did not show any significant effect of different infections on the phenotypic expression of the syndrome (100). As already mentioned, along with the central tolerance network, which is primarily involved in the pathogenesis of APECED, several peripheral mechanisms are capable of contributing to the control and regulation of the immune system. These factors are involved in maintenance of the homeostasis by controlling residual auto-reactive clones, which escape negative selection within the thymus and play a significant role in preventing or minimizing reactivity to self-antigens. The peripheral tolerance recognizes as possible mechanisms the induction of functional anergy with inactivation of self-reactive T-cells, deletion of auto-reactive clones by apoptosis, through Fas/FasL interaction, and the suppressive action of Tregs. An additional mechanism involved in controlling reactivity to self engages in the periphery is represented by NK cell activity. A possible role of altered peripheral tolerance in the pathogenesis and clinical expression of APECED might be hypothesized also considering that recent evidence suggesting that Aire may also be implicated in the control of peripheral mechanisms dedicated to the peripheral maintenance of self-tolerance. In the periphery, Aire is expressed in DCs and a specific population of extrathymic Aire-expressing cells (113, 114). As in the thymus, also in secondary lymphoid organs Aire is required for the expression of many TSAs. However, only few studies investigated the functionality of peripheral tolerance mechanisms in patients with APECED and the role of a failure in the peripheral mechanisms of Aire's function is still poorly defined. Studies on animal models of APECED suggest that Aire does not influence per se Tregs as in Aire-KO mice the number of CD4+CD25+ cells are normal, and the functionality in *in vitro* suppression assays is normal as well (115, 116). However, the link between Aire and Treg cells is still not fully understood. Some recent studies suggest that Aire-expressing mTECs are involved in the generation of TSA-specific Foxp3+

REFERENCES

- 1. Mathis D, Benoist C. Aire. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2009) **27**:287–312. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.25. 022106.141532
- Griesemer AD, Sorenson EC, Hardy MA. The role of the thymus in tolerance. *Transplantation* (2010) 90:465–74. doi:10.1097/TP. 0b013e3181e7e54f
- Manley NR, Blackburn CC. A developmental look at thymus organogenesis: where do the nonhematopoietic cells in the thymus come from? *Curr Opin Immunol* (2003) 15(2):225–32. doi:10.1016/ S0952-7915(03)00006-2
- Boehm T. Thymus development and function. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2008) 20:178–84. doi:10.1016/j. coi.2008.03.001
- 5. Anderson G, Lane PJ, Jenkinson EJ. Generating intrathymic microenvironments to establish

T-cell tolerance. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2007) **7**:954–63. doi:10.1038/nri2187

- van Ewijk W, Wang B, Hollander G, Kawamoto H, Spanopoulou E, Itoi M, et al. Thymic microenvironments, 3-D versus 2-D? *Semin Immunol* (1999) 11(1):57–64. doi: 10.1006/smim.1998.0158
- Holländer GA, Wang B, Nichogiannopoulou A, Platenburg PP, van Ewijk W, Burakoff SJ. Developmental control point in induction of thymic cortex regulated by a subpopulation of prothymocytes. *Nature* (1995) 373(6512):350–3. doi:10.1038/373350a0
- van Ewijk W, Hollander G, Terhorst C, Wang B. Stepwise development of thymic microenvironments in vivo is regulated by thymocyte subsets. *Development* (2000) 127:1583–91.

Treg cells. A recent study supports this concept by showing that Aire-expressing mTECs, in addition to providing an antigen reservoir, also serve as APCs, thus enhancing the selection of Treg cells. The commitment of Tregs was shown to occur independently of Foxp3, and interaction of developing thymocytes with thymic stromal cells may drive the differentiation of a thymocyte subpopulation into the Treg cell lineage and, subsequently, trigger the expression of Foxp3 (117). Some adult APECED patients have lower proportion of Tregs (118), this finding being probably related to chronic infections, to the extent of autoimmune inflammation or therapy. Unfortunately, Tregs have been evaluated in only two children with APECED. Although in these children the number of Tregs was reduced in comparison to healthy controls, confirming the results obtained in adult patients, this reduction was not related to the severity of the disease, thus ruling out a potential role in modulating the clinical expression of the syndrome (100).

CLOSING REMARKS

Although APECED is a monogenic autoimmune disease, the great variability of the clinical expression and the absence of a clear genotype-phenotype correlation implies that, beyond AIRE mutations, other susceptibility factors such as immunological and environmental factors may be involved in the pathogenesis of the disease. The evidence of a role of an impairment of central and peripheral tolerance and of other susceptibility factors in the phenotypic variability of APECED is limited and needs to be further investigated. So far, the reason of such variability still remains obscure. Unraveling the open issues of the molecular basis of APECED, will be extremely useful in improving the diagnosis, management, and therapeutical strategies of this complex disease. As for other Mendelian diseases, total exome sequencing could be a good perspective to analyze other genetic variations and to identify potential disease-modifying genes involved in the clinical expressivity of organ-specific autoimmunity.

- Klug DB, Carter C, Gimenez-Conti IB, Richie ER. Cutting edge: thymocyte-independent and thymocyte-dependent phases of epithelial patterning in the fetal thymus. *J Immunol* (2002) 169:2842–5.
- Shortman K, Egerton M, Spangrude GJ, Scollay R. The generation and fate of thymocytes. *Semin Immunol* (1990) 2(1):3–12.
- Cheroutre H. Starting at the beginning: new perspectives on the biology of mucosal T cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2004) 22:217–46. doi:10.1146/annurev. immunol.22.012703.104522
- Franki AS, Van Beneden K, Dewint P, Meeus I, Veys E, Deforce D, et al. Lymphotoxin alpha 1 beta 2: a critical mediator in V alpha 14i NKT cell differentiation. *Mol Immunol* (2005) **2005**:413–7. doi:10.1016/j. molimm.2004.07.020

- Baldwin TA, Hogquist KA, Jameson SC. The fourth way? Harnessing aggressive tendencies in the thymus. *J Immunol* (2004) 173:6515–20.
- McGargill MA, Derbinski JM, Hogquist KA. Receptor editing in developing T cells. *Nature Immunol* (2000) 1:336–41. doi:10. 1038/79790
- Huang CY, Sleckman BP, Kanagawa O. Revision of T cell receptor {alpha} chain genes is required for normal T lymphocyte development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2005) **102**(40):14356–61. doi:10. 1073/pnas.0505564102
- Fontenot JD, Rudensky AY. A well adapted regulatory contrivance: regulatory T cell development and the forkhead family transcription factor Foxp3. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6:331–7. doi:10.1038/ ni1179

- Liu H, Leung BP. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in health and disease. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* (2006) **33**:519–24. doi:10.1111/ j.1440-1681.2006.04401.x
- Cabarrocas J, Cassan C, Magnusson F, Piaggio E, Mars L, Derbinski J, et al. Foxp3+ CD25+ regulatory T cells specific for a neoself-antigen develop at the double-positive thymic stage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) **30**:8453–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0603086103
- Shevach EM. Mechanisms of foxp3+ T regulatory cell-mediated suppression. *Immunity* (2009) **30**(5):636–45. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2009.04.010
- 20. Finnish-German APECED Consortium. An autoimmune disease, APECED, caused by mutations in a novel gene featuring two PHD-type zinc-finger domains. *Nat Genet* (1997) 17(4):399–403. doi:10.1038/ng1297-399
- Nagamine K, Peterson P, Scott HS, Kudoh J, Minoshima S, Heino M. Positional cloning of the APECED gene. *Nat Genet* (1997) 17:393–8. doi:10.1038/ng1297-393
- 22. Aaltonen J, Horelli-Kuitunen N, Fan JB, Björses P, Perheentupa J, Myers R, et al. High-resolution physical and transcriptional mapping of the autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasisectodermal dystrophy locus on chromosome 21q22.3 by FISH. *Genome Res* (1997) 7:820–9.
- 23. Gotter J, Brors B, Hergenhahn M, Kyewski B. Medullary epithelial cells of the human thymus express a highly diverse selection of tissue-specific genes colocalized in chromosomal clusters. *J Exp Med* (2004) **199**(2):155–66. doi:10. 1084/jem.20031677
- 24. Heino M, Peterson P, Kudoh J, Nagamine K, Lagerstedt A, Ovod V, et al. Autoimmune regulator is expressed in the cells regulating immune tolerance in thymus medulla. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1999) 257(3): 821–5. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1999. 0308
- 25. Halonen M, Pelto-Huikko M, Eskelin P, Peltonen L, Ulmanen I, Kolmer M. Subcellular location and expression pattern of autoimmune regulator (Aire), the mouse orthologue for human gene defective in autoimmune polyendocrinopathy candidiasis ectodermal dystrophy (APECED). J Histochem Cytochem (2001) 49(2):197–208. doi:10.1177/002215540104900207

- Peterson P, Org T, Rebane A. Transcriptional regulation by AIRE: molecular mechanisms of central tolerance. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2008) 8:948–57. doi:10.1038/nri2450
- 27. Peterson P, Peltonen L. Autoimmune polyendocrinopathy syndrome type 1 (APS1) and AIRE gene: new views on molecular basis of autoimmunity. *J Autoimmun* (2005) **25**(Suppl):49–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2005.09.022
- Bottomley MJ, Stier G, Pennacchini D, Legube G, Simon B, Akhtar A. NMR structure of the first PHD finger of autoimmune regulator protein (AIRE1). Insights into autoimmune polyendocrinopathycandidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy (APECED) disease. J Biol Chem (2005) 280(12):11505–12. doi:10.1074/jbc.M413959200
- Savkur RS, Burris TP. The coactivator LXXLL nuclear receptor recognition motif. J Pept Res (2004) 63(3):207–12. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3011.2004.00126.x
- Johnnidis JB, Venanzi ES, Taxman DJ, Ting JP, Benoist CO, Mathis DJ. Chromosomal clustering of genes controlled by the aire transcription factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A (2005) 102(20):7233–8. doi:10. 1073/pnas.0502670102
- Abramson J, Giraud M, Benoist C, Mathis D. Aire's partners in the molecular control of immunological tolerance. *Cell* (2010) 140:123–35. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.12.030
- 32. Pitkänen J, Doucas V, Sternsdorf T, Nakajima T, Aratani S, Jensen K. The autoimmune regulator protein has transcriptional transactivating properties and interacts with the common coactivator CREB-binding protein. J Biol Chem (2000) 275(22):16802–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M908944199
- 33. Pitkänen J, Rebane A, Rowell J, Murumägi A, Ströbel P, Möll K. Cooperative activation of transcription by autoimmune regulator AIRE and CBP. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2005) 333(3):944–53. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc. 2005.05.187
- 34. Liiv I, Rebane A, Org T, Saare M, Maslovskaja J, Kisand K. DNA-PK contributes to the phosphorylation of AIRE: importance in transcriptional activity. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2008) **1783**(1):74–83. doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr.2007.09.003
- 35. Ilmarinen T, Kangas H, Kytömaa T, Eskelin P, Saharinen J, Seeler JS. Functional interaction of AIRE

with PIAS1 in transcriptional regulation. *Mol Immunol* (2008) **45**(7):1847–62. doi:10.1016/j. molimm.2007.10.045

- 36. Oven I, Brdicková N, Kohoutek J, Vaupotic T, Narat M, Peterlin BM. AIRE recruits P-TEFb for transcriptional elongation of target genes in medullary thymic epithelial cells. *Mol Cell Biol* (2007) 27(24):8815–23. doi:10. 1128/MCB.01085-07
- 37. Org T, Chignola F, Hetényi C, Gaetani M, Rebane A, Liiv I. The autoimmune regulator PHD finger binds to non-methylated histone H3K4 to activate gene expression. *EMBO Rep* (2008) 9(4):370–6. doi: 10.1038/sj.embor.2008.11
- 38. Koh AS, Kuo AJ, Park SY, Cheung P, Abramson J, Bua D. Aire employs a histone-binding module to mediate immunological tolerance, linking chromatin regulation with organ-specific autoimmunity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) **105**(41):15878–83. doi:10. 1073/pnas.0808470105
- Matsumoto M, Nishikawa Y, Nishijima H, Morimoto J, Matsumoto M, Mouri Y. Which model better fits the role of aire in the establishment of self-tolerance: the transcription model or the maturation model? *Front Immunol* (2013) 22(4):210. doi:10.3389/ fimmu.2013.00210
- Anderson MS, Venanzi ES, Chen Z, Berzins SP, Benoist C, Mathis D. The cellular mechanism of Aire control of T cell tolerance. *Immunity* (2005) 23: 227–39. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2005.07.005
- 41. Li J, Li Y, Yao JY, Jin R, Zhu MZ, Qian XP. Developmental pathway of CD4+CD8- medullary thymocytes during mouse ontogeny and its defect in Aire^{-/-} mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) **104**(46):18175–80. doi:10. 1073/pnas.0708884104
- 42. Laan M, Kisand K, Kont V, Möll K, Tserel L, Scott HS, et al. Autoimmune regulator deficiency results in decreased expression of CCR4 and CCR7 ligands and in delayed migration of CD4+ thymocytes. J Immunol (2009) 183(12):7682–91. doi:10. 4049/jimmunol.0804133
- 43. Lei Y, Ripen AM, Ishimaru N, Ohigashi I, Nagasawa T, Jeker LT, et al. Aire-dependent production of XCL1 mediates medullary accumulation of thymic dendritic cells and contributes to regulatory cell development. J Exp Med (2011)

208(2):383–94. doi:10.1084/jem. 20102327

- 44. Hinterberger M, Aichinger M, Prazeres da Costa O, Voehringer D, Hoffmann R, Klein L. Autonomous role of medullary thymic epithelial cells in central CD4(+) T cell tolerance. Nat Immunol (2010) 11(6):512–9. doi:10.1038/ni.1874
- 45. Yano M, Kuroda N, Han H, Meguro-Horike M, Nishikawa Y, Kiyonari H, et al. Aire controls the differentiation program of thymic epithelial cells in the medulla for the establishment of self-tolerance. J Exp Med (2008) 205(12):2827–38. doi:10. 1084/jem.20080046
- 46. Gallo V, Giardino G, Capalbo D, Palamaro L, Romano R, Santamaria F, et al. Alterations of the autoimmune regulator transcription factor and failure of central tolerance: Apeced as a model. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol* (2013) 9(1):43-51. doi:10.1586/Eci.12.88
- Zlotogora J, Shapiro MS. Polyglandular autoimmune syndrome type I among Iranian Jews. J Med Genet (1992) 29:824–6. doi:10.1136/jmg. 29.11.824
- 48. Ahonen P, Myllarniemi S, Sipila I, Perheentupa J. Clinical variation of autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasisectodermal dystrophy (APECED) in a series of 68 patients. N Engl J Med (1990) 322(26):1829–36. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199006283222601
- Aaltonen J, Bjorses P, Sandkuijl L, Perheentupa J, Peltonen L. An autosomal locus causing autoimmune disease: autoimmune polyglandular disease type I assigned to chromosome 21. Nat Genet (1994) 8:83–7. doi:10.1038/ ng0994-83
- 50. Rosatelli MC, Meloni A, Meloni A, Devoto M, Cao A, Scott HS, et al. A common mutation in Sardinian autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasisectodermal dystrophy patients. *Hum Gen* (1998) **103**:428–34. doi:10.1007/s004390050846
- 51. Wolff AS, Erichsen MM, Meager A, Magitta NF, Myhre AG, Bollerslev J, et al. Autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type 1 in Norway: phenotypic variation, autoantibodies, and novel mutations in the autoimmune regulator gene. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2007) 92(2):595–603. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-1873
- 52. Capalbo D, Mazza C, Giordano R, Improda N, Arvat E,

Cervato S, et al. Molecular background and genotype-phenotype correlation in autoimmunepolyendocrinopathy-candidiasisectodermal-dystrophy patients from Campania and in their relatives. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2012) **35**:169–73. doi:10.3275/7677

- 53. Meloni A, Perniola R, Faà V, Corvaglia E, Cao A, Rosatelli MC. Delineation of the molecular defects in the AIRE gene in autoimmune polyendocrinopathycandidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy patients from Southern Italy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2002) 87:841–6. doi:10.1210/jc.87.2.841
- 54. Meloni A, Willcox N, Meager A, Atzeni M, Wolff AS, Husebye ES, et al. Autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type 1: an extensive longitudinal study in Sardinian patients. *J Clin Endocr Metab* (2012) **97**:1114–24. doi:10.1210/jc. 2011-2461
- 55. Cervato S, Mariniello B, Lazzarotto F, Morlin L, Zanchetta R, Radetti G, et al. Evaluation of the autoimmune regulato (AIRE) gene mutations in a cohort of Italian patients with autoimmunepolyendocrinopathy-candidiasisectoderaml-dystrophy (APECED) and in their relatives. *Clin Endocrinol* (2009) **70**:421–8. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2265.2008. 03318.x
- 56. Cetani F. Barbesino G. Borsari S. Pardi E, Cianferotti L, Pinchera A, et al. A novel mutation of the autoimmune regulator gene in an Italian kindred with autoimmune polyendocrinopathycandidiasis-ectoderma dystrophy, acting in a dominant fashion strongly consegregating and with hypothyroid autoimmune thyroiditis. J Clin Endocrinol Metah (2001) 86.4747-52 doi:10.1210/jc.86.10.4747
- 57. Björses P, Halonen M, Palvimo JJ, Kolmer M, Aaltonen J, Ellonen P, et al. Mutations in the AIRE gene: effects on subcellular location and transactivation function of the autoimmune polyendocrinecandidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy protein. Am J Hum Genet (2000) 66:378–92. doi:10.1086/302765
- 58. Ferguson BJ, Alexander C, Rossi SW, Liiv I, Rebane A, Worth CL. AIRE's CARD revealed, a new structure for central tolerance provokes transcriptional plasticity. J Biol Chem (2008) 283(3):1723–31. doi:10.1074/jbc.M707211200
- 59. Scott HS, Heino M, Peterson P, Mittaz L, Lalioti

MD, Betterle C. Common mutations in autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasisectodermal dystrophy patients of different origins. *Mol Endocrinol* (1998) **12**:1112–9. doi:10.1210/me.12.8.1112

- 60. Podkrajsek KT, Bratanic N, Krzisnik C, Battelino T. Autoimmune regulator-1 messenger ribonucleic acid analysis in a novel intronic mutation and two additional novel AIRE gene mutations in a cohort of autoimmune polyendocrinopathycandidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2005) 90:4930–5. doi:10.1210/ic.2005-0418
- 61. Stolarski B, Pronicka E, Korniszewski L, Pollak A, Kostrzewa G, Rowinska E, et al. Molecular background of polyendocrinopathycandidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy syndrome in a Polish population: novel AIRE mutations and an estimate of disease prevalence. *Clin Genet* (2006) **70**:348–54. doi:10. 1111/j.1399-0004.2006.00690.x
- 62. Pearce SH, Cheetham T, Imrie H, Vaidya B, Barnes ND, Bilous RW. A common and recurrent 13-bp deletion in the autoimmune regulator gene in British kindreds with autoimmune polyendocrinopathy type 1. Am J Hum Genet (1998) 63:1675–84. doi:10.1086/302145
- Dominguez M, Crushell E, Ilmarinen T, McGovern E, Collins S, Chang B, et al. Autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasisectodermal dystrophy (APECED) in the Irish population. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab (2006) 19:1343–52. doi:10.1515/JPEM. 2006.19.11.1343
- 64. Wang CY, Davoodi-Samiromi A, Huang W, Connor E, Shi JD, She JX. Characterization of mutations in patients with autoimmune polyglandular syndrome type 1 (APS1). *Hum Genet* (1998) **103**:681–5. doi:10.1007/s004390050891
- Heino M, Scott HS, Chen Q, Peterson P, Mäebpää U, Papasavvas MP, et al. Mutation analyses of North American APS-1 patients. *Hum Mutat* (1999) 13:69–74. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1098-1004(1999)13:
- 1<69::AID-HUMU8>3.0.CO;2-6
 66. Giordano C, Modica R, Allotta ML, Guarnotta V, Cervato S, Masiero S. Autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasisectodermal-dystrophy (APECED) in Sicily: confirmation that R203X is the peculiar AIRE

gene mutation. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2012) **35**:384–8. doi:10.3275/7965

- 67. Valenzise M, Wasniewska M, Mirabelli S, De Luca F, Cervato S, Betterle C. Identification of two novel mutations in the first Sicilian APECED patient with no R203X mutation in AIRE gene and review of Italian APECED genotypes. *Gene* (2012) **499**:343–6. doi:10.1016/j.gene.2012.03.032
- Betterle C, Ghizzoni L, Cassio A, Baronio F, Cervato S, Garelli S, et al. Autoimmune-polyendocrinopathy-candidiasis-ectodermal-dystrophy in Calabria: clinical, immunological and genetic patterns. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2012) 35(10):877–81. doi:10.3275/8109
- 69. Kisand K, Peterson P. Autoimmune polyendocrinopathy candidiasis ectodermal dystrophy: known and novel aspects of the syndrome. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2011) **1246**:77–91. doi:10.1111/j. 1749-6632.2011.06308.x
- 70. Capalbo D, De Martino L, Giardino G, Di Mase R, Di Donato I, Parenti G, et al. Autoimmune polyendocrinopathy candidiasis ectodermal dystrophy: insights into genotypephenotype correlation. Int J Endocrinol (2012) 2012:353250. doi:10.1155/2012/353250
- 71. Mazza C, Buzi F, Ortolani F, Vitali A, Notarangelo LD, Weber G, et al. Clinical heterogeneity and diagnostic delay of autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasisectodermal dystrophy syndrome. *Clin Immunol* (2011) 139(1):6–11. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2010.12.021
- 72. Husebye ES, Perheentupa J, Rautemaa R, Kšmpe O. Clinical manifestations and management of patients with autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type I. *J Intern Med* (2009) 265:514–29. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2796.2009. 02090.x
- 73. Capalbo D, Improda N, Esposito A, De Martino L, Barbieri F, Betterle C, et al. Autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasisectodermal dystrophy from the pediatric perspective. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2013). [Epub ahead of print]
- Betterle C, Greggio NA, Volpato M. Autoimmune polyglandular syndrome type 1. J Clin Endocr Metab (1998) 83:1049–55. doi:10.1210/jc. 83.4.1049
- 75. Capalbo D, Elefante A, Spagnuolo MI, Mazza C, Betterle C, Pignata C, et al. Posterior reversible

encephalopathy syndrome in a child during an accelerated phase of a severe APECED phenotype due to an uncommon mutation of AIRE. *Clin Endocrinol* (*Oxf*) (2008) **69**:511–3. doi:10.1111/j. 1365-2265.2008.03206.x

- 76. Kisand K, Bøe Wolff AS, Podkrajsek KT, Tserel L, Link M, Kisand KV, et al. Chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis in APECED or thymoma patients correlates with autoimmunity to Th17-associated cytokines. J Exp Med (2010) 207(2):299–308. doi:10.1084/jem. 20091669
- 77. Puel A, Döffinger R, Natividad A, Chrabieh M, Barcenas-Morales G, Picard C, et al. Autoantibodies against IL-17A, IL-17F, and IL-22 in patients with chronic mucocutaneouscandidiasis and autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type I. J Exp Med (2010) 207(2):291–7. doi:10. 1084/jem.20091983
- Alimohammadi M, Björklund P, Hallgren A, Pöntynen N, Szinnai G, Shikama N, et al. Autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type 1 and NALP5, a parathyroid autoantigen. N Engl J Med (2008) 358:1018–28. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa0706487
- 79. Betterle C, Dal Pra C, Mantero F, Zanchetta R. Autoimmune adrenal insufficiency and autoimmune polyendocrine syndromes: autoantibodies, autoantigens, and their applicability in diagnosis and disease prediction. *Endocr Rev* (2002) 23:327–64. doi:10.1210/er. 23.3.327
- Coco G, Dal Pra C, Presotto F, Albergoni MP, Canova C, Pedini B, et al. Estimated risk for developing autoimmune Addison's disease in patients with adrenal cortex autoantibodies. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2006) 91:1637–45. doi:10. 1210/jc.2005-0860
- Hoek A, Schoemaker J, Drexhage HA. Premature ovarian failure and ovarian autoimmunity. *Endocr Rev* (1997) 18:107–34. doi:10.1210/er. 18.1.107
- Reato G, Morlin L, Chen S, Furmaniak J, Smith BR, Masiero S, et al. Premature ovarian failure in patients with autoimmune Addison's disease: clinical, genetic, and immunological evaluation. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2011) 96:e1255–61. doi:10.1210/jc.2011-0414
- 83. Betterle C, Zanchetta R. Update on autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome (APS). *Acta Biomed* (2003)

74:9–33. doi:10.1007/s13317-012-0034-3

- Ekwall O, Hedstrand H, Grimelius L, Haavik J, Perheentupa J, Gustafsson J, et al. Identification of tryptophan hydroxylase as an intestinal autoantigen. *Lancet* (1998) **352**:279–83. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(97)11050-9
- 85. Dal Pra C, Chen S, Betterle C, Zanchetta R, McGrath V, Furmaniak J, et al. Autoantibodies to human tryptophan hydroxylase and aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2004) **150**:313–21. doi:10.1530/ eje.0.1500313
- 86. Gianani R. Eisenbarth GS. Autoimmunity to gastrointestinal cells endocrine in polyendocrine autoimmune syndrome type I. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2003)88:1442-4. doi:10.1210/jc.2003-030247
- 87. Scarpa R, Alaggio R, Norberto L, Furmaniak J, Chen S, Smith BR, et al. Tryptophan hydroxy-lase autoantibodies as markers of a distinct autoimmune gastrointestinal component of autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type 1. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2013) **98**:704–12. doi:10.1210/jc. 2012-2734
- 88. Skoldberg F, Portela-Gomes GM, Grimelius L, Nilsson G, Perheentupa J, Betterle C, et al. Histidine decarboxylase, a pyridoxal phosphate-dependent enzyme, is an autoantigen of gastric enterochromaffinlike cells. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2003) 88:1445–52. doi:10.1210/jc.2002-021761
- 89. Söderbergh A, Myhre AG, Ekwall O, Gebre-Medhin G, Hedstrand H, Landgren E, et al. Prevalence and clinical associations of 10 defined autoantibodies in autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type I. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2004) 89:557–62. doi:10.1210/jc.2003-030279
- 90. Clemente MG, Obermayer-Straub P, Meloni A, Strassburg CP, Arangino V, Tukey RH, et al. Cytochrome P450 1A2 is a hepatic autoantigen in autoimmune polyglandular syndrome type 1. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1997) 82:1353–61. doi:10.1210/jc.82.5.1353
- 91. Clemente MG, Meloni A, Obermayer-Straub P, Frau F, Manns MP, De Virgiliis S. Two cytochromes P450 are major hepatocellular autoantigens in autoimmune polyglandular

syndrome type 1. *Gastroenterology* (1998) **114**:324–8. doi:10.1016/ S0016-5085(98)70484-6

- 92. Gebre-Mendhin G, Husebye ES, Gustafsson J, Winqvist O, Goksøyr A, Rorsman F, et al. Cytocrome P459IA2 and aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase are hepatic autoantigens in autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type I. *FEBS Lett* (1997) **412**:439–45. doi:10. 1016/S0014-5793(97)00797-7
- Meager A, Visvalingam K, Peterson P, Möll K, Murumägi A, Krohn K, et al. Anti-interferon autoantibodies in autoimmune polyendocrinopathy syndrome type 1. *PLoS Med* (2006) 3:e289. doi:10. 1371/journal.pmed.0030289
- 94. Meloni A, Furcas M, Cetani F, Marcocci C, Falorni A, Perniola R, et al. Autoantibodies against type I interferon sas an additional diagnostic criterion for autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type I. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2008) 93:4389–97. doi:10.1210/jc.2008-0935
- Proust-Lemoine E, Saugier-Veber P, Wémeau JL. Polyglandular autoimmune syndrome type I. Presse Med (2012) 41(12 P 2):e651–62. doi:10.1016/j.lpm.2012.10.005
- 96. Ishii T, Suzuki Y, Ando N, Matsuo N, Ogata T. Novel mutations of the autoimmune regulator gene in two siblings with autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasis ectodermal dystrophy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2000) 8:2922–6. doi:10.1210/jc.85.8.2922
- 97. Capalbo D, Giardino G, De Martino L, Palamaro L, Romano R, Gallo V, et al. Genetic basis of altered central tolerance and autoimmune diseases: a lesson from AIRE mutations. *Int Rev Immunol* (2012) **31**:344–62. doi: 10.3109/08830185.2012.697230
- 98. Gylling M, Tuomi T, Björses P, Kontiainen S, Partanen J, Christie MR, et al. Ss-cell autoantibodies, human leukocyte antigen II alleles, and type 1 diabetes in autoimmune polyendocrinopathycandidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2000) 85(12):4434–40. doi:10.1210/jc.85.12.4434
- 99. Halonen M, Eskelin P, Myhre AG, Perheentupa J, Husebye ES, Kämpe O, et al. AIRE mutations and human leukocyte antigen genotypes as determinants of the autoimmune polyendocrinopathycandidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy

phenotype. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2002) **87**(6):2568–74. doi:10.1210/jc.87.6.2568

- 100. Capalbo D, Fusco A, Aloj G, Improda N, Vitiello L, Dianzani U, et al. High intrafamilial variability in autoimmune polyendocrinopathycandidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy: a case study. J Endocrinol Invest (2012) 35:77–81. doi:10.3275/8055
- 101. Concannon P, Erlich HA, Julier C, Morahan G, Nerup J, Pociot F, et al. Type 1 diabetes: evidence for susceptibility loci from four genomewide linkage scans in 1,435 multiplex families. *Diabetes* (2005) 54: 2995–3001. doi:10.2337/diabetes. 54.10.2995
- 102. MacLaren N, Riley W. Inherited susceptibility to autoimmune Addison's disease is linked to human leukocyte antigens-DR3 and/or DR4, except when associated with type 1 autoimmune polyglandular syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1986) 62: 455–9. doi:10.1210/jcem-62-3-455
- 103. Ahonen P, Koskimies S, Lokki ML, Tiilikainen A, Perheentupa J. The expression of autoimmune polyglandular disease type I appears associated with several HLA-A antigens but not with HLA-DR J. Clin Endocrinol Metab (1988) 66:1152–7. doi:10.1210/jcem-66-6-1152
- 104. Huang W, Connor E, Rosa TD, Muir A, Schatz D, Silverstein J, et al. Although DR3-DQB1*0201 may be associated with multiple component diseases of the autoimmune polyglandular syndromes, the human leukocyte antigen DR4-DQB1*0302 haplotype is implicated only in beta-cell autoimmunity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1996) 81:2559–63. doi:10.1210/jc. 81.7.2559
- 105. Betterle C, Volpato M, Rees Smith B, Furmaniak J, Chen S, Greggio NA. Adrenal cortex and steroid 21-hydroxylase autoantibodies in adult patients with organ-specific autoimmune diseases: markers of low progression to clinical Addison's disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1997) 82(3):932–8. doi:10. 1210/jc.82.3.932
- 106. von Herrat MG, Dockter J, Oldstone MB. How virus induces a rapid or slow onset insulindependent diabetes mellitus in a transgenic model. *Immunity* (1994) 1:231–42. doi:10.1016/ 1074-7613(94)90101-5

- 107. Panoutsakopoulou V, Sanchirico ME, Huster KM, Jansson M, Granucci F, Shim DJ. Analysis of the relationship between viral infection and autoimmune disease. *Immunity* (2001) 15:137–47. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00172-8
- 108. Chen HD, Fraire AE, Joris I, Welsh RM, Selin LK. Specific history of heterologous virus infections determines anti-viral immunity and immunopathology in the lung. *Am J Pathol* (2003) 163:1341–55. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63493-1
- 109. Horwitz MS, Bradley LM, Harbertson J, Krahl T, Lee J, Sarvetnick N. Diabetes induced by Coxsackie virus: initiation by bystander damage and not molecular mimicry. *Nat Med* (1998) 4:781–5. doi:10. 1038/nm0798-781
- 110. Mena I, Fischer C, Gebhard JR, Perry CM, Harkins S, Whitton JL. Coxsackievirus infection of the pancreas: evaluation of receptor expression, pathogenesis, and immunopathology. *Virology* (2000) 271:276–88. doi:10.1006/ viro.2000.0332
- 111. Carl PL, Temple BR, Cohen PL. Most nuclear systemic autoantigens are extremely disordered proteins: implications for the etiology of systemic autoimmunity. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2005) **7**:1360–74. doi: 10.1186/ar1832
- 112. Pender MP. Infection of autoreactive B lymphocytes with EBV, causing chronic autoimmune diseases. *Trends Immunol* (2003) 24:584–8. doi:10.1016/j.it.2003.09.005
- 113. Ramsey C, Hässler S, Marits P, Kämpe O, Surh CD, Peltonen L, et al. Increased antigen presenting cell-mediated T cell activation in mice and patients without the autoimmune regulator. *Eur J Immunol* (2006) **36**(2): 305–17. doi:10.1002/eji. 200535240
- 114. Gardner JM, Devoss JJ, Friedman RS, Wong DJ, Tan YX, Zhou X. Deletional tolerance mediated by extrathymic Aire-expressing cells. *Science* (2008) **321**:843–7. doi:10. 1126/science.1159407
- 115. Kuroda N, Mitani T, Takeda N, Ishimaru N, Arakaki R, Hayashi Y, et al. Development of autoimmunity against transcriptionally unrepressed target antigen in the thymus of Aire-deficient mice. *J Immunol* (2005) **174**(4): 1862–70.
- 116. Liston A, Lesage S, Wilson J, Peltonen L, Goodnow CC. Aire regulates

negative selection of organ-specific T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4(4):350–4. doi:10.1038/ni906

- 117. Aschenbrenner K, D'Cruz LM, Vollmann EH, Hinterberger M, Emmerich J, Swee LK, et al. Selection of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells specific for self antigen expressed and presented by Aire+ medullary thymic epithelial cells. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8:351–8. doi: 10.1038/ni1444
- 118. Kekäläinen E, Tuovinen H, Joensuu J, Gylling M, Franssila

R, Pöntynen N, et al. A defect of regulatory T cells in patients with autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy. *J Immunol* (2007) **178**(2):1208–15.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 12 July 2013; accepted: 30 September 2013; published online: 23 October 2013.

Citation: De Martino L, Capalbo D, Improda N, D'Elia F, Di Mase R, D'Assante R, D'Acunzo I, Pignata C and Salerno M (2013) APECED: a paradigm of complex interactions between genetic background and susceptibility factors. Front. Immunol. 4:331. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00331

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology. Copyright © 2013 De Martino, Capalbo, Improda, D'Elia, Di Mase, D'Assante, D'Acunzo, Pignata and Salerno. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted accademic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



E. Graham Davies *

Centre for Immunodeficiency, Institute of Child Health, University College London and Great Ormond Street Hospital, London, UK

Edited by:

Menno C. Van Zelm, University Medical Center, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Andrew Gennery, Newcastle University, UK Anna Sediva, Charles University, Czech Republic

*Correspondence:

E. Graham Davies, Centre for Immunodeficiency, Molecular Immunology Unit, Institute of Child Health, 30 Guilford Street, London WC1N 1EH, UK e-mail: graham.davies@gosh.nhs.uk The commonest association of thymic stromal deficiency resulting in T-cell immunodeficiency is the DiGeorge syndrome (DGS). This results from abnormal development of the third and fourth pharyngeal arches and is most commonly associated with a microdeletion at chromosome 22q11 though other genetic and non-genetic causes have been described. The immunological competence of affected individuals is highly variable, ranging from normal to a severe combined immunodeficiency when there is complete athymia. In the most severe group, correction of the immunodeficiency can be achieved using thymus allografts which can support thymopoiesis even in the absence of donor-recipient matching at the major histocompatibility loci. This review focuses on the causes of DGS, the immunological features of the disorder, and the approaches to correction of the immunodeficiency including the use of thymus transplantation.

Keywords: DiGeorge syndrome, immunodeficiency, thymus transplantation, 22q11 deletion, T-cell development

INTRODUCTION

DiGeorge syndrome (DGS) was first described in the 1960's and classically comprises T-cell deficiency (due to thymic hypoplasia), hypoparathyroidism, cardiac malformations, and facial abnormalities. Subsequently, it was recognized that deletions of the long arm of chromosome 22 at position q.11 were most commonly associated with DGS (1, 2). DGS is also found associated with other genetic abnormalities and with certain teratogenic influences. It was also recognized that multiple other clinical features could be associated with this deletion. The DGS phenotype is very heterogenous with variable expression of the different features including the immunodeficiency.

CAUSES OF DGS

EARLY THYMIC DEVELOPMENT

At an early stage of embryonic development the pharyngeal apparatus can be recognized. This becomes segmented into a series of pharyngeal arches and pouches each comprising an outer ectodermal and inner endodermal layer separated by mesodermal tissue and neural crest cells (NCC) (3, 4). The thymus, parathyroid glands and great vessels of the heart develop from these structures notably the third and fourth arch structures. Thymic epithelial development is under the control of the transcription factor, FoxN1, and studies of expression of this factor have demonstrated that the thymus derives from an area of the endoderm in the ventral aspect of the third pouch (5). The mesoderm and NCC contribute to the thymic connective tissue including vascular endothelium and mesenchymal cells, the latter thought to be important in regulating early thymic epithelial development (6). Parathyroid gland development is closely allied, this organ being derived from the endoderm of the ventral part of the third pharyngeal pouch again with mesodermal cells and NCC contributing the connective tissue and vascular endothelium. From the eighth week of human gestation, bone marrow derived T-cell precursors have been shown

to enter the thymic structure (7). The further development of the thymus is dependent on two-way interactions between these lymphoid cells and the thymic stroma (8, 9).

Hematopoietic cell defects resulting in severe combined immunodeficiencies lead to failure or disturbed thymic development as a consequence of failure of this lymphoid – stromal interaction (10, 11) which can be reversed by successful hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (12). These aspects of thymic stromal deficiency are considered elsewhere in this Research Topic.

The classical features of DGS occur as a result of the early embryonic disturbance of development of the pharyngeal arch apparatus and are independent of the influence of hematopoietic cell precursors on thymic development.

GENETIC ASSOCIATIONS OF DGS

DiGeorge syndrome overlaps considerably with velocardiofacial (VCF) syndrome and to a lesser extent with conotruncal anomaly face syndrome; all these are associated with hemizygous 22q.11 deletions manifesting with a wide array of clinical features (13). The deletion is also associated with neurodevelopmental delay, behavioral, and psychiatric features. The multitude of possible clinical features (over 180) have been reviewed by Shprintzen (14). DGS and VCF are sometimes collectively referred to as the 22q.11 deletion syndrome. The incidence of this deletion is high at around 1:4000 (15). In 90-95% of cases this arises de novo with the other 5-10% being inherited from an affected parent (13). Over 90% of cases have a typical 3 Mb deletion including over 30 different genes (16). This seems to occur between two regions with homologous low copy repeats suggesting that deletion occurs through a process of homologous recombination. Most other patients have a smaller, 1.5 Mb, deletion (17, 18). There is no correlation between the size of the deletion and the clinical phenotype. Discordance between phenotypes has been described in monozygotic twins carrying the deletion (19). In rare cases mutations in a single gene, TBX1, have

been described resulting in the DGS phenotype (20, 21). TBX1 is one of the T-box genes with an important role in regulating the expression of transcription factors (22). Studies of a mouse model with a syngenic deletion on chromosome 16 have helped elucidate the role of Tbx1. Homozygous deletions of this gene result in a very severe, lethal phenotype including all the features of DGS whilst hemizygous loss of the gene produces a milder phenotype with variable penetrance of the different clinical features (23). However, implicating TBX1 as the sole gene causing DGS in 22q deletion syndromes may not be the whole story. Adjacent deletions not involving TBX1 can give a phenotype with some overlapping features (24) as can atypical deletions covering different critical regions in the same part of the chromosome (25). Other genes in the region, also affected in the typical DGS deletion, may have a modifying effect on expression of the disorder. These include CRKL, coding for an adaptor protein involved in growth factor signaling. Crkl is expressed in neural crest derived tissues and in mice null for the gene there is aberrant or absent thymic development (26). However, hemizygous Crkl loss is not associated with an abnormal clinical phenotype suggesting a gene dosing effect. The effect of compound heterozygosity for Tbx1 and Crkl deletions, on development of DGS features, is additive (27). The function of TBX1 is complex and mediated through regulation of downstream transcription factors. The detailed role of TBX1 in 22q.11 deletion syndromes and in thymus development in particular has been reviewed by others (28, 29).

A much rarer but well characterized genetic association with a DGS phenotype occurs with interstitial deletions at chromosome 10p (30–33). This has been designated DGS 2.The clinical phenotype overlaps with that associated with 22q.11 deletion but with some important differences. Sensorineural hearing loss and mental retardation are relatively common features in those with 10p deletions but rare in 22q11 deletion cases; renal anomalies, and general growth retardation are more prevalent in 10p deletion than in 22q11 deletion cases (34). Deletions at 10p syndrome have been estimated as having an incidence of 1 in 200,000, some 50 times less common than 22q.11 deletions (35, 36). The role of the genes deleted and responsible for the clinical picture is less well understood than in 22q deletion DGS but on-going work has identified some critical regions involved in developmental abnormalities (32, 37).

Mutations in the Chromodomain Helicase DNA-binding protein 7 (CHD7) gene are responsible for most cases of Colobomata, Heart defect, Atresia choanae, Retarded growth and development, Genital hypoplasia, Ear anomalies/deafness (CHARGE) syndrome. A DGS phenotype including complete athymia may be part of this syndrome but there is marked variability in expression of the multiple clinical features. The incidence has been estimated at 1 in 8500 (38). CHD7 acts as a regulator of transcription of other genes. Its expression has been demonstrated in the NCC of the pharyngeal arches. Normal development of these structures has been shown to be dependent on the co-expression of Chd7 and Tbx1 in mice suggesting the likely mechanism by which CHARGE syndrome can lead to a DGS phenotype (39, 40).

NON-GENETIC ASSOCIATIONS OF DGS

Embryopathy induced by exposure of the fetus to retinoic acid can include a DGS phenotype (41). Retinoic acid affects Tbx1 expression in avian embryos (42) whilst it has also been shown that Tbx1 can, in at least some circumstances, regulate retinoic acid metabolism (43). Fetal alcohol syndrome (44–46) and maternal diabetes (47, 48) have also been associated with the DGS phenotype. In the latter, there is often an associated renal agenesis. It has been postulated that maternal diabetes can lead to interference with neural crest and mesenchymal cell migration (49).

IMMUNOLOGICAL FEATURES OF DGS

INCIDENCE AND SEVERITY

DiGeorge syndrome may be associated with a complete range of T-cell deficiency from normal T-cell numbers and function to complete DGS (cDGS) with a T-negative severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID)-like picture. It was recognized early on that the T-cell immunodeficiency may be incomplete and the term partial DGS (pDGS) was coined (50). In a large series of patients with 22q11 deletions, the proportion of affected individuals falling into the cDGS category was around 1.5% of the 218 who underwent immunological testing or around 0.5% of the whole series of over 550 patients (13). A much higher proportion had minor laboratory abnormalities suggesting pDGS. In one series, from a major referral center, mild-moderate lymphopenia, consistent with pDGS, was reported in 30% of 22q.11 patients (51).

Less is known of the frequency of severe immunodeficiency in 10p deletion DGS. A review of published cases identified low levels of T cells and immunoglobulins as well as a small or hypoplastic thymus in 9 of 32 (28%) patients evaluated. However none of these patients were reported as having significant infections, suggesting that the immunodeficiency was likely partial rather than complete (34).

In CHARGE syndrome, severe immunodeficiency has been described (51-55). The proportion of cases affected with immunodeficiency is not well established as there is no reported large series looking at immunological parameters. Immunodeficiency may not always be considered in CHARGE; one recent report of a large series of 280 cases did not provide any information on the prevalence of recurrent infections or immunodeficiency (56). In a series of 25 cases (51), 16 (60%) were found to have lymphopenia. Only nine had full immunophenotyping performed and two of these had a picture of cDGS. A further five of eight patients dying in infancy had marked lymphopenia but did not have lymphocyte phenotyping performed so it is possible that the incidence of cDGS was higher. The authors do however concede that this series of patients referred to a specialist center might present a biased view. Nevertheless, the proportion of children with CHARGE syndrome affected by a significant immunodeficiency is probably at least as high as the proportion in DGS associated with 22q deletion. This conclusion would be consistent with the report of a series of 54 cases of patients referred for thymus transplantation for cDGS where the numbers of CHARGE and of 22q deleted cases were roughly in proportion to the incidences of the two genetic defects (55).

IMMUNODEFICIENCY IN PARTIAL DGS

The majority of children with thymic insufficiency as part of DGS, whatever the underlying cause, will have only a partial form of immunodeficiency. The consequences are an increased susceptibility to infections and sometimes immunodysregulation

resulting in autoimmunity. A wide range of T-cell immunity is seen in pDGS from near normal to near completely deficient. Normal or near normal T-cell numbers can be found even in those with an apparently absent or hypoplastic thymus and in these it is probable that some thymic tissue is ectopically placed (57). There may be a small subset of more severely deficient 22q.11 - pDGS patients with T-cell numbers near the lower end of the range who have an increased susceptibility to "T-cell" type pathogens such as Candida albicans and viral infections and an increased non-cardiac mortality (58, 59). Hypocalcemia was an associated feature of this subgroup in one of these studies (58) and was also associated with lymphopenia in another study of CHARGE patients (51). Otherwise there is no correlation between the severity of immunodeficiency and the clinical phenotype in regard the other features of DGS (60). Most pDGS patients do not suffer opportunistic or life-threatening infections. Their infections tend to be of a sinopulmonary nature, more consistent with a humoral than a T-cell immunodeficiency. Susceptibly to such respiratory tract infections is likely to be at least partly due to non-immunological issues such as velo-pharyngeal insufficiency, eustachian tube dysfunction, disco-ordinate swallowing, gastro-esophageal reflux, and sometimes tracheo-bronchomalacia (59, 61).

As is the case with other partial T-cell deficient states, autoimmune disease can occur in pDGS. This has most commonly been reported as manifesting with immune cytopenias, arthritis, or hyper/hypothyroidism (62-73). The mechanism by which tolerance breaks down leading to autoimmunity in pDGS is not clear. Many forms of primary immunodeficiency are associated with an increased risk of autoimmune disease including conditions not associated with dysregulation of T cells. It has been suggested that persistent antigen stimulation from frequent and/or persistent infections may predispose to autoimmunity (74). However, in pDGS autoimmunity is not predominantly found in those with the most severe or frequent infections (65, 75). It is more likely that disturbance of central or peripheral tolerance or both occur as a consequence of the thymic abnormality. In the normal situation, central tolerance is generated through the presentation of tissue specific peptides to developing thymocytes by medullary thymic epithelial cells in the context of autologous major histocompatibility antigens and under the regulation of the autoimmune regulator (AIRE). There is subsequent deletion (negative selection) of thymocytes recognizing these self-antigens. It is possible that a reduced bulk of thymic tissue in pDGS results in incomplete negative selection or that AIRE expression in pDGS is reduced or otherwise abnormal. The author is not aware of any reported studies of AIRE expression in thymic tissue from pDGS cases. Abnormalities of thymic tissue, including AIRE expression, has been described in SCID due to recombination activating gene (RAG) defects and may contribute to the multisystem inflammation/autoimmunity seen in Omenn syndrome (76) though these patients also have a defect of regulatory T cells suggesting a possible peripheral tolerance defect in addition (77). In pDGS, negative selection must occur in relation to most antigens since the autoimmune disease seen is usually limited to one or two organs or systems. By contrast, in autoimmune polyglandular syndrome type 1 (APS-1) (78) caused by mutations in the AIRE gene, multiple autoimmune disorders are typical. Breakdown of peripheral tolerance is another possible explanation for autoimmunity in pDGS. One study reported reduced numbers of circulating CD4+ Foxp3+ T cells, described as natural T regulatory cells (nTregs) in pDGS patients compared to controls. The levels of these cells correlated closely with the numbers of recent thymic emigrant cells suggesting they were at least partially thymus derived (75). Another study (79) looked at CD4+ CD25+ cells which include Treg cells. In both studies these populations were present in reduced numbers in pDGS patients compared to controls at all ages but there was no difference between the levels in patients with and without autoimmunity. Immunological assessment of pDGS patients often shows low overall numbers of T cells compared to normal with a tendency to improve after the first year of life, although in 10p deletion syndrome a progressive T-cell lymphopenia has been reported (33). Mitogen responsiveness is generally normal in pDGS (80, 81). An increase in T-cell numbers with age may in part be due to the development of oligoclonal expansions resulting in abnormal T-cell receptor spectratypes. (75, 82-85). Naïve T-cell proportions are lower than normal and fall off more quickly with age than in an age - matched control group (82). T-cell recombination excision circles (TRECs) were found to correlate well with the proportions of circulating naïve T cells (86), though a cautionary note was struck by the report of a patient, with what turned out to be pDGS, showing very low TREC levels with good naïve cell proportions (87).

Humoral immune defects and disturbance of B-cell immunity were recognized very early on after DGS was first described (50). These may be relevant to the types of infections suffered. A number of relatively small series have looked at immunoglobulin and antibody levels in DGS associated with 22q.11 deletion (62, 63, 65, 68, 75, 88-90) and CHARGE syndrome (51). Low immunoglobulin levels were reported with variable frequency, most commonly affecting IgM but also occasionally causing a sufficiently low IgG to merit immunoglobulin replacement therapy. Defective antibody responses to polysaccharide antigens were reported in a significant minority of patients. A recently published, much larger study reported on over 1000 patients, with a median age of 3 years, from the European Society for Immunodeficiency and US Immunodeficiency Network (91). Forty two percent were recorded as having 22q.11 deletion but the underlying cause was not reported in the remainder. Overall, 2.7% were on immunoglobulin replacement therapy (3% in those over 3 years old). In the over 3 years age group 6.2% had IgG levels below 5 g/l. Amongst patients over 3 years of age, around 0.7% had complete and 1% partial IgA deficiency whilst 23% had low levels of IgM. There was no association between low immunoglobulin levels, in any of the isotypes, and T-cell counts nor between low T-cell counts and immunoglobulin levels. The authors acknowledged that the data were incomplete and that there may have been some reporting bias in that these patients were registered through immunodeficiency networks. Nevertheless, this study provides the best estimate of the prevalence of humoral immune deficit in DGS. B-cell numbers were not reported in this study but in another study were found to be generally normal though sometimes low in the first year of life, normalizing later (92). The repertoire of IgH usage is also normal but further diversification through somatic hypermutation is deficient (93). It has also been shown that the maturation of B-cells toward a memory phenotype is impaired in pDGS (88). Given the specific role of the thymus in T- but not B-cell development it is probable, but not proven, that B-cell abnormalities are secondary to the T-cell deficiency in these patients.

IMMUNODEFICIENCY IN COMPLETE DGS

Complete DGS is associated with athymia and results in a picture of SCID in a patient showing other variable features of DGS. Affected patients suffer opportunistic infections and, like other infants with SCID, are likely to die early unless they can be treated with a corrective procedure. In addition to susceptibility to infections these patients are at risk from transfusion acquired graft versus host disease (55).

In the typical form of cDGS the T-cell numbers are <50/cumm and mitogen responses are absent. B cells are usually present in normal numbers and NK cells in normal or high numbers. In a proportion of cases there may be some mature T cells present either through maternal engraftment (94) or through oligoclonal expansion of memory phenotype T cells which have developed without thymic processing (95). In the latter case, as in SCID these cells can mediate severe inflammation leading to an Omenn-like picture with erythrodermic rashes, enteropathy, and lymphadenopathy (53, 96) This is called atypical cDGS. The diagnosis of complete athymia then depends on showing absence (<50/cumm) of T cells with a naïve (CD3 + CD45 RA+CD62L+) phenotype as well as abnormal T-cell receptor usage either by T-cell receptor spectratyping or FACS analysis of usage of V Beta TCR chains (96). An example of the abnormal spectratype in an atypical cDGS patient is shown in **Figure 1** which can be compared to the normal spectratype achieved in the same patient after successful thymus transplantation (**Figure 2**). Mitogen responsiveness is usually, but not invariably, impaired in these atypical patients (96).

Diagnosis of cDGS depends on the findings of the clinical features of DGS together with the above immunological findings with or without identification of one of the associated genetic abnormalities. A recent report (97) describes two patients with absent T cells and DGS associated with 22q.11 deletion who were also found to have pathogenic mutations in the DCLRE1C (Artemis) gene, a classical cause of SCID. A clue to the latter diagnosis was the virtual absence of B cells as well as T cells which is very unusual in cDGS alone.

Newborn screening for SCID using TREC detection on blood spots has been in place in certain states of USA for around 3 years (98, 99). Since TRECs will be absent or extremely low (86) this allows the early diagnosis of cDGS. In the California program (98) screening of nearly one million newborns picked up one cDGS case who went on to thymus transplantation, eight with T-cell lymphopenia associated with 22q.11 deletion and one with CHARGE association. Picking up the latter group was useful in the early identification of these children as having significant immunodeficiency and allowed infection prevention measures to be put in place including avoidance of live viral vaccinations. Newborn screening programs should offer the opportunity of a better outcome through earlier intervention in both cDGS and some cases of pDGS.





HEMATOPOIETIC CELL TRANSPLANTATION

Treatment with hematopoietic cell transplantation (HCT) for athymia is dependent on the transfer of mature post-thymic T cells. Long term survival after such transplants has been reported (100, 101) though at a low rate (41–48%) compared to survival after HCT for SCID (102). Survival in the subgroup receiving matched sibling donor transplants was better at over 60% (100). Mortality was related to other features of DGS, to graft versus host disease and to pre-existing viral infections. The quality of immune reconstitution achieved, as expected, is poor with no evidence of naïve T cells and often low CD4 counts with skewed distribution of T-cell receptor usage. However immunoglobulin production and antibody responses were relatively good. Though overall the outcome after HCT for cDGS is not good, in some circumstances, such as overwhelming viral infection, HCT from a matched sibling may be life-saving (103).

THYMUS TRANSPLANTATION

Replacement of thymic function using allografted tissue was first achieved using human fetal thymic tissue (104, 105). The use of post natal human thymus, necessarily removed at the time of cardiac surgery in infants undergoing median sternotomy, was pioneered by Markert at Duke University (106, 107) and has become established as the treatment of choice for cDGS. More recently this approach has also been used in London using an almost identical approach (manuscript in preparation). The thymus is cultured for 12-21 days prior to transplantation into the quadriceps muscle of the patient. During this period most thymocytes are washed out or undergo apoptosis whilst the thymic stroma is preserved. Patients with atypical cDGS are pre-treated with anti thymocyte globulin and continuing cyclosporine A (108) whilst typical cases receive no pre-conditioning. The results have been published (55, 109) and of 60 patients treated 43 survived (72%). This compares favorably with the outcome after HCT described above though strict comparison is not possible as the thymus transplant patients were a selected group. After successful transplantation, patients develop host derived naïve T cells with a normal T-cell receptor repertoire (Figure 2), normal mitogen responses and antigen specific immune responses restricted to the host major histocompatibility complex (MHC). There is normalization of the TCR repertoire in circulating regulatory T cells (110). Biopsies of transplanted thymus taken from 2 months onward show thymopoiesis (111) and normal thymus architecture (Figure 3). The levels of circulating T cells achieved do not usually match normal age matched controls and are more akin to the levels seen in children with pDGS. Tolerance to the donor's MHC has been demonstrated (112) and this has been exploited to enable parathyroid transplantation from a parent in situations where there is coincidental partial MHC class 2 matching between the donor and the parent (113).

Deaths after thymus transplantation were related mainly to preexisting co-morbidities, mostly chronic lung disease and systemic viral infections such as cytomegalovirus (CMV) (114). This virus is a particular problem. Screening of potential thymic donors always excludes CMV positive donors but a proportion of cDGS patients will have acquired the virus before thymus transplantation. Biopsies of transplanted thymus tissue from two patients with CMV



in the Markert series showed no evidence of thymopoiesis even though the epithelium was viable (111). Both patients died. A similar appearance was found in a CMV infected patient in London who also died without evidence of thymopoiesis (manuscript in preparation). The mechanism by which CMV interferes with thymopoiesis is not clear but as a result of this experience, CMV infection should be considered at least a relative contraindication to thymus transplantation. After successful thymus transplantation patients are able to control infections and to come off antibiotic prophylaxis and immunoglobulin therapy with normal responses to immunization. The main problem that has been encountered is the development of autoimmunity. Around one third of patients have shown autoimmunity, mainly hypothyroidism but also with a significant number of immune cytopenias (109). It is interesting that this spectrum of autoimmunity is similar to that seen in pDGS patients, as discussed above, and may have the same causation or may be related to faulty thymic education related to the fact that the transplanted thymic epithelial cells are not MHC matched, as discussed below. No clinical or methodological correlates with risk of autoimmune development could be identified in the Duke University series. (114).

The success of transplantation of thymus which is not matched at the MHC loci offers interesting insights into thymocyte development. In particular, it suggests that positive and negative selection of developing thymocytes can occur in the absence of self MHC expressed on thymic epithelial cells. The mechanism by which this takes place is incompletely understood. Reconstitution experiments in nude mice with MHC incompatible thymic tissue showed that functional T cell development could be supported by haematopoeitic cell-expressed MHC instead of TECexpressed MHC (115). Further work showed that development of functional CD4 (but not CD8) cells however does seem to require interaction with MHC on TECs but not any particular allelic form of MHC (116). Under the influence of AIRE expressed on thymic epithelium dendritic cells have been shown to have a role in negative selection in mice (117). Whilst negative selection may be imperfect resulting in autoimmunity in some cases, it must be largely effective since multiple system/organ autoimmunity from widespread lack of central tolerance has not been seen. Positive selection has also been shown to be mediated by fibroblasts (118) and by thymocytes (119, 120). Influx of these cell types expressing host MHC to the developing thymus allograft could therefore have the potential for mediating the selection processes.

REFERENCES

- de la Chapelle A, Herva R, Koivisto M, Aula P. A deletion in chromosome 22 can cause DiGeorge syndrome. *Hum Genet* (1981) 57(3):253–6.
- Kelley RI, Zackai EH, Emanuel BS, Kistenmacher M, Greenberg F, Punnett HH. The association of the DiGeorge anomalad with partial monosomy of chromosome 22. *J Pediatr* (1982) 101(2):197–200. doi:10.1016/ S0022-3476(82)80116-9
- Graham A. The development and evolution of the pharyngeal arches. J Anat (2001) 199(Pt 1–2):133–41. doi:10.1046/j.1469-7580.2001.19910133.x
- Graham A, Smith A. Patterning the pharyngeal arches. *Bioessays* (2001) 23(1):54–61. doi:10.1002/ 1521-1878(200101)23:1<54: :AID-BIES1007>3.0.CO;2-5
- Blackburn CC, Manley NR. Developing a new paradigm for thymus organogenesis. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2004) 4(4):278–89. doi:10.1038/ nri1331
- Le Lievre CS, Le Douarin NM. Mesenchymal derivatives of the neural crest: analysis of chimaeric quail and chick embryos. J Embryol Exp Morphol (1975) 34(1):125–54.
- Haynes BF, Heinly CS. Early human T cell development: analysis of the human thymus at the time of initial entry of hematopoietic stem cells into the fetal thymic microenvironment. J Exp Med (1995) 181(4):1445–58. doi: 10.1084/jem.181.4.1445
- Klug DB, Carter C, Gimenez-Conti IB, Richie ER. Cutting edge: thymocyte-independent and thymocyte-dependent phases of epithelial patterning in the fetal thymus. *J Immunol* (2002) 169(6):2842–5.
- Anderson G, Jenkinson EJ. Lymphostromal interactions in thymic development and function. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2001) 1(1):31–40. doi:10.1038/35095500
- Gill J, Malin M, Sutherland J, Gray D, Hollander G, Boyd R. Thymic generation and regeneration. *Immunol Rev* (2003) **195**:28–50. doi:10.1034/j.1600-065X.2003. 00077.x

- 11. Poliani PL, Facchetti F, Ravanini M, Gennery AR, Villa A, Roifman CM, et al. Early defects in human T-cell development severely affect distribution and maturation of thymic stromal cells: possible implications for the pathophysiology of Omenn syndrome. *Blood* (2009) **114**(1):105–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-03-211029
- Muller SM, Kohn T, Schulz AS, Debatin KM, Friedrich W. Similar pattern of thymic-dependent T-cell reconstitution in infants with severe combined immunodeficiency after human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-identical and HLAnonidentical stem cell transplantation. *Blood* (2000) 96(13):4344–9.
- Ryan AK, Goodship JA, Wilson DI, Philip N, Levy A, Seidel H, et al. Spectrum of clinical features associated with interstitial chromosome 22q11 deletions: a European collaborative study. J Med Genet (1997) 34(10):798–804. doi: 10.1136/jmg.34.10.798
- Shprintzen RJ. Velo-cardio-facial syndrome: 30 Years of study. Dev Disabil Res Rev (2008) 14(1):3–10. doi:10.1002/ddrr.2
- Tezenas Du MS, Mendizabai H, Ayme S, Levy A, Philip N. Prevalence of 22q11 microdeletion. J Med Genet (1996) 33(8):719. doi: 10.1136/jmg.33.8.719
- Carlson C, Sirotkin H, Pandita R, Goldberg R, McKie J, Wadey R, et al. Molecular definition of 22q11 deletions in 151 velo-cardio-facial syndrome patients. *Am J Hum Genet* (1997) 61(3):620–9. doi:10. 1086/515508
- Meechan DW, Maynard TM, Gopalakrishna D, Wu Y, LaMantia AS. When half is not enough: gene expression and dosage in the 22q11 deletion syndrome. *Gene Expr* (2007) 13(6):299–310. doi: 10.3727/00000006781510697
- Edelmann L, Pandita RK, Morrow BE. Low-copy repeats mediate the common 3-Mb deletion in patients with velo-cardiofacial syndrome. *Am J Hum Genet* (1999) 64(4):1076–86. doi: 10.1086/302343
- 19. Goodship J, Cross I, Scambler P, Burn J. Monozygotic twins with chromosome 22q11 deletion and

CONCLUSION

Study of the thymic deficiency in DGS provides insights into the development of the thymus and the mechanisms of thymopoiesis required to generate a robust and diverse T-cell mediated immunity. Thymus transplantation offers a novel way of correcting the immunodeficiency in this disorder.

discordant phenotype. *J Med Genet* (1995) **32**(9):746–8. doi:10.1136/ jmg.32.9.746

- Yagi H, Furutani Y, Hamada H, Sasaki T, Asakawa S, Minoshima S, et al. Role of TBX1 in human del22q11.2 syndrome. *Lancet* (2003) 362(9393):1366–73. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(03)14632-6
- Zweier C, Sticht H, Aydin-Yaylagul I, Campbell CE, Rauch A. Human TBX1 missense mutations cause gain of function resulting in the same phenotype as 22q11.2 deletions. *Am J Hum Genet* (2007) 80(3):510–7. doi:10.1086/ 511993
- Smith J. T-box genes: what they do and how they do it. *Trends Genet* (1999) 15(4):154–8. doi:10.1016/ S0168-9525(99)01693-5
- Jerome LA, Papaioannou VE. DiGeorge syndrome phenotype in mice mutant for the T-box gene, Tbx1. *Nat Genet* (2001) 27(3):286–91. doi:10.1038/85845
- 24. Rauch A, Zink S, Zweier C, Thiel CT, Koch A, Rauch R, et al. Systematic assessment of atypical deletions reveals genotype-phenotype correlation in 22q11.2. *J Med Genet* (2005) 42(11):871–6. doi:10.1136/ jmg.2004.030619
- 25. Amati F, Conti E, Novelli A, Bengala M, Diglio MC, Marino B, et al. Atypical deletions suggest five 22q11.2 critical regions related to the DiGeorge/velo-cardio-facial syndrome. *Eur J Hum Genet* (1999) 7(8):903–9. doi:10.1038/sj. ejhg.5200399
- Guris DL, Fantes J, Tara D, Druker BJ, Imamoto A. Mice lacking the homologue of the human 22q11.2 gene CRKL phenocopy neurocristopathies of DiGeorge syndrome. *Nat Genet* (2001) 27(3):293–8. doi:10.1038/85855
- Guris DL, Duester G, Papaioannou VE, Imamoto A. Dose-dependent interaction of Tbx1 and Crkl and locally aberrant RA signaling in a model of del22q11 syndrome. *Dev Cell* (2006) 10(1):81–92. doi:10. 1016/j.devcel.2005.12.002
- Hollander G, Gill J, Zuklys S, Iwanami N, Liu C, Takahama Y. Cellular and molecular events during early thymus development. *Immunol Rev* (2006) 209:28–46.

doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2006. 00357.x

- Papangeli I, Scambler P. The 22q11 deletion: DiGeorge and velocardiofacial syndromes and the role of TBX1. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol (2013) 2(3):393–403. doi:10. 1002/wdev.75
- Elstner CL, Carey JC, Livingston G, Moeschler J, Lubinsky M. Further delineation of the 10p deletion syndrome. *Pediatrics* (1984) 73(5):670–5.
- Berger R, Larroche JC, Toubas PL. Deletion of the short arm of chromosome No. 10. Acta Paediatr Scand (1977) 66(5):659–62. doi:10.1111/j.1651-2227.1977. tb07965.x
- 32. Daw SC, Taylor C, Kraman M, Call K, Mao J, Schuffenhauer S, et al. A common region of 10p deleted in DiGeorge and velocardiofacial syndromes. *Nat Genet* (1996) 13(4):458–60. doi:10.1038/ ng0896-458
- 33. Pignata C, D'Agostino A, Finelli P, Fiore M, Scotese I, Cosentini E, et al. Progressive deficiencies in blood T cells associated with a 10p12-13 interstitial deletion. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol* (1996) **80**(1):9–15. doi:10.1006/clin.1996.0088
- 34. Van EH, Groenen P, Fryns JP, Van de Ven W, Devriendt K. The phenotypic spectrum of the 10p deletion syndrome versus the classical DiGeorge syndrome. *Genet Couns* (1999) 10(1):59–65.
- 35. Berend SA, Spikes AS, Kashork CD, Wu JM, Daw SC, Scambler PJ, et al. Dual-probe fluorescence in situ hybridization assay for detecting deletions associated with VCFS/DiGeorge syndrome I and DiGeorge syndrome II loci. Am J Med Genet (2000) 91(4):313–7. doi:10.1002/(SICI) 1096-8628(20000410)91:4<313: AID-AJMG13>3.3.CC;2-L
- 36. Bartsch O, Wagner A, Hinkel GK, Lichtner P, Murken J, Schuffenhauer S. No evidence for chromosomal microdeletions at the second DiGeorge syndrome locus on 10p near D10S585. Am J Med Genet (1999) 83(5):425–6. doi:10.1002/(SICI) 1096-8628(19990423)83:5<425: AID-AJMG17>3.0.CO;2-Q

- 37. Lindstrand A, Malmgren H, Verri A, Benetti E, Eriksson M, Nordgren A, et al. Molecular and clinical characterization of patients with overlapping 10p deletions. *Am J Med Genet A* (2010) **152A**(5):1233–43. doi:10.1002/ajmg.a.33366
- 38. Issekutz KA, Graham JM Jr., Prasad C, Smith IM, Blake KD. An epidemiological analysis of CHARGE syndrome: preliminary results from a Canadian study. *Am J Med Genet A* (2005) 133A(3):309–17. doi:10.1002/ajmg.a.30560
- 39. Aramaki M, Kimura T, Udaka T, Kosaki R, Mitsuhashi T, Okada Y, et al. Embryonic expression profile of chicken CHD7, the ortholog of the causative gene for CHARGE syndrome. *Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol* (2007) **79**(1):50–7. doi: 10.1002/bdra.20330
- 40. Sanlaville D, Etchevers HC, Gonzales M, Martinovic J, Clement-Ziza M, Delezoide AL, et al. Phenotypic spectrum of CHARGE syndrome in fetuses with CHD7 truncating mutations correlates with expression during human development. J Med Genet (2006) 43(3):211–7. doi:10.1136/jmg.2005.036160
- 41. Coberly S, Lammer E, Alashari M. Retinoic acid embryopathy: case report and review of literature. *Pediatr Pathol Lab Med* (1996) 16(5):823–36. doi:10.3109/ 15513819609169308
- Roberts C, Ivins SM, James CT, Scambler PJ. Retinoic acid downregulates Tbx1 expression in vivo and in vitro. *Dev Dyn* (2005) 232(4):928–38. doi:10.1002/dvdy. 20268
- Braunstein EM, Monks DC, Aggarwal VS, Arnold JS, Morrow BE. Tbx1 and Brn4 regulate retinoic acid metabolic genes during cochlear morphogenesis. *BMC Dev Biol* (2009) **9**:31. doi:10.1186/1471-213X-9-31
- 44. Ammann AJ, Wara DW, Cowan MJ, Barrett DJ, Stiehm ER. The DiGeorge syndrome and the fetal alcohol syndrome. *Am J Dis Child* (1982) **136**(10):906–8.
- Cavdar AO. DiGeorge's syndrome and fetal alcohol syndrome. *Am J Dis Child* (1983) 137(8):806–7.
- 46. Sulik KK, Johnston MC, Daft PA, Russell WE, Dehart DB. Fetal alcohol syndrome and DiGeorge anomaly: critical ethanol exposure periods for craniofacial malformations as illustrated in an animal model. *Am J Med Genet Suppl* (1986) 2:97–112. doi:10. 1002/ajmg.1320250614

- Novak RW, Robinson HB. Coincident DiGeorge anomaly and renal agenesis and its relation to maternal diabetes. *Am J Med Genet* (1994) 50(4):311–2. doi:10.1002/ajmg.1320500402
- Gosseye S, Golaire MC, Verellen G, Van LM, Claus D. Association of bilateral renal agenesis and DiGeorge syndrome in an infant of a diabetic mother. *Helv Paediatr Acta* (1982) 37(5):471–4.
- Digilio MC, Marino B, Formigari R, Giannotti A. Maternal diabetes causing DiGeorge anomaly and renal agenesis. *Am J Med Genet* (1995) 55(4):513–4. doi:10.1002/ ajmg.1320550427
- Lischner HW, DiGeorge AM. Role of the thymus in humoral immunity. *Lancet* (1969) 2(7629):1044–9. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(69)90647-3
- 51. Jyonouchi S, McDonald-McGinn DM, Bale S, Zackai EH, Sullivan KE. CHARGE (coloboma, heart defect, atresia choanae, retarded growth and development, genital hypoplasia, ear anomalies/deafness) syndrome and chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndrome: a comparison of immunologic and nonimmunologic phenotypic features. *Pediatrics* (2009) **123**(5):e871–7. doi:10.1542/peds.2008-3400
- 52. Chopra C, Baretto R, Duddridge M, Browning MJ. T-cell immunodeficiency in CHARGE syndrome. Acta Paediatr (2009) 98(2):408–10. doi:10.1111/j.1651-2227.2008.01077.x
- 53. Gennery AR, Slatter MA, Rice J, Hoefsloot LH, Barge D, McLean-Tooke A, et al. Mutations in CHD7 in patients with CHARGE syndrome cause T-B + natural killer cell + severe combined immune deficiency and may cause Omennlike syndrome. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2008) **153**(1):75–80. doi:10.1111/ j.1365-2249.2008.03681.x
- Writzl K, Cale CM, Pierce CM, Wilson LC, Hennekam RC. Immunological abnormalities in CHARGE syndrome. *Eur J Med Genet* (2007) 50(5):338–45. doi:10.1016/j.ejmg. 2007.05.002
- 55. Markert ML, Devlin BH, Alexieff MJ, Li J, McCarthy EA, Gupton SE, et al. Review of 54 patients with complete DiGeorge anomaly enrolled in protocols for thymus transplantation: outcome of 44 consecutive transplants. *Blood* (2007) **109**(10):4539–47. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-10-048652

- 56. Bergman JE, Janssen N, Hoefsloot LH, Jongmans MC, Hofstra RM, Van Ravenswaaij-Arts CM. CHD7 mutations and CHARGE syndrome: the clinical implications of an expanding phenotype. *J Med Genet* (2011) 48(5):334–42. doi:10.1136/jmg.2010.087106
- 57. Shah SS, Lai SY, Ruchelli E, Kazahaya K, Mahboubi S. Retropharyngeal aberrant thymus. *Pediatrics* (2001) **108**(5):E94. doi:10.1542/peds.108.5.e94
- Herwadkar A, Gennery AR, Moran AS, Haeney MR, Arkwright PD. Association between hypoparathyroidism and defective T cell immunity in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *J Clin Pathol* (2010) 63(2):151–5. doi:10.1136/jcp.2009.072074
- 59. Eberle P, Berger C, Junge S, Dougoud S, Buchel EV, Riegel M, et al. Persistent low thymic activity and non-cardiac mortality in children with chromosome 22q11.2 microdeletion and partial DiGeorge syndrome. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2009) **155**(2):189–98. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2008. 03809.x
- 60. Sullivan KE, Jawad AF, Randall P, Driscoll DA, Emanuel BS, McDonald-McGinn DM, et al. Lack of correlation between impaired T cell production, immunodeficiency, and other phenotypic features in chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndromes. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol* (1998) **86**(2):141–6. doi:10.1006/clin.1997.4463
- Kobrynski LJ, Sullivan KE. Velocardiofacial syndrome, DiGeorge syndrome: the chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndromes. *Lancet* (2007) **370**(9596):1443–52. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(07)61601-8
- 62. Jawad AF, McDonald-McGinn DM, Zackai E, Sullivan KE. Immunologic features of chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndrome (DiGeorge syndrome/ velocardiofacial syndrome). J Pediatr (2001) 139(5):715–23. doi:10.1067/mpd.2001.118534
- 63. Smith CA, Driscoll DA, Emanuel BS, McDonald-McGinn DM, Zackai EH, Sullivan KE. Increased prevalence of immunoglobulin a deficiency in patients with the chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndrome (DiGeorge syndrome/velocardiofacial syndrome). Clin Diagn Lab Immunol (1998) 5(3):415–7.
- Brown JJ, Datta V, Browning MJ, Swift PG. Graves' disease in DiGeorge syndrome: patient report with

a review of endocrine autoimmunity associated with 22q11.2 deletion. *J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab* (2004) **17**(11):1575–9. doi: 10.1515/JPEM.2004.17.11.1575

- 65. Gennery AR, Barge D, O'Sullivan JJ, Flood TJ, Abinun M, Cant AJ. Antibody deficiency and autoimmunity in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Arch Dis Child* (2002) **86**(6):422–5. doi:10.1136/adc.86.6.422
- 66. Rasmussen SA, Williams CA, Ayoub EM, Sleasman JW, Gray BA, Bent-Williams A, et al. Juvenile rheumatoid arthritis in velo-cardio-facial syndrome: coincidence or unusual complication? Am J Med Genet (1996) 64(4):546–50. doi:10.1002/(SICI) 1096-8628(19960906)64:4<546: :AID-AJMG4>3.3.CO;2-C
- Verloes A, Curry C, Jamar M, Herens C, O'Lague P, Marks J, et al. Juvenile rheumatoid arthritis and del(22q11) syndrome: a nonrandom association. J Med Genet (1998) 35(11):943–7. doi:10.1136/ jmg.35.11.943
- Davies K, Stiehm ER, Woo P, Murray KJ. Juvenile idiopathic polyarticular arthritis and IgA deficiency in the 22q11 deletion syndrome. *J Rheumatol* (2001) 28(10):2326–34.
- Sullivan KE, McDonald-McGinn DM, Driscoll DA, Zmijewski CM, Ellabban AS, Reed L, et al. Juvenile rheumatoid arthritislike polyarthritis in chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndrome (DiGeorge anomalad/velocardiofacial syndrome/conotruncal anomaly face syndrome). Arthritis Rheum (1997) 40(3):430–6. doi:10.1002/art.1780400307
- DePiero AD, Lourie EM, Berman BW, Robin NH, Zinn AB, Hostoffer RW. Recurrent immune cytopenias in two patients with DiGeorge/velocardiofacial syndrome. *J Pediatr* (1997) 131(3):484–6. doi:10.1016/S0022-3476(97) 80085-6
- 71. Kratz CP, Niehues T, Lyding S, Heusch A, Janssen G, Gobel U. Evans syndrome in a patient with chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndrome: a case report. *Pediatr Hematol Oncol* (2003) **20**(2):167–72. doi:10.1080/0880010390158685
- 72. Sakamoto O, Imaizumi M, Suzuki A, Sato A, Tanaka T, Ogawa E, et al. Refractory autoimmune hemolytic anemia in a patient with chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Pediatr Int* (2004)

46(5):612–4. doi:10.1111/j.1442-200x.2004.01940.x

- Davies JK, Telfer P, Cavenagh JD, Foot N, Neat M. Autoimmune cytopenias in the 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Clin Lab Haematol* (2003) 25(3):195–7. doi:10.1046/j. 1365-2257.2003.00508.x
- Etzioni A. Immune deficiency and autoimmunity. *Autoimmun Rev* (2003) 2(6):364–9. doi:10.1016/ S1568-9972(03)00052-1
- McLean-Tooke A, Barge D, Spickett GP, Gennery AR. Immunologic defects in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2008) 122(2):362–7. doi:10.1016/ j.jaci.2008.03.033
- 76. Cavadini P, Vermi W, Facchetti F, Fontana S, Nagafuchi S, Mazzolari E, et al. AIRE deficiency in thymus of 2 patients with Omenn syndrome. J Clin Invest (2005) 115(3):728–32. doi: 10.1172/JCI23087
- 77. Cassani B, Poliani PL, Moratto D, Sobacchi C, Marrella V, Imperatori L, et al. Defect of regulatory T cells in patients with Omenn syndrome. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2010) 125(1):209–16. doi:10.1016/j.jaci. 2009.10.023
- 78. Perniola R, Lobreglio G, Rosatelli MC, Pitotti E, Accogli E, De RC. Immunophenotypic characterisation of peripheral blood lymphocytes in autoimmune polyglandular syndrome type 1: clinical study and review of the literature. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab (2005) 18(2):155–64. doi:10.1515/JPEM. 2005.18.2.155
- 79. Sullivan KE, McDonald-McGinn D, Zackai EH. CD4(+) CD25(+) T-cell production in healthy humans and in patients with thymic hypoplasia. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol* (2002) 9(5):1129–31.
- Chinen J, Rosenblatt HM, Smith EO, Shearer WT, Noroski LM. Long-term assessment of T-cell populations in DiGeorge syndrome. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2003) 111(3):573–9. doi:10.1067/ mai.2003.165
- 81. Sullivan KE, McDonald-McGinn D, Driscoll DA, Emanuel BS, Zackai EH, Jawad AF. Longitudinal analysis of lymphocyte function and numbers in the first year of life in chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndrome (DiGeorge syndrome/velocardiofacial syndrome). *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol* (1999) 6(6):906–11.
- 82. Piliero LM, Sanford AN, McDonald-McGinn DM, Zackai EH, Sullivan KE. T-cell

homeostasis in humans with thymic hypoplasia due to chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Blood* (2004) **103**(3):1020–5. doi:10.1182/blood-2003-08-2824

- Cancrini C, Romiti ML, Finocchi A, Di CS, Ciaffi P, Capponi C, et al. Post-natal ontogenesis of the T-cell receptor CD4 and CD8 Vbeta repertoire and immune function in children with DiGeorge syndrome. *J Clin Immunol* (2005) 25(3):265–74. doi:10.1007/ s10875-005-4085-3
- 84. Pierdominici M, Mazzetta F, Caprini E, Marziali M, Digilio MC, Marino B, et al. Biased T-cell receptor repertoires in patients with chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndrome (DiGeorge syndrome/velocardiofacial syndrome). *Clin Exp Immunol* (2003) 132(2):323–31. doi:10.1046/j. 1365-2249.2003.02134.x
- McLean-Tooke A, Barge D, Spickett GP, Gennery AR. Flow cytometric analysis of TCR Vbeta repertoire in patients with 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Scand J Immunol* (2011) **73**(6):577–85. doi:10.1111/ j.1365-3083.2011.02527.x
- 86. Lima K, Abrahamsen TG, Foelling I, Natvig S, Ryder LP, Olaussen RW. Low thymic output in the 22q11.2 deletion syndrome measured by CCR9+CD45RA+ T cell counts and T cell receptor rearrangement excision circles. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2010) **161**(1):98–107. doi:10. 1111/j.1365-2249.2010.04152.x
- Knutsen AP, Baker MW, Markert ML. Interpreting low T-cell receptor excision circles in newborns with DiGeorge anomaly: importance of assessing naive T-cell markers. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2011) 128(6): 1375–6. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2011. 08.019
- Finocchi A, Di CS, Romiti ML, Capponi C, Rossi P, Carsetti R, et al. Humoral immune responses and CD27+ B cells in children with DiGeorge syndrome (22q11.2 deletion syndrome). *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* (2006) 17(5):382–8. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3038.2006.00409.x
- 89. Kung SJ, Gripp KW, Stephan MJ, Fairchok MP, McGeady SJ. Selective IgM deficiency and 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol (2007) 99(1):87–92. doi:10.1016/S1081-1206(10)60627-8
- Schubert MS, Moss RB. Selective polysaccharide antibody deficiency in familial DiGeorge

syndrome. *Ann Allergy* (1992) **69**(3):231–8.

- 91. Patel K, Akhter J, Kobrynski L, Benjamin Gathmann MA, Davis O, Sullivan KE. Immunoglobulin deficiencies: the B-lymphocyte side of DiGeorge Syndrome. *J Pediatr* (2012) **161**(5):950–3. doi:10. 1016/j.jpeds.2012.06.018
- 92. Junker AK, Driscoll DA. Humoral immunity in DiGeorge syndrome. *J Pediatr* (1995) **127**(2):231–7. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(95)70300-4
- 93. Haire RN, Buell RD, Litman RT, Ohta Y, Fu SM, Honjo T, et al. Diversification, not use, of the immunoglobulin VH gene repertoire is restricted in DiGeorge syndrome. J Exp Med (1993) 178(3):825–34. doi:10.1084/jem. 178.3.825
- 94. Ocejo-Vinyals JG, Lozano MJ, Sanchez-Velasco P, Escribano de DJ, Paz-Miguel JE, Leyva-Cobian F. An unusual concurrence of graft versus host disease caused by engraftment of maternal lymphocytes with DiGeorge anomaly. *Arch Dis Chill* (2000) 83(2):165–9. doi:10.1136/adc.83.2.165
- 95. Collard HR, Boeck A, Mc Laughlin TM, Watson TJ, Schiff SE, Hale LP, et al. Possible extrathymic development of nonfunctional T cells in a patient with complete DiGeorge syndrome. *Clin Immunol* (1999) **91**(2):156–62. doi:10.1006/ clim.1999.4691
- 96. Markert ML, Alexieff MJ, Li J, Sarzotti M, Ozaki DA, Devlin BH, et al. Complete DiGeorge syndrome: development of rash, lymphadenopathy, and oligoclonal T cells in 5 cases. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2004) 113(4):734–41. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2004.01.766
- 97. Heimall J, Keller M, Saltzman R, Bunin N, McDonald-McGinn D, Zakai E, et al. Diagnosis of 22q11.2 deletion syndrome and artemis deficiency in two children with T-B-NK+ immunodeficiency. J Clin Immunol (2012) 32(5):1141–4. doi:10.1007/s10875-012-9741-9
- 98. Kwan A, Church JA, Cowan MJ, Agarwal R, Kapoor N, Kohn DB, et al. Newborn screening for severe combined immunodeficiency and T-cell lymphopenia in California: Results of the first 2 years. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2013) 132(1):140–50. doi:10.1016/j.jaci. 2013.04.024
- 99. Routes JM, Grossman WJ, Verbsky J, Laessig RH, Hoffman GL, Brokopp CD, et al. Statewide newborn screening for severe T-cell lymphopenia.

JAMA (2009) **302**(22):2465–70. doi:10.1001/jama.2009.1806

- 100. Janda A, Sedlacek P, Honig M, Friedrich W, Champagne M, Matsumoto T, et al. Multicenter survey on the outcome of transplantation of hematopoietic cells in patients with the complete form of DiGeorge anomaly. *Blood* (2010) **116**(13):2229–36. doi:10. 1182/blood-2010-03-275966
- 101. McGhee SA, Lloret MG, Stiehm ER. Immunologic reconstitution in 22q deletion (DiGeorge) syndrome. Immunol Res (2009) 45(1):37–45. doi:10.1007/s12026-009-8108-7
- 102. Gennery AR, Slatter MA, Grandin L, Taupin P, Cant AJ, Veys P, et al. Transplantation of hematopoietic stem cells and long-term survival for primary immunodeficiencies in Europe: entering a new century, do we do better? J Allergy Clin Immunol (2010) 126(3):602–10. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2010.06.015
- 103. Ip W, Zhan H, Gilmour KC, Davies EG, Qasim W. 22q11.2 Deletion syndrome with lifethreatening adenovirus infection. J Pediatr (2013) 163(3):908–10. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.03.070
- 104. August CS, Berkel AI, Levey RH, Rosen FS, Kay HE. Establishment of immunological competence in a child with congenital thymic aplasia by a graft of fetal thymus. *Lancet* (1970) 1(7656):1080–3. doi:10. 1016/S0140-6736(70)92755-8
- 105. Cleveland WW, Fogel BJ, Brown WT, Kay HE. Foetal thymic transplant in a case of DiGeorge's syndrome. *Lancet* (1968) 2(7580):1211–4. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(68)91694-2
- 106. Markert ML, Kostyu DD, Ward FE, McLaughlin TM, Watson TJ, Buckley RH, et al. Successful formation of a chimeric human thymus allograft following transplantation of cultured postnatal human thymus. *J Immunol* (1997) **158**(2):998–1005.
- 107. Markert ML, Boeck A, Hale LP, Kloster AL, McLaughlin TM, Batchvarova MN, et al. Transplantation of thymus tissue in complete DiGeorge syndrome. N Engl J Med (1999) 341(16):1180–9. doi:10.1056/ NEJM199910143411603
- 108. Markert ML, Alexieff MJ, Li J, Sarzotti M, Ozaki DA, Devlin BH, et al. Postnatal thymus transplantation with immunosuppression as treatment for DiGeorge syndrome. *Blood* (2004) **104**(8):2574–81. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-08-2984

- 109. Markert ML, Devlin BH, McCarthy EA. Thymus transplantation. *Clin Immunol* (2010) 135(2):236–46. doi:10.1016/j.clim. 2010.02.007
- 110. Chinn IK, Milner JD, Scheinberg P, Douek DC, Markert ML. Thymus transplantation restores the repertoires of forkhead box protein 3 (FoxP3)(+) and FoxP3(-) T cells in complete DiGeorge anomaly. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2013) **173**(1):140–9. doi:10.1111/cei.12088
- 111. Markert ML, Li J, Devlin BH, Hoehner JC, Rice HE, Skinner MA, et al. Use of allograft biopsies to assess thymopoiesis after thymus transplantation. *J Immunol* (2008) 180(9):6354–64.
- 112. Chinn IK, Devlin BH, Li YJ, Markert ML. Long-term tolerance to allogeneic thymus transplants in complete DiGeorge anomaly. *Clin Immunol* (2008) **126**(3):277–81. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2007.11.009
- 113. Chinn IK, Markert ML. Induction of tolerance to parental

parathyroid grafts using allogeneic thymus tissue in patients with DiGeorge anomaly. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2011) **127**(6):1351–5. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2011.03.033

- 114. Markert ML, Devlin BH, Chinn IK, McCarthy EA, Li YJ. Factors affecting success of thymus transplantation for complete DiGeorge anomaly. *Am J Transplant* (2008) 8(8):1729–36. doi:10.1111/j.1600-6143.2008.02301.x
- 115. Zinkernagel RM, Althage A. On the role of thymic epithelial cells vs. bone marrow-derived cells in repertoire selection of T cells. *Proc Nat Acad Sci* (1999) **96**:8092–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.14.8092
- 116. Martinic MM, van den Broek MF, Rulicke T, Huber C, Odermatt B, Reith W, et al. Functional CD8+ but not CD4+ T cell responses develop independent of thymic epithelial MHC. *Proc Nat Acad Sci* (2006) **103**(39):14435–40. doi:10. 1073/pnas.0606707103
- 117. Liston A, Lesage S, Wilson J, Peltonen L, Goodnow CC. Aire regulates

negative selection of organ-specific T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4(4):350–4. doi:10.1038/ni906

- Pawlowski T, Elliott JD, Loh DY, Staerz UD. Positive selection of T lymphocytes on fibroblasts. *Nature* (1993) 364(6438):642–5. doi:10. 1038/364642a0
- 119. Li W, Kim MG, Gourley TS, McCarthy BP, Sant'Angelo DB, Chang CH. An alternate pathway for CD4 T cell development: thymocyte-expressed MHC class II selects a distinct T cell population. *Immunity* (2005) 23(4):375–86. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2005.09. 002
- 120. Choi EY, Jung KC, Park HJ, Chung DH, Song JS, Yang SD, et al. Thymocyte-thymocyte interaction for efficient positive selection and maturation of CD4 T cells. *Immunity* (2005) 23(4):387–96. doi:10. 1016/j.immuni.2005.09.005

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any

commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 25 July 2013; paper pending published: 09 August 2013; accepted: 23 September 2013; published online: 31 October 2013.

Citation: Davies EG (2013) Immunodeficiency in DiGeorge syndrome and options for treating cases with complete athymia. Front. Immunol. **4**:322. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00322

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2013 Davies. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Lymphopenia-induced proliferation in Aire-deficient mice helps to explain their autoimmunity and differences from human patients

Kai Kisand *, Pärt Peterson and Martti Laan

Molecular Pathology, Institute of Biomedicine and Translational Medicine, University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia

Edited by:

Claudio Pignata, University of Naples Federico II, Italy

Reviewed by:

Mitsuru Matsumoto, University of Tokushima, Japan Taishin Akiyama, University of Tokyo, Japan Eliisa Kekäläinen, Karolinska Institutet, Sweden

*Correspondence:

Kai Kisand, Molecular Pathology, Institute of Biomedical and Translational Medicine, University of Tartu, Ravila 19, Tartu 50411, Estonia e-mail: kai.kisand@ut.ee

Studies on autoimmune polyendocrinopathy candidiasis ectodermal dystrophy (APECED) and its mouse model – both caused by mutant AIRE – have greatly advanced the understanding of thymic processes that generate a self-tolerant T-cell repertoire. Much is now known about the molecular mechanisms by which AIRE induces tissue-specific antigen expression in thymic epithelium, and how this leads to negative selection of auto-reactive thymocytes. However, we still do not understand the processes that lead to the activation of any infrequent naïve auto-reactive T-cells exported by AIRE-deficient thymi. Also, the striking phenotypic differences between APECED and its mouse models have puzzled researchers for years. The aim of this review is to suggest explanations for some of these unanswered questions, based on a fresh view of published experiments. We review evidence that auto-reactive T-cells can be activated by the prolonged neonatal lymphopenia that naturally develops in young Aire-deficient mice due to delayed export of mature thymocytes. Lymphopenia-induced proliferation (LIP) helps to fill the empty space; by favoring auto-reactive T-cells, it also leads to lymphocyte infiltration in the same tissues as in day 3 thymectomized animals. The LIP becomes uncontrolled when loss of Aire is combined with defects in genes responsible for anergy induction and Treg responsiveness, or in signaling from the T-cell receptor and homeostatic cytokines. In APECED patients, LIP is much less likely to be involved in activation of naïve auto-reactive T-cells, as humans are born with a more mature immune system than in neonatal mice. We suggest that human AIRE-deficiency presents with different phenotypes because of additional precipitating factors that compound the defective negative selection of potentially autoaggressive tissue-specific thymocytes.

Keywords: AIRE, APECED, lymphopenia-induced proliferation, thymus, negative selection, autoantigens, immune privilege, NOD

INTRODUCTION

The autoimmune regulator (AIRE) is a transcriptional activator with a restricted expression pattern and important functions in medullary thymic epithelial cells (mTECs) (1). The thymus is the organ where a self-tolerant T-cell repertoire is established via positive and negative selection of thymocytes. To ensure tolerance toward the set of tissue-specific antigens (TSAs) from different peripheral organs, mTECs "promiscuously" express thousands of TSAs that are then presented to developing thymocytes; one of the best known among them is insulin (2, 3). AIRE is the best characterized transcriptional regulator in mTECs. It is generally accepted that its main thymic role is to ensure negative selection of thymocytes with T-cell receptors (TCRs) with high affinities for epitopes from TSAs. At first sight, this idea seems to fit with the variety of endocrine, ectodermal, and lymphoid autoimmune diseases that present in patients with AIRE mutations and comprise the Autoimmune polyendocrinopathy candidiasis ectodermal dystrophy (APECED) or autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type I (APS-I) syndrome (4-6). However, there is curiously little discussion about how these infrequent naïve auto-reactive T-cells that

escape negative selection in AIRE-deficient thymi are activated to cause disease in the periphery, or about the rather consistent early onset of its highly unusual cardinal manifestations, or about the strikingly different phenotypes in $Aire^{-/-}$ mice (7–9). Table 1 lists the autoimmune features of AIRE-deficient humans vs. mice and highlights their surprisingly limited overlap (7–21). Here, we propose the hypotheses that defective thymic negative selection is not sufficient by itself to induce autoimmunity and that these differences in disease phenotypes reflect distinct varieties of additional influences in $Aire^{-/-}$ mice vs. humans.

AIRE IS RESPONSIBLE FOR NEGATIVE SELECTION OF TSA-SPECIFIC THYMOCYTES

The normal roles of Aire in TSA up-regulation by mTECs, and thus in central tolerance induction, are firmly established. In mice transgenic for single TCRs specific for immune-dominant epitopes from hen egg lysozyme (HEL) or ovalbumin (OVA), large proportions of thymocytes are efficiently deleted if their neoself-antigens are expressed under Aire-dependent gene promoters. Membrane-bound HEL or OVA (mHEL or mOVA) under the rat Table 1 | Phenotypes and autoantibodies differ between APECED patients and Aire^{-/-} mice.

APECED patients ^a	<i>Aire^{-/-}</i> mice ^b	APECED patients ^a	<i>Aire^{-/-}</i> mice ^b
DISEASES/IMMUNE CELL INFILTRAT	IONS	AUTOANTIBODIES TO:	
Chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis		Type I IFNs	
Hypoparathyroidism		IL-22, IL-17F, IL-17A	IL-17A (IL-17F) (11)
Addison's disease		NALP5	
Ovarian failure	Infertility	CaSR	
Testicular failure		P450c17, P450c21, P450scc	
Hypopituitarism		IA-2, GAD65	
Autoimmune hepatitis	Liver infiltration	TG, TPO	
Intestinal dysfunction		TDRD6	
Pancreatitis		AADC	
Tubulointerstitial nephritis		P450 1A2	
Interstitial lung disease	Lung infiltration	ТРН	
Alopecia		HDC	
Vitiligo		ТН	
Rash with fever		SOX9/SOX10	
Asplenia		KCNRG	
Keratoconjunctivitis		Myelin protein zero (12)	
Dental enamel dysplasia		LPLUNC1 (13)	Vomeromodulin (13
Nail dystrophy		BPIFB1 (14)	BPIFB9 (14)
Type 1 diabetes			OBP1a (16)
Hypothyroidism			SVS2 (17)
CIPD (10)			IRBP (15)
Pernicious anemia	Gastritis		alpha-fodrin (18)
	Uveoretinitis		TRP-1 (19)
	Dacryoadenitis		Mucin 6 (20)
	Salivary gland infiltration		

^aAutoimmune phenotypes of APECED patients and their autoantibody reactivities are summarized from (21).

^bSummarized from (9), only Aire^{-/-} mice on C57BL/6 and BALBc backgrounds without additional immune defects are included.

CIDP, Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy; NALP5, NACHT leucine-rich-repeat protein 5; CaSR, calcium-sensing receptor; P450c17, steroid 17hydroxylase; P450c21, steroid 21-hydroxylase; P450scc, side chain cleavage enzyme; IA-2, islet antigen-2; GAD65, glutamic acid decarboxylase; TG, thyroglobulin; TPO, thyroid peroxidase; TDRD6, tudor domain containing protein 6; AADC, aromatic I-amino acid decarboxylase; P450 1A2, cytochrome P450 1A2; TPH, tryptophan hydroxylase; HDC, histidine decarboxylase; TH, tyrosine hydroxylase; KCNRG, potassium channel-regulating protein; BPIFB1, 1 bactericidal/permeabilityincreasing fold-containing B1; OBP1a, odorant binding protein 1a; SVS2, seminal vesicle secretory protein 2; IRBP, interphotoreceptor retinoid-binding protein; TRP-1, tyrosinase-related protein-1; LPLUNC1, Long palate lung nasal epithelium clone.

Shared autoimmune features are indicated in bold.

insulin promoter (RIP) is expressed in both pancreatic β cells and the thymus (22, 23), and mHEL under the interphotoreceptor retinoid-binding protein (IRBP) promoter in both retina and thymus (24). When these mice are crossed with the respective TCRtransgenic animals, their clonotypic thymocytes are deleted with 75–97% efficiency, but only in mice with intact Aire, highlighting its indispensable role in negative selection. Moreover, the prevalence of neo-self-antigen-reactive T-cells is reduced still further in the periphery, underlining the importance of active peripheral tolerance mechanisms.

Interestingly, expression levels of the transgenes in the thymus varied in different studies. In a retinal neo-self-antigen model, the transgenic mRNA (*Escherichia coli* β -galactosidase under arrestin promoter) was undetectable even in the wild-type (wt) thymus (25). Whereas mHEL showed the expected Aire-dependent pattern

of higher expression in wt than $Aire^{-/-}$ mTECs (24, 26) (when driven by the insulin or IRBP promoters), transcript levels for RIPdriven mOVA were not markedly decreased in $Aire^{-/-}$ thymi (22). This raises the possibility that, besides up-regulation of TSAs in the thymus Aire plays additional roles in generating self-tolerance, e.g., inducing the maturation of mTECs, as reviewed recently (27, 28). Loss of Aire also alters thymic architecture and mTEC ultrastructure (29, 30), and these effects reach back even to the immature Aire-negative mTEC subset (31). Indeed, there are reports that Aire-deficiency leads to breakdown of tolerance even to apparently Aire-independent antigens (18). Moreover, the development of the most mature single CD4 positive thymocyte subpopulation (CD69⁻, Qa-2⁺) is impaired in Aire-deficient thymi (32).

The role of Aire in negative selection has also been studied in TCR-transgenic models where clonotypic T-cells are targeted toward naturally expressed self-antigens such as the melanocyte-/melanoma-specific tyrosinase-related protein-1 (TRP-1). In these mice (on a $Rag^{-/-}$ background), negative selection again depended on Aire; when its only change was the dominant negative *Aire* G228W point mutation, melanoma growth was decreased. Surprisingly, however, vitiligo was not reported in this study, although TRP-1 is also expressed in normal melanocytes (19).

The role of Aire in negative selection has also been studied in another TCR-transgenic model with reactivity to the major retinal autoantigen – IRBP. Although its thymic expression is reportedly Aire-dependent, clonotypic thymocytes were not deleted in any of three transgenic mouse lines on the uveitis-susceptible B10.RIII background (33). On the contrary, in two of them, the majority of CD4 single positive thymic T-cells bound IRBP–MHC dimers; strikingly they were several-fold more frequent than in wt animals (33). Uveitis developed spontaneously in these two mouse lines, but not in the third, where frequencies were lowest in both thymus and periphery: 6 and 1% respectively; those were still much higher than in *Aire*^{-/-} mice with no TCR-transgene (34). Clonotypic Tcell deletion was also incomplete in mice transgenic for an insulin B chain epitope-specific TCR, only a fraction of which developed diabetes (35).

Several studies have confirmed the importance of thymic negative selection of auto-reactive T-cells in physiological settings, i.e., in mice with un-manipulated T-cell repertoires (34, 36). Indeed, thymic stromal or lymphoid cells were necessary to confer tolerance to the central nervous system (CNS) antigen myelin proteolipid protein (PLP) (36). Importantly, susceptibility to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) in SJL/J mice could be explained by the exclusion of the immunodominant epitope of PLP (for this strain) from the thymic isoform of PLP, and the export of potentially auto-reactive cells to the periphery (36). However, this model of EAE in SJL/J mice does not develop spontaneously, but requires immunization with antigen emulsified in complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA).

NAÏVE AUTO-REACTIVE T-CELLS DO NOT CAUSE AUTOIMMUNITY BY DEFAULT

According to current models, AIRE's main role is to ensure negative selection of TSA-specific thymocytes. If so, self-reactive T-cells escaping from $Aire^{-/-}$ thymi must normally be naïve and infrequent. Even when frequencies are much higher in TCR-transgenic models, disease penetrance is not always 100%, especially when the TCRs are expressed in CD4+ T-cells. In the TCR-TrpHEL model, with neoantigen expression in melanocytes, 12% of the animals remained free of vitiligo (37); in an RIP–OVA OTII model with neo-self-antigen expression in pancreatic β -cells, about 1/3 were persistently non-diabetic (23) in spite of large numbers of auto-reactive T-cells in the periphery. TSA-specific T-cells are much less frequent in Aire-/- animals with un-manipulated Tcell repertoires. How their uncommon naïve thymic emigrants are activated to induce autoimmune disease in the periphery remains unexplained, one might expect them to get tolerized instead (38, 39). Indeed, when naïve T-cells encounter self-antigen in tissuedraining lymph nodes or spleen in wt mice, they undergo an initial burst of proliferation that is followed by deletion and anergy (40-44) or acquisition of regulatory T-cell (Treg) phenotypes (35, 45).

In intriguing contrast, autoimmunity readily develops when naïve auto-reactive T-cells are transferred to lymphopenic hosts (46, 47).

LYMPHOPENIA TRIGGERS AUTOIMMUNITY IN AIRE-/- MICE

The striking similarities in manifestations in $Aire^{-/-}$ and day 3 thymectomized mice (d3tx) have been noticed earlier (48–50). Both models show inflammatory infiltrates in similar tissues plus autoantibodies against some of their antigens in: stomach, thyroid, ovaries, prostate, pancreas, lacrimal and salivary glands, and testis (9, 18, 50–55). With both types of models, the manifestations even follow the same strain-specific preferences: e.g., generally lower autoimmune susceptibility in C57BL/6 mice, whereas gastritis is the most prevalent feature on the BALBc background.

In d3tx mice, the autoimmunity is explained by prolonged lymphopenia-induced proliferation (LIP) of auto-reactive lymphocytes that out-compete Tregs in susceptible animals (56, 57). Although normal neonatal mice show a physiologic lymphopenia, it does not induce substantial LIP (56). We have shown that, besides inducing TSA expression, thymic Aire normally upregulates several chemokines, especially CCR7 and CCR4 ligands, that attract immature thymocytes to the medulla. Their corticomedullary migration is delayed in $Aire^{-/-}$ mice, and that, in turn, delays the export of their mature progeny, prolonging the postnatal lymphopenia at least through day 5 (31). Interestingly, mice deficient in CCR7 (or its ligands) show not only similar delays in Tcell emigration from the thymus but also inflammatory infiltrates in the very organs listed above (58-60). We therefore hypothesize that LIP also contributes to these inflammatory infiltrates and compensates for the relatively low numbers of naïve auto-reactive T-cells that escape from $Aire^{-/-}$ thymi. This notion is supported by the evidence that the lymphopenia in irradiated $Aire^{-/-}$ mice increases the gastric autoimmunity (20); and that Aire expression is required only in the fetal and early post-natal periods to prevent autoimmunity (48).

Lymphopenia-induced proliferation is sometimes classified according to the rate of division of T-cells to homeostatic and spontaneous proliferation (56). It is highest when chronically lymphopenic adult mice are reconstituted with low numbers of lymphocytes (56, 61). In this case, T-cells respond to antigens derived from commensals, which probably translocate from the gut to lymphoid organs due to the host immunodeficiency (61). Commensals seem unlikely contributors to the LIP that occurs early in life, e.g., in d3tx mice. Nevertheless, LIP favors autoreactive cells, as they get stronger signals through their TCRs as well as from homeostatic cytokines (IL-7 and IL-15) that are upregulated in lymphopenic hosts. As they concomitantly differentiate, these T-cells acquire the markers of activated memory cells (CD44⁺CD62L⁻) (62–66).

There are several indications of homeostatically proliferating T-cells in *Aire*^{-/-} mice, including signs of oligoclonality (67). Whereas thymocytes from Aire-deficient and wt mice showed no differences in TCR V β -chain CDR3 length and spectratype, splenic T-cells from *Aire*^{-/-} mice showed a clear alteration in the TCR repertoire distribution in 3 out of 24 V β families at 2 and 6 months of age (67). A more recent study also found slight perturbations in CDR3 V β length distribution, and significantly higher percentages of CD44+ T helper cells in spleens and lymph nodes of *Aire*^{-/-}

mice than in wt controls (9). CD44 up-regulation in T-cells from $Aire^{-/-}$ mice was also noted by Anderson et al. (68).

Looking for further activation of auto-reactive cells in lymphopenic conditions, Kekalainen et al. (69) transferred lymph node cells from $Aire^+$ and $Aire^{-/-}$ mice to immunodeficient hosts. However, although especially the CD8+ $Aire^{-/-}$ T-cells proliferated more, there was no clinical disease, and the mild infiltrates in the livers, salivary glands, and pancreata did not differ from those in the controls. The rare auto-reactive cells in these animals had probably already been tolerized by peripheral mechanisms in the donors themselves. This suggests that prolonged lymphopenia in the neonatal period, together with export of naïve cells to the periphery, contributes substantially (but not exclusively) to the development of inflammatory infiltrates in $Aire^{-/-}$ mice, and that the auto-reactive cells are subject to regulation in the periphery that prevents serious damage to the target organs.

Certain TCR-transgenic T-cells are also prone to homeostatic proliferation. These include the MHC-class I-restricted OT-I line recognizing a peptide from OVA (62). Interestingly, spontaneous diabetes already appears in neonatal RIP–OVA *Aire*^{-/-} OT-I mice (22). This severe autoimmunity might well have been potentiated by perinatal activation of the transgenic T-cells in these lymphopenic hosts.

AIRE AND LIP IN AUTOIMMUNITY AGAINST PRIVILEGED ORGANS

Autoantigens from some organs like the CNS/retina were thought to be sequestered from the immune system, which might therefore not be fully tolerant to them. It has been suggested that AIRE might play especially important roles in protecting these organs from autoimmune attack, e.g., provoked by local infections (49). Indeed, central deletion of auto-reactive thymocytes would be a particular priority for CNS and eye antigens, as regeneration is minimal in these tissues, and their peripheral tolerizing mechanisms might be inefficient. The intraocular compartments are isolated from the circulation - by barriers formed by tight junctions between the endothelial cells of the ciliary blood vessels, and between the lining epithelial cells; also in the retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) and the local endothelium (70-72). These barriers are impermeable to circulating soluble macromolecules and most cell types except for activated T-cells and immature antigenpresenting cells (APCs). In the other direction, any soluble retinal antigens (such as IRBP) shed physiologically or injected experimentally can drain via the aqueous fluid and episcleral veins to reach the thymus, liver, and spleen (70). The resulting systemic tolerance is termed anterior chamber-associated immune deviation (ACAID). The presumed privilege of the eye used to be attributed to paucity of APCs and lymphatics, but it is now known that there are rich networks of APCs and a functioning lymphatic system draining all parts of the eye, except the retina proper, via the submandibular node (70-72). Thus, ocular privilege is not due to a passive barrier, but instead depends on inducible active processes that can be transferred by immune cells.

One prominent feature in $Aire^{-/-}$ mice is their retinal disease. Although it is extremely rare in APECED patients who frequently suffer from keratito conjunctivitis (4, 73), it affects ~30% of these mice by age 20 weeks on a C57BL/6 background (34). Recently, they were backcrossed onto the autoimmune uveitis-susceptible B10.RIII background to monitor eye pathology more carefully (74). Surprisingly, the spontaneous disease was milder on the $Aire^{-/-}$ background than in the other two models (induced by immunization with IRBP + CFA or arising spontaneously in IRBP TCR-transgenic mice), and rarely caused blindness. Instead, it presented with relatively low-grade but multi-focal retinal inflammation and severe choroiditis, possibly hinting at moderately potent regulatory mechanisms.

There are many indications that EAU is enhanced by LIP of selfreactive T-cells (33, 75, 76). In intact wt recipients, IRBP-transgenic T-cells only induced uveitis after antigen-activation: recipients of naïve cells, even from the highest transgenic TCR-expressing line, remained disease-free. In telling contrast, naïve T-cells did induce disease when transferred to lymphopenic $Rag2^{-/-}$ recipients, again implicating LIP in converting them into effector cells (33). In the same study, LIP was evidenced in the mouse lines with higher prevalences of TCR-transgenic T-cells by increases in CD44⁺CD62L⁻ activated T-cells, even in peripheral lymph nodes that do not drain the eve. This implicates LIP in these transgenic animals too, possibly due to aberrant thymic development, and probably lymphopenic periods earlier in life (33). LIP has also been identified as a potent activator of EAU in another transgenic model (76) and, interestingly, uveoretinitis develops in unimmunized d3tx mice if subsequently injected with anti-CD25 to deplete CD25⁺CD4⁺ Tregs (75).

REVERSAL OF LYMPHOPENIA ALLEVIATES AUTOIMMUNITY

Autoimmunity that results from LIP should be down-modulated by transfer of lymphocytes. This indeed occurs in $Aire^{-/-}$ mice, where the appearance of inflammatory infiltrates could be suppressed by introducing a controlled excess of T-cells from normal donors – by co-transplanting 1:4 mixes either of $Aire^{-/-}$: wt stroma from thymic lobes, or of splenocytes, into athymic or $Rag^{-/-}$ recipients, respectively (22).

As the phenotypes of $Aire^{-/-}$ mice are so mild, it is difficult to dissect the mechanisms that might be modulating their autoimmunity. Therefore, crosses of $Aire^{-/-}$ with NOD mice have been used, as they develop earlier and more severe autoimmunity (48). In these crosses, Aire expression is especially important during perinatal life. Moreover, intraperitoneal injection of adult T-cells on days 1 and 7 conferred significant but not complete protection from this exaggerated autoimmunity (48) (see below).

IS ABSENCE OF SELF-ANTIGEN FROM THE THYMUS SUFFICIENT BY ITSELF TO INDUCE ORGAN-SPECIFIC AUTOIMMUNE DISEASE?

It is sometimes assumed that the autoimmunity results solely from the absence of a single autoantigen from the thymus in the presence of wt Aire. That is apparently contradicted by our hypothesis that prolonged lymphopenia in $Aire^{-/-}$ mice is an important cofactor for auto-aggression, so we now discuss two models that might help to distinguish between these possibilities.

DeVoss et al. identified IRBP as the major target in autoimmune uveitis in $Aire^{-l-}$ mice (15). Its thymic expression is Airedependent, although it is barely detectable in wt thymic stroma. Absence of IRBP in the thymic compartment alone was sufficient to cause disease when athymic nude mice were transplanted with fetal thymic stroma from IRBP^{-/-} mice or wt mice. Mononuclear infiltrates appeared in their retinae, but not in recipients of wt stroma. Here again, lymphopenia must have been an important early contributor, as the first thymic emigrants appeared to abnormal lymphopenic adults.

When DeVoss et al. also crossed $Aire^{-/-}$ with IRBP^{-/-} mice, the retinae showed no infiltrates, as expected because there was no target for the IRBP-specific cells to attack. However, IRBP is secreted, and even reaches the vitreous, and eventually drains to the spleen and lymph nodes (77). Hence this major eye retinal autoantigen was missing from the peripheral immune system too, and was not available to fuel homeostatic proliferation of IRBPspecific T-cells. Also the IRBP^{-/-} retina is atrophic and might be depleted of other autoantigens.

Interestingly, when mice transgenic for mHEL under the IRBP promoter were crossed with HEL-specific TCR-transgenic mice, they showed severe spontaneous EAU even on a wt *Aire* background (24). Negative selection of clonotypic T-cells was not complete in this model, and many neo-self-antigen-specific T-cells were exported to the periphery. The mHEL – unlike soluble IRBP itself – may have failed to access lymphoid organs/induce peripheral tolerance. The resulting disease was already so severe that any exacerbating effect of Aire-deficiency was not detectable. If these HEL-specific clonotypic T-cells were susceptible to LIP due to cross-reactivity with some self epitopes (which has not been checked), that might well have contributed too.

In another study, mice were engineered specifically to prevent any insulin expression in mTECs, and to use only one of the two insulin genes (Ins2) in their pancreatic β -cells (78). They developed spontaneous diabetes within 3 weeks after birth. However, there are also some caveats with this study (79). The diabetes was not transferrable to immunodeficient adult hosts with lymphocytes or thymi from the transgenic mice, which showed only moderate insulitis (80). This apparently implicates the additionally impaired physiology of $Ins1^{-/-}\beta$ -cells (compensatory hyperplasia, increased death during the developmental wave of apoptosis that occurs in normal development) in disease initiation in very young mice (81). In this model again, loss of thymic negative selection alone was not sufficient to cause clinical disease. Furthermore, since insulin is already secreted in the fetus, it should normally be available for thymic deletion, e.g., when presented by medullary dendritic cells, without promiscuous expression in mTECs, but its levels may be decreased prenatally in $Ins1^{-/-}$ mice, reducing its availability for negative selection.

AIRE-DEFICIENCY BECOMES LETHAL IF PERIPHERAL BACK-UP MECHANISMS ARE ELIMINATED

Two highly informative crosses of $Aire^{-/-}$ mice – with strains with other immune defects – underline the importance of backup mechanisms that are apparently responsible for the mildness of the disease phenotypes in $Aire^{-/-}$ mice. Crosses onto *Cbl-b*deficient or diabetes-prone NOD backgrounds show astonishing similarities (39, 53, 82). They both suffer from early wasting disease and succumb to acute exocrine pancreatitis around 3–4 weeks of age. $Aire^{-/-}/Cbl-b^{-/-}$ mice showed additional lymphocytic infiltrates in submandibular salivary glands and stomach (39), while Aire-deficiency on the NOD background was accompanied by severe pulmonitis and infiltrates in liver, salivary gland, prostate, ovary, stomach, and thyroid (53, 82).

Interestingly, mice deficient in Cbl-b alone are healthy in the absence of additional triggers (83), so it was a major surprise that crossing with $Aire^{-/-}$ mice led to such severe disease. Cbl-b normally renders naïve T-cells highly dependent on co-stimulation; when it is deleted, they are "trigger-happy," and much less susceptible to anergy. Clonal deletion of CD8+ T-cells also depends on Cbl-b, and Cbl-b-deficient T-cells are partially resistant to Treg cell-mediated suppression (83). Furthermore, induction of Tregs from naïve precursors is likewise impaired in the absence of Cbl-b (84).

The CD44+ memory phenotype T-cells generated by LIP are normally restrained by Tregs that proliferate rapidly in d3tx mice and are crucial for preventing autoimmunity in lymphopenic animals (50, 85). In *Aire^{-/-}/Cbl-b^{-/-}* mice, readier activation of homeostatically proliferating T-cells, impaired induction of peripheral Tregs and lower responsiveness of proliferating lymphocytes to the influence of Tregs are probably responsible for their severe early autoimmunity. The proportions of CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells with CD44^{high} were greatly increased in these double knock-outs. This supports the idea that LIP is participating during prolonged lymphopenia in *Aire^{-/-}* mice, where "trigger-happy" polyclonal T-cells proliferate in response to available self-peptide-MHC complexes in the presence of homeostatic cytokines.

Interestingly, the immune defects in NOD mice include mild lymphopenia and dysregulated function of homeostatic cytokines (46). Indeed, T-cell transfer and CFA injection protect NOD mice against diabetes (46). The efficiency of their thymic selection has been a matter of controversy; recent data are in line with normal negative selection but impaired positive selection in NOD mice due to selective defects in the Erk1/2 signaling module downstream of TCR (86) that is important for T-cell survival and tuning of TCR responsiveness. In the periphery, anergy induction appears normal in NOD T-cells. Insulin-specific effector T-cells were generated in pancreatic lymph nodes only between 3 and 5 weeks of age, at the time of increased release of β-cell antigens (87). In all mouse strains, a wave of β -cell apoptosis occurs during the neonatal period, peaking at 9–15 days, but apoptotic debris is cleared less efficiently in NOD mice (88). Interestingly, diabetes is accelerated in mice thymectomized at week 3 - i.e., precisely when β -cell-specific T-cells are initially activated – when Tx caused moderate lymphopenia. Furthermore, the timing of that lymphopenia is evidently critical in target organ selection; while d3tx in NOD mice did not affect diabetes incidence, gastritis became much commoner (88). Indeed, this Aire^{-/-}/NOD combination may maximize homeostatic proliferation just when exocrine pancreatic antigen release is greatest. The combination of impaired positive selection in NOD mice with delayed migration of thymocytes into the Aire^{-/-} medulla apparently amplifies the neonatal lymphopenia, which is further exaggerated by hyper-responsiveness of NOD T-cells to IL-21 and poor T-cell survival. Homeostatically proliferating cells compete for IL-7 and/or available MHC/(cross-reactive) self peptides (56). Therefore the absence of diabetes in *Aire*^{-/-}/NOD mice may implicate the early proliferation of T-cells that encounter other available autoantigens and fill the space before the β -cell antigens are released.

Why the autoimmune attack focuses on the exocrine pancreas remains obscure. We suggest that three peculiarities of neonatal mice might be relevant: (1) readier access of neonatal T-cells to peripheral organs (89) where they normally differentiate into TSA-specific Tregs (45). Interestingly, this conversion to Tregs is subverted by IL-7 (45); (2) rapid changes and increased blood flow to certain organs (lungs, pancreas, liver, and intestine) after birth that renders their antigens more accessible to T-cells; (3) autophagy that is naturally upregulated immediately after birth to adapt to the loss of the constant trans-placental supply of nutrients - especially in muscle/diaphragm, heart and lungs; also the pancreas, which undergoes major changes after birth too, to meet the demands for the proteolytic enzymes it must now secrete (90). Their premature intracellular activation in autophagolysosomes, together with autoimmune attack by "trigger-happy" homeostatically proliferating T-cells, might greatly exacerbate the tissue damage. The thymic involution in $Aire^{-/-}/Cbl-b^{-/-}$ mice could be the result of stress or a "cytokine storm" created by this fulminant pancreatic disease.

TREG CELLS IN AIRE-DEFICIENCY

Studies in APECED patients have shown significantly lower Treg numbers and function than in healthy controls (91-94). Whether this is a direct effect of the thymic AIRE-deficiency or secondary to the severe autoimmune diseases in these patients remains unknown. By contrast, the role of Aire-deficiency in the development of Treg cells in the mouse thymus is controversial. Many studies have reported that their numbers are unchanged (9, 18, 26, 95), but others have found them reduced (22, 96, 97). In peripheral organs, their numbers and function are similar to those in wt mice (9, 22). Recently, Malchow et al. showed appearance of Tregs specific for an Aire-dependent TSA that proliferated in tumors and could therefore interfere in their rejection (96). The autoimmunity in d3tx mice was initially thought to arise because of significantly later maturation and release of Tregs than of effector cells (55). However, Tregs proliferate equally well in d3tx lymphopenic hosts, which is important in the prevention of autoimmunity (50, 64). Interestingly, LIP is even greater in Tregs from $Aire^{-/-}$ than wt mice when transferred to lymphopenic hosts (69).

One of the crosses that showed no additive effect on the phenotype of $Aire^{-/-}$ mice was with $Card11^{unm/unm}$ (39). Normally, Card11 acts in the NF κ B module of TCR-signaling, and this mutation leads to impaired Foxp3+ Treg differentiation in the thymus, 6–7 times fewer peripheral Tregs, and a gradual increase in Th2 cells (98). Interestingly, however, in $Aire^{-/-}$ mice, these low-frequency Tregs could still reduce tissue infiltration. Furthermore, while Tregs are crucial for controlling autoimmunity against several organs, they seem to play no prominent role in eye disease: FoxP3-mutant scurfy mice do not develop spontaneous uveitis, suggesting that other tolerance mechanisms are more important than Tregs in protecting against retinal autoimmunity.

Also very informative are the crosses of B6. $Foxp3^{sf}$ mice (with the null "scurfy" Foxp3 gene mutation) onto the $Aire^{-/-}$ mice or NOD genetic backgrounds (99). The *Sf* mutation by itself causes characteristic skin disease, massive lymphoproliferation,

and infiltration most severely in the liver, but also the lungs and exocrine pancreas (100, 101). The crosses onto both backgrounds started to develop more severe lung and liver infiltrates much earlier and died significantly younger than B6.Foxp3^{sf} mice (99). While there were no changes in the infiltrates characteristically seen in other organs in B6. Foxp3^{sf} mice, those typical of Aire^{-/-} mice on the C57BL/6 background (in the eyes, salivary glands) were – surprisingly – not seen in the B6. Foxp3^{sf} Aire-deficient mice. Moreover, phenotypes were identical in sf mutant mice on these Aire^{-/-} and NOD backgrounds; to us, that implicates prolonged neonatal LIP rather than deficiency in thymic negative selection in this aggravated pathology in both crosses. Sf mutant Tregs are evidently not able to limit the activation of homeostatically proliferating T-cells. This is also illustrated by the similar wasting disease (with infiltrates in lungs, liver, pancreas, and stomach) in a model where neonatal T-cells are unable to respond to TGF-β signaling (102).

WHAT IS TRIGGERING AUTOIMMUNITY IN APECED PATIENTS?

If the mild phenotypes in $Aire^{-/-}$ mice are in line with the requirements for pathogenic T-cell activation, why are the phenotypes so much more severe in APECED patients? In humans too, it seems very unlikely that defective negative selection is the only cause of the severe autoimmune destruction of endocrine glands and other tissues (6, 21, 103). We are born with a much more mature immune system than mice (104, 105). Although lymphocyte function is under-developed in neonates, their numbers per milliliters of blood are even higher than in adult humans. Therefore, even if thymocyte migration is delayed because of impaired chemokine secretion by AIRE-deficient mTECs in the human fetus, this is probably compensated by the longer gestation. Neonatal lymphopenia has not been studied in APECED because the disease is usually diagnosed much later. Interestingly though, adult APECED patients have increased IL-7 concentrations in their sera that may be related to impaired T-cell homeostasis (106). The clear differences in disease phenotypes between APECED patients and $Aire^{-/-}$ mice suggest separate precipitating factor(s) in humans. These remain unidentified, but the surprisingly similar autoantibodies in patients with APECED and thymoma make any contribution from lymphopenia in human AIRE-deficiency seem even less likely (107). Nevertheless, the same logic - that additional activation is required before the rare naïve auto-reactive cells that escape from human AIRE-deficient thymi/thymomas can induce autoimmune disease - must apply in humans too (6, 103). In APECED, CMC, hypoparathyroidism, and Addison's disease sometimes present even at 2-3 years of age (4). Evidently, T-cells must go onto attack very soon after birth to destroy sufficient tissue to cause disease so soon; to us, that argues against any need for environmental triggers. Moreover, the first targets of the autoimmune attack are not AIRE-dependent TSAs (21). We propose that the pathogenic T-cells are already primed before their export from AIRE-deficient thymi or thymomas. A study on T-cells in APECED adults has shown gross alterations, especially in the CD8+ population, that include increased proliferation, lower expression of both IL-7R and the negative regulator of TCR-signaling CD5, and also absence of the regular naïve T-cell compartment, relative to

age-matched healthy controls (106). That could be secondary to the autoimmune diseases in APECED, a possibility that could be tested by assessing the activation of recent thymic emigrants before onset of APECED in pre-symptomatic young siblings of known patients.

In APECED, autoantibodies neutralizing type I IFNs and IL-22 can reach high titers even by 7 months of age, when autoantibodies to steroidogenic enzymes may also start to appear (108). Moreover, these autoantigens are produced in the thymus by cell types other than mTECs, so they should be available for negative selection even when AIRE is deficient (103). To explain these peculiarities, we have suggested biased selection or active autoimmunization in human thymi rendered "dangerous" by AIRE-deficiency (21, 103). That even leads to other secondary lymphoid tissue behavior in thymomas such as spontaneous production of anti-IFN- α and IL-12 autoantibodies by terminal plasma cells in sero-positive patients (109).

FURTHER PREDICTIONS

If gastritis in BALBc mice and EAU in B10.RIII mice are caused by LIP, they should be ameliorated by blocking homeostatic cytokines postnatally and simultaneously transferring lymphocytes into the lymphopenic hosts. As these cytokines sensitize TCRs through induction of pERK1/2, its inhibitors could be tested instead (65).

The phenotype of Cbl-b- and Aire double deficient mice could be mimicked by crossing with other mutant mouse strains with impaired T-cell susceptibility to anergy induction, or by thymectomizing $Cbl-b^{-/-}$ mice on days 1–3.

Curiously, autoimmunity is more often related to lower than higher TCR-signaling, perhaps because of weaker peripheral tolerance (65, 86). During their development, cortical thymocytes are positively selected when their receptors are triggered by selfpeptide-MHC complexes. These so called "tonic" signals are also needed for T-cell survival in the periphery, but they are regulated to remain just below the threshold for activation and proliferation (62). When TCR-signaling is impaired, the cells have to adapt to respond to weaker signals, which makes them more responsive to self-antigens, e.g., during periods of over-production of homeostatic cytokines. Theoretically, crosses of *Aire*^{-/-} mice onto backgrounds with decreased TCR-signaling and reduced T-cell survival could lead to phenotypes similar to those in *Aire*^{-/-} × NOD crosses.

SUMMARY

It is unlikely that defective negative selection of auto-reactive thymocytes in AIRE-deficient thymi is the only cause of the associated autoimmune diseases in either model mice or APECED patients. Naïve T-cells require activation before they can cause tissue destruction: in uninfected neonates with no danger signals, tolerization by peripheral mechanisms seems a much likelier outcome. A hitherto under-recognized feature of $Aire^{-/-}$ mice is their prolonged neonatal lymphopenia: by inducing LIP, it favors the proliferation and activation particularly of auto-reactive T-cells. This also helps to explain the strikingly similar phenotypes of lymphopenic day 3 thymectomized and $Aire^{-/-}$ mice. However, the many developmental (ontogenetic) differences make LIP seem a much less likely contributor in humans – where we propose

that additional mechanisms promote the early and much more sharply focused autoimmune attack on such unusual targets as the parathyroids, steroidogenic tissues/enzymes, and cytokines.

The mouse model has been extremely valuable in demonstrating Aire's role in negative selection of auto-reactive thymocytes. However, the differences in pathogenetic mechanisms and in autoimmune phenotypes in APECED patients question its suitability for testing new treatment options, and imply that merely restoring thymic TSA expression might not be enough to halt the autoimmunity in the patients. They also emphasize the importance of studies in human subjects, and again underline the need for caution when extrapolating from mouse models.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to our good friends and colleagues Nick Willcox and Tōnis Org for inspiring discussions over the years. Our special thanks go to Nick for his generous help in editing the manuscript. The study was supported by the Estonian Research Council grant IUT2-2, European Regional Development Fund, and Archimedes Foundation.

REFERENCES

- Peterson P, Org T, Rebane A. Transcriptional regulation by AIRE: molecular mechanisms of central tolerance. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2008) 8:948–57. doi:10.1038/nri2450
- Kyewski B, Klein L. A central role for central tolerance. Annu Rev Immunol (2006) 24:571–606. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.23.021704.115601
- Klein L, Hinterberger M, Wirnsberger G, Kyewski B. Antigen presentation in the thymus for positive selection and central tolerance induction. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2009) 9:833–44. doi:10.1038/nri2669
- Husebye ES, Perheentupa J, Rautemaa R, Kampe O. Clinical manifestations and management of patients with autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type I. J Intern Med (2009) 265:514–29. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2796.2009.02090.x
- Kluger N, Ranki A, Krohn K. APECED: is this a model for failure of T cell and B cell tolerance? *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:232. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00232
- Arstila TP, Jarva H. Human APECED; a sick thymus syndrome? Front Immunol (2013) 4:313. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00313
- Kekalainen E, Miettinen A, Arstila TP. Does the deficiency of Aire in mice really resemble human APECED? *Nat Rev Immunol* (2007) 7:1. doi:10.1038/ nri2136-c1
- Pontynen N, Miettinen A, Arstila TP, Kampe O, Alimohammadi M, Vaarala O, et al. Aire deficient mice do not develop the same profile of tissuespecific autoantibodies as APECED patients. *J Autoimmun* (2006) 27:96–104. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2006.06.001
- Hubert FX, Kinkel SA, Crewther PE, Cannon PZ, Webster KE, Link M, et al. Aire-deficient C57BL/6 mice mimicking the common human 13-base pair deletion mutation present with only a mild autoimmune phenotype. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:3902–18. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0802124
- Valenzise M, Meloni A, Betterle C, Giometto B, Autunno M, Mazzeo A, et al. Chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy as a possible novel component of autoimmune poly-endocrine-candidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy. *Eur J Pediatr* (2009) 168:237–40. doi:10.1007/s00431-008-0736-8
- Karner J, Meager A, Laan M, Maslovskaja J, Pihlap M, Remm A, et al. Anticytokine autoantibodies suggest pathogenetic links with autoimmune regulator deficiency in humans and mice. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2013) 171:263–72. doi:10.1111/cei.12024
- Su MA, Davini D, Cheng P, Giang K, Fan U, DeVoss JJ, et al. Defective autoimmune regulator-dependent central tolerance to myelin protein zero is linked to autoimmune peripheral neuropathy. *J Immunol* (2012) 188:4906–12. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1200493
- Shum AK, DeVoss J, Tan CL, Hou Y, Johannes K, O'Gorman CS, et al. Identification of an autoantigen demonstrates a link between interstitial lung disease and a defect in central tolerance. *Sci Transl Med* (2009) 1:9ra20. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3000284

- Shum AK, Alimohammadi M, Tan CL, Cheng MH, Metzger TC, Law CS, et al. BPIFB1 is a lung-specific autoantigen associated with interstitial lung disease. *Sci Transl Med* (2013) 5:206ra139. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3006998
- DeVoss J, Hou Y, Johannes K, Lu W, Liou GI, Rinn J, et al. Spontaneous autoimmunity prevented by thymic expression of a single self-antigen. J Exp Med (2006) 203:2727–35. doi:10.1084/jem.20061864
- Devoss JJ, Leclair NP, Hou Y, Grewal NK, Johannes KP, Lu W, et al. An autoimmune response to odorant binding protein 1a is associated with dry eye in the Aire-deficient mouse. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:4236–46. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 0902434
- Hou Y, DeVoss J, Dao V, Kwek S, Simko JP, McNeel DG, et al. An aberrant prostate antigen-specific immune response causes prostatitis in mice and is associated with chronic prostatitis in humans. *J Clin Invest* (2009) 119:2031–41. doi:10.1172/JCI38332
- Kuroda N, Mitani T, Takeda N, Ishimaru N, Arakaki R, Hayashi Y, et al. Development of autoimmunity against transcriptionally unrepressed target antigen in the thymus of Aire-deficient mice. J Immunol (2005) 174:1862–70.
- Zhu ML, Nagavalli A, Su MA. Aire deficiency promotes TRP-1-specific immune rejection of melanoma. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73:2104–16. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-12-3781
- Gavanescu I, Kessler B, Ploegh H, Benoist C, Mathis D. Loss of Aire-dependent thymic expression of a peripheral tissue antigen renders it a target of autoimmunity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) **104**:4583–7. doi:10.1073/pnas. 0700259104
- Kisand K, Peterson P. Autoimmune polyendocrinopathy candidiasis ectodermal dystrophy: known and novel aspects of the syndrome. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2011) 1246:77–91. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06308.x
- Anderson MS, Venanzi ES, Chen Z, Berzins SP, Benoist C, Mathis D. The cellular mechanism of Aire control of T cell tolerance. *Immunity* (2005) 23:227–39. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2005.07.005
- Liston A, Gray DH, Lesage S, Fletcher AL, Wilson J, Webster KE, et al. Gene dosage – limiting role of Aire in thymic expression, clonal deletion, and organ-specific autoimmunity. J Exp Med (2004) 200:1015–26. doi:10.1084/ jem.20040581
- 24. Lambe T, Leung JC, Ferry H, Bouriez-Jones T, Makinen K, Crockford TL, et al. Limited peripheral T cell anergy predisposes to retinal autoimmunity. *J Immunol* (2007) **178**:4276–83.
- Gregerson DS, Heuss ND, Lehmann U, McPherson SW. Peripheral induction of tolerance by retinal antigen expression. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:814–22. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0803748
- Liston A, Lesage S, Wilson J, Peltonen L, Goodnow CC. Aire regulates negative selection of organ-specific T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4:350–4. doi:10.1038/ni906
- Laan M, Peterson P. The many faces of Aire in central tolerance. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:326. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00326
- 28. Matsumoto M, Nishikawa Y, Nishijima H, Morimoto J, Matsumoto M, Mouri Y. Which model better fits the role of aire in the establishment of self-tolerance: the transcription model or the maturation model? *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:210. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00210
- Gillard GO, Dooley J, Erickson M, Peltonen L, Farr AG. Aire-dependent alterations in medullary thymic epithelium indicate a role for Aire in thymic epithelial differentiation. *J Immunol* (2007) 178:3007–15.
- Milicevic Z, Milicevic NM, Laan M, Peterson P, Kisand K, Scott HS, et al. Ultrastructure of medullary thymic epithelial cells of autoimmune regulator (Aire)-deficient mice. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2010) 88:50–6. doi:10.1038/icb. 2009.55
- Laan M, Kisand K, Kont V, Moll K, Tserel L, Scott HS, et al. Autoimmune regulator deficiency results in decreased expression of CCR4 and CCR7 ligands and in delayed migration of CD4+ thymocytes. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:7682–91. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0804133
- 32. Li J, Li Y, Yao JY, Jin R, Zhu MZ, Qian XP, et al. Developmental pathway of CD4+CD8- medullary thymocytes during mouse ontogeny and its defect in Aire-/- mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) 104:18175–80. doi:10.1073/pnas.0708884104
- 33. Horai R, Silver PB, Chen J, Agarwal RK, Chong WP, Jittayasothorn Y, et al. Breakdown of immune privilege and spontaneous autoimmunity in mice expressing a transgenic T cell receptor specific for a retinal autoantigen. J Autoimmun (2013) 44:21–33. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2013.06.003

- 34. Taniguchi RT, DeVoss JJ, Moon JJ, Sidney J, Sette A, Jenkins MK, et al. Detection of an autoreactive T-cell population within the polyclonal repertoire that undergoes distinct autoimmune regulator (Aire)-mediated selection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109:7847–52. doi:10.1073/pnas.1120607109
- 35. Fousteri G, Jasinski J, Dave A, Nakayama M, Pagni P, Lambolez F, et al. Following the fate of one insulin-reactive CD4 T cell: conversion into Teffs and Tregs in the periphery controls diabetes in NOD mice. *Diabetes* (2012) 61:1169–79. doi:10.2337/db11-0671
- 36. Klein L, Klugmann M, Nave KA, Tuohy VK, Kyewski B. Shaping of the autoreactive T-cell repertoire by a splice variant of self protein expressed in thymic epithelial cells. *Nat Med* (2000) 6:56–61. doi:10.1038/71540
- Lambe T, Leung JC, Bouriez-Jones T, Silver K, Makinen K, Crockford TL, et al. CD4 T cell-dependent autoimmunity against a melanocyte neoantigen induces spontaneous vitiligo and depends upon Fas-Fas ligand interactions. *J Immunol* (2006) 177:3055–62.
- Goodnow CC, Sprent J, Fazekas de St Groth B, Vinuesa CG. Cellular and genetic mechanisms of self tolerance and autoimmunity. *Nature* (2005) 435:590–7. doi:10.1038/nature03724
- 39. Teh CE, Daley SR, Enders A, Goodnow CC. T-cell regulation by casitas Blineage lymphoma (Cblb) is a critical failsafe against autoimmune disease due to autoimmune regulator (Aire) deficiency. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107:14709–14. doi:10.1073/pnas.1009209107
- Chappert P, Schwartz RH. Induction of T cell anergy: integration of environmental cues and infectious tolerance. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2010) 22:552–9. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2010.08.005
- Steinman RM, Hawiger D, Liu K, Bonifaz L, Bonnyay D, Mahnke K, et al. Dendritic cell function in vivo during the steady state: a role in peripheral tolerance. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2003) 987:15–25. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2003.tb06029.x
- Kurts C, Heath WR, Kosaka H, Miller JF, Carbone FR. The peripheral deletion of autoreactive CD8+ T cells induced by cross-presentation of self-antigens involves signaling through CD95 (Fas, Apo-1). *J Exp Med* (1998) 188:415–20. doi:10.1084/jem.188.2.415
- Barron L, Knoechel B, Lohr J, Abbas AK. Cutting edge: contributions of apoptosis and anergy to systemic T cell tolerance. J Immunol (2008) 180:2762–6.
- Schietinger A, Delrow JJ, Basom RS, Blattman JN, Greenberg PD. Rescued tolerant CD8 T cells are preprogrammed to reestablish the tolerant state. *Science* (2012) 335:723–7. doi:10.1126/science.1214277
- Wang G, Miyahara Y, Guo Z, Khattar M, Stepkowski SM, Chen W. "Default" generation of neonatal regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* (2010) 185:71–8. doi:10. 4049/jimmunol.0903806
- King C, Ilic A, Koelsch K, Sarvetnick N. Homeostatic expansion of T cells during immune insufficiency generates autoimmunity. *Cell* (2004) 117:265–77. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(04)00335-6
- 47. Knoechel B, Lohr J, Kahn E, Abbas AK. The link between lymphocyte deficiency and autoimmunity: roles of endogenous T and B lymphocytes in tolerance. *J Immunol* (2005) **175**:21–6.
- Guerau-de-Arellano M, Martinic M, Benoist C, Mathis D. Neonatal tolerance revisited: a perinatal window for Aire control of autoimmunity. J Exp Med (2009) 206:1245–52. doi:10.1084/jem.20090300
- Cohn M. Why Aire? Compensating for late bloomers. Eur J Immunol (2009) 39:2969–72. doi:10.1002/eji.200939628
- Samy ET, Wheeler KM, Roper RJ, Teuscher C, Tung KS. Cutting edge: autoimmune disease in day 3 thymectomized mice is actively controlled by endogenous disease-specific regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* (2008) 180:4366–70.
- Kojima A, Prehn RT. Genetic susceptibility to post-thymectomy autoimmune diseases in mice. *Immunogenetics* (1981) 14:15–27. doi:10.1007/BF00344296
- Haneji N, Nakamura T, Takio K, Yanagi K, Higashiyama H, Saito I, et al. Identification of alpha-fodrin as a candidate autoantigen in primary Sjogren's syndrome. *Science* (1997) 276:604–7. doi:10.1126/science.276.5312.604
- Jiang W, Anderson MS, Bronson R, Mathis D, Benoist C. Modifier loci condition autoimmunity provoked by Aire deficiency. J Exp Med (2005) 202:805–15. doi:10.1084/jem.20050693
- Sakaguchi S, Takahashi T, Nishizuka Y. Study on cellular events in postthymectomy autoimmune oophoritis in mice. I. Requirement of Lyt-1 effector cells for oocytes damage after adoptive transfer. J Exp Med (1982) 156:1565–76. doi:10.1084/jem.156.6.1565
- 55. Sakaguchi S, Sakaguchi N. Thymus and autoimmunity: capacity of the normal thymus to produce pathogenic self-reactive T cells and conditions required

for their induction of autoimmune disease. J Exp Med (1990) 172:537–45. doi:10.1084/jem.172.2.537

- Datta S, Sarvetnick N. Lymphocyte proliferation in immune-mediated diseases. *Trends Immunol* (2009) 30:430–8. doi:10.1016/j.it.2009.06.002
- Asano M, Toda M, Sakaguchi N, Sakaguchi S. Autoimmune disease as a consequence of developmental abnormality of a T cell subpopulation. *J Exp Med* (1996) 184:387–96. doi:10.1084/jem.184.2.387
- Davalos-Misslitz AC, Worbs T, Willenzon S, Bernhardt G, Forster R. Impaired responsiveness to T-cell receptor stimulation and defective negative selection of thymocytes in CCR7-deficient mice. *Blood* (2007) 110:4351–9. doi:10.1182/ blood-2007-01-070284
- Kurobe H, Liu C, Ueno T, Saito F, Ohigashi I, Seach N, et al. CCR7-dependent cortex-to-medulla migration of positively selected thymocytes is essential for establishing central tolerance. *Immunity* (2006) 24:165–77. doi:10.1016/ j.immuni.2005.12.011
- Ueno T, Saito F, Gray DH, Kuse S, Hieshima K, Nakano H, et al. CCR7 signals are essential for cortex-medulla migration of developing thymocytes. *J Exp Med* (2004) 200:493–505. doi:10.1084/jem.20040643
- Surh CD, Sprent J. Homeostasis of naive and memory T cells. *Immunity* (2008) 29:848–62. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.11.002
- Sprent J, Surh CD. Normal T cell homeostasis: the conversion of naive cells into memory-phenotype cells. Nat Immunol (2011) 12:478–84. doi:10.1038/ni.2018
- 63. Calzascia T, Pellegrini M, Lin A, Garza KM, Elford AR, Shahinian A, et al. CD4 T cells, lymphopenia, and IL-7 in a multistep pathway to autoimmunity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) **105**:2999–3004. doi:10.1073/pnas.0712135105
- 64. Le Campion A, Gagnerault MC, Auffray C, Becourt C, Poitrasson-Riviere M, Lallemand E, et al. Lymphopenia-induced spontaneous T-cell proliferation as a cofactor for autoimmune disease development. *Blood* (2009) 114:1784–93. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-12-192120
- Goronzy JJ, Li G, Yang Z, Weyand CM. The janus head of T cell aging autoimmunity and immunodeficiency. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:131. doi:10. 3389/fimmu.2013.00131
- 66. Deshpande P, Cavanagh MM, Le Saux S, Singh K, Weyand CM, Goronzy JJ. IL-7- and IL-15-mediated TCR sensitization enables T cell responses to selfantigens. J Immunol (2013) 190:1416–23. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1201620
- Ramsey C, Winqvist O, Puhakka L, Halonen M, Moro A, Kampe O, et al. Aire deficient mice develop multiple features of APECED phenotype and show altered immune response. *Hum Mol Genet* (2002) 11:397–409. doi:10.1093/ hmg/11.4.397
- Anderson MS, Venanzi ES, Klein L, Chen Z, Berzins SP, Turley SJ, et al. Projection of an immunological self shadow within the thymus by the aire protein. *Science* (2002) 298:1395–401. doi:10.1126/science.1075958
- 69. Kekalainen E, Lehto MK, Smeds E, Miettinen A, Meri S, Jarva H, et al. Defective central tolerance in Aire-deficient mice is not sufficient to induce symptomatic autoimmunity during lymphopenia-induced T cell proliferation. *Scand J Immunol* (2011) 74:71–9. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3083.2011.02543.x
- 70. Forrester JV, Xu H. Good news-bad news: the Yin and Yang of immune privilege in the eye. *Front Immunol* (2012) **3**:338. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00338
- Forrester JV, Xu H, Lambe T, Cornall R. Immune privilege or privileged immunity? *Mucosal Immunol* (2008) 1:372–81. doi:10.1038/mi.2008.27
- Caspi RR. A look at autoimmunity and inflammation in the eye. J Clin Invest (2010) 120:3073–83. doi:10.1172/JCI42440
- Breunig A, Lee MS, Miller BS, Binstadt BA, Anderson MS, Montezuma S. Autoimmune retinopathy in a patient with autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type I. *Ocul Immunol Inflamm* (2013) 21:153–7. doi:10.3109/09273948. 2012.754906
- 74. Chen J, Qian H, Horai R, Chan CC, Falick Y, Caspi RR. Comparative analysis of induced vs. spontaneous models of autoimmune uveitis targeting the interphotoreceptor retinoid binding protein. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e72161. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0072161
- Takeuchi M, Keino H, Kezuka T, Usui M, Taguchi O. Immune responses to retinal self-antigens in CD25(+)CD4(+) regulatory T-cell-depleted mice. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* (2004) 45:1879–86. doi:10.1167/iovs.02-1030
- McPherson SW, Heuss ND, Gregerson DS. Lymphopenia-induced proliferation is a potent activator for CD4+ T cell-mediated autoimmune disease in the retina. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:969–79.
- 77. Gonzalez-Fernandez F. Interphotoreceptor retinoid binding protein; myths and mysteries. J Ophthalmic Vis Res (2012) 7:100–4.

- Fan Y, Rudert WA, Grupillo M, He J, Sisino G, Trucco M. Thymus-specific deletion of insulin induces autoimmune diabetes. *EMBO J* (2009) 28:2812–24. doi:10.1038/emboj.2009.212
- Aichinger M, Hinterberger M, Klein L. Probing gene function in thymic epithelial cells. Eur J Cell Biol (2012) 91:24–30. doi:10.1016/j.ejcb.2011.01.005
- Kay TW, Krishnamurthy B, Brodnicki TC, Mannering SI. Insulin teaches a new lesson in tolerance. *EMBO J* (2009) 28:2687–8. doi:10.1038/emboj.2009.251
- Leroux L, Desbois P, Lamotte L, Duvillie B, Cordonnier N, Jackerott M, et al. Compensatory responses in mice carrying a null mutation for Ins1 or Ins2. *Diabetes* (2001) 50(Suppl 1):S150–3. doi:10.2337/diabetes.50.2007.S150
- Niki S, Oshikawa K, Mouri Y, Hirota F, Matsushima A, Yano M, et al. Alteration of intra-pancreatic target-organ specificity by abrogation of Aire in NOD mice. *J Clin Invest* (2006) 116:1292–301. doi:10.1172/JCI26971
- Paolino M, Penninger JM. Cbl-b in T-cell activation. Semin Immunopathol (2010) 32:137–48. doi:10.1007/s00281-010-0197-9
- 84. Hoyne GF, Flening E, Yabas M, Teh C, Altin JA, Randall K, et al. Visualizing the role of Cbl-b in control of islet-reactive CD4 T cells and susceptibility to type 1 diabetes. *J Immunol* (2011) 186:2024–32. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1002296
- Vanasek TL, Nandiwada SL, Jenkins MK, Mueller DL. CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells facilitate CD4+ T cell clonal anergy induction during the recovery from lymphopenia. J Immunol (2006) 176:5880–9.
- Mingueneau M, Jiang W, Feuerer M, Mathis D, Benoist C. Thymic negative selection is functional in NOD mice. J Exp Med (2012) 209:623–37. doi:10.1084/jem.20112593
- Pauken KE, Linehan JL, Spanier JA, Sahli NL, Kalekar LA, Binstadt BA, et al. Cutting edge: type 1 diabetes occurs despite robust anergy among endogenous insulin-specific CD4 T cells in NOD mice. *J Immunol* (2013) 191:4913–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1301927
- Gagnerault MC, Lanvin O, Pasquier V, Garcia C, Damotte D, Lucas B, et al. Autoimmunity during thymectomy-induced lymphopenia: role of thymus ablation and initial effector T cell activation timing in nonobese diabetic mice. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:4913–20. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0901954
- Alferink J, Tafuri A, Vestweber D, Hallmann R, Hammerling GJ, Arnold B. Control of neonatal tolerance to tissue antigens by peripheral T cell trafficking. *Science* (1998) 282:1338–41. doi:10.1126/science.282.5392.1338
- Kuma A, Hatano M, Matsui M, Yamamoto A, Nakaya H, Yoshimori T, et al. The role of autophagy during the early neonatal starvation period. *Nature* (2004) 432:1032–6. doi:10.1038/nature03029
- Kekalainen E, Tuovinen H, Joensuu J, Gylling M, Franssila R, Pontynen N, et al. A defect of regulatory T cells in patients with autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy. *J Immunol* (2007) 178:1208–15.
- Laakso SM, Laurinolli TT, Rossi LH, Lehtoviita A, Sairanen H, Perheentupa J, et al. Regulatory T cell defect in APECED patients is associated with loss of naive FOXP3(+) precursors and impaired activated population. J Autoimmun (2010) 35:351–7. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2010.07.008
- 93. Ryan KR, Lawson CA, Lorenzi AR, Arkwright PD, Isaacs JD, Lilic D. CD4+CD25+ T-regulatory cells are decreased in patients with autoimmune polyendocrinopathy candidiasis ectodermal dystrophy. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2005) 116:1158–9. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2005.08.036
- Wolff AS, Oftedal BE, Kisand K, Ersvaer E, Lima K, Husebye ES. Flow cytometry study of blood cell subtypes reflects autoimmune and inflammatory processes in autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type I. *Scand J Immunol* (2010) 71:459–67. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3083.2010.02397.x
- Pitt LA, Hubert FX, Scott HS, Godfrey DI, Berzins SP. NKT cell development in the absence of the autoimmune regulator gene (Aire). *Eur J Immunol* (2008) 38:2689–96. doi:10.1002/eji.200838553
- Malchow S, Leventhal DS, Nishi S, Fischer BI, Shen L, Paner GP, et al. Airedependent thymic development of tumor-associated regulatory T cells. *Science* (2013) 339:1219–24. doi:10.1126/science.1233913
- Lei Y, Ripen AM, Ishimaru N, Ohigashi I, Nagasawa T, Jeker LT, et al. Airedependent production of XCL1 mediates medullary accumulation of thymic dendritic cells and contributes to regulatory T cell development. *J Exp Med* (2011) 208:383–94. doi:10.1084/jem.20102327
- Altin JA, Tian L, Liston A, Bertram EM, Goodnow CC, Cook MC. Decreased T-cell receptor signaling through CARD11 differentially compromises forkhead box protein 3-positive regulatory versus T(H)2 effector cells to cause

allergy. JAllergy Clin Immunol (2011) **127**(1277-85):e5. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2010. 12.1081

- Chen Z, Benoist C, Mathis D. How defects in central tolerance impinge on a deficiency in regulatory T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2005) 102:14735–40. doi:10.1073/pnas.0507014102
- 100. Ziegler SF. FOXP3: of mice and men. Annu Rev Immunol (2006) 24:209–26. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.24.021605.090547
- 101. Mayer CT, Tian L, Hesse C, Kuhl AA, Swallow M, Kruse F, et al. Anti-CD4 treatment inhibits autoimmunity in scurfy mice through the attenuation of co-stimulatory signals. *J Autoimmun* (2013). doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2013.08.010
- 102. Zhang N, Bevan MJ. TGF-beta signaling to T cells inhibits autoimmunity during lymphopenia-driven proliferation. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13:667–73. doi:10.1038/ni.2319
- 103. Kisand K, Lilic D, Casanova JL, Peterson P, Meager A, Willcox N. Mucocutaneous candidiasis and autoimmunity against cytokines in APECED and thymoma patients: clinical and pathogenetic implications. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41:1517–27. doi:10.1002/eji.201041253
- 104. Chang C. Neonatal autoimmune diseases: a critical review. JAutoimmun (2012) 38:J223–38. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2011.11.018
- 105. Comans-Bitter WM, de Groot R, van den Beemd R, Neijens HJ, Hop WC, Groeneveld K, et al. Immunophenotyping of blood lymphocytes in childhood. Reference values for lymphocyte subpopulations. *J Pediatr* (1997) 130:388–93. doi:10.1016/S0022-3476(97)70200-2
- 106. Laakso SM, Kekalainen E, Rossi LH, Laurinolli TT, Mannerstrom H, Heikkila N, et al. IL-7 dysregulation and loss of CD8+ T cell homeostasis in the monogenic human disease autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasis-ectodermal dystrophy. J Immunol (2011) 187:2023–30. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1100212
- 107. Kisand K, Boe Wolff AS, Podkrajsek KT, Tserel L, Link M, Kisand KV, et al. Chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis in APECED or thymoma patients

correlates with autoimmunity to Th17-associated cytokines. J Exp Med (2010) 207:299–308. doi:10.1084/jem.20091669

- 108. Wolff AS, Sarkadi AK, Marodi L, Karner J, Orlova E, Oftedal BE, et al. Anticytokine autoantibodies preceding onset of autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type I features in early childhood. *J Clin Immunol* (2013) **33**:1341–8. doi:10.1007/s10875-013-9938-6
- 109. Shiono H, Wong YL, Matthews I, Liu JL, Zhang W, Sims G, et al. Spontaneous production of anti-IFN-alpha and anti-IL-12 autoantibodies by thymoma cells from myasthenia gravis patients suggests autoimmunization in the tumor. *Int Immunol* (2003) 15:903–13. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxg088

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 03 December 2013; paper pending published: 23 December 2013; accepted: 29 January 2014; published online: 13 February 2014.

Citation: Kisand K, Peterson P and Laan M (2014) Lymphopenia-induced proliferation in Aire-deficient mice helps to explain their autoimmunity and differences from human patients. Front. Immunol. **5**:51. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00051

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Kisand, Peterson and Laan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

frontiers in IMMUNOLOGY



Rag defects and thymic stroma: lessons from animal models

Veronica Marrella^{1,2}, Pietro Luigi Poliani³, Luigi Daniele Notarangelo⁴, Fabio Grassi⁵ and Anna Villa^{1,2}*

¹ Milan Unit, Institute of Genetics and Biomedic Research, National Research Council, Milan, Italy

² Istituto Clinico Humanitas, Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico, Rozzano, Italy

³ Pathology Unit, Department of Molecular and Translational Medicine, University of Brescia, Brescia, Italy

⁴ Division of Immunology, Boston Children's Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

⁵ Institute for Research in Biomedicine, Bellinzona, Switzerland

Edited by:

Claudio Pignata, University of Naples Federico II, Italy

Reviewed by:

Sho Yamasaki, Kyushu University, Japan Mark Christopher Coles, University of

York, UK Olga Ucar, German Cancer Research Center, Germany

*Correspondence:

Anna Villa, Milan Unit, Institute of Genetics and Biomedic Research, National Research Council, Milan, Italy e-mail: anna.villa@hsr.it Thymocytes and thymic epithelial cells (TECs) cross-talk is essential to support T cell development and preserve thymic architecture and maturation of TECs and Foxp3⁺ natural regulatory T cells. Accordingly, disruption of thymic lymphostromal cross-talk may have major implications on the thymic mechanisms that govern T cell tolerance. Several genetic defects have been described in humans that affect early stages of T cell development [leading to severe combined immune deficiency (SCID)] or late stages in thymocyte maturation (resulting in combined immunodeficiency). Hypomorphic mutations in SCID-causing genes may allow for generation of a limited pool of T lymphocytes with a restricted repertoire. These conditions are often associated with infiltration of peripheral tissues by activated T cells and immune dysregulation, as best exemplified by Omenn syndrome (OS). In this review, we will discuss our recent findings on abnormalities of thymic microenvironment in OS with a special focus of defective maturation of TECs, altered distribution of thymic dendritic cells and impairment of deletional and non-deletional mechanisms of central tolerance. Here, taking advantage of mouse models of OS and atypical SCID, we will discuss how modifications in stromal compartment impact and shape lymphocyte differentiation, and vice versa how inefficient T cell signaling results in defective stromal maturation. These findings are instrumental to understand the extent to which novel therapeutic strategies should act on thymic stroma to achieve full immune reconstitution.

Keywords: thymus, Rag deficiency, Omenn and leaky SCID models, central tolerance, thymic reconstitution, thymic cross-talk

INTRODUCTION

Thymocytes and thymic epithelial cells (TECs) cross-talk is essential to support T cell development and preserve thymic architecture and maturation of TECs and Foxp3⁺ natural regulatory T (nTreg) cells. In particular, deletion of self-reactive thymocytes in the thymic medulla is based on the recognition of self-antigens that are presented by medullary TECs (mTECs) and thymic dendritic cells (DCs). In this process, a key role is played by the autoimmune regulator (AIRE), a transcription factor expressed by a subset of mature mTEC that drives the expression of tissue-restricted antigens (TRAs), thus mediating negative selection of autoreactive thymocytes (1, 2). In addition, mature TECs from the Hassall corpuscles secrete thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP), a cytokine that acts through thymic DCs and activates them to instruct selfreactive T cells to be diverted into $Foxp3^+$ nTreg cells (3). These findings highlight the critical role played by the thymus not only in the generation of a diversified and functional T cell repertoire, but also in the prevention of autoimmune manifestations. To this end, defects in T cell development represent a valuable model for studying mechanisms by which severe impairment in thymopoiesis may impinge on thymic stromal cell homeostasis and deletional and non-deletional mechanisms (4). In particular, severe combined immune deficiency (SCID) includes a heterogeneous group of

genetic disorders that abolish T cell development at early stage of T cell differentiation by affecting survival of lymphoid progenitors (as in adenosine deaminase deficiency and reticular dysgenesis), interleukin (IL)-mediated expansion of lymphoid progenitors (as in patients with mutations in the γ common chain, JAK3, or IL-7 receptor), V(D)J recombination [as in recombination activating gene (Rag)1 and 2, and Artemis deficiency] in lymphoid precursors and signaling through the pre-T cell receptor (mutations of CD38, CD3ε, CD3ζ, and CD45) (5). Null mutations in these SCID-causing genes are associated with a virtual lack of circulating T lymphocytes. However, hypomorphic mutations in the same genes may allow for development of a restricted number of T lymphocytes with limited repertoire diversity, which, when exported to the periphery, may infiltrate target tissues and cause autoimmunity and organ dysfunction, as in patients with Omenn syndrome (OS) (6-10). Finally, defects in T cell development that compromise thymocyte development beyond the CD4⁺ CD8⁺ [double-positive (DP)] stage result in combined immunodeficiency with residual number of circulating T lymphocytes that show abnormal phenotype and function. In particular, impaired production of single-positive (SP) CD4⁺ cells is observed in major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II deficiency, whereas generation of SP CD8⁺ lymphocytes is compromised in ZAP70

deficiency (11, 12). Association of these conditions with immune dysregulation has been reported, although not as frequently as in OS due to hypomorphic mutations in SCID-causing genes (13).

In this review, we will focus the discussion on the contribution of thymic microenvironment on the pathogenesis of peripheral immune pathology in the presence of residual V(D)J recombination activity. To this end, we will discuss findings observed in $Rag2^{R229Q/R229Q}$ and $Rag1^{S723C/S723C}$ mutant mice, which represent a valuable model of OS and atypical SCID, respectively (14– 18). Collectively, we provide evidence that abnormalities of thymic stroma secondary to impaired development of T lymphocytes may affect key mechanisms of immune tolerance and ultimately result in severe manifestations of immune dysregulation.

MOUSE MODELS OF LEAKY SCID AND OS

Mutations of Rag genes result in a variety of clinical and immunological phenotypes. In particular, while null mutations cause a severe block in T and B cell development (T⁻ B⁻ SCID), hypomorphic Rag1 and Rag2 mutations may cause a spectrum of phenotypes, including OS, atypical SCID, combined immune deficiency with expansion of TCR $\alpha\beta^+$ T cells, and combined immune deficiency with granuloma and/or autoimmunity (CID-G/A) despite their common molecular mechanisms underlying the disease (19–25). While all of these conditions associated with hypomorphic Rag mutations are characterized by residual development of T (and in some cases, B) lymphocytes, some of them (especially OS and CID-G/A) present with prominent immune dysregulation. However, the cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying autoimmunity have remained poorly defined until recently, when animal models of OS and leaky SCID have become available (16, 17, 26). In particular, Khiong and colleagues have reported on a spontaneously occurring mouse mutant (named MM) in which a homozygous point mutation in the Rag1 gene (R972Q) was associated with a high proportion of memory T cells in the periphery. Although MM mice showed skin redness when shaved, no T cells infiltration was observed in the tissues and no obvious signs were reported, making this mutant strain a model of leaky SCID, in which T and B cells are present in low number and T cells are predominantly activated, but no obvious signs of autoimmunity are present (26). In another mouse model, homozygosity for the Rag1 S721C mutation was associated with impaired T cell development, presence of oligoclonal, activated T cells, profound B cell lymphopenia, and yet significant serum levels of immunoglobulin (15, 17, 18). Although only a minority of Rag1^{S723C/S723C} mice developed signs of OS, T cell infiltrates in peripheral tissues, and autoantibodies to double stranded DNA (dsDNA) and other self-antigens were demonstrated in a significant proportion of mutant mice 15. Immune dysregulation was even more prominent in another mutant mouse model carrying a homozygous Rag2 R229Q mutation, as shown by expansion of oligoclonal activated T cells infiltrating target organs including skin, gut, liver, and lung and by the presence of high IgE serum levels and autoantibodies, despite the absence of circulating B cells (14, 16). Of note, immune dysregulation in Rag1^{S723C/S723C} and Rag2^{R229Q/R229Q} mutants was associated with profound thymic abnormalities, with lack of corticomedullary demarcation (CMD), and impaired maturation of TECs (17, 27).

In particular, both Rag1^{S723C/S723C} and Rag2^{R229Q/R229Q} mice displayed altered maturation of mTECs, as indicated by the virtual absence of expression of claudin-4 (Cld4) and Ulex europaeus Agglutinin 1 (UEA-1) ligand. Furthermore, analysis of cytokeratin (CK) expression in the thymus revealed abundance of CK8⁺ CK5⁺ cells, which represent immature TEC progenitors and a severe reduction of CK8⁻ CK5⁺ mTECs. FACS analysis labeling CD45⁻ Epcam⁺ thymic stromal cells with UEA-1 and Lv51 specific antibodies for mTECs and cTECs, respectively, have demonstrated the increased frequency of cTECs with consequent reduction in mTEC compartment in Rag2^{R229Q/R229Q} mouse compared to WT (Figure 1A). However, all epithelial populations were significantly diminished in number given the dramatic reduction in total thymic cellularity (Figure 1B). Defective maturation of mTECs in Rag1^{S723C/S723C} and Rag2^{R229Q/R229Q} mice was associated with severe reduction of AIRE-expressing cells and markedly reduced expression of TRAs, such as cytochrome P450, insulin 2, glutamic acid decarboxylase 67, and fatty acid-binding proteins (17, 27). These defects inevitably lead to a severe impairment in the process of negative selection of autoreactive T cells clones.

Unexpectedly, abnormalities of thymic DCs, which are involved in promoting negative selection of self-reactive thymocytes and in the generation of nTregs, were also demonstrated in both mutant models. In particular, a relative abundance of CD11c^{int} CD45RA⁺ plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs), and a decreased proportion of CD11c⁺ CD45RA⁻ conventional DCs (cDCs) was demonstrated in Rag1^{S723C/S723C} mice (17). A severe reduction of both cDCs and pDCs was demonstrated in Rag2^{R229Q/R229Q} mice, and was associated with a random distribution of these DC subsets throughout the thymus. Furthermore, a significant reduction in the expression of MHC-II and CD86 was found in both DC subset populations, suggesting impairment in DC maturation process (28). Of note, impaired maturation of mTECs, defective expression of AIRE and reduced number of thymic DCs have been also reported in patients with hypomorphic mutations of genes involved in early stages of T cell development (29, 30). While the mechanisms accounting for thymic DC abnormalities in mice and patients with hypomorphic Rag mutations remain poorly defined, they have important consequences on maintenance of immune homeostasis. In particular, cDCs have been described to contribute to the generation of nTregs (31). Consistent with this, a reduced number of Foxp3⁺ nTreg cells have been observed in both Rag1^{S723C/S723C} and Rag2^{R229Q/R229Q} mice, as well as in patients with Rag-dependent OS (16, 17, 30).

Altogether, the study of animal models carrying hypomorphic *Rag* mutations has demonstrated that defective T cell lymphopoiesis affects maturation and function of thymic stroma, and impinges on both deletional and non-deletional mechanisms of immune tolerance, thereby providing important insights on the pathophysiology of OS.

ANIMAL STUDIES TO TARGET THYMIC STROMA IN Rag DEFICIENCIES

GENE THERAPY IN Rag1 KNOCK-OUT MICE

An additional demonstration of the importance of thymic lymphostromal cross-talk has been provided by recent data



demonstrating that inefficient T cell reconstitution following gene therapy in *Rag*¹ deficient mice results in an OS-like phenotype (32). In this particular model, the majority of Rag1 knock-out (KO) mice treated with lentiviral vectors carrying codon optimized human Rag1 cDNA driven by ubiquitous and cell type-restricted promoters showed low level of T cell reconstitution. In this setting of T cell lymphopenia, homeostatic proliferation led to peripheral T cell expansion, associated with a restricted T cell repertoire and a tendency of T cells to infiltrate peripheral tissues such as skin, lung, and kidney. Impaired T cell reconstitution, with reduced thymic cellularity, led to only partial rescue of thymic stroma morphology and maturation, with focal areas of CMD and low number of mature mTECs expressing AIRE. By contrast, transplantation of wild-type bone marrow cells into $Rag1^{-/-}$ mice leads to the rescue of thymopoiesis and thymic stroma architecture, with presence of a well-defined CMD and a normal distribution of cTEC,

immature and mature TEC expressing UEA-1 ligand and AIRE. Of note, 2 months after treatment, 50% of gene therapy-treated mice started to develop skin rash and wasting syndrome, which in some cases led to death. Poor thymic reconstitution correlated with massive lymphocytic infiltrates in peripheral tissues and presence of activated (CD44⁺CD69⁺) T cells, despite the presence of Foxp3⁺ cells. Moreover, gene therapy-treated mice showed a significant increase in serum IgE levels, presence of anti-dsDNA antibodies and increased BAFF levels, which represent typical biomarkers of immune dysregulation in patients and animal models of OS (14, 18). These data indicate that inadequate rescue of Rag1 expression leads to poor reconstitution of T and B cells and is insufficient to restore thymic stroma architecture, maturation of AIRE and TSA-expressing mTECs, and induction of both T and B cell tolerance. In this scenario, development of a limited number of T and B lymphocytes and inability to maintain efficient tolerance checkpoints lead to the development of OS-like manifestations. Overall, these data illustrate the importance of T cell reconstitution for restoring the differentiation and maturation of TECs, and emphasize the relevance of thymic stroma in ensuring immune tolerance and preventing thymic egress of autoreactive T cell clones.

ANTI-CD3e mAb TREATMENT IN Rag2^{R229Q/R229Q} MOUSE MODEL OF OS

As previously described, OS is an atypical SCID in which the coexistence of immunodeficiency and autoimmunity remains an intriguing aspect that needs to be further investigated. Thanks to availability of the Rag2R229Q/R229Q mouse model, we have studied various mechanisms that contribute to the pathogenesis of autoimmune manifestations of OS. We have demonstrated that in addition to hypomorphic Rag defect leading to generation of a limited number of T cells, severe defects in thymic epithelial compartment occur, which contribute to the escape of autoreactive T cells that invade the periphery triggering autoimmunity (24). This model represents also a valuable tool to evaluate the effects of TCR signaling on maturation of the thymic stromal compartment. To this end, we evaluated the in vivo effect of anti-CD3ɛ monoclonal antibody (mAb) administration in neonatal and adult mice. While no significant changes were noticed in the thymus of adult treated mice, injection of anti-CD3ε mAb at neonatal age resulted in a dramatic amelioration of the epithelial compartment and peripheral immunopathology. In particular, treatment was associated with a marked reduction in the frequency of effector/memory T cells in the periphery and a significant decrease in interferon- γ (IFN- γ) and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) production by peripheral T cells. These changes were paralleled by significant modification in thymus morphology, with appearance of distinct areas of CMD and significant improvement of the medullary/cortical ratio (27). Double staining for CK5 and CK8 further confirmed these findings by revealing the presence of well-defined cortical and medullary areas showing that anti-CD3E mAb treatment enforces maturation of TECs leading to compartmentalization of CK8⁺CK5⁻ cTECs and CK8⁻CK5⁺ mTECs (Figure 2A). Moreover, we have described an increase in the presence of UEA-1⁺ cells, although the formation of UEA-1⁺ mature mTECs clusters was not fully restored.



immature TECs expressing both CK5 and CK8 are highly represented (asterisk within inset). Anti-CD3c mAb administration enforces maturation of TECs leading to compartmentalization of CK8+CK5- cTECs and CK8-CK5+ mTECs (right panel), although mTECs are still closely packed and irregularly distributed with intense CK5 positivity as compared to the normal medulla

Furthermore, treatment with anti-CD3ε mAb normalized the frequency while did not change the absolute number of total thymic DCs and significantly increased MHC-II expression in this population normally down-regulated in *Rag2*^{R229Q/R229Q} mice respect to WT counterpart (**Figure 2B**). More interestingly, anti-CD3ε mAb treatment induced a redistribution of the two

thymic DCs main subsets $CD8^-$ (myeloid) and $CD8^+$ (lymphoid) (**Figure 2C**). The improvement of thymic stroma architecture and maturation were associated with a reduction in tissue infiltrates, as demonstrated by the reduced frequency of $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ cells in the skin, gut, lung, and liver. Altogether, these data indicate that treatment with anti-CD3 ϵ mAb has a beneficial effect

analyzed (WT, n = 5; Rag2^{R2290/R2290}, n = 4; Rag2^{R2290/R2290} + anti-CD3 n = 4)

a two-tailed Mann-Whitney unpaired test. Data are presented as

mean \pm SD. *P*-values of <0.05 were considered significant.

(lower panel). Groups were analyzed with Prism software (GraphPad) using

on thymic stroma and on peripheral immunopathology, and may pave the way for similar therapeutic modalities aiming at improving immune function and reducing signs of immune dysregulation in patients with SCID characterized by poor thymic maturation, while waiting for definitive treatment based on hematopoietic cell transplantation.

CONCLUSION

Thymocytes and TEC cross-talk are fundamental for the maintenance of thymic architecture and function. Investigation on thymic morphology and immunophenotype in SCID patients and in parallel analysis of murine models of OS and Leaky SCID have revealed the extent to which altered thymic cross-talk might lead to immune dysregulation and ultimately cause peripheral immunopathology. Thymic stromal improvement and amelioration of peripheral immunopathology upon anti-CD3e mAb administration in OS mouse model have further highlighted the contribution of thymic stroma in the pathogenesis of immune dysregulation. In parallel, poor immunological reconstitution observed in the preclinical study of gene therapy caused by inadequate Rag1 expression has further emphasized the relevance of stromal thymic compartment in the induction and maintenance of immune tolerance. Overall these findings further define the role of thymic epithelium in immune reconstitution and indicate that cTECs and mTECs full restoration has to be achieved to prevent immune dysregulation.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research was supported by the Italian Telethon Foundation, RF-2009-1485896, Fondazione CARIPLO, and CELL-PID F7 project.

REFERENCES

- 1. Anderson M. AIRE and T cell development. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2011) 23:198–206. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2010.11.007
- Kyewski B, Klein L. A central role for central tolerance. Annu Rev Immunol (2006) 24:571–606. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.23.021704.115601
- Hanabuchi S, Ito T, Park WR, Watanabe N, Shaw JL, Roman E, et al. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin-activated plasmacytoid dendritic cells induce the generation of FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in human thymus. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:2999–3007. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0804106
- Poliani PL, Vermi W, Facchetti F. Thymus microenvironment in human primary immunodeficiency diseases. *Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol* (2009) 9:489–95. doi:10.1097/ACI.0b013e3283327e5c
- Notarangelo LD. Partial defects of T-cell development associated with poor Tcell function. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2013) 131:1297–305. doi:10.1016/j.jaci. 2013.01.020
- Giliani S, Bonfim C, de Saint-Basile G, Lanzi G, Brousse N, Koliski A, et al. Omenn syndrome in an infant with IL7RA gene mutation. J Pediatr (2006) 148:272–4. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2005.10.004
- de Saint-Basile G, Le Deist F, de Villartay JP, Cerf-Bensussan N, Journet O, Brousse N, et al. Restricted heterogeneity of T lymphocytes in combined immunodeficiency with hypereosinophilia (Omenn's syndrome). J Clin Invest (1991) 87:1352–9. doi:10.1172/JCI115139
- Corneo B, Moshous D, Güngör T, Wulffraat N, Philippet P, Le Deist FL, et al. Identical mutations in RAG1 or RAG2 genes leading to defective V(D)J recombinase activity can cause either T-B-severe combined immune deficiency or Omenn syndrome. *Blood* (2001) 97:2772–6. doi:10.1182/blood.V97.9.2772
- Ege M, Ma Y, Manfras B, Kalwak K, Lu H, Lieber MR, et al. Omenn syndrome due to ARTEMIS mutations. *Blood* (2005) 105:4179–86. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-12-4861

- Grunebaum E, Bates A, Roifman CM. Omenn syndrome is associated with mutations in DNA ligase IV. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2008) 122:1219–20. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2008.08.031
- Mach B, Steimle V, Martinez-Soria E, Reith W. Regulation of MHC class II genes: lessons from a disease. *Annu Rev Immunol* (1996) 14:301–31. doi:10. 1146/annurev.immunol.14.1.301
- Roifman CM, Dadi H, Somech R, Nahum A, Sharfe N. Characterization of zetaassociated protein, 70 kd (ZAP70)-deficient human lymphocytes. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2010) 126:1226–1233e1221. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2010.07.029
- Poliani PL, Fontana E, Roifman CM, Notarangelo LD. zeta Chain-associated protein of 70 kDa (ZAP70) deficiency in human subjects is associated with abnormalities of thymic stromal cells: Implications for T-cell tolerance. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2013) 131:e591–2. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2012.11.002
- Cassani B, Poliani PL, Marrella V, Schena F, Sauer AV, Ravanini M, et al. Homeostatic expansion of autoreactive immunoglobulin-secreting cells in the Rag2 mouse model of Omenn syndrome. J Exp Med (2010) 207:1525–40. doi:10.1084/jem.20091928
- Giblin W, Chatterji M, Westfield G, Masud T, Theisen B, Cheng HL, et al. Leaky severe combined immunodeficiency and aberrant DNA rearrangements due to a hypomorphic RAG1 mutation. *Blood* (2009) 113:2965–75. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-07-165167
- Marrella V, Poliani PL, Casati A, Rucci F, Frascoli L, Gougeon ML, et al. A hypomorphic R229Q Rag2 mouse mutant recapitulates human Omenn syndrome. J Clin Invest (2007) 117:1260–9. doi:10.1172/JCI30928
- Rucci F, Poliani PL, Caraffi S, Paganini T, Fontana E, Giliani S, et al. Abnormalities of thymic stroma may contribute to immune dysregulation in murine models of leaky severe combined immunodeficiency. *Front Immunol* (2011) 2:15. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2011.00015
- Walter JE, Rucci F, Patrizi L, Recher M, Regenass S, Paganini T, et al. Expansion of immunoglobulin-secreting cells and defects in B cell tolerance in Ragdependent immunodeficiency. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207:1541–54. doi:10.1084/jem. 20091927
- De Ravin SS, Cowen EW, Zarember KA, Whiting-Theobald NL, Kuhns DB, Sandler NG, et al. Hypomorphic Rag mutations can cause destructive midline granulomatous disease. *Blood* (2010) 116:1263–71. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-02-267583
- Ehl S, Schwarz K, Enders A, Duffner U, Pannicke U, Kuhr J, et al. A variant of SCID with specific immune responses and predominance of gamma delta T cells. J Clin Invest (2005) 115:3140–8. doi:10.1172/JCI25221
- Lee YN, Frugoni F, Dobbs K, Walter JE, Giliani S, Gennery AR, et al. A systematic analysis of recombination activity and genotype-phenotype correlation in human recombination-activating gene 1 deficiency. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2014) 133:1099–108.e12. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2013.10.007
- Notarangelo LD. Combined immunodeficiencies with nonfunctional T lymphocytes. Adv Immunol (2014) 121:121–90. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-800100-4. 00004-0
- Schuetz C, Pannicke U, Jacobsen EM, Burggraf S, Albert MH, Honig M, et al. Lesson from hypomorphic recombination-activating gene (RAG) mutations: Why asymptomatic siblings should also be tested. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2014) 133:1211–5.e2. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2013.10.021
- Schuetz C, Huck K, Gudowius S, Megahed M, Feyen O, Hubner B, et al. An immunodeficiency disease with RAG mutations and granulomas. *N Engl J Med* (2008) 358:2030–8. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa073966
- de Villartay JP, Lim A, Al-Mousa H, Dupont S, Déchanet-Merville J, Coumau-Gatbois E, et al. A novel immunodeficiency associated with hypomorphic RAG1 mutations and CMV infection. J Clin Invest (2005) 115:3291–9. doi:10.1172/ JCI25178
- 26. Khiong K, Murakami M, Kitabayashi C, Ueda N, Sawa S, Sakamoto A, et al. Homeostatically proliferating CD4 T cells are involved in the pathogenesis of an Omenn syndrome murine model. J Clin Invest (2007) 117:1270–81. doi:10.1172/JCI30513
- Marrella V, Poliani PL, Fontana E, Casati A, Maina V, Cassani B, et al. Anti-CD3epsilon mAb improves thymic architecture and prevents autoimmune manifestations in a mouse model of Omenn syndrome: therapeutic implications. *Blood* (2012) **120**:1005–14. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-01-406827
- Maina V, Marrella V, Mantero S, Cassani B, Fontana E, Anselmo A, et al. Hypomorphic mutation in the RAG2 gene affects dendritic cell distribution and migration. J Leukoc Biol (2013) 94:1221–30. doi:10.1189/jlb.0713365

- Cavadini P, Vermi W, Facchetti F, Fontana S, Nagafuchi S, Mazzolari E, et al. AIRE deficiency in thymus of 2 patients with Omenn syndrome. J Clin Invest (2005) 115:728–32. doi:10.1172/JCI23087
- Poliani PL, Facchetti F, Ravanini M, Gennery AR, Villa A, Roifman CM, et al. Early defects in human T-cell development severely affect distribution and maturation of thymic stromal cells: possible implications for the pathophysiology of Omenn syndrome. *Blood* (2009) 114:105–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-03-211029
- 31. Proietto AI, Van Dommelen S, Zhou P, Rizzitelli A, D'amico A, Steptoe RJ, et al. Dendritic cells in the thymus contribute to T-regulatory cell induction. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:19869–74. doi:10.1073/pnas.0810268105
- 32. Van Til NP, Sarwari R, Visser TP, Hauer J, Lagresle-Peyrou C, Van Der Velden G, et al. Recombination-activating gene 1 (Rag1)-deficient mice with severe combined immunodeficiency treated with lentiviral gene therapy demonstrate autoimmune Omenn-like syndrome. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2014) 133:1116–23. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2013.10.009

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 10 March 2014; accepted: 19 May 2014; published online: 02 June 2014. Citation: Marrella V, Poliani PL, Notarangelo LD, Grassi F and Villa A (2014) Rag defects and thymic stroma: lessons from animal models. Front. Immunol. 5:259. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00259

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Marrella, Poliani, Notarangelo, Grassi and Villa. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Corrigendum: Rag defects and thymic stroma: lessons from animal models

Veronica Marrella^{1,2}, Pietro Luigi Poliani³, Luigi Daniele Notarangelo⁴, Fabio Grassi⁵ and Anna Villa^{1,2}*

¹ Milan Unit, Institute of Genetics and Biomedic Research, National Research Council, Milan, Italy

² Istituto Clinico Humanitas, Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico, Rozzano, Italy

³ Pathology Unit, Department of Molecular and Translational Medicine, University of Brescia, Brescia, Italy

⁴ Division of Immunology, Boston Children's Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

⁵ Institute for Research in Biomedicine, Bellinzona, Switzerland

*Correspondence: anna.villa@hsr.it

Edited and reviewed by:

Claudio Pignata, University of Naples Federico II, Italy

Keywords: hymus, rag deficiency, omenn and leaky SCID models, central tolerance, thymic reconstitution, thymic crosstalk

A corrigendum on

Rag defects and thymic stroma: lessons from animal models

by Marrella V, Poliani PL, Notarangelo LD, Grassi F, Villa A. Front Immunol (2014) 5:259. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00259

Author list for the article "Rag defects and thymic stroma: lessons from animal models" should be as follows:

Veronica Marrella^{1,2}, Pietro Luigi Poliani³, Luigi Daniele Notarangelo⁴, Fabio Grassi⁵, and Anna Villa^{1,2*} ¹Milan Unit, Institute of Genetics and Biomedic Research, National Research Council, Milan, Italy

²Istituto Clinico Humanitas, Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico, Rozzano, Italy

³Pathology Unit, Department of Molecular and Translational Medicine, University of Brescia, Brescia, Italy

⁴Division of Immunology, Boston Children's Hospital, Boston, MA, USA

⁵Institute for Research in Biomedicine, Bellinzona, Switzerland

The original article has been updated.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any

commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 11 August 2014; accepted: 11 August 2014; published online: 25 August 2014.

Citation: Marrella V, Poliani PL, Notarangelo LD, Grassi F and Villa A (2014) Corrigendum: Rag defects and thymic stroma: lessons from animal models. Front. Immunol. 5:407. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00407

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Marrella, Poliani, Notarangelo, Grassi and Villa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

ADVANTAGES OF PUBLISHING IN FRONTIERS



FAST PUBLICATION Average 90 days from submission to publication



COLLABORATIVE PEER-REVIEW

Designed to be rigorous – yet also collaborative, fair and constructive



RESEARCH NETWORK Our network increases readership for your article



OPEN ACCESS

Articles are free to read, for greatest visibility



TRANSPARENT

Editors and reviewers acknowledged by name on published articles



GLOBAL SPREAD Six million monthly page views worldwide



COPYRIGHT TO AUTHORS

No limit to article distribution and re-use



IMPACT METRICS Advanced metrics track your article's impact



SUPPORT By our Swiss-based editorial team



EPFL Innovation Park · Building I · 1015 Lausanne · Switzerland T +41 21 510 17 00 · info@frontiersin.org · frontiersin.org